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1. I, AUDREY DAVIS, of the City of Buffalo in the State of New York, MAKE OATH 

AND STATE AS FOLLOWS: 

Overview of Position 

 

2.  I am the Director of the Hamilton Regional Indian Centre (HRIC). As per HRIC's mission 

statement, our goal is to provide the Urban Indigenous People with the tools to achieve a 

balanced and holistic lifestyle by providing programs that encompass the entire life cycle and 

meet the needs of individuals through the Healing Continuum. HRIC 
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delivers 30+ programs and has more than 60 staff members supporting the programs and 

services offered through the Centre. 

3.  In Ontario, more than 84 percent of the Indigenous population lives in urban 

communities. Our Centre is here to promote and deliver culturally appropriate programs 

which encourage Urban Indigenous people to reconnect to, retain, and/or gain their 

culture and provide a safe community gathering space to do so. We offer programs and 

initiatives for Hamilton's diverse and quickly-growing Indigenous populations which 

provide access to justice, health, housing and homelessness supports, family support, 

long-term care, healing and wellness, employment and training, education, justice, 

cultural and language programs, as well HRIC provides cultural capacity (competence) 

training to non-Indigenous agencies and organizations in the Greater Hamilton area. 

4.  In my role, I sit at a number of committees within Hamilton to advocate for access to 

services and supports, funding and build relationships. The goal is to meet our mandate of 

improving outcomes for the Indigenous people residing in Hamilton and share 

awareness of the impacts of colonialism and its ongoing impacts on Indigenous people. Of 

the committee participation there are key tables with a focus on homelessness and 

housing. Since the onset of the pandemic, HRIC recognized that homelessness and 

housing need would intensify. We responded by growing our supports for the homeless and 

precariously housed supports from three staff to more than 20 staff. 

Historical Displacement of Indigenous Peoples in Canada-A Brief Overview 

 

5.  Indigenous people have been removed from their traditional territories from every 

direction in Canada for centuries. Many times these removals have been through the use of 

violent force. Indigenous homes have uprooted, moved or demolished without 
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consent, consultation and/or approval from Indigenous peoples. This has happened 

during times of road/highway expansions, resource extractions or land seizures for 

development of subdivisions and parks. 

6.  Displacement also took place in the form of lndian Residential Schools, Federal Indian Day 

Schools, and the Sixties Scoop, where the government removed Indigenous children from 

their homes in order to assimilate them into Canadian culture. 

7.  Often, tools of violence, oppression, racism and discrimination were used to take control of 

Indigenous lands. 

Relationship to the Land and Water 

 

8.  Indigenous people have a spiritual relationship with land and water. With this relationship 

comes roles and responsibilities to the land and water such as to protect both from harm. 

Many Indigenous people believe that when you are simply present on the land or in the 

water, you are in ceremony - ceremony that is deeply rooted in spiritual ways of being from 

their ancient societies. 

Hamilton's Indigenous Population 

9. Hamilton has one of the largest population of off-reserve Indigenous peoples in Ontario. 

10. There are different reasons that contribute to the larger Indigenous population in Hamilton. 

11. Hamilton is located beside Six Nations. Six Nations is the only First Nation community that 

includes all six Haudenosaunee nations. Located along the banks of the Grand River, the Six 

Nations of the Grand River is the most populous First Nation in Canada. 
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12. Hamilton has seen an increase in people, including Indigenous peoples moving from 

other jurisdictions due to affordability issues. 

13. Like many people during the pandemic, some Indigenous people come to Hamilton due to 

unaffordability in other communities. 

14.  Some Indigenous people come to Hamilton in order to stay with family/friends. Once 

their temporary stay is over, they sometimes end up homeless and in a position where 

they have difficulty leaving the city. Individuals then request assistance from HRIC to 

leave the city and/or access food banks and shelters until such a time as they can find 

housing and sometimes employment. HRIC has an employee who recently moved his 

family to the city from a northern community. Due to inability to find housing, the family 

ended up living in a shelter for five months before the family was able to secure 

appropriate housing. There are many more Indigenous people with experiences like this. 

Over-representation of Indigenous Peoples in Homeless Population 

 

15. It is well known that Indigenous people are over-represented in the homeless population. 

 

The City of Hamilton completed a "Point in Time Count" of homelessness in Hamilton from 

the Indigenous perspective in 2021.  

16. HRIC's Housing and Homelessness Supports Team is currently servicing about 155 

either homeless or at imminent of homelessness, with an additional 55 people waiting for 

services. The waitlist is the result of the caseloads of all our caseworkers exceeding their 

capacity. 

17. We have long advocated to the City for additional resources in the community, such as 

Indigenous shelters and drop in centres. In late December 2021, the City advised HRIC 

that there was some funding available for an Indigenous drop in centre. However, we 

had to use the funding by March 31, 2022, or risk losing it. 
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18.  This meant that we had to find a space, negotiate a lease, hire new staff, and figure out a 

way to have it up and running on time so as to not jeopardize the funding or undermine 

the need. 

19.  Although we were thankful for the funding, it almost felt like we were being set up to 

fail: it was not a reasonable amount of time to establish operations, and there was no 

commitment to ongoing funding beyond the initial amount. This meant that we also 

had to secure alternate sources of ongoing funding while trying to get the centre 

running. 

20.  In March 2022, HRIC opened up an Indigenous daytime drop in centre for the homeless 

where we see up to 30 people a day. For the month of April, we saw 130 different people, the 

majority being homeless. 

21.  Given that we have only been open for just over a year and awareness of the centre is still 

growing, the number of people we see is increasing weekly. We also anticipate that the 

numbers will continue to climb until there is resolution to the housing crisis. 

22.  Finding housing for Indigenous people is difficult for many reasons, including 

affordability, discrimination, and other systemic factors. 

23.  It is particularly hard to house people considered to be "street entrenched". This 

refers to people who have deeply established patterns that inhibit their ability to 

establish trust and maintain connections with support services, including housing 

supports. Often times, the combination of factors such as insufficient income, 

lack of access to services, unresolved trauma, mental health and substance use 

disorders, relationship breakdowns make it extremely challenging to connect 

individuals with housing. 

24.  The acts of racism and discrimination in housing against Indigenous people 

makes it difficult for Indigenous people to secure a safe home environment. 

Racism and discrimination in housing is often the determinant that leads many 

Indigenous people homelessness and without the security and safety of a home. 
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In the aforementioned "Point In Time" survey, discrimination in housing was 

listed as the fourth most common challenged for Indigenous people experiencing 

homeless in finding new housing. 

25. HRIC staff often receive and responded to reports of racism and discrimination 

in housing. We have had clients face eviction for performing smudging 

ceremonies in their homes. Having too many people residing at the unit. 

Other clients have been called derogatory terms by their landlord. Others faced 

racial profiling in the form of being denied housing based on their race. 

Landlords will recognize Indigenous names, i.e. Longboat or Henhawk, on 

applications and refuse the application. 

26.  Not only do Indigenous people face racism and discrimination once there are 

housed, Indigeneity can also act as a barrier to finding new housing. We have 

had clients be inexplicably refused housing after attending to view a unit. Others 

have had their rental applications after they disclose a history of incarceration. 

It is not something that is vocalized by landlords, but our staff believe that 

racism factored into the refusal. 

27.  Other times people are screened out after a HRIC worker identifies themselves to a 

prospective landlord. Again, this is not something that is expressly stated, but there is 

often no other explanation as to why the individual could not obtain the unit. 

 Hamilton's Shelter System 

28.  Inasmuch House is a Hamilton shelter for homeless women and is supposed to prioritize 

Indigenous women. It is exclusively for women and their children fleeing domestic 

violence, and is consistently full. Native Women's Centre is also a VAW shelter, that 

also service homeless women. They are also full most of the time. There is a need for 

more Indigenous specific shelters across demographics. 

29. There are no Indigenous shelters for men, couples, families, or youth. There are also no 
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Indigenous shelters for Two Spirit people. Two Spirit people are Indigenous Queer 

members of lndigenous Communities. The absence of shelters for Two Spirit is a 

substantial gap in Hamilton's shelter system. 

30. Many Indigenous women experiencing homelessness in Hamilton have described being 

denied access to shelter, the absence of culturally-appropriate supports, and the inability to 

remain connected with supports when they are continually displaced. Each of these gaps 

increases their vulnerability.  

31. When an Indigenous woman is evicted from an encampment without an established plan for 

shelter, she is at heightened risk of violence. 

32. The lack of lndigenous shelters, or shelters that offer culturally appropriate supports, has 

a profound negative impact on Indigenous people experiencing homelessness. 

33. There are many traditional elements of Indigenous culture that cannot be practiced, or are 

not accessible, in a non-Indigenous shelter environment. People cannot perform healing 

ceremonies or have access to traditional medicines. This is significant because our 

ceremonies and medicines help with healing from the intergenerational trauma of the loss 

of cultural identity and systemic discrimination. 

34. Many shelter staff are not aware of local Indigenous supports or agencies with which to 

connect shelter residents. 

35. Many shelter staff have not received appropriate or sufficient training on important service 

elements such as intergenerational trauma and cultural sensitivity.  

36. Like many institutions, shelters often knowingly or unknowingly perpetuate systemic 

discrimination. We have received multiple reports from clients who are discriminated 

against, harassed, demeaned, falsely accused and summarily banned from shelters. 

Mental health issues have led to people being removed and banned from shelters due this 

factor. 
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37. In the case of service restrictions, we have encountered clients who face extremely long 

shelter bans. In some cases, people are banned for years or even decades. Some of our 

clients are banned from all shelters, meaning that there is no way for them to access 

indoor overnight spaces. 

38. On New Year's Day 2021, an Indigenous man was left on streets in the middle of winter 

and the pandemic after being banned from every shelter. Some of the bans lasted for 

years, with the longest going until 2025. The man's doctor had unsuccessfully tried to 

advocate to the City for him to get into shelter, explaining that she believed that the 

service bans may be related to his mental health. Hamilton Community Legal Clinic 

intervened and implored the City to come up with a shelter plan for the individual. In 

response, the City explained that the shelters could not accept the individual because of 

safety concerns. The City did not offer any type of accommodation. In the end, 

Hamilton Community Legal Clinic advised HRIC of this man's predicament, and we 

stepped in to provide a temporary hotel room until we secured housing for this man. A 

copy of the email exchange between Hamilton Community Legal Clinic and the City is 

attached hereto as Exhibit "A". 

39. In another instance, an Indigenous man asked a shelter worker for a referral to HRIC. The 

worker told the man that he could not access services from both the shelter and HRIC, and if he 

chose to work with HRIC, he would be discharged from the shelter. To be clear, HRIC does 

not offer shelter beds so there would be no duplication of services. It is just another example of 

how non-Indigenous shelters cannot properly support Indigenous people. 

Encampments and Indigenous People 

40. As stated, HRIC provides outreach services to individuals living in encampments. Many 

Indigenous homeless that live on the street state the shelters are not safe and choose the 

streets as the safer option. We at HRIC have worked with people who have been robbed, 

experienced racism and discrimination in the form of verbal and physical assaults while 
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at shelters. 

41. It takes time for outreach services to establish trust with people in encampments. The 

homeless population is highly marginalized and disconnected from services. There is a 

deep distrust of institutional supports due to intergenerational trauma. 

42. When encampments are established, we are able to: 1) locate homeless individuals, and 

 

2) over time, we can establish relationships in order to encourage people to access services. 

We can remain connected with people to offer ongoing support, food and basic need items 

such as tents and sleeping bags. These actions are all part of establishing relationships, 

always with the goal of at some point in time being able to connect to the appropriate 

services that will move them along their healing journey. 

43. Over time, we can also design and implement healing ceremonies and medicines with 

individuals based on their unique circumstances. Our mobile street outreach team carries 

traditional medicines and performs healing ceremonies at encampments. We embrace our 

brothers and sisters when they are at their lowest. As Indigenous, it is our responsibility to 

care for our most harmed brothers and sisters. 

44. Individuals who receive sustained support over time tend to have better social outcomes 

rather than situations where a person is moved from an encampment and disconnected from 

services then, we have to start relationship building all over again once we locate these 

people. People often don't keep the same cell phone, if they have a phone at all. It can be very 

difficult to reconnect with people once they are displaced. 

45. As encampments are dismantled, people are going deeper into wooded areas where we 

cannot connect. This is happening with each encampment destruction, and will get worse if 

they continue displacing Indigenous from their land and home. 
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Sworn remotely by Audrey Davis in the City of 

St. Catharine’s, before me on July 19, 2023 in 

accordance with O. Reg. 431/20, Administering 

Oath or Declaration Remotely. 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits 

Sharon Crowe 

Audrey Davis 
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THIS IS EXHIBIT “A” TO THE 
AFFIDAVIT OF AUDREY DAVIS

AFFIRMED REMOTELY BEFORE ME AT 
THE CITY OF HAMILTON DURING A “ZOOM” VIDEOCONFERENCE 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH O.REG. 431/20, 
ADMINISTERING OATH OR DECLARATION REMOTELY 

THIS 19th DAY of JULY, 2023 
________________________ 

Sharon Crowe
LSO NO. 47108R 

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits, etc 
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Sharon Crowe (HCLC) 

From: 
Sent: 

Johnson, Paul < Paul.Johnson@hamilton.ca > 

February 16, 2021 3:29 PM 
To: 
Subject: 

Jill Wiwcharuk; Sharon Crowe (HCLC) 
RE: URGENT - Service Restriction for 

This message was sent from outside of Legal Aid Ontario. Please do not click links or open attachments unless 
you recognize the source of this email and know the content is safe. 

Yes ... this individual was unique in that his restriction was widespread for behaviours that are well 
noted. The general rule is not to restrict from hotels as well but there are cases where behaviour in all 
settings has led to restrictions. 

These are difficult cases and need to be discussed so there is another path. Thankfully they are 
minimal in numbers given the nearly 4,000 different people that access shelters each year. 

Paul 

From: Jill Wiwcharuk <jillwiwcharuk@gmail.com> 
Sent: February 16, 2021 3:27 PM 
To: Johnson, Paul <Paul.Johnson@hamilton.ca>; Sharon Crowe (HCLC) <crowes@lao.on.ca> 
Subject: Fwd: URGENT - Service Restriction to~ 

Hi Paul, 
Nice to see you in the meeting this morning. I sure share your sense of dread wrt what happens after all this money is 
done!! Wow. 

In following up to the discussion about things happening on the ground vs things happening in policy and the disconnect 
that we are so often seeing, I thought this email chain would be helpful for you to see. In particular the top email from 
Rob and a few emails down where he states that the service restriction in effect at Mission Services was in effect at the 
hotel for him as well. 

No need to respond, just wanted to send it along. We are all working hard on this, I know. 
Take care, 
Jill 

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Mastroianni, Rob <Rob.Mastroianni@hamilton.ca> 
Date: Fri, Jan 1, 2021 at 7:58 PM 
Subject: Re : URGENT - Service Restriction for­
To: Sharon Crowe (HCLC) <crowes@lao.on.ca> 
Cc: Jill Wiwcharuk <iillwiwcharuk@gmail.com> 

Hello, 

I unfortunately do not have access to another hotel that would accommodate - We have contracts at multiple 
hotels that are being utilised based on demographic and contracts with the vendors. I can attempt to push an alternate 
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hotel location further, however it would require that .. is provided with 24/7 on site support. If that is something 
that HCLC or SHN have an option to provide, please let me know and I will see what else can be done. 

In response to your other email re:RCF as an option, that is definitely something we can explore and look at ways of 
supporting as a longer term solution if ... fits the mandate of an RCF. However they are not emergency response and 
therefore do not do immediate or 24/7 admission. As well, the medical opinion would need to be submitted to the 
Operator to approve admission. f • 

Please let me be clear that I can appreciate this is a difficult situation and we work diligently to ensure people have 
access to space. This unfortunately seems to be a time where I do not have an immediate solution. 

Thanks, 

Rob Mastroianni; 
Manager, RCF Subsidy Program & Emergency Shelter Services; 
Housing Services Division 

-------- Original message --------
From: "Sharon Crowe (HCLC)" <crowes@lao.on.ca> 
Date: 2021-01-01 5:51 PM (GMT-05:00) 
To: "Mastroianni, Rob" <Rob.Mastroianni@hamilton.ca> 
Cc: 'Jill Wiwcharuk' <jillwiwcharuk@gmail.com> 
Subject: RE: URGENT - Service Restriction fo~ 

Hello again, 

Can the City pay for Mr £ C to stay in a hotel other than the hotel managed by Mission Services? 

Sfiaron Crowe, Staff Lawyer 

Hamilton Community Legal Clinic 

T: (905) 527-4572 ext. 39 

F: (905) 523-7282 

www.hamiltonjustice.ca 

tiamilton Community Legal 0111ic 
Oiniq11! Jund,qu,e communawitt d! Hamilton 
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From: Mastroianni, Rob [mailto:Rob.Mastroianni@hamilton.ca] 
Sent: January-01-21 5:08 PM 
To: Sharon Crowe (HCLC) <crowes@lao.on .ca> 
Subject: Re: URGENT - Service Restriction for 

This message was sent from outside of Legal Aid Ontario. Please do not click links or open attachments unless 
you recognize the source of this email and know the content is safe. 

Hi Sharon, 

The Service Restriction unfortunately is in effect at the hotel that would serve men as it is operated by an 
existing shelter provider. I am unfortunately not able to provide a hotel stay given the service restrictions. 

Thank you, 

Rob Mastroianni; 

Manager, RCF Subsidy Program & Emergency Shelter Services; 

Housing Services Division 

-------- Original message --------

From: "Sharon Crowe (HCLC)" <crowes@la .on.ca> 

Date: 2021-01-01 4:21 PM (GMT-05:00) 

To: "Mastroianni, Rob" <Rob.Mastroianni<@J1amilton.ca> 

Subject: RE: URGENT - Service Restriction for 
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Thank you for the response . I am not aware, and have not been informed, of any alternate locations available to 
.... What is the City's position on a hotel room? I understand that the program normally prioritizes women and 
families. However, given the exceptional circumstances at play, I am hoping that an exception would be made. Please 
clarify the position on a hotel room. 

Sfiaron Crowe, Staff Lawyer 

Hamilton Community Legal Clinic 

T: (905) 527-4572 ext. 39 

F: (905) 523-7282 

www.hamiltonjustice.ca 

• ~ Hamilton Community Le<;111I Oinic 
Oinique julldlque communa~ite di! Hamilton 

From: Mastroianni, Rob [mailto :Rob.Mastroianni@hamilton.ca] 
Sent: January-01-214:07 PM 
To: Sharon Crowe (HCLC) <crowes@lao.on.ca> 
Subject: Re: URGENT - Service Restriction for 

This message was sent from outside of Legal Aid Ontario. Please do not click links or open attachments unless 
_you recognize the source of this email and know the content is safe. 

Hi Sharon, 

As I committed to Jill, I have been following up on 
understand you have also been consulted. 

as well as another situation that Jill raised and I 
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In situation, I have connected with the men's shelter providers to obtain additional information. Based 
on the discussions and due to the situations that occurred while he was in shelter, the providers are not in a 
position to admit him to shelter at this time. They have concerns for the safety of their staff as well as other 
residents and have to balance the difficult task of operating this congregate setting. 

I can appreciate that the issues that resulted in the service restriction may be related to his mental health. I see 
that Jill has offered to help monitor his situation. Perhaps there other supports or locations that health care 
system may be able to suggest or offer as an appropriate alternative location. 

As you noted, the City acts as Service Manager for this system and partially funds agencies to operate 
emergency shelters in our community. I will always advocate for accommodation of clients as I have done in 
this case, however I am not able to impose that an agency admit someone. 

I would be happy to set up a time to discuss your comments regarding service restrictions in general. 

I have not had a chance to respond ti Jill's last email and assume you will be in contact with her as a follow up 
to this email. I trust you will provide her with this update. 

Thank you, 

Rob Mastroianni; 

Manager, RCF Subsidy Program & Emergency Shelter Services; 

Housing Services Division 

-------- Original message --------

From: "Sharon Crowe (HCLC)" <crowes@Jao.on.ca> 

Date: 2021-01-01 3:05 PM (GMT-05 :00) 
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To: "Mastroianni, Rob" <Rob.Mastroianni@hamilton.ca> 

Subject: URGENT - Service Restriction for. 

Good afternoon, 

We have serious concerns over the dangerously precarious situation c/ ] J , an Indigenous man with a mental 
health disability who is homeless and service restricted from every homeless shelter in Hamilton (for as long as the end 
of 2021 and 2025). As mentioned by Dr. Jill, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the service restrictions are 
related toW■■■■ mental health. As service providers, shelters are required to accommodate 
disability to the point of "undue hardship". As the manager and partial funder of shelter services, the City is also 
required to engage in the accommodation process. 

We are therefore writing to request immediate accommodation of disability by ensuring that he has a 
roof over his head starting tonight, and continuing while he remains homeless. Under normal circumstances, we would 
reach out to each individual shelter to discuss the specific concerns that lead to the service restriction, and canvas 
opportunities for an accommodation plan. However, given the urgency of the situation and the fact that this is New 
Year's Day, there is insufficient time to engage in that process. As such, as an immediate and interim measure, we 
request that the City discuss the possibility of ■■■-9accessing any isolation spaces available at t he shelters. In 

7 the alternative, we request that the City place J in a hotel starting tonight and until such time t hat an 
agreement can be reached to rescind the service restrictions. Dr. Jill has advised that she will work wit h- to 
help monitor his medication, and look into the availability of additional mental health supports. 

We cannot overstate the simple fact that - cannot be simply left on the streets. It would be unimaginable in 
the best of circumstances, but given that we are at the height of a pandemic, 
the need is that much more paramount. 

Apart from the urgency o- situation, we would also like to discuss concerns regarding the overuse and 
severity of service restrictions. We appreciate the complexity of the problem and hope that we can work collaboratively 
with the City and community agencies to establish fair practices. 

Please provide confirmation of a shelter plan for 

Sfiaron Crowe, Staff Lawyer 

Hamilton Community Legal Clinic 

s soon as possible. Thank you. 

6 
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---UPON COMMENCING AT 1:00 p.m. 

Audrey Davis,

having been duly affirmed,

was examined and testified as follows: 

BY MR. DIACUR:

So ma'am, I'm going to have someQ.1

questions for you today, principally about your 

Affidavit, which is dated July 19th, 2023.  Before 

turning to that, I just want to confirm that you 

have that available to you.  Do you have a copy of 

that? 

Yeah, I got it in front of me.A.

Okay.  And I also want to confirmQ.2

that you don't have any other notes or documents 

because you're only to refer to your Affidavit.  Is 

that understood?  

Oh, okay.  Yeah, I do have otherA.

ones but I won't reference them.  

Okay, thank you.Q.3

I'll separate them.A.

Thank you.Q.4

No worries.A.

So to begin with, I'd like to startQ.5

at Exhibit A to your Affidavit, and what I propose 

to do is to put it up on the screen as well as tell 

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.
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A. DAVIS-5

you where I'm looking so you can either reference 

what's on the screen or what you have in hard copy 

there in front of you.  

Mm-hmm.A.
I'll do that now.  Can you see onQ.6

the screen, this is Exhibit A to your Affidavit? 

Yes.A.
July 19th, 2023?Q.7

Mm-hmm.A.
And so as I understand it, Exhibit AQ.8

to your Affidavit is a series of e-mails and so if 

I scroll through it, it's several pages long but 

it's a series of e-mails sent and then responded 

to.  I believe it's seven pages, based on this.  So 

I understand that the earliest of them dates to New 

Year's Day, January 1st, 2021? 

Mm-hmm.A.
And they're largely e-mailsQ.9

exchanged by Sharon Crowe and Rob Mastroianni at 

the City? 

Mm-hmm.A.
So we have an e-mail from Sharon to Q.10

Mr. Mastroianni and Mr. Mastroianni's response on 

the same date and then we have a further exchange 

of e-mails between Sharon Crowe and Rob 
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Mastroianni, same date of Rob's response just after 

5:00 p.m. on January 1st, 2021.  And then there 

are, again, a couple of additional e-mails sent on 

that same date closer to 6:00 p.m. on January 1st, 

2021, one from Sharon Crowe to Rob Mastroianni now 

copying in Jill Wiwcharuk and then Mr. 

Mastroianni's response still copying in Jill 

Wiwcharuk.  This has all been on January 1st.  This 

last e-mail is just before 8:00 p.m.; do I have all 

that correct? 

Mm-hmm.A.
Sorry, just for the record, I need Q.11

you to say either yes or no.  I get what you're 

saying and indicating but it has to be a yes or no 

to be clear.  

No problem.  Yes.A.
Okay, thank you.  And then at theQ.12

very top of the chain, there are a couple of 

e-mails that are later.  So you see that there's a

forwarded message, January 1st, 2021, as I said,

just before 8:00 p.m. with its chain and then we

have e-mails exchanged on February 16th, 2021

between Dr. Wiwcharuk and a man named Paul Johnson

at the City with Sharon Crowe also receiving a

copy.  Do you see that e-mail?
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Yes.A.
And then the last e-mail in the Q.13

chain is just Mr. Johnson's response to Jill 

Wiwcharuk and Sharon Crowe also on February 16th, 

2021, and this last e-mail is at 3:29 p.m.; is that 

correct? 

Yes.A.
Okay.  So as I scroll through this,Q.14

you didn't write any of these e-mails; right? 

No.A.
And you're not copied on any ofQ.15

these e-mails; right? 

No.A.
And you can't confirm for me whetherQ.16

these e-mails are authentic? 

No.A.
And I see that throughout, and in Q.17

fact in this e-mail that's at the top of the chain, 

there are redactions made.  So it looks like 

there's a name that's redacted.  "Service 

Restriction for" redacted.  And the e-mail that 

Mr. Johnson was responding to, the subject line 

includes "Service Restriction for" redacted.  And 

that is flowed through the entire document.  It 

looks to me like it's a name that's redacted.  Do 
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you know if that is the case? 

Yes.A.
Okay.  Who made those redactions?Q.18

I don't know.  I'm not a part ofA.
this e-mail. 

Understood.  Well, no, it's part ofQ.19

your Affidavit so I have to ask you.  

Oh, okay.A.
But you don't know who redacted it?Q.20

It was probably legal counsel justA.
for the privacy of the individual. 

Okay.  All right.  And again, if I Q.21

look at Paul Johnson's e-mail at the very top of 

this chain, February 16th, 2021, he indicates yes, 

this individual was unique in that his restriction 

was widespread for behaviours that are well-noted.  

He does also indicate these are difficult cases and 

need to be discussed so there's another path.  

Thankfully, they are minimal in numbers given the 

nearly 4,000 different people that access shelters 

each year.

To your knowledge, was the 

restriction that's being referenced in this e-mail 

behaviour-related?  

To my understanding, yes.A.
NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.
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A. DAVIS-9

Did you have any direct involvementQ.22

in the Service Restriction or the response to it?  

The response following when the CityA.

didn't support this gentleman or client I was able 

to, through my organization, provide some shelter 

space for him, temporary shelter space and then 

house him at a later date. 

Okay, thank you.  I will come to Q.23

that because I believe there is a further 

description of how that all happened in your 

Affidavit.  

Mm-hmm.A.

But what I'm really getting at, atQ.24

this point, is that we're talking about a single 

individual throughout these e-mails and not more 

than one; is that correct? 

That's my understanding, yes.A.

And where Mr. Johnson in this e-mailQ.25

says that this individual was unique, would you 

agree that this was a unique case? 

With some -- yeah, some things itA.

was unique.  It was what, New Year's Eve, everything 

was shut down but when you're talking about 

Indigenous people's experiences in shelters, that's, 

you know, as this fellow states in this e-mail, 
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difficult cases.  So it's not unique in the case 

that it's the only situation.

Okay.Q.26

So yeah, it's unique in that sense.A.

And so the individual whose name isQ.27

redacted is an Indigenous person? 

Mm-hmm.A.

You can confirm that for me?Q.28

Mm-hmm.A.
Sorry, again, it's got to be a yesQ.29

or no.  

Sorry, yes, yes.A.

That's okay.  I'll remind you.  It'sQ.30

okay.  I know how it happens.  It's okay.  

Mm-hmm.A.
Okay.  So that's helpful.  ThankQ.31

you.  And I want to scroll down to one of 

Mr. Mastroianni's e-mails.  They're all dated 

January 1st, 2021 but the e-mail that I'm 

interested in is on page five of the exhibit.  And 

so the e-mail from Mr. Mastroianni, the timestamp 

is 4:07 p.m. and he indicates that, here in 

paragraph four, "I will always advocate for 

accommodation of clients as I have done in this 

case, however, I am not able to impose that an 
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agency admit someone."  

Mm-hmm.A.

That's correct in your experience,Q.32

right?  The City can't dictate who is admitted into 

shelter? 

Yes, yes, it is.  You know, there'sA.
nothing wrong with an agency being able to identify 

who they admit.  There's bigger challenges, bigger 

systemic barriers that need to be addressed, right.

Well, and I understand that --Q.33

THE REPORTER:  Sorry.  I'm sorry, 

Jordan. Ms. Davis, you kind of trailed off at the 

end of your answer there. If you could just keep 

your voice up for me, that would be appreciated.  

THE WITNESS:  Sure. 

THE REPORTER:  Thank you. 

THE WITNESS:  Mm-hmm. 

BY MR. DIACUR:

Yeah.  The point of this is toQ.34

ultimately have a transcript so yes, I appreciate 

that comment.  Thank you.  So I understand that 

there is an obligation to accommodate within a 

shelter to the point of undue hardship? 

Mm-hmm.  Yes.A.

And what is that, in yourQ.35
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experience?  What does -- what is the point of 

undue hardship? 

Well, I think, you know, to the --A.

of letting them access the facility -- 

MS. CROWE:  Sorry.  Excuse me.  

Sorry, I was on mute there.  I think you're asking 

for her opinion and for something that was beyond 

the scope of her Affidavit. 

MR. DIACUR:  No, I specifically 

asked in her experience, what constitutes undue 

hardship?  So I'm not asking for her opinion, I'm 

asking for her experience.  

MS. CROWE:  Okay.  Keeping in mind 

that she's not a lawyer.  

THE WITNESS:  Not a lawyer.  I am 

not a lawyer. 

BY MR. DIACUR:

No, no, that's understood, but thisQ.36

is a test that is applied to individuals constantly 

by non-lawyers and so I'm asking for her 

experience.  

Okay.  So in my experience, and withA.

homelessness and shelters, I've never run a shelter, 

I'll state that, but I do run the organization that 

provides many social services support to Indigenous 

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.
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individuals and we don't just turn people away 

without alternative resources, and when you're 

talking about December or January 1st, the weather, 

I know what the weather was like that day.  I 

believe there is a responsibility not to leave 

people in situations.  You're a shelter, you have an 

obligation to shelter people whether it's on site or 

off site.  We have people we work with who we cannot 

support them directly ourselves but we connect them 

to and provide them as many resources we can to 

ensure that their safety and wellbeing is taken care 

of in the moment.  

So despite the fact that, you know, 

we learned a lot -- I learned a lot about the 

shelter systems and their obligations in working 

with Indigenous social service agencies specifically 

a lot in Hamilton, and one of the obligations is if 

they don't have space, they need to provide 

accommodations or ensure that there's accommodations 

be it a hotel, referral to another agency.  And I 

gained this understanding just through working 

with -- having to work directly with caseworkers in 

trying to secure shelter, immediate shelter for 

people in situations.  

So, so yeah, they don't have to 
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admit someone but they have to make all efforts to 

ensure that person is safe.  

Well, let me ask it this way, what Q.37

did the redacted individual do in this case to be 

Service Restricted?  

I don't know the exact details.A.

Did you ask?Q.38

No.A.

I understand in this e-mail chain,Q.39

it's stated that this individual would require 24/7 

supports in order to operate in either a shelter or 

a hotel environment? 

Right.  Right, and that's where IA.

was speaking to about the gaps and the barriers that 

are in place.  One of those gaps is supportive 

housing for people who have those barriers.  Mental 

health, addictions, whatever it might be, but it 

doesn't, it doesn't get rid of the obligation of the 

community or society to support these people.  Just 

because he can't be put in a shelter doesn't mean he 

deserves to be outside in the cold left to fend for 

himself when all services, that was a holiday, you 

know, all the social service agencies are closed.  

So he had nowhere to go.  

In your experience, would providingQ.40

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.

A. DAVIS-15

24/7 on site support be a form of undue hardship 

for an emergency shelter?  

I don't know.  I can't speak to theA.

shelter service provider itself from a firsthand 

basis and understanding the complexities and how 

they operate -- 

Okay.  Q.41

-- on a day-to-day basis.A.

All right.  So I'd like to turn toQ.42

your Affidavit.  I have some questions for you 

about the content.  I'm just going to click through 

via the index in this document that you compiled so 

I'll put it up on the screen.  Can you see your 

Affidavit sworn July 19th, 2023 there? 

Yes.A.

So I'd like to start with paragraphsQ.43

two and three.  So you do identify yourself as 

Director of the Hamilton Regional Indian Centre, 

HRIC? 

Mm-hmm.A.

Sorry, it's got to be a yes or no.Q.44

Sorry, yes.A.

Just for the record.  Thank you.Q.45

And if I refer to the Hamilton Regional Indian 

Centre as HRIC, you'll understand what I'm doing?  
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I don't have to say it out loud every single time, 

I can use the acronym, is that okay?  

Yes, you can.A.

Okay, thank you.  All right.  IsQ.46

that still your position?  I know it was in July of 

2023 but do you remain the Director of the HRIC? 

Yes, I am, but I do want to -- inA.

statement one it says the City of Buffalo.  I don't 

know how that got overlooked.  It's actually the 

Town of Niagara is where I reside. 

Okay.  But is that still in the Q.47

State of New York? 

Yes.A.

Okay.  Understood.  And that's whereQ.48

the university is located right by the river there, 

Town of Niagara? 

Niagara University, yeah.A.

I just want to make sure I know whatQ.49

we're talking about so that's good.  Thank you.  

Okay.  And you do indicate in paragraph two that 

the HRIC delivers 30 plus programs.  I understand 

that some of those are related to housing and 

homelessness supports; right? 

Yes.A.

Okay.  And those programs inQ.50

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.
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particular, the housing and homelessness supports 

programs, what do they include?  

We have housing support caseworkers,A.
intensive caseworkers, we have a couple of landlord 

liaison positions, shelter intervention worker, one 

position.  Let's see.  What else.  We have the 

Indigenous drop-in which is staff who, you know, 

program support staff there.  What else is in the 

housing and homelessness team?  There's about 30 

positions.  We've just secured a housing stability 

position, worker position.  There's a manager, 

supervisor, assistant.  I wasn't prepared to list 

all of those staff.  Yeah, but there is 

approximately 30 staff that provide supports. 

Specifically in that area?  Q.51

Specifically in housing, yes.A.
Okay, thank you.  All right.  So I'd Q.52

like to jump forward a bit to paragraph 17 of your 

Affidavit.  I'll scroll to that now.  You indicate 

that we have long advocated for the City -- or to 

the City for additional resources in the community, 

such as Indigenous shelters and drop-in centres.  

Just to be clear, though, Indigenous 

individuals are able to access existing shelters in 

the City of Hamilton; correct? 
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They are able to access existingA.
shelters. 

And they do so?  You know for a factQ.53

that Indigenous individuals do that? 

Some do.A.
Okay.Q.54

There are barriers within theA.
shelters for Indigenous people, though. 

No, I understand that.  I'm just Q.55

asking for confirmation that that is something, in 

your experience, does happen? 

Mm-hmm.A.
Okay.  And at paragraph 16, you Q.56

mention the wait list, the HRIC's waiting list and 

so again, to be clear, the individuals on the 

HRIC's waiting list are free to access housing 

supports through other providers in the City of 

Hamilton while on that list; correct? 

Yes.A.
And you're aware of that happeningQ.57

as well? 

Mm-hmm.A.
And so at paragraph 19 of your Q.58

Affidavit, you indicate that there was funding 

provided and this actually goes back to paragraph 
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17 being referenced an Indigenous drop-in centre in 

late December 2021.  The City had advised the HRIC 

that there was some funding available for an 

Indigenous drop-in centre, however, it had to be 

used by March 31st, 2022 or it might be lost.  

Mm-hmm.A.
And you indicate in paragraph 19, Q.59

"Although we were thankful for the funding, it 

almost felt like we were being set up to fail."  So 

I understand that the City offered this funding and 

it was time-limited for use within three months? 

Mm-hmm.A.
The HRIC accepted the funding onQ.60

those terms?  

Mm-hmm.  Yes, we did.A.
Okay.  And why was the fundingQ.61

time-limited?  Do you know that?  

What their funding cycle is, IA.
believe. 

And was the funding coming from someQ.62

other government body? 

I didn't ask the City --A.
Okay.Q.63

-- about where the funding cameA.
from, but they obviously operated on a fiscal year. 
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Okay.  And so that March 31st, 2022Q.64

is, that deadline is the end of the fiscal year? 

Yes.A.
Okay.  Is it possible that it was Q.65

COVID funding coming from a different level of 

government? 

It could have been possible.  IA.
can't, you know -- I don't know.  I didn't ask at 

the time. 

No, understood.  That's -- Q.66

I believe it was just a surplusA.
funded that wasn't expended through the year. 

Okay.  Understood.  If I scroll Q.67

through to paragraph 20, you indicate that in 

March 2022, the HRIC did open up an Indigenous 

daytime drop-in centre and that was using the 

City's funding?  

Yes.A.
So I would suggest to you thatQ.68

that's a success and not a failure? 

We had to secure funding from otherA.
sources, divert funding, use existing staff to help 

support there because it was a very limited amount 

of -- 

No, understood, but I would suggestQ.69

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.
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that that's a success and not a failure? 

A success, yeah.  I suppose youA.

could call it a success, yeah.  

And if I scroll down to paragraphQ.70

22, you mention that housing is difficult to obtain 

for Indigenous people including due to 

discrimination.  Are we talking about 

discrimination by landlords?  

Yeah, you get discrimination byA.

landlords, yes.  

Is it discrimination by anyone else?Q.71

Discriminatory practices.  The wholeA.

systems are set up, hence the reason for the TRC, 

right.  Canada's systems are set up in opposition to 

Indigenous ways of being and knowing.  So the 

discrimination, the racism is systemic as well as 

within society.  

But specifically when it comes to a Q.72

barrier to housing, are we talking about 

discrimination amongst the landlords who would be 

offering that housing in the market? 

It could be discrimination from theA.

landlords, could be discrimination ongoing, systemic 

discrimination that had put Indigenous people and 

those who are homeless or at risk of homelessness in 
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a position where they can't afford housing, adequate 

or appropriate housing.  They don't have jobs, they 

have addictions, they have mental health issues.  

There could be all kinds of different barriers and 

impacts of colonization impacting these people.  

So when I speak about discrimination 

there, it's very, you know, vast where this goes.  

It goes back to colonization.  It goes back to the 

residential school, the day schools, the Sixties 

Scoop, the disconnect from cultural impacts not only 

that Indigenous person but, again, it ties back to 

the systems.  The government systems, the societal 

systems and individuals including landlords.  

Employers, people who have these -- who have been 

taught all these stereotypes about Indigenous people 

where, where discrimination against Indigenous 

people is just part of the culture. 

Got it.  Okay.  And so in terms of Q.73

what you mentioned there, would that also include 

what you refer to here as other systemic factors? 

Yes.A.
Okay.  You also mentionQ.74

affordability.  Would you agree that affordability 

is not a factor that's limited to Indigenous 

people, it's a broader issue? 
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Currently, yes.  Since COVID, yes.A.

Okay.  And in paragraph 23, youQ.75

mention, you used the term "street entrenched".  

Mm-hmm.A.

You indicate that that makes itQ.76

harder to obtain housing.  Now, I understand what 

you're saying here in terms of street entrenchment.  

It's individuals who have a deeply established 

pattern that inhibits their ability to establish 

trust and connections.  

Mm-hmm.A.

Now, I just want to ensure, again,Q.77

would you agree that that is also something that is 

possible outside of the Indigenous community as 

well as within it? 

Yes.  Yes, the difference being isA.

that Indigenous people, again, are overrepresented 

in homelessness and any other social ill due to 

colonization and then back to the discrimination 

being systemic in our society. 

Right.  And you do mention at Q.78

paragraph 24 a Point in Time survey and you 

indicate that discrimination in housing was listed 

as, well, the fourth most common challenge for 

Indigenous people in that Point in Time survey.  
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That Point in Time survey isn't included as an 

exhibit to your Affidavit; correct? 

No, it's not.A.

It's a document that you referencedQ.79

at some point in the past? 

Is it included, Sharon?A.
Well, there's only one exhibit toQ.80

your Affidavit and -- 

Oh, okay.A.
-- it was the e-mails that we justQ.81

referenced.  

Yeah, so the Point in Time count isA.

something completed by, you know, within each 

community that receives funding through the region 

--

Okay.Q.82

-- other funding from the FederalA.
Government.  It's a requirement and it just gives a 

snapshot, they call it a snapshot of homelessness 

within a community. 

Okay, so --Q.83

To be able to tell, you know, whatA.

are the needs and the gaps in each community. 

So other than that, other than that Q.84

Point in Time survey that you reference, the 
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comments that you make here in paragraph 24, and 

you are free to review that, what are these 

comments based on? 

Let me just read it real quick.A.

Yes, please.Q.85

Okay, so those comments are basedA.
on, again, the Point in Time count which wasn't 

included. 

Yeah, no, I'm not asking -- other Q.86

than that.  

Okay.A.

Is there anything other than thatQ.87

that that's based on? 

Yeah.A.

Okay.  Let me know.Q.88

Let me finish.A.

Yeah.Q.89

So I worked for, prior to working atA.
Hamilton Regional Indian Centre I worked for the 

Ontario Federation of Indigenous Friendship Centres 

supporting programs across Ontario in Indigenous 

agencies, primarily friendship centres with the 

Reaching Home.  At that time it was called the 

Homelessness Partnering Strategy funding pots.  

THE REPORTER:  Sorry, I didn't hear 
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what it was called. 

THE WITNESS:  Homelessness 

Partnering Strategy. 

THE REPORTER:  Thank you.  

THE WITNESS:  HPS.  And then it 

changed to Reaching Home.  Same pot of funding, just 

a different title.  So I was in many communities.  I 

regularly visited these communities to provide 

supports through that funding pot and help identify 

gaps and barriers in the communities.  The 

communities were Ottawa, Niagara area, Moosonee, 

Timmins, Barrie or not Barrie, sorry, Midland.  

There was nine communities in total.  Thunder Bay 

was one of the programs as well.  

So a lot of it is based on 

experience and all the information gathering I did 

in that work as well.  When you talk about, you 

know, discrimination in housing, you know, I can 

tell you stories of workers going with a community 

member to view a housing unit and the landlord 

walked out on the porch seeing the person was 

Indigenous and told them to basically screw up.  Get 

out of here.  I'm not renting to an Indigenous 

person.  

So yeah, that's common and there 
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were other stories that I could add to but, you 

know, so this comes from my past work experience, my 

own lived experience being an Indigenous woman and 

growing up in Canada and having to find housing.  

You know, having -- being discriminated against, you 

know.  Making sure I took my non-Indigenous housing 

or husband with me to appointments to better my 

chances of getting into an appropriate unit.  

So that's what it's based on.  You 

know, let's say -- yeah.  And, you know, in the 

past, I myself, and I know people who do, you end up 

renting inferior housing because you're viewed, 

you're Indigenous and they hold those stereotypes 

against you.  

BY MR. DIACUR:

When that occurs, discrimination inQ.90

terms of obtaining housing or in respect of 

occupancy of housing, does the HRIC's housing and 

the housing assistance programs assist individuals, 

Indigenous individuals with taking steps to rectify 

that? 

We will try.  We will refer themA.

over to the, over to the legal clinic.  We aren't -- 

we are very much a lot of peer support, caseworkers.  

We don't have the expertise, professionals or 
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clinicians that we employ so our scope is limited.  

We do have the resources where we will refer them 

to.  We do have the landlord liaisons who will help 

and work with, with landlords to try and navigate 

situations.  The reason we have landlord liaisons, 

primarily, is to build for the staff members, for 

HRIC to build relationships with the local landlords 

to help reduce those barriers faced by Indigenous 

people and then we just rely on the same landlords 

to word of mouth, share with other landlords and we 

support.  We continue with ongoing support of the 

tenants to help and try and ensure that they remain 

housed because it is a big challenge to find new 

housing.  

Thank you.  So scrolling down to Q.91

paragraph 28 of your Affidavit, this is under a 

subheading "Hamilton's Shelter System".  You 

mention two locations, Inasmuch House and the 

Native Women's Centre.  You do indicate that 

Inasmuch House is consistently full and you 

indicate that the Native Women's Centre is also 

full most of the time.  

Mm-hmm.A.
You agree with me that InasmuchQ.92

House sometimes has available spaces?  
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Yes, they do.A.

And the Native Women's Centre doesQ.93

sometimes have available spaces? 

Yes.A.

Okay.  And in paragraph 29, you doQ.94

indicate that there are no Indigenous shelters for 

men, couples, family or youth and there you're 

referring to in Hamilton; right? 

Mm-hmm.A.

Sorry, it's got to be yes or no.Q.95

Yes.A.

Yes.  Okay.  But again, IndigenousQ.96

men, couples, family, youth, Two Spirit individuals 

can access the existing shelters in Hamilton? 

Yes.A.

And you indicate that the absence ofQ.97

shelters for Two Spirit individuals in particular 

is a substantial gap in Hamilton's shelter system? 

Mm-hmm.  Yes.A.

Well, I would suggest to you thatQ.98

you would personally prefer to see such a separate, 

dedicated facility for Two Spirit individuals but 

the fact that a dedicated facility has not been set 

aside for Two Spirit individuals is not a gap in 

the system since they can access the existing 
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system.  Would you agree with that?  

Somewhat.  They can go there.  AreA.

they safe there?  Not all the time, no.  And then --

So it's a security issue?  Is that Q.99

what you would say? 

Pardon?A.

It's a security issue?  Is that whatQ.100

you would say? 

It's a safety issue.  It's providingA.

safe shelter for people.  The shelters do not 

provide safe shelter for Indigenous people and it's 

not unusual to hear people say I'll sleep on the 

street before I go to the shelter because I feel 

safer out there.  

Yeah.  And you do make a comment Q.101

like that later in your Affidavit so I'll have a 

question for you about that statement.  So we'll 

come to that.  Paragraph 30 of your Affidavit you 

do indicate that there's an -- 

Before you go on --A.

Yes.Q.102

-- I want to speak to the familiesA.

and couples shelter.  When you're talking about 

access, yes, they can access shelters, right, but 

they have to be separated.  So when you're talking 
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about families who are already displaced, you know, 

if there's a 16-year-old boy, 17-year-old boy within 

that family, he cannot go to the family shelter with 

the mother and the father can't go to the shelter 

with the mother.  They have to be separated.  

So there's already that historic 

trauma of separation issue.  You know, back to the 

residential schools, Sixties Scoop where children 

and parents are separated causing trauma and that 

can be very triggering for those because many of the 

Indigenous homeless people are survivors of 

residential school and/or the foster care system.  

Understood.  So in paragraph 30 of Q.103

your Affidavit you indicate that there's an absence 

of culturally appropriate supports?  

Mm-hmm.A.

And that's specifically with Q.104

reference to Indigenous women experiencing 

homelessness in Hamilton.  What are you referencing 

there?  

I'd have to think about if I wasA.

speaking specifically because this was written a 

couple years ago. Had turnover with staff, new 

consultation with managers on things, you know, to 

add in and staff to add in information.  We do have, 
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you know -- I can speak to an experience back in 

2018 where there was a woman who came to the centre 

one afternoon, and of course it was on a Friday 

afternoon looking, you know, she couldn't access a 

shelter.  Looking to get shelter access.  We called 

every shelter and this was due to -- this one was 

due to no shelter spaces that we ended up with her 

until 11:00 o'clock at night.  We called as far as 

Toronto and couldn't get a space.  Ended up she left 

with a tent and a sleeping bag to sleep in the 

streets, right.  

So, and when you're talking about 

the vulnerability, how vulnerable that woman is 

already being female out on the streets and add to 

it being Indigenous, you know, when predators are 

looking to find a victim, they look for the most 

vulnerable.  And when you're talking about women, 

yes, vulnerable, add Indigenous to that because the 

perception is, and we know this, that Indigenous 

women are very disposable and when they go missing 

or murdered, you know, the same efforts don't go 

into them that -- to locating them or finding 

justice for them that goes to non-Indigenous.  So 

being denied access to a shelter, there's also other 

women who are denied access based on, you know, 
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again, it goes back to the behaviours, you know, 

mental health, addictions and it speaks to the gaps.  

Again, I understand safety concerns 

for others and, you know, staff but at the same 

time, there is a need to provide alternative 

shelter.  You can't just, you know, having shelter 

is a human right, right.  You know, that's the 

belief, the principles that we operate on that we 

don't leave people out in the streets and especially 

vulnerable and very vulnerable people such as 

Indigenous women who may have mental health and 

addictions challenges so yeah.  

You know, when they talk about being 

denied access to shelters, yeah, it happens.  It 

happens and culturally appropriate doesn't mean they 

can just smudge there.  It means there's somebody 

there who understands their plight, who understands 

why they're in the situation and who can -- sorry 

about that.  My Roomba is talking to me. 

That's no problem.  Q.105

You know, who they can connect with,A.

have trust with, have rapport with because 

historically speaking, the Canadian system has not 

been supported or trusted for Indigenous people.  

Okay.  Well, I want to make sureQ.106
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that I understand that.  So you mentioned smudging 

in particular.  There are traditional elements of 

Indigenous culture that can be practiced in 

shelters in Hamilton; right? 

That's my understanding now thatA.

it's becoming more, you know -- through our work, I 

believe I speak to this, too, HRIC has cultural 

capacity trainers.  We have our managers who go out 

and advocate and bring cultural awareness and 

understanding and push for training and how they can 

better support Indigenous people or at least give 

them the things they need to do the smudging or 

carry on with their ceremonies.  But again, it's not 

limited to smudge, it's -- when you're talking about 

culturally appropriate, providing opportunity or 

space for them, smudge is great.  It's a step in the 

right direction but there's so much more to it than 

just being able to smudge. 

Understood.  So the other part of Q.107

that is I understand the HRIC does go out into the 

community and go to the shelters and provide that 

training.  Do you see that as part of the HRIC's 

role? 

That's part of our mission toA.

support Indigenous people and bringing back 
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empowerment.  You know, they can't -- you know, 

that's why there's the TRC because Indigenous people 

did not put ourselves in this situation, it's the 

system around us.  The system needs to change.  The 

attitudes of individuals need to change because we 

can empower ourselves as much as we can.  If we're 

denied access to society and the means to improve 

ourselves, you know, it's not a one-sided thing.  

Again, it ties back to the TRC and the obligation of 

the Canadian society to work on reconciliation 

side-by-side. 

Understood.  Just for the record, I Q.108

just want to clarify, TRC, you're referencing the 

Truth and Reconciliation Commission? 

Yes, the calls to action, yes.A.

Just want to make sure because ifQ.109

it's an acronym on the record -- 

Oh, okay.  Yeah.  Mm-hmm.A.

Thank you.  So again, I would say Q.110

that this is a success story for the HRIC going out 

into the community and taking those steps.  The 

fact that it exists in Hamilton is a good thing.  

You'd agree with that?  

Yes, yes.A.

And so I'd like to move to paragraphQ.111
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34 of your Affidavit.  You indicate here many 

shelter staff are not aware of local Indigenous 

supports or agencies with which to connect shelter 

residents and I have a question for you about this 

in terms of your knowledge of what many shelter 

staff are unaware of.  Is that based on the HRIC's 

work of going out and educating shelter staff?  

That's based on experiences.  Again,A.

this was written two years ago.  We were, we were 

only a couple years into providing training.  The 

training component at HRIC, cultural training 

program is fairly new.  It only goes back to 2018 

and it was funded by the Ontario Federation of 

Indigenous Friendship Centres.  It is something that 

is currently not funded.  It's an unfunded 

initiative that HRIC does to, you know, for the work 

that we do. 

Okay.  Q.112

But -- oh, I was going to goA.

somewhere else.  When we talk about their lack of 

awareness, yeah, so we go in and, you know, we might 

have been to, say, Inasmuch House, I don't know if 

we have even trained that shelter.  Just as an 

example, we go into a shelter, provide training and 

bring awareness and knowledge of working with 
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Indigenous people but they have staff turnover just 

like we do.  So the training might have been two 

years ago.  You might have one or two, maybe three 

or four of the people, you know, certain percentage 

has left and moved on and has new staff.  And again, 

you don't check a box when you say oh, Inasmuch 

House is trained, we're good with them to try and 

perfect (indiscernible) until this is resolved.  You 

know, Indigenous discrimination and homelessness, 

which isn't anywhere in our future, our foreseeable 

future.  But it's a moving target.  It's 

individuals.  You have to educate people.  People 

have to become educated and have change of hearts, 

change of minds, change of ideas and perceptions 

about Indigenous people.  

Understood.  So -- no, and that's Q.113

helpful.  I appreciate the clarification.  

Paragraph 36 you indicate that there have been 

multiple reports from clients who have, among other 

things, been falsely accused and summarily banned 

from shelters. My question for you about that is 

have you ever received a report of someone 

admitting to being appropriately or fairly accused 

of something? 

Yes, they acknowledge that.  YouA.
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know, yes, I have mental health, I have addictions 

issues.  Yes, I've screwed up, but doesn't mean you 

throw them away.  

No, it goes back to the discussion Q.114

we were having earlier about Service Restrictions 

and behaviour so I appreciate the clarification.  I 

just want to make sure that we're clear on what 

your evidence is.  

Mm-hmm.  Yeah.A.

When you say these are based on Q.115

multiple reports of clients, what you're doing is 

passing along those second-hand reports.  It's not 

like there's investigation done to confirm what 

you're being told; correct?  

We don't -- we're not in that legalA.

capacity.  We support people to get them out of 

situations.  They get banned, yes, we know that 

happens.  They get accused of doing something they 

didn't do, yeah, we know that happens.  You know, 

when it comes to a he said, she said, they're going 

to believe the non-Indigenous before the Indigenous 

for the most part.  That's accepting -- yeah, you 

know, if they report that, yes, we believe that 

because we're Indigenous.  We understand that that 

does happen.  
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So do we doubt them, yes, everybody 

is not honest all the time but at the same time, it 

goes back to that discrimination, the systemic 

discrimination.  All of that, that continues to keep 

those who are most harmed and those who need the 

most support on the street, you know, and in 

precarious situations.  So they might be banned from 

shelters and, you know, we understand that, we try 

to support them, we put them up in hotels, we try to 

house them and we do have access with the majority 

that we work with and move on to somebody else but 

then they come back because there's bigger issues 

with mental health and addictions.  Putting a roof 

over somebody's head doesn't fix them, you know.  It 

provides them human right, a right to be in shelter 

but then they go off into, you know, they can't get 

into the shelters, you know, the encampments, you 

know, provide those safety for those people, too, 

right.  

So we just try to support as best we 

can and, and we take people for the most part.  You 

know, we know the community.  We know the people who 

are coming to us.  You know, there's only so many 

Indigenous people's families and we do connect as 

much as possible so we get to know them and we know 
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when people are unfairly treated.  We know -- they 

come and tell us when the shelter says you either 

work with us or you work with them so, you know, 

it's, again, that ongoing racism and discrimination 

that keeps getting in the way. 

You mentioned in paragraph 37, in Q.116

some cases, people are banned, and this is, again, 

on the basis of Service Restriction.  "In some 

cases, people are banned for years or even 

decades."  Who has been banned or Service 

Restricted from a shelter for decades, in your 

experience?  

We do have one fellow back -- hm,A.

what year.  I think it was pre-pandemic who could 

not access -- no, it wasn't pre-pandemic because we 

had caseworkers.  Throughout the pandemic he would 

never be able to access the shelters.  I can't go 

back to the shelters, I've been banned.  Permanently 

banned. 

He was permanently banned? Q.117

He's permanently banned from theA.

shelters, yeah.  Yeah, and we've had people who 

we've shipped out of the community.  You know, sent 

them, you know, taken them to Toronto, taken them to 

other communities where, you know, I believe we sent 
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one up to Timmins to a shelter.  The hope is, you 

know, we try to send them home, to their home 

community but that's not always possible if they're 

not connected to their home community anymore nor 

were they ever.  

Okay, thank you.  That's helpful.  Q.118

Paragraph 38, this is back to New Year's Day 2021.  

You reference an Indigenous man being banned from 

every shelter.  Is that the same individual that we 

were talking about when we looked at Exhibit A and 

the e-mails? 

Yes.A.

And I understand that the HRIC didQ.119

step in and shelter was obtained for that 

individual? 

Yes.A.

And that was done by, at least my Q.120

understanding any way, it was done by January 20th, 

2021; is that correct? 

No, I believe we put him in a hotelA.

the same night. 

Okay, so the hotel for temporaryQ.121

shelter and then there was permanent shelter 

obtained later that month? 

If that's what it -- I can't recallA.
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exactly when we secured his permanent housing.  

Okay.  But to your recollection, was Q.122

it within that same month? 

He went right from hotel to aA.

residence, yes.  Permanent residence, yes.  

All right.  Well, again, I suggest Q.123

to you that that, obtaining a hotel space and 

obtaining shelter for an individual in that 

circumstance is the role of an organization like 

the HRIC that provides shelter supports.  Would you 

agree with that?  

It's our job to help, to put peopleA.

in hotels.  We don't have any funding no more to do 

that.  At the time we were able to divert some 

funding.  This was before, I believe before we had 

the agreement even with the City to put -- have 

funds available to put people in hotels, which we 

did eventually get throughout the pandemic but yeah, 

we weren't in the habit of putting people in hotels.  

We had in the past because we can't leave them on 

the street and as Indigenous people, yeah, it's our 

responsibility to take care of each other.  But 

again, the reality is we have limited resources.  We 

are not a shelter.  Shelters -- 

No, understood, and I'm notQ.124
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suggesting that.  I'm just saying that shelter 

supports are provided by the HRIC.  You'd agree 

with that being part of the role of the HRIC? 

No, it's what we do beyond.  HRICA.

provides supports and services to individuals to 

help them secure housing, to help them maintain 

their housing amongst, you know -- help them connect 

them to mental health, connect them to addictions 

professionals.  We are not a shelter nor are we a 

shelter provider.  

Okay.  Again, there were resources Q.125

available to resolve the predicament that this 

particular individual found himself in on New 

Year's Day.  You'd agree with that? 

Yes, there were. And I know that theA.

shelter had resources available to do it, too, but 

they chose not to.  

Well, in general, I would put it to Q.126

you that the system, the homelessness serving 

system including the HRIC worked to provide shelter 

to this man in need that same day.  Would you agree 

with that? 

No, the system didn't work.  TheA.

HRIC -- 

The HRIC is not part of the system?Q.127
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HRIC is separate from the colonialA.

system.  We do things differently.  We're not part 

of the system. 

Well, I'm not saying that it's part Q.128

of the colonial system.  I'm saying that it 

provides services to individuals who are homeless.  

It is homeless serving, at least in part.  You'd 

agree with that? 

We do provide services to homelessA.

people. 

So the homelessness serving systemQ.129

in the City of Hamilton worked to provide shelter 

to this individual in need the same day? 

No, Hamilton system didn't work.A.

That's why I was called.  We were closed.  We were 

on a -- 

I'm saying in the City of Hamilton.  Q.130

I'm not saying the City's system.  HRIC is located 

in the City of Hamilton, yes? 

Yes.  I'll make it very clear soA.

it's easy so we can move on.  The City of Hamilton, 

the shelter system failed this man.  HRIC was able 

to shelter him until we were able to house him.  

On the same day that he found Q.131

himself in need he was sheltered?  
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He was sheltered in a hotel room byA.

HRIC, not by -- the system wasn't -- shelter system 

nor the City of Hamilton system wasn't successful. 

They failed. 

Yes, no, I understand your evidence.  Q.132

I appreciate that clarification.  Paragraph 39, if 

I follow this paragraph, you're reporting what an 

Indigenous man told you he had been told by an 

unnamed shelter worker.  Do I follow that 

correctly? 

Yes.  Yes, and like I said, at theA.

time of the writing of this Affidavit, there were 

155 clients.  I don't know who the client was.  I 

get the information, I'm the executive director.  I 

don't work directly with the homeless people or the 

caseworkers.  There's a manager and it was reported 

to me by one of the managers.  

Okay.  So just to be clear, then, so Q.133

this statement in paragraph 39 is what you were 

told by an HRIC manager that they were told by an 

Indigenous man that they were told by an unnamed 

shelter worker; do I have that right? 

Yes.A.

Okay.Q.134

Yes.A.
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And at the end of that --Q.135

It doesn't invalidate it.A.

I'm sorry?Q.136

I said it doesn't invalidate it.A.

It's still, again, this is -- 

I'm just trying to establish the Q.137

source of the information.  It's valid or not is 

for the Court.  

So paragraph 39 ends with the 

statement, "It is just another example of how 

non-Indigenous shelters cannot properly support 

Indigenous people."  

Yes.A.

And so just to be clear, the exampleQ.138

you are giving is based on that chain of 

communication that we just described?  

Just another example.  It's a pieceA.

of the -- it's a part of the whole -- 

Understood.  Q.139

Just a piece of it.  Another pieceA.

of it.  

And in paragraph 40, there is, Q.140

again, a statement about Indigenous homeless 

individuals.  You say, "Many Indigenous homeless 

that live on the street state the shelters are not 
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safe and choose the streets as a safer option."  I 

believe this is what you were referencing earlier 

-- 

Mm-hmm.A.

-- (indiscernible) somethingQ.141

similar; is that right? 

Yes.A.

And again, just to be clear in terms Q.142

of where the information is coming from, these are 

reports from Indigenous individuals to managers at 

HRIC that they then communicate to you? 

It's usually the individual willA.

communicate once they build rapport and relationship 

with their caseworker and then the caseworker will 

share this with managers.  

And then they share that information Q.143

with you which is what you're reporting in your 

Affidavit? 

Mm-hmm.A.

Okay.Q.144

They don't always -- it's not likeA.

people run and share stuff.  When I'm doing work and 

doing advocacy work, I will reach out to my managers 

and tell me, you know, tell me about your barriers 

and challenges that, you know, that the staff have 

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.

A. DAVIS-48

been experiencing with their community, with the 

clients. 

Okay.  Q.145

And that's how it works.A.

And you do reference that in Q.146

paragraph 41 so I appreciate that.  I understand 

your evidence and just for the record, those are 

all of my questions for you.  I appreciate you 

attending to answer.  

Mm-hmm.  You're welcome.A.

BY MS. CROWE:

Thank you, Ms. Davis.  I just have aQ.147

couple very quick re-direct questions, okay?  

Okay.A.

So the first one was when we were Q.148

referring to that individual that's in the exhibit 

with the e-mail exchange, the New Year's Eve and 

New Year's Day incident, you explained that HRIC 

provided a hotel space for this man? 

Mm-hmm.A.

Do you remember how long he was inQ.149

hotel?  

No, no.  If you would have given meA.

a heads up that this was going to come up, I would 

have talked to one of my staff to look at the 
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records and look at his case file and see how long 

he was in, but I know he was in a hotel until we 

housed him.  

Do you know how it went when he wasQ.150

in the hotel?  

There were issues, yes.  Yes, he hasA.

mental health and addictions issues.  Again, 

speaking to the gaps, right.  

Did he receive 24/7 support while heQ.151

was in a hotel? 

No.A.

Okay, thank you.Q.152

We don't have the resources to doA.

that -- 

Thank you.Q.153

-- and still looking for the issues.A.

Thank you.  And then with respect toQ.154

the Point in Time survey that you reference, have 

you ever been involved in completing a Point in 

Time survey? 

I've been involved in completing aA.

number of Point in Time surveys.  Again, speaking 

back to my previous experience with the Reaching 

Home, it's part of the Reaching Home mandate that 

communities do Point in Time counts so I worked with 
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a few communities to support the Point in Time 

counts.  I was participated in one in Brantford and 

also participated in the Point in Time count here in 

Hamilton in 2018 I believe was the first one I 

participated in.  

What was the last one?  Q.155

The first -- the last Point in TimeA.

count was 2021.  I think it was put off for a year 

due to the pandemic.  I think it was supposed to 

happen in 2020.  I believe that's when it was 

supposed to happen and due to the pandemic, it was 

pushed back. 

Okay.  Thank you very much, Q.156

Ms. Davis, those are my questions.  

Okay.  You're welcome.A.

---WHEREUPON THE EXAMINATION CONCLUDED AT 2:08 p.m. 
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Confronting Oppression 
Right to Security 

Introduction: "We're not safe. Nobody is safe." 

Across the country, the right to secmity held by Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA 
people is routinely compromised. As families, survivors, and others shared their truths with 
the National Inquiry, it became clear that, for the majority oflndigenous women, girls, and 
2SLGBTQQIA people living in all settings and regions, security is a key area where violence 
against Indigenous women and girls can and should be addressed. As we heard, Indigenous 
women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people live with an almost constant threat to their physical, 
emotional, economic, social, and cultural security. As Bernice C., who spoke in Winnipeg, 
observed when speaking about her daughter, who went missing on her 18th bi1ihday in 2008: 
"We're not safe. Our women are not safe anymore. Nobody is safe." 1 

This chapter examines the right to security with reference to the four pathways that maintain 
colonial violence. We examine the ways that the security of Indigenous women and girls is com­
promised by interpersonal violence, and how the risk of interpersonal violence is heightened by 
such factors as intergenerational trauma, poverty, homelessness, addictions, and barriers to edu­
cation, training, and employment, as well as a lack of anti-violence services and supports. In 
addition, we explore how the absence of basic economic, social, and political rights that can 
guarantee security contributes to the targeting oflndigenous women and girls. We then explore 
how an unwillingness on the part of institutions to address these issues maintains a status quo 
that ensures that the crisis continues, and how, ultimately, the solutions required to restore secu­
rity, as understood in a holistic way, lie within the experiences and the knowledge of Indigenous 
women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people themselves. 
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Like many of the witnesses who shared their story of a lost loved one, Cee-Jai J. talked about her 
sister, Norma, who went missing from Vancouver's Downtown Eastside on September 28, 1992, 
and was found deceased a few days later. Twenty-five years later, to the day of her sister's death, 
Cee-Jai's daughter Shayla J. died after a car accident on September 28, 2017, when police took 
her home, rather than taking her to a hospital. As in the lives of so many of the other families and 
support people who shared their truths, the violent act that took the life of their loved one was 
only one of many incidents of violence in their lives. When Cee-Jai spoke about her sister's 
murder, she contextualized this act of violence as part of her own story of violent encounters and 
relationships she had experienced and witnessed, beginning from when, as she puts it, "I was just 
a baby in the crib."2 

Like many of the witnesses, Cee-Jai experienced repeated acts of physical, sexual, and psycho­
logical violence throughout her entire life. From witnessing her father stab her mother when she 
was very young, to witnessing her mother being physically beaten and abused by men as a young 
girl, to repeated sexual and physical abuse and rieglect in various foster homes, to the sexual 
assault and physical violence she experienced as a teenager and adult, violence permeates 
Cee-Jai 's life story, and her relationships reflect a truth that is unfortunately not uncommon. She 
shared, "I feel like my spirit knows violence," summarizing what many Indigenous women, girls, 
and 2SLGBTQQIA people experience as the almost constant presence of violence that con­
tiibutes to an overall absence of basic human security.3 

Defining "Human Security" 

In many of the Indigenous world views presented within the context of the Truth-Gathering 
Process, the right to security includes both a physical right and a social right. International 
covenants and conventions also take a broad look at the concept of"security" as being both 
physical and social. 

This broad sense of human security draws from an approach that places well-being at its very 
centre, and that recognizes complex economic and social interactions - encounters - that work 
to shape security, or a lack of security, in a person's life.4 It moves human security beyond the 
agenda of the state alone, and instead considers other factors or "non-traditional" threats such as 
poverty, disease, and the roots of issues such as the c1isis of missing and murdered Indigenous 
women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people. 

" I FEEL LIKE MY SPIRIT KNOWS VIOLENCE." 

Cee-Jai J. 
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STATE SECURITY VS. HUMAN SECURITY 
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- Protects the state and its 
boundaries, as well as its 
institutions. 

- Defends the state from 
external aggression; ability 
to defeat an attack. 

- The state works to ensure 
its own survival. 

- State security relies on 
military strategies and 
defense, including arma­
ment, alliances, and other 
state-level structures and 
processes. 

- People-centred and 
focused on security of 
individuals and of groups 
within the state. 

- Expanded definition of 
threats, which can include 
things like environmental 
threats, as well as economic 
and social threats, food 
insecurity, and more . 

- Involves not only govern­
ments but also internal 
organizations, including 
government organizations, 
community groups and 
other organizations. 

- Based on the idea of going 
beyond protection 
to empower people as 
participants in ensuring 
security; in this model, 
people affected are direct 
contributors to solutions. 
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The concept of human security was redefined in the 1990s, after a focus on military or traditional 
state secmity that went hand-in-hand with the Cold War period. As researcher Taylor Owen ex­
plains, the fall of the Berlin Wall made it clear that the biggest threats to human security might 
not come from militarized states anymore. Instead, citizens in the post-Cold War period "were 
being killed by the remnants of proxy wars, environmental disaster, poverty, disease, hunger, 
violence and human rights abuses."5 In this context, the focus on the state as the only means for 
human security actually served to mask many of the ongoing human security crises targeting 
people all over the world. 
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In 1994, the United Nations Development Programme's (UNDP) "Human Development Report" 
(HDR) laid out four primary characteristics of human security, including that it is universal, that 
its components are interdependent, that it is best ensured through prevention, and that it is people­
centred.6 Importantly, it is not focused on militarized or state security apparatus, but on the safety 
of persons living in states, as conceived broadly and within the context of human rights. More 
specifically, the 1994 HDR listed seven "essential dimensions" of human security: 

• economic security threatened by poverty; 

• health security threatened by injury and disease; 

• personal security threatened by va1ious forms of violence; 

• political security threatened by political repression; 

• food security threatened by hunger and famine; 

• environmental security threatened by pollution, environmental degradation, and 
resource depletion; and 

• community security threatened by social unrest and instability.7 

These elements are not comprehensive, as the HDR pointed out, but are dynamic and could be 
analyzed to understand the "particular threats experienced by particular groups of people, as well as 
the participation of those people in the analysis process."8 They are also all interconnected, in that 
the threat to economic security is also linked, for instance, to threats to personal and political 
security, as well as to health. As Secretary-General of the United Nations Kofi Annan explained 
in 2000: 

Security can no longer be narrowly defined as the absence of armed conflict, be it 
between or within states. Gross abuses of human rights, the large-scale displacement of 
civilian populations, international terrorism, the AIDS pandemic, drug and arms 
trafficking and environmental disasters present a direct threat to human security, forcing 
us to adopt a much more coordinated approach to a range of issues.9 

As it is commonly understood today, and as adopted by UN Resolution in 2012, the common 
understanding of human security now includes: 

• the right of people to live freely and with dignity, free from poverty and despair, 
including freedom from fear and freedom from want; 

• a people-centred and comprehensive approach that understands context-specific threats 
and that contributes to the empowerment of people; 

• an approach that recognizes the connections among peace, development, and human 
rights, and that considers civil, political, economic, social, and cultural rights as 
interdependent and indivisible; 

,. 
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• an approach that does not include the threat or use of force or coercion, and that does 
not replace state security; 

• national ownership, or, in other words, programs and policies that consider the distinc­
tions among nations, and that work to strengthen national solutions that "are compatible 
with local realities"; 

• a primary responsibility for government to ensure the "survival, livelihood and dignity 
of their citizens"; and 

• a full implementation of hwnan security with respect for the UN Charter and the 
sovereignty of nation-states. 10 

As UN Deputy Secretary-General Asha-Rose Migiro remarked in 2012, 

Let us remember that human security is more than an abstract concept. For a hungry 
family, human security means dinner on the table. For a refugee, human security is 
shelter and safe haven from the storms of conflict or disaster. For a woman caught in 
conflict, human security is protection from harm. For a child living in poverty, human 
security is the chance to go to school. 11 

DEFINING HUMAN SECURITY 

The right of people to live with dignity, free from poverty and 
despair; empowering concept 

People-centred and comprehensive, based in an 
understanding of context-specific threats 

Considers civil, political, economic, social, and 
cultural rights as interdependent and indivisible 

Does NOT include the threat or use of force or 
coercion 

Advances national programs and policies suitable to 
their distinctive context 

Primary responsibility of government is to ensure the 
survival, livelihood and dignity of all citizens 

Includes a full implementation of human security with respect 
to the UN Charter and the sovereignty of nation-states 
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For Indigenous women, as the testimonies showed, threats to human security and to their basic 
human rights occur on a daily basis. For them, human security means the ability to live in the 
world without being under a constant threat of violence or harm; the ability to say goodbye to 
children going out with their friends, and not wonder if they will ever return; and, among other 
issues, the ability to start a family, to raise children, without worrying about their being targeted 
by racism and discrimination, or being apprehended unfairly. Witnesses discussed security in a 
physical sense, as the right to life, liberty, and personal safety, including control over one's own 
physical and mental health. They also identified the need for protection and social assistance 
through essential services in areas of health, housing, access to water, food, and education, and, 
most notably, the overall reduction of poverty, as it impacts levels of violence. In this context, 
safety and security are guaranteed through the pursuit and maintenance of relationships that are 
respectful, equal, and safe. Security is more than a physical condition; it is also a deeply felt ex­
perience of belonging, purpose, trust, connection, and harmony with the broader human, natural, 
and spiritual world. 

Looking to what families and survivors told us about violence and the lack of safety in their daily 
lives challenges attitudes and beliefs that often blame Indigenous women themselves for the lack 
of safety in their lives, because it becomes clear that the source of that lack of safety is in the 
colonial structures within which Indigenous women live, rather than in the women themselves. 12 

This way of thinking about security also makes clear that restoring security- as we will discuss 
in the upcoming chapter - requires much more than band-aid solutions, and requires creating 
substantive and systemic change in areas this report has identified and that are at the root of vio­
lence against Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people. As we heard from the voices 
of families and survivors, restoring security requires collective, Indigenous-led solutions that 
start by addressing the root causes of violence that so pervasively deny this basic human right. 

Pathway to Violence: Intergenerational Trauma and 
Interpersonal Violence 
As Cee-Jai 's story demonstrates, the security of Indigenous women and girls is threatened in 
ways that include, but go far beyond, a single act of physical violence. Addressing the violence 
that has caused the disappearance or death of Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA 
people must consider how these specific acts of violence are the outcome of the long-term, 
multi-faceted denial of measures that foster and protect the security oflndigenous women 
throughout their lives. 

Drawing on her many years of experience working with Indigenous women and their families 
whose lives have been impacted by violence, Expert Witness Josie Nepinak, executive director 
of Awo Taan Healing Lodge Society, an Indigenous women's emergency shelter in Alberta, 
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Housing 

For First Nations, Metis, and Inuit women, one of the ways poverty impedes them in seeking 
safety is in their search for safe, affordable, and accessible housing. Across the country, family 
members, survivors, Knowledge Keepers, and others drew attention to the link between the lack 
of access to safe housing and violence. The lack of availability of safe and affordable housing in 
many First Nations, Metis, and Inuit communities is well documented. In 2016, according to 
Statistics Canada, close to one-fifth (18.5%) of the Indigenous population lived in housing that 
was considered not suitable for the number of people who lived there.64 Specifically, of those 
living in crowded housing, 8.6% of Metis, 23% of First Nations, and 40% of the Inuit population 
lived in these conditions.65 

Percentage of Homes Reporting Overcrowding 

Inuit 

First Nations 

Metis 

Indigenous Population Overall 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 

■ Indigenous Population Overall ■ Metis ■ First Nations ■ Inuit 

For Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people living in poverty, access to housing, 
especially within remote or isolated communities, is especially difficult. Violence may be com­
pounded by both crowded living arrangements, as well as the difficulty in accessing housing at 
all for a variety of different reasons including economic capacity and availability of housing. For 
instance, according to Statistics Canada data for 2016, Inuit living in Nunangat were more likely 
to live in crowded housing than those who lived elsewhere in Canada, and within Inuit Nunan­
gat, half ( 51. 7%) of the Inuit population lived in crowded housing. 66 Inuit families of loved ones 
who died from intimate paitner violence often mentioned the shortage of housing in Inuit Nunan­
gat, the overcrowding, the incidence of infectious diseases, and the violence that inevitably fol­
lows overcrowded homes. According to ITK, "Crowded housing is associated with high rates of 
communicable disease (such as tuberculosis), stressors that can lead to friction and violence 
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between family members, poor conditions in which children must learn and study, and other 
challenges."67 The 52% of Inuit in Inuit Nunangat who live in crowded homes do so at a rate 
about six times greater than the rate for non-Indigenous People in Canada, and nearly a third of 
Inuit live in homes in desparate need of repair. As ITK points out, "This clearly shows the in­
equity between Inuit and others with regard to housing suitability and gives concrete evidence to 
what most Inuit already know anecdotally: that Inuit face a housing crisis which needs to be 
addressed."68 This echoes testimonies heard by the National Inquiry where, repeatedly, families 
referred to the lack of housing and shelters for Inuit women seeking refuge from abuse and 
violence at home. 

The report of the Standing Senate Committee on Aboriginal Affairs, We Can Do Better: Housing 
in Inuit Nunangat, documented the threat to the health and safety of Inuit families due to the 
housing crisis in 2017. The housing crisis in Inuit Nunangat has been of deep concern for Inuit 
families for many years. Within the communities, the lived experiences of Inuit men, women, 
and children stem from the reality of overcrowded housing: the lack of affordable homes, hidden 
homelessness, infectious diseases such as tuberculosis, respiratory infections, mental illness, vul­
nerability of children in experiencing or witnessing violence and abuse, and high rates of domes­
tic violence. The issue of safe housing came up over and over again among Inuit who told their 
truths about themselves or their loved ones to the National Inquiry in Inuit Nunangat. 

While the issue of safe housing in Inuit Nunangat was prominent, First Nations and Metis Peoples 
also face their own challenges. First Nations people were also more likely to live in a crowded 
dwelling on-reserve than off-reserve: 36.8% living on-reserve and 18.5% living off-reserve lived 
in crowded housing. 69 

In his testimony, Lance S. spoke about the condition of housing on reserves in Saskatchewan and 
how these conditions impact the health and well-being of community members. 

The poverty line that's out there, you know, the housing that's out on the reserves, the 
water that's out there -you know, there's a lot of things that us First Nations people on 
reserves, we still live like that today, that we lived 30 to 40 years ago, we still live that 
today. We still live in those old houses. Those old houses that are on these reserves are 
still being used. People, the Elders are getting sick from all that stuff.70 

Minnie K. echoed these same concerns about safety and overcrowding in her description of 
housing in her community. 

Yes. Well, I did kind of look around at things like the families that are living in homes 
today. The homes they're living in today are not suitable for them.They're living in these 
homes that - well, their homes are crowded. Their homes are built, and so many families 
are in homes today that there's no room. And, also, that they built places they shouldn't 
be built and in rock piles and things and whatever. There's no spaces for kids to play 
even or anything like that.71 
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During the Heiltsuk Women Community Perspective Panel, Mavis Windsor spoke about how 
overcrowded and otherwise unsafe housing put First Nations women and girls in her community 
of Bella Bella, British Columbia, at an increased risk for violence. 

More often than not we have homes in our community where there are three or four 
families living together in very crowded circumstances and that affects the health and 
well-being of - of not only you know, the women in the family, but the men and the 
children, it can create situations where there's tension and you know, just it's not a very 
healthy situation. 72 

In her testimony, Rebecca M. talked about the housing-related challenges faced by Indigenous 
women living in Halifax, and how these challenges create a sense of insecurity. 

Housing security is a big issue for a lot of the Indigenous women that I know back 
home. So, like, for me and my family, we're always sort of, like teetering on whatever. 

Yeah, so I think that housing security - well, I can only speak of Halifax really, but that's 
a reoccurring issue that I always see our women struggle with. And it's for all kinds of 
different reasons, you know. It's not always just financial, you know. Like, a lot of the 
times I have a full-time job, or I'll have the money, but it's just either difficult to get one, 
find one .... Yeah. Or- or you have to leave one that you're at for whatever reason. Like, 
it could be, like I said, domestic, or it could be - it could be unsafe in some way, or - or 
it could have like, problems, but housing is - is a big issue. 73 

As scholars Ian Peach and Kiera Ladner point out, such conditions of vulnerability are direct 
corollaries to the urban migration of women, which, in turn, creates the conditions for women to 
go missing and be murdered, therefore perpetuating marginalization, rather than addressing it.74 

"THE POVERTY LINE THAT'S OUT THERE, YOU KNOW, THE HOUSING THAT'S OUT ON 
THE RESERVES, THE WATER THAT'S OUT THERE - YOU KNOW, THERE'S A LOT OF 
THINGS THAT US FIRST NATIONS PEOPLE ON RESERVES, WE STILL LIVE LIKE THAT 
TODAY, THAT WE LIVED 30-40 YEARS AGO, WE STILL LIVE THAT TODAY. WE STILL 
LIVE IN THOSE OLD HOUSES. THOSE OLD HOUSES THAT ARE ON THESE RESERVES ARE 
STILL BEING USED. PEOPLE, THE ELDERS ARE GETTING SICK FROM ALL THAT STUFF." 

Lance S. 

Speaking about housing in the Northwest Territories, Pertice Merritt provided an example of the 
way the loss of even one residential structure can create significant challenges for the population, 
especially for women experiencing violence. 

And, I want to particularly mention transitional housing because that's what came to my 
mind to draw me back to this, because you may have heard in the news recently that 
[transitional housing apartments] in Yellowknife burned to the ground. This is where the 
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YWCA was housed. This was where transitional housing occurs. This has displaced 33 
families. And, as I was preparing my - for the conference and to resolve the emergency 
protection orders, I said to ... the executive director, "This is an emergency protection 
order waiting to happen." And she said, "Pertice, it's already happened. They've moved 
people into other housing across Yellowknife, not with a security guard, and one woman 
has recently.had her door kicked in and does not feel secure." 

So, what they were providing in 2017-18, the YWCA provided transitional housing up 
to one year to 57 families and 94 children, and there were 21 youth in Hope's Haven, as 
we said, and the Yellowknife's Women's Society opened eight semi-independent 1mits 
for single women. 

So, I think we have a further crisis brewing for our small population. And the numbers 
may not seem large to you, but we're a small population really spread across the North, 
and as an Elder said to me once in the community, "I count as a person."75 

In other testimony, we heard how women whose relationships break down because of violence are 
then faced with challenges related to housing because of community policies or practices. Michele 
G. described how, because of band policy, she was not allowed access to her marital home. 

Soon we decided to separate and divorce and it became a fight for who would get the 
marital home on the reserve that was in both our names. Because you can't sell the land 
on reserve - it's Crown land - you have to revert to band policy. I remained living in the 
house with my three kids and I became subjected to violence by some members of his 
family who didn't want me in there. One day I had 100 rotten fish dumped on my yard 
and a bicycle thrown through the front window. I wasn't home but my six kids were and 
they phoned 911 and hid in an upstairs closet terrified, but the police didn't attend. When 
I got home I was livid. Talked to some sergeant in [a police department] who apologized 
and said they thought it was a prank. I went to Chief in Council about the lack of policy to 
protect women from being shoved out of homes on the reserve to go live in poverty in the 
east end. They had no answer for me. I left the reserve at that time. 76 

For Indigenous women living in urban settings, or for the many Indigenous women, girls, and 
2SLGBTQQIA people who decide to leave their community, access to safe and affordable hous­
ing continues to be a problem that puts them at additional risk for violence. For example, Jen­
nisha Wilson, programs manager with Tungasuvvingat Inuit, talked about how, for Inuit women 
who resettle in the South, the only options for affordable housing are often in neighbourhoods 
where there are higher levels of violence and police presence: "Within Ottawa, Vanier tends to be 
one of the hubs where a lot of Inuit live. It also tends to be the number one spot that has the high­
est rates of sexual assault within the province. It also happens to be a place where surveillance and 
policing happens constantly." For Wilson, again, it is important to position these challenges in 
accessing safe and affordable housing within a colonial context that continues to jeopardize 
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women's security and safety. For her, the high number of First Nations, Metis, and Inuit women 
living in low-income, high-crime neighbourhoods is an example of "how violence is rearticulated 
through geography."77 
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Indigenous women were 3.3 times more likely to report people being drunk or rowdy in their neigh­
bourhood, 2.3 times more likely to report someone being attacked due to skin colour or ethnicity or 
religion, and 2.6 times more likely to report people using or dealing drugs than non-Indigenous 
women. 

In her testimony, survivor Rebecca M. talked extensively about the difficulties she faced as 
a low-income First Nations woman seeking housing in Halifax. She spoke about how she 
perceived a connection between living in an unsecure public housing unit in Halifax and the 
increased likelihood of violence. 

[T.] Housing, that's Native housing in Halifax, so it's like public housing for Native 
people. And - and they're really slummy. They're like slum lords, so they have a lot of 
problems. The apartment- me and [my sister] lived there, we lived there for five years. 
The back door ... was insecure, so like the wind could blow it in, and stuff, and it was 
like that the whole five years. 

From before we moved in to after, and it eventually led - so it was insecure the whole 
time, and even though I stressed to them, "You know, it's - it's me and my sister, my 
younger sister, like, we're young women and we live on our own, and you know, it's 
really unsafe," they never fixed it. 

Reclaiming Power and Place: The Final Report of the National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls 



57

There was one time when I caught - we caught somebody trying to break into our place, 
and - like, I chased him down the road and everything. And then I called [T.] Housing, 
flipping out, because our back door wasn't secure. And they sent someone in and they just 
- I said they put an Indian lock on it, because they cut a two by four and then they put it 
between the back stair and the back door and they left it like that. 

They said that they were going to order another door and - and it never came, never 
showed up. They never did anything about it, so needless to say they didn't really give a 
- a crap about me and my sister's safety at all. 78 

For Rebecca, unsafe housing was even more troubling because of other violence she faced in her 
life from a partner who was violent and who had previously breached orders to stay away from 
her. Not surprisingly, Rebecca's sense of a lack of physical and emotional security was compro­
mised because of the threat of violence compounded by unsafe housing. As she described: 

And so I kept on having nightmares of that person breaking in to my house because they 
knew where I lived. And so I couldn't really sleep well there, so when they were - they 
were in jail for a month, until their court date. And during that time, because I was really 
worried about what this person might do when they got out, I ended up ... moving to the 
other end of the country. So I moved to Vancouver. 79 

II 
lmtl~t:nrl"' 

le-nut 

ld ·mtty 

1"o.tn•ln,lk~m, u, 
..e11C:i~ 

11.kmitj' 
\,11m'.'c.: 21114 <icri.!!ml ,;, ,,al 'iur. =:i - \'1~umi:ro1,,.,, 

14% oflndigenous women were victims of stalking in the last five years compared to 8.3% 
of non-Indigenous women; Indigenous women are 1.7 times more likely to be victims of 
stalking overall. 
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When Rebecca - like so many other Indigenous women - is forced to move in an attempt to 
restore safety, she is placed in additional danger. 

For 2SLGBTQQIA people, access to safe housing within their territory or community may be 
complicated by sexism, transphobia, homophobia, and other discriminatory beliefs about gender 
identity, expression, and sexual orientation. Marge H. described how, as a lesbian, she was 
pressured to leave her community. 

I was outed from my community because I was a lesbian. I'd - there was no room .. . it 
was suggested by various family members for me to take a vacation. So I was working in 
the cannery at the time. And I was - saved up a couple of cheques. And I got on the - the 
ferry boat to Vancouver. And it really hurt because [ of] the way I was treated. I had no -
I lost friends really quick. And there was, of course, rumours and gossip, and stuff like 
that. And - so I left. 80 

Viola Thomas also commented on the lack of safety faced by 2SLGBTQQIA people in their 
communities and the pressures this puts on them to move. 

For many Two-Spirited people, they end up being displaced from their territory and from 
their communities because they're-they don't feel safe and they don't feel welcome 
because of their uniqueness. And so you have a large population of Two-Spirited peoples 
across the country that end up moving to urban areas, so that they have a space where 
they can feel a likeness to other folks and feel welcome for who they are.81 

For many who are pressured or forced to move, these same problems exist within the city. For 
Jamie L. H., these concerns about finding safe, affordable housing are also complicated as she 
gets older and realizes the lack of housing options for aging transwomen and Two-Spi1it people. 

I've been studying a model down in Mexico for Indigenous, retired women and they -
and they have this home and it's a place that they live together in community. And I 
would like to see places like that for our LGBTQ+ communities. And, you know, we 
need that because I think right until you exit physically this earth, you need that sense of 
love and belonging. And so I fear the most that, you know, if I get really ill, where am I 
going to be put? And you know, so I think we need to address that. 82 

Homelessness and Exploitation 

For many Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people, poverty makes access to any form 
of housing impossible, and they are forced to live in shelters, on the street, or in other forms of 
precarious housing. In sharing the circumstances leading up to the disappearance or death of their 
loved one, many family members described how their loved one was homeless or precariously 
housed at the time of her disappearance or death. For example, Cee-Jai explained that it was when 
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her sister was living on the street that she was murdered. Despite Cee-Jai's efforts to protect her 
sister, the vulnerability she faced as an Indigenous woman living on the street was too great. 

Monique F. H., who now works as an advocate with an AIDS organization, drew on her own 
memories of her life as a young homeless girl living on the streets and the fear she lived in as a 
result of the almost constant threat to her security and safety. 

The violence that I experienced in my life has made me I think, more understanding to the 
women that I work with. A lot of them don't realize when I hear their stories, I hear myself, 
so when I was - when I was younger and on the street it was very - very difficult. 

I remember seeing girls getting beaten up all the time. Shooting up. Living that lifestyle. 
Always fearful of what was going to happen next. And I was scared even though I may 
not have acted scared, I was scared. 83 

In sharing her expe1iences ofliving on the streets, Marlene J. talked about how violence becomes 
a way of life - and often something she endured to meet her basic needs for housing and food. 

I would say I was raped three sometimes four times a week. ... I was just trying to survive. 
I was drinking a lot to not have the pain. I was always drunk. I drank pop to kill the pain of 
hunger. I'd steal. Go in the liquor store and steal bottles of booze. I'd be drunk and then I 
ended up with these men. They figured oh yeah we're going to have a party and then end 
up being raped. How many parks I had to crawl out of. I was always alone.84 

Poverty can also contribute to violence because of the way people may use drugs and alcohol to 
cope with the challenges associated with having no money or home. As Marlene explained, alco­
hol allowed her to survive the violence, hunger, and emotional pain she endured on the streets, 
even though it increased the risk that others would target her for violence. 

These people that had raped me, they pretended to be my friend. They said, "We can just 
sit and talk." Because I was homeless they decided that they would take advantage of the 
situation. Sometimes I'm drunk I don't remember, but I do know - I don't know. Like I 
said, being in residential school what they tell you every day that you'll amount to 
nothing sort of sticks with you and then you just don't care about yourself the way 
you should. 85 

Mealia Sheutiapik, an Inuk woman who shared her experience of homelessness on the streets of 
Ottawa, talked about how drug use became a way of surviving not only the harsh living condi­
tions but also the trauma she carried with her as a result of the violence she had witnessed and 
the separation she felt from her family and culture. 

I was smoking hash. I didn't know any other drug that time. He got me into smoking 
hash. So, I tried to kill that pain when I was a witness to that murder. So, I just ended up 
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carrying on and smoking hash, and it escalated to other drugs just to kill the pain and just 
to get numb, just to forget about that thought and what happened before. And, thinking 
about my grandma and my siblings, leaving them behind, I ended up using more hard 
drugs. And that also escalated me to go on the street and try and get more money to 
get high.86 

Hearing from witnesses about the challenges poverty poses for First Nations, Metis, and Inuit 
women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people demonstrated how the violation of their right to social 
security directly contributes to, and underlines, the many stories of violence, disappearance, and 
death shared by families and survivors. 

Barriers to Education and Training 

In the same way that poverty denies Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people access 
to housing, so, too, does it create baniers to education, training, and employment - the very tools 
that might stop the cycle of poverty in many Indigenous families and communities, and are 
known protective factors against violence. 87 

Access to education and to training and meaningful employment is a factor known to decrease 
the likelihood of perpetrating and being victimized by violence. In her testimony, Robyn 
Bourgeois, a Cree professor at Brock University and a survivor of trafficking, talked about how, 
for her, education empowered her and became a way of understanding her culture and the ways 
she might challenge colonial violence. 

I grew up feeling really empowered with school. I know that sounds funny, because for 
so many Indigenous Peoples, school isn't empowering. But, for me, it had always been. 
And I saw an opportunity .... I remember reading scholarly work by Indigenous thinkers 
and thinking, "This is amazing." Like, just how they can use the words of the govern­
ment in particular, because I'm always obsessed with the government of Canada, and 
I've been struggling, you know, how to make sense of what goes on in this country in 
relation to Indigenous Peoples. And so, I remember thinking, "I can do that. I could do 
that." And so I went back to university.88 

Likewise, in describing her experience growing up in foster care, Cheylene Moon, who partici­
pated on the Youth Panel in Vancouver, talked about how school offered a sense of security: "I 
loved school growing up, because it was like my safe place away from my foster homes."89 

Security through education will become more and more important in Inuit Nunangat, as the Inuit 
population increases at a greater rate than in southern Canada. This makes for a very young 
society: Inuit children under 14 years of age comprise about 33% of the Inuit population.90 One 
of the consequences of such a young population is a greater number of young Inuit mothers, and 
they are often single mothers. Sometimes these young mothers stop going to high school because 
of pregnancy. The financial strain on young single mothers makes life difficult for them and even 
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Findings: Right to Security 
• Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people continue to experience social and eco­

nomic marginalization and exclusion as a direct result of colonialism and of racist and sexist 
government policies. This marginalization and exclusion is the objective of the colonial poli­
cies of the Canadian state. Colonial policies violate the social, economic, and political rights 
of Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people, and jeopardize their rights to human 
secrnity and, in tum, safety. These colonial policies are tools of genocide. 

• The Canadian state has caused Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people to be re­
moved from their homelands and territories and from their families and communities. They 
experience disproportionately high rates of poverty and insurmountable barriers to obtaining 
secure housing, food, education, employment, transportation, and other basic needs. Indige­
nous children and the elderly are especially vulnerable under these circumstances. Marginal­
ization and exclusion decrease safety and increase the risk of violence, and often force 
Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people to remain in violent and unsafe situations 
or to end up in violent and unsafe circumstances in an attempt to have their basic needs met. 

• The social and economic marginalization, compounded by complex and intergenerational 
trauma, also forces many Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people to resist the 
marginalization and to meet their basic survival needs by resorting to the sex industry, re­
maining in violent relationships, and joining gangs. This further marginalizes and endangers 
them. Marginalization and trauma are pervasive reasons for the institutionalization of Indige­
nous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people within the criminal justice system and in the 
child welfare system. 

• The safety of Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people cannot be realized without 
upholding and implementing social, economic, and political rights, alongside cultural, health 
and wellness, and justice rights. A reliable and consistent livable income for all Indigenous 
women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people is necessary to address the state of crisis related to 
their well-being and to their socio-economic and safety needs. 

• Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people experience extreme rates of over­
crowding and homelessness. The lack of safe housing, transition homes, and shelter impacts 
the health, wellness, and safety of Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people. The 
housing crisis is a significant contributor to violence. 

• Existing social and economic services for Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA peo­
ple are often plagued by huge gaps in resources and infrastructure. Further, such services are 
often placed in unsafe areas, and are not culturally appropriate, thereby perpetuating a lack of 
safety and secrnity. 

• Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people continue to experience disproportion­
ately low rates of educational achievement and high rates of unemployment. Employment 
opportunities and services, as well as resources to promote educational and employment 
success, are urgently needed as a way to combat social and economic marginalization and 
violence and to support community and individual safety. 
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The National Inquiry heard several stories from north­
ern or more remote communities, as well, where the 
absence of services and poor services chronicled 
elsewhere in this report forced people to head south, 
where they were subsequently trafficked. Traffickers 
were cited as targeting group homes, medical travel 
homes, bus stations, and buses coming from remote 
communities, as Alaya's story also revealed. In this 
way, the lack of infrastructure and services in north­
ern and remote communities feeds the sex industry 
and further exploitation. As the National Inquiry 
heard, those who exploit women, girls, and 
2SLGBTQQIA people are well aware of how to target 
these people; they go so far as to station themselves 
outside of group homes or places where they know 
these potential victims might be, in order to bring 
them into human trafficking rings. In addition, stud­
ies have pointed to key recruitment areas including 
airports, and in particular the Montreal.BB Other key 
recruitment zones include schools, the boyfriend 
method (where a trafficker approaches a woman as 
a suitor, rather than as a trafficker),cc other girls or 
women, hitchhiking, and virtually any place that is 
away from home where victims can be isolated.DD 

For many young Indigenous girls who are forced to, 
or choose to, leave abusive families or foster homes 
or want to seek out a better life for themselves, early 
experiences of sexual exploitation and trafficking 
continue into adulthood, during which engaging in 
survival or street-level sex work becomes a way of 
making ends meet. Mary Fearon explained how 
poverty and addiction are factors that make it neces­
sary for Indigenous women to exchange or trade sex 
to meet their basic needs. 

One of the things that we see with a lot of our 
participants, particularly our younger partici­
pants, is survival sex. And, that idea that if they 
need to get a place to stay, if they're homeless, 
then they will often trade sex as a means to get 
some other need met, whether it be housing or 
food. Food security is a big issue. So, yes, there 
was - it was out of the need, that people are liv­
ing in poverty in our province and across our 
country was certainly a big driving factor.EE 

She continued, "One [factor] is that we recognize that 
95% identify as living in poverty when they come into 
our program, so poverty is clearly a big indicator; that 
79% have had some kind of addiction, or currently 
are dealing with addictions, or recovered from 
addictions:'FF 

Many survivors who shared their experience of 
poverty, homelessness, and violence talked about ex­
changing sex in order to meet their basic needs for 
food, housing, clothing, transportation, or other basic 
items - a practice often referred to as "survival 
sex work:' 

As Monique F. H. explained: "I slept, you know, with 
people for a place to live, for a place to stay, for food. 
But that is what survival does, that's survival for you, 
right? You -you do what you need to do in order to 
continue to live and to continue to survive:•GG 

Doris G. talked about how she turned to sex work in 
order to pay for housing for herself and her child. 

I needed help with [the] damage deposit, and no 
one would help me. It was hard being a single 
Native mother on welfare with an infant, so I 
went and found my friend, and she introduced 
me to her friends, otherwise known as johns, 
who would help me with cash. I could raise 
money for housing or for me and my child, for 
food. I remember stopping before I started to 
pray to Creator to keep me safe: I've got to make 
it home to my son_HH 

In her testimony, Lanna Moon Perrin offered a slightly 
different perspective and explained that for some In­
digenous, trans, and 2SLGBTQQIA people, sex work 
offers an empowering and financially rewarding way 
to support oneself and one's family. 

You know, I started with street-level sex work at 
16 so that I could buy things for myself, a winter 
jacket, winter boots, decent food to eat. In my 
life, when I was young, I did experience violence 
on a lot of different levels, but I don't want to, in 
any way, frame it that it was my choice of getting 
into sex work that led me to be victimized.11 
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Access to Housing or Shelter 

Several participants echoed the notion that access to shelter is a basic human right, and that a 
lack of safe and affordable housing or shelter increases risks of violence and harm, presents a 
barrier to fleeing unsafe situations, or forces individuals in rural, remote, or northern communi­
ties to migrate to urban centres. 

"What is it that will keep you safe? Housing- a place to go back to at night." 
(2SLGBTQQIA Perspectives) 

"The base [ should be] that everyone have a roof over their heads. [Priority] number two 
is food. You can put more effort into your challenges, once you have a roof and food." 
(Inuit Perspectives) 

Barriers to accessing housing and shelter include: 

• insufficient capacity in shelters, including wanning shelters and emergency shelters for 
individuals fleeing violence, as well as lack of shelters; 

• shortage of subsidized housing, creating long wait-lists; 

• deferred maintenance challenges that limit available housing or shelter space, 
adding financial burdens to shelter and housing organizations. This creates poor living 
conditions, which negatively impact the sense of self-worth of individuals in need of 
shelter and housing; 

"It's very expensive to build houses, and utilities need to be upgraded. It's very hard 
to catch up. Maintenance services are also a big issue, especially for infrastructure. 
Small communities have a hard time getting things done to maintain housing." 
(Inuit Perspectives) 

"[The] homeless shelter has been shut down, because of bedbug infestation. Takes a 
long time to get someone to clean it. It's run by an NGO [non-governmental 
organization], which can't afford to bring it up to code." (Inuit Perspectives) 

' 'Non-profit housing is built in sub-par standards, making it seem like [clients] are not 
appreciated, [because] they are living in . .. subsidized housing." (2SLGBTQQIA 
Perspectives) 

• risks of discrimination in shelters, including racism, homophobia, and transphobia; 

• lack of transitional housing for individuals returning to communities from correctional 
facilities or from substance use treatment programs, or aging out of care. Participants 
noted that individuals at these transition points are particularly vulnerable to violence or 
harm, and that the lack of shelter funding from justice, health, or child welfare sectors 
increases the burden on shelter spaces; 
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"Judges are releasing men to the 'care' of a shelter, but there is not [enough] 
funding to house these men through the justice system, and they expect the shelter 
to absorb or find space for them .... [There are] men sleeping on [the] floor and in 
[the] kitchen." (Inuit Perspectives) 

• strict policies against substance use in shelters, which create ban-iers for individuals 
struggling with addictions. One participant from Inuvik described her experience on the 
board for a men's shelter where other members lacked an understanding of addictions, 
espousing the belief that "if [someone] wants the shelter enough, they will stay sober." 
She said there was little support for "wet" shelters that allow substance use due to 
complications of insurance and risk management. Another participant described how 
substance use policies "fmther marginalize the already marginalized"; 

"It sends the message that you're not welcome here, because you use drugs and 
alcohol. Some women were murdered because they used drugs. They will use drugs 
to stay awake and stay safe. This stigma around drug use and alcoholism makes 
people feel unwelcome, unsafe, and puts them on the street and at risk." 
(2SLGBTQQIA Perspectives) 

"The rules [for substance use] for [2SLGBTQQIA] clients in facilities cannot be so 
stringent. These people are at the facilities in crisis." (2SLGBTQQIA Perspectives) 

"Men in the system are in crisis. [It is] unrealistic to expect them to avail 
themselves of services. These men are not choosing to use. One should not have to 
choose using or housing." (Inuit Perspectives) 

• gender-based shelters and prioritization of women with children in housing. This 
supports the safety of women and girls, but also creates complications and barriers for 
families, men, and 2SLGBTQQIA individuals. For instance, some participants described 
how policies against teenage boys in shelter spaces force women to have to choose 
whether to leave their sons behind when seeking emergency shelter spaces. Other women 
may feel safer staying with their partners on the streets instead of seeking shelter space. 
The prioritization of women with children limits available shelter and housing space for 
2SLGBTQQIA individuals (particularly those without children) and for men, who have to 
leave their home during situations of family violence; 

"I wouldn't have been able to take my son with me to the shelter if I had needed to 
do it. Daughter, yes. That's what mothers have to think about." (Inuit Perspectives) 

"Often women on the street want to stay with their boyfriend for security reasons." 
(Inuit Perspectives) 

"A lot of 2S don't have housing because there are requirements to have children .. . 
and a lot of 2S folks don't have children. That doesn't make sense. They're not 
included in the list." (2SLGBTQQIA Perspectives) 
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"There is no transitional housing for the abuser, for these mainly men, to go, to 
live." (Inuit Perspectives) 

• financial barriers to public housing for individuals who are marginally above the low­
income threshold, or are receiving limited income support; and 

• inequitable access to housing, where individuals with connections to influential people 
may receive preferential treatment. 

Recommendations and Best Practices: Addressing the Crisis of 
Housing and Shelter 

There was a strong call for increased and well-maintained shelters and subsidized housing in all 
communities, with sufficient capacity to meet current and projected demands. While many par­
ticipants discussed the need for priority shelter spaces for women fleeing violence, groups also 
recommended establishing a variety of housing and shelter alternatives in communities, in order 
to meet the needs of different populations, including: 

0 mixed-gender shelter and housing, accommodating couples and families with teenage 
boys; 

0 wet shelters accommodating individuals struggling with substance use; 

0 dedicated 2SLGBTQQIA housing and shelters, or dedicated beds in shelters for trans 
and non-gender binary individuals; and 

"Establish 2S treatment centres and shelters with practitioners who are 2S 
themselves or [who] 'get' it." (2SLGBTQQIAPerspectives) 

0 transitional housing with relevant support services for individuals fleeing family 
violence, youth aging out of care, or individuals returning to communities from 
correctional institutions or substance use treatment programs. 

Participants spoke of housing and shelter as a critical first step that establishes the security, 
stability, and ousting relationships needed to address more complex risk factors. Many described 
housing and shelter models that integrate support services, such as substance use treatment 
programs, employment services, cultural supports, and mental health services. 

"First, you house the person. You give them a place to live and be safe. Then you start 
focusing on the other issues that lead to homelessness and addictions." 
(Inuit Perspectives) 

"We need a place that's not like a conventional shelter, but a living space; not necessarily 
a permanent space, but you need space where you have access to a phone, Internet, a 
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place to study, a place to get training .... You need these things to get a job. We need 
supports for employment. I wouldn't see it like a shelter, where there are bunk beds. We 
need dignity and privacy. Maybe you moved from the reserve to the city, and you don't 
have your supports there. Transitional housing that helps you and mentors ... you could 
hire 2S people to do that." (2SLGBTQQIA Perspectives) 

Some participants described the importance of providing long-term housing options for individu­
als and families, with recommendations to increase transitions from shelter spaces to subsidized 
housing. 

"Shelters [are] such a dehumanizing experience .... The place you belong [to] is 
constantly stripped away. There's never any place you belong." (Inuit Perspectives) 

"[The] assumption was that sending men out in the cold, even in extreme cold weather, 
would motivate them. These men were being turned out in the morning. At 7:00 or 8:00 
a.m. these Inuit men are being turned out into the cold, with harmful impacts, [including] 
on their self-esteem." (Inuit Perspectives) 

"Not just shelters and safe houses, but stable, reliable housing, where they can live long­
term. It's not temporary, it's permanent. So, if they have children, they can go to school. 
Stable home .... They don't have that grounding space, to shut the door and go to bed, 
and then get ready for the day to go to work or school." (Inuit Perspectives) 

As with other support services, participants emphasized the importance of providing culturally 
specific support services in shelters and housing, adapted to the identities of local clientele: for 
instance, including Inuit- and/or Metis-specific support services in urban shelters, and housing 
for those arriving from rural, remote, or northern communities. 

"For people who are not in their home communities, which are very far away, it gets 
really hard when they can't find a stable and safe place to rest their head. There needs to 
be more subsidized housing for women and families .... First Nations-specific, Metis­
specific, Inuit-specific; even though we are all Indigenous, we need specific services. 
When you are in a vulnerable place, it is most comfortable to be with your community." 
(Inuit Perspectives) 
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. CALLS FOR JUSTI .CE I 

resource community-based supports and solutions designed to improve social and 
economic security, led by Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people. This 
support must come with long-term, sustainable funding designed to meet the needs and 
objectives as defined by Indigenous Peoples and communities. 

4.3 We call upon all governments to support programs and services for Indigenous women, 
girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people in the sex industry to promote their safety and security. 
These programs must be designed and delivered in partnership with people who have 
lived experience in the sex industry. We call for stable and long-term funding for these 
programs and services. 

4.4 We call upon all governments to provide supports and resources for educational, train­
ing, and employment opportunities for all Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA 
people. These programs must be available within all Indigenous communities. 

4.5 We call upon all governments to establish a guaranteed annual livable income for all 
Canadians, including Indigenous Peoples, to meet all their social and economic needs. 
This income must take into account diverse needs, realities, and geographic locations. 

4.6 We call upon all governments to immediately commence the construction of new 
housing and the provision of repairs for existing housing to meet the housing needs of 
Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people. This construction and provision 
of repairs must ensure that Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people have 
access to housing that is safe, appropriate to geographic and cultural needs, and avail­
able wherever they reside, whether in urban, rural, remote, or Indigenous communities. 

4.7 We call upon all governments to support the establishment and long-term sustainable 
funding of Indigenous-led low-barrier shelters, safe spaces, transition homes, second­
stage housing, and services for Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people 
who are homeless, near homeless, dealing with food insecurity, or in poverty, and who 
are fleeing violence or have been subjected to sexualized violence and exploitation. All 
governments must ensure that shelters, transitional housing, second-stage housing, and 
services are appropriate to cultural needs, and available wherever Indigenous women, 
girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people reside. 

4.8 We call upon all governments to ensure that adequate plans and funding are put into 
place for safe and affordable transit and transportation services and infrastructure for 
Indigenous women, girls, and 2SLGBTQQIA people living in remote or rural communi­
ties. Transportation should be sufficient and readily available to Indigenous communities, 
and in towns and cities located in all of the provinces and territories in Canada. These 
plans and funding should take into consideration: 

• ways to increase safe public transit; 
• ways to address the lack of commercial transit available; and 
• special accommodations for fly-in, northern, and remote communities. 
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AFFIDAVIT OF RACHEL LAMONT  

SWORN JUNE 7, 2024  
 

I, Doctor Rachel Lamont, of the City of Hamilton in the Province of Ontario, AFFIRM 

AND STATE:  

1. I have personal knowledge with respect to the facts and reports set out below, except 

where stated otherwise. Where the information is not based on my personal knowledge, 

it is based upon information provided by others which I believe to be credible and true. 
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2. I am a physician with the Shelter Health Network (SHN) and the Hamilton Social 

Medicine Response Team (HAMSMaRT). These organizations provide medical care to 

individuals affected by homelessness or housing precarity. I have worked with SHN since 

May 2022. I also joined HAMSMaRT in September 2021. 

3. I met with Kristen Heegsma prior to the time that the report was prepared, attached as 

Exhibit ‘A’ and I endorse the contents therein. 

4. I met with Darrin Marchand prior to the time that the report was prepared, attached as 

Exhibit ‘B’ and I endorse the contents therein. 

5. I met with Shawn Arnold prior to the time that the report was prepared, attached as 

Exhibit ‘C’ and I endorse the contents therein. 

6. I met with Cory Monahan prior to the time that the report was prepared, attached as 

Exhibit ‘D’ and I endorse the contents therein. 

7. I met with Ammy Lewis prior to the time that the report was prepared, attached as Exhibit 

‘E’ and I endorse the contents therein. 

8. I met with Sherri Ogden prior to the time that the report was prepared, attached as Exhibit 

‘F’ and I endorse the contents therein. 

9. I met with Jahmal (Jammy) Pierre prior to the time that the report was prepared, attached 

as Exhibit ‘G’ and I endorse the contents therein. 

10. I met with Linsley Greaves prior to the time that the report was prepared, attached as 

Exhibit ‘H’ and I endorse the contents therein. 
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Affirmed remotely by Dr. Rachel Lamont stated as 
being located in the City of Hamilton in the 
Regional Municipality of Hamilton-Wentworth, 
before me at the Town of New Tecumseth in the 
Region of Simcoe on June 7, 2024, in accordance 
with O. Reg 431/20, Administering Oath or 
Declaration Remotely.  

………………………………………………………   

Dr. Rachel Lamont  

.  

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits   
Michelle Sutherland LSO#:70159T   
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This is Exhibit ‘A’ referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Rachel Lamont affirmed before me 
this 7th day of June, 2024.  

 

EXHIBIT ‘A’  
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McMaster 
University ' 

DEPARTMENT 
DF PSYCHIATRY 
AND BEHAVIOURAL 
NEUROSCIENCES 

ATTN: Sharon Crowe 

RE: Heegsma, Kristen DOB: 1990-10-20 

June 20, 2023 

I am a psychiatrist with both the Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team and the Shelter 
Health Network in Hamilton, Ontario. Both services provide ~ealth care to people who are 
unhoused or precariously housed. 

I have been Ms. Heegsma's treating psychiatrist since November 2021 and can confirm that she 
has diagnoses of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder {PTSD), Borderline Personality Disorder, 
Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Depression, and Opioid and Stimulant use disorders (severe). 

When I first met with Ms. Heegsma, another physician providing care to her had expressed 
significant concern for mental health and referred her to me: Ms. Heegsma had just been 
evicted from a tent in Corktown neighbourhood by the City of Hamilton. She had been 
repeatedly evicted from encampments previously. Following this particular eviction, she 
experienced an exacerbation of PTSD symptoms as well as severe suicidal ideation and 
described feeling the most desperate she had in her entire life. Additionally, because her tent 
had been destroyed, she was sleeping on a park bench in the days following the encampment 
eviction. Despite daily attempts to get into shelter, there were no spaces available. A few days 
after the eviction from her tent in Corktown neighbourhood and while she was sleeping on the 
park bench, she was the victim of a violent sexual assault. This caused additional severe 
worsening of her mental health conditions and substance use. She also had her belongings 
stolen repeatedly. 

Ms. Heegsma has since spent brief amounts of time in shelter and in YWCA transitional housing, 
though has also been asked to leave those spaces due to her complex health needs and those 
services being unable to offer the required level of support. She has thus continued to spend 
most of her time living outside. When she is living in a tent and surrounded by community, 
there is notable improvement in her sense of personal safety, and we are able to initiate 
treatment for her conditions, and members of our team are able to reliably locate Ms. Heegsma 
for follow-up. Unfortunately, she is unable to remain in one place for very long due to ongoing 
pressure from By-Law officers and Police to move repeatedly. While Ms. Heegsma has 
identified goals of working toward stabilization of her mental health and substance use, her 
ongoing experiences of being unhoused and focus on day-to~day survival have made it very 
difficult for the focus of any appointments to move beyond trying to help her find ways to have 
her most basic survival needs met. As a result, her mental health conditions and substance use 
disorders have remained under-treated and continue to cause her immense suffering. 
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McMaster 
University ' 

DEPARTMENT 
OF PSYCHIATRY 
ANO BEHAVIOURAL 
NEUROSCIENCES 

lfislny-gpinjon that repeated encampment eHictioni, and in p.rtiG:1.1lar tl:le en,amprne.Qt 
ecri"etien io November 2:021 aAd s11bseq11eot sexual assault, have beeo a major cootcib11+040 
tlie OR§oiog instability io M6. Mee~FAsa's r=A@ntal h@.ilth .ind •Neri;@niAg of l=ter sl:4b5t.ince 11se 
diso1 ders o•.,er tRe f:)&st tl11ee yea, s. Tl-tis 1,es beefl e>el!lee1 bl!lted b9 tl-te eRgeir.:ig lack of ayailag:lP, 
5,Yitable gh@lt@r g13aees er f:)CfffiBACAt l,ousi1 ,g optior,s-. 

Please feel free to contact me should any further information be required. 

Sincerely, 

Dr. Rachel Lamont, MD, FRCPC 
Psychiatrist, Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team and Shelter Health Network 

Assistant Professor 
Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Neurosciences 

McMaster University 
Email: lamonr@mcmaster.ca 
Phone: 1-833-426-7678 
Fax: 1-833-563-2210 



This is Exhibit ‘B’ referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Rachel Lamont affirmed before me 
this 7th day of June, 2024.  

 

EXHIBIT ‘B’   
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McMaster 
University I DEPARTMENT 

OF PSYCHIATRY 
AND BEHAVIOURAL 
NEUROSCIENCES 

ATTN: Sharon Crowe 

RE: Darrin Marchand (DOB Oct 15 1966) 

Dec 14, 2023 

I am a psychiatrist with both the Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team and the Shelter 
Health Network in Hamilton, Ontario. Both services provide health care to people who are 

unhoused or precariously housed. 

I have known Mr. Marchand since May 2023 and can confirm that he has diagnoses of 

Psychosis (substance-induced vs. schizophrenia), and opioid and stimulant use disorders 

(severe). 

Mr. Marchand has shared his story with me, dating back prior to my involvement with him. He 
has endured numerous traumas in his life which impact the way he views himself, regulates his 

emotions, and relates to other people. In the summer of 2021, he was evicted from an 
encampment along Strachan St in Hamilton and again from an encampment on Rebecca St 
during that summer. Following this, he gave up on trying to stay in a tent and slept outside in 

the open. He describes feeling a sense of hopelessness and despair following these 
encampment evictions, and that his substance use escalated. For Mr. Marchand, there is a 
direct link between his substance use (particularly that of stimulants) and symptoms of 
psychosis. As his substance use escalated and mental health declined further, he continued on 
a downward trajectory in terms of his wellbeing. Additionally, while sleeping out in the open in 
Dec 2021, he was shot by a gun in the shoulder, which has contributed to additional ongoing 
trauma symptoms. Mr. Marchand said that he felt much more secure in a tent with community 
who looked out for each other, something that is not possible when sleeping alone outside, as 

he had resorted to doing because of repeated evictions. 
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RE: Darrin Marchand (DOB Oct 15 1966} 

Mr. Marchand shared that he has avoided living in encampment because of the toll eviction has 
taken on his well being. He said he feels like he is losing his mind because he cannot function 

living outside; he has been repeatedly kicked out of and service-restricted from shelters in the 
city. At present, he contemplates suicide regularly because he cannot stay in shelter, he cannot 
stay in a tent, and staying outside is becoming unbearable. He cannot sleep for long for fear of 
being assaulted or having his possessions stolen, leading to profound sleep deprivation. This 
sleep deprivation has further destabilized his mental health condition as well as contributed to 
escalation in substance use. The last time Mr. Marchand was housed was in 2017. 

l~apioioo that repeated encampment evictioRs l:lave bee A a ffiajor e0Rtrib11roc to tAe 
deterioratiol'I il'I M1 . Merdiaod's meotal health aod wgmming gf his s1,,1bst~n,o 1,,1se disgrderi. 

_p1,1er tl:le past 3 years. 

Please feel free to contact me should any further information be required. 

Sincerely, 

f .8-st-
Dr. Rachel Lamont, MD, FRCPC 

Psychiatrist, Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team and Shelter Health Network 

Assistant Professor 

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Neurosciences 

McMaster University 
Email: lamonr@mcmaster.ca 

Phone: 1-833-426-7678 

Fax: 1-833-563-2210 



 
This is Exhibit ‘C’ referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Rachel Lamont affirmed before me 

this 7th day of June, 2024.  

 

EXHIBIT ‘C’   
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This is Exhibit ‘D’ referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Rachel Lamont affirmed before me 

this 7th day of June, 2024.  

 

 

EXHIBIT ‘D’  
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This is Exhibit ‘E’ referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Rachel Lamont affirmed before me 
this 7th day of June, 2024.  

 

 

EXHIBIT ‘E’   
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McMaster 
University I DEPARTMENT 

OF PSYCHIATRY 
AND BEHAVIOURAL 
NEUROSCIENCES 

ATTN: Sharon Crowe 

RE: Lewis, Ammy (1978-07-04) 

October 5, 2023 

I am a psychiatrist with both the Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team and the Shelter 
Health Network in Hamilton, Ontario. Both services provide health care to people who are 

unhoused or precariously housed. 

I have been Ms. Lewis' treating psychiatrist since October 2021 and can confirm that she has 
diagnoses of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), Borderline Personality Disorder, 
Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Depression, and Opioid and Stimulant use disorders (severe). 

Ms. Lewis was referred to me in October 2021 by another physician providing care to her, who 

noted significant concern for her mental health. Ms. Lewis had recently been released from a 
federal penitentiary and had returned to Hamilton in late 2020. She was briefly housed after her 
release, though reports having suffered sexual assault from her landlord and she left that 
residence. Ms. Lewis lived outside for the latter part of 2021 and most of 2022 in a tent with her 
dog. She was evicted by the city from a tent in November 2021 which led her to have to return 
to an abusive living situation, causing considerable decline in her mental health. She then 
returned to living outside because of the harm of that situation. Ms. Lewis suffered chronic 
severe suicidal ideation, an exacerbation of symptoms of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and 
Depression, and worsening of her substance use disorders while living outside. She would 
regularly report to me her intense fear of having her tent taken down and belongings stolen. 
She was unable to go to shelter because of her dog, as her dog was her main source of support 

and companionship. 

tt-iw)y opinion that encamr,Ment e11ictiaos and the threat thereof repeated threat h~ 
mejer eo1,tFib1.1tors te tl=te engoing im,tabili!y in Ms I ewis' mental bealth and worsening at her 
sobs ta, ,ce 1:1sc eliserders frorn 26:!1-20~Due to considerable support from our team and 

outside agencies, Ms. Lewis was able to secure housing in 2023. 
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Please feel free to contact me should any further information be required . 

Sincerely, 

Dr. Rachel Lamont, MD, FRCPC 
Psychiatrist, Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team and Shelter Health Network 

Assistant Professor 
Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Neurosciences 

McMaster University 

Email: lamonr@mcmaster.ca 

Phone: 1-833-426-7678 

Fax: 1-833-563-2210 



This is Exhibit ‘F’ referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Rachel Lamont affirmed before me 
this 7th day of June, 2024.  

 

 

EXHIBIT ‘F’  
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INTENTIONALLY OMITTED PER JUSTICE RAMSAY NOVEMBER 12, 2024 ENDORSEMENT
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This is Exhibit ‘G’ referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Rachel Lamont affirmed before me 
this 7th day of June, 2024.  

 

 

EXHIBIT ‘G’   
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McMaster 
University I DEPARTMENT 

OF PSYCHIATRY 
AND BEHAVIOURAL 
NEUROSCIENCES 

ATTN: Sharon Crowe 

RE: Jahmal (Jammy) Pierre, DOB Dec 20, 1989 

May 11, 2023 

I am a psychiatrist with both the Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team and the Shelter 
Health Network in Hamilton, Ontario. Both services provide health care to people who are 

unhoused or precariously housed. 

I have known Ms. Pierre since fall 2021 and can confirm that she has diagnoses of 
PostTraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), generalized anxiety disorder, depression, and opioid and 

stimulant use disorders (severe). 

Ms. Pierre has shared her story with me, prior to my involvement with her. In March 2019, she 
was evicted from her apartment at 881 King St and had nowhere to go, as she had a dog, and 

shelters do not accept pets. Her income is through OW and thus did not have enough to cover 
rent for a new apartment. Thus, she went and bought a tent for herself and her dog. Due to 
repeated evictions from the city over the course of several months in 2019, she had to move 

her tent once every few days. At one point, several months into living outside, her tent was 
taken down and thrown out as part of a city-led encampment eviction, while she was away at a 

store. She had left her dog in the tent and her dog was gone when she returned. 

ll:l.dividuals sufferjng from complex mental health cooditioos aod s11bs1anrn "1se elisorelers, in 

::~:;:t:::;:::::i ~~z~=::~a~:~::::;;:;::~::::::::;~~-' 
Ms. Pierre describes the repeated forced movement of her belongings and particularly the loss 

of her dog as highly traumatic. Following this, she suffered worsening PTSD symptoms, 
depressive symptoms, and anxiety disorder symptoms. As is common with individuals who have 
comorbid substance use disorders, the worsening of her mental health conditions drove 

increased substance use. She has subsequently suffered multiple overdoses from the toxic 
street drug supply, which include an ICU admission in August 2020 as well as ER visit in 

November 2020. 

Given ongoing severe mental health symptoms, high levels of substance use, and lack of 
appropriate housing options for Ms. Pierre, a,-well i~ the constant tbceat of being~ 
~she continues to spend most of her time living outside, and has largely given up on trying 

to set up a tent because of the trauma that repeated evictions cause. She is thus living rough, 
and ~1 c~.+4:o-stay awake for prolonged periods to protect her personal safety. This has led to 
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profound sleep deprivation, which further exacerbates her underlying mental health conditions 
and substance use. She has had brief times in shelter and in the YWCA but has also been asked 
to leave those spaces due to her complex health needs and those services being unable to offer 

the required level of support. 

ltis R'l'f oi:,iriion tl:lat r:ep9ated erieam1:1A1ent Q>Ji,;tions bave b99n a major ,oRtrib• 1tar ta tbe 
profound deter Im atio11 i11 Ms. Pie, 1 e's mental l:lealth and worsei:iiRg of Iler sPbstance use 
dism de1 s ooe1 ti 1e past four years. I rus 1s due to the p, ofeuAd stre,s ca11sed by the consta.nt 
~I II eat of e11ca111p111e11t eVittio .. , tl:le impact of evictjon itself, eocan::ipR1ent @lli,;tioo causing th~ 
toss of 8 beloved pet, a11d ti ,e I esult811l 11eed to live outside will ,outthe ~rotectinn a tent can 

ct#or d, causiAg extr:en::ie ~lee1:1 de1:1FivatioA, wl:tkb further exacerbates symptoms of her mental 

~ns. 

Please feel free to contact me should any further information be required. 

Sincerely, 

U<.&s/-
Dr. Rachel Lamont, MD, FRCPC 

Psychiatrist, Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team and Shelter Health Network 

Assistant Professor 
Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Neurosciences 

McMaster University 

Email: lamonr@mcmaster.ca 

Phone: 1-833-426-7678 

Fax: 1-833-563-2210 



 
This is Exhibit ‘H’ referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Rachel Lamont affirmed before me 

this 7th day of June, 2024.  

 

 

EXHIBIT ‘H’   
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                         Court File No. CV-21-77187

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
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KRISTEN HEEGSMA, DARRIN MARCHAND, GORD SMYTH, MARIO 

MUSCATO, SHAWN ARNOLD, BRADLEY CALDWELL, CHRISTINE 
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                                        Respondents

--------

--- This is the Cross-Examination of DR. RACHEL 

LAMONT, upon her two affidavits sworn July 4, 2023 

and her affidavit sworn June 7, 2024, taken via 

video conference hosted by the offices of Nimigan 

Mihailovich Reporting Inc., 1 James Street South, 

Suite 701, Hamilton, Ontario, L8P 4R5, on the 7th 

day of October 2024.
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I N D E X

WITNESS:    DR. RACHEL LAMONT

                                          PAGE     

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. SHORES.........   5

RE-EXAMINATION BY MS. CROWE............. 135

**The following list of undertakings, advisements 

and refusals is meant as a guide only for the 

assistance of counsel and no other purpose**  

INDEX OF UNDERTAKINGS

The questions/requests undertaken are noted by  U/T 

and appear on the following pages:  None

INDEX OF ADVISEMENTS

The questions/requests taken under advisement are 

noted by  U/A and appear on the following pages: 

None

INDEX OF REFUSALS

The questions/requests refused are noted by  R/F  

and appear on the following pages:  26:21, 27:2, 

27:7, 27:13, 27:19, 28:23  
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INDEX OF EXHIBITS

NUMBER/DESCRIPTION                         PAGE NO.

1:  Capture of September 2, 2021 Twitter     12

comment of Dr. Rachel Lamont in response 

to a comment by Joey Coleman. 

2:  Thread of Twitter posts.                 17
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--- upon commencing at 1:33 p.m.

DR. RACHEL LAMONT:  Affirmed

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. SHORES:

Q. Good afternoon, Dr. Lamont.  As I 1.

indicated off record, my name is Bevin Shores.  My 

pronouns are she and her.  I'm one of the lawyers 

for the City of Hamilton in this matter.  

Can we start by just having you please 

state for the record your full name, how you would 

like to be addressed and if you have any pronouns 

you wish to share?  

A. Thank you.  My full name is Rachel 

Lamont.  I'm happy to be called Rachel or Dr. 

Lamont, whatever is more comfortable for you, 

counsel, and pronouns are she and her. 

Q. And where are you participating in 2.

your examination from today?  

A. I am in an apartment in Hamilton. 

Q. And can you confirm that you're 3.

alone in the room? 

A. I can confirm I'm completely 

alone, yes. 

Q. And as we discussed off record, 4.

you're aware that you're to have no assistance in 

giving your answers today?  
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A. Yes. 

Q. And if you're referring to any 5.

materials in giving your answers other than your 

affidavits and the exhibits to your affidavits, we 

need to state what you're referring to, make an 

exhibit and explain how it forms your evidence.  Is 

that understood? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. You've been affirmed to tell the 6.

truth just now? 

A. Yes. 

MS. SHORES:  I'd like to just state for 

the record before we get underway there is 

currently a dispute among counsel about whether Dr. 

Lamont's evidence is fact witness or expert witness 

evidence, and so this examination is being 

conducted without prejudice who are observing all 

positions regarding that dispute.  

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. Dr. Lamont, what do you understand 7.

your role is in this litigation? 

A. I understand my role was to 

provide my medical knowledge in relation to some of 

the individuals who are applicants in the matter 

and to state whether in my medical -- based on my 
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medical knowledge if I believe there to be any sort 

of impact on encampment evictions -- sorry, from 

encampment evictions on the health and well-being 

of the applicants. 

Q. And I understand that you haven't 8.

previously been qualified to give evidence as an 

expert witness in a court in Ontario; correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. Okay.  And perhaps stating the 9.

obvious, but there's no Rules of Civil Procedure 

Form 53 appended to your affidavits; correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. And no curriculum vitae appended 10.

to your affidavits; correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. You're a psychiatrist? 11.

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. And you're currently working with 12.

the Shelter Health Network in Hamilton? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And I believe if I understand on 13.

the CP -- or College of Physicians and Surgeons' 

website, that you gained your independent practice 

certificate in June 2019? 

A. Yes, that is correct. 
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Q. Okay.  And the independent 14.

practice certificate is what permits you to provide 

independent and unsupervised medical practice in 

Ontario; correct? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. So basically to put it in more lay 15.

terms, you've been practicing independently as a 

psychiatrist for about five years to the present 

day?

A. Yes, that is correct. 

Q. Now, the College of Physicians and 16.

Surgeons has your main office located in Welland; 

is that accurate? 

A. Yes, it is.  I have a number of 

practice locations in addition to the Shelter 

Health Network and Hamilton's Social Medicine and 

Response Team. 

Q. So you're still practicing in 17.

Hamilton, but also practicing in Welland and 

potentially other locations as well? 

A. Yes, that is correct. 

Q. Now, your affidavits append 18.

several letters collectively between them, the 

subject matter of which are eight of the applicants 

in this proceeding, one per letter.  Were each of 

104



3 of 36 sheets Page 9 to 12 of 144 11/14/2024 07:12:54 AM 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Nimigan Mihailovich Reporting Inc. - 905-522-1653

9

the letters written by you? 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. All of the letters are addressed 19.

to Sharon Crowe who is here with us today, one of 

the lawyers for the applicants; is that correct? 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. Were there instructions provided 20.

to you in writing those letters? 

A. No, there were no instructions.  

There was a question asked of me, which was if I, 

in my knowledge -- or sorry, if I could complete 

assessments of individuals to see if -- based upon 

those assessments if I thought there were any 

impact of encampment evictions on the health and 

well-being of those individuals, but I was asked 

that as a question.  I was not given instructions. 

Q. And you haven't conducted any 21.

research independently in the preparation of the 

letters appended to your affidavits; correct? 

A. I'm not sure what you mean by 

"research".  Could you clarify?  

Q. I've not been asked that question 22.

before.  Research meaning did you conduct any 

experiments, do any reviews of literature, anything 

like that, research? 
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A. I see.  I see what you're saying.  

No, I did not, not specifically related to this.  I 

wonder if you meant research into the clinical 

records and that type of thing before -- 

Q. You perhaps anticipated my next 23.

question, which is that I noticed that there were 

no documents identified in your letters as points 

of reference.  So can we take it that there were no 

documents reviewed in preparing your letters? 

A. No, you cannot.  I did review many 

clinical records for each applicant.

Q. Okay.  So how do you know looking 24.

at your letters which records were reviewed?  

A. I did not specify in the letters; 

however, before every assessment that I completed 

of those individuals, I can confirm that I did 

review Clinical Connect, which is a centralized 

repository of hospital records for Southwestern 

Ontario, and reviewed any and all records available 

for each applicant contained within Clinical 

Connect.

I also reviewed every applicant's 

Shelter Health Network electronic medical record 

and reviewed their Hamilton Social Medicine 

Response Team electronic medical record. 
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Q. And none of that is indicated in 25.

any of the letters? 

A. It's not indicated in the letters, 

no. 

Q. Have you ever used a social media 26.

platform known as X formally Twitter? 

A. I used to have Twitter, yes. 

Q. All right.  Your handle was 27.

@lamontrachel11?  

A. Yes, it was.  

Q. I'm going to take you to a 28.

document which I'll place on the screen.  Now, this 

is a capture, Dr. Lamont, and it is a capture of a 

tweet.  

If you see at the bottom, it's dated 2 

September 2021, and at the top it says Rachel 

Lamont, @lamontrachel11.  Is that your Twitter 

handle? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. And it appears to be a tweet 29.

responding to a tweet by Joey Coleman, Twitter 

handle @joeycoleman stating:  

"The @cityofhamilton encampment 

support team operates out of this 

building.  The closure of public 
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washrooms to block their use by 

homeless individuals is one of the 

many reasons medical and social 

professionals who help homeless 

people say City Hall is making 

things worse."

He goes on with his hashtags, and then 

you respond stating:

"I used to feel proud to call 

Hamilton home.  Actions by City 

officials, especially over the past 

year, make me ashamed.  I cannot 

comprehend the complete lack of 

understanding, compassion or even 

common sense in these situations 

@cityofhamilton."

You made that tweet?  

A. I did. 

Q. And you agree with that statement? 30.

A. I do. 

Q. Now, I'll take you -- 31.

MS. SHORES:  Let's, I'm sorry, mark 

this as Exhibit 1 to the examination of Dr. Lamont.  

EXHIBIT NO. 1:  Capture of September 2, 

2021 Twitter comment of Dr. Rachel 
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Lamont in response to a comment by Joey 

Coleman.

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. I'll take you to another printout, 32.

Dr. Lamont.  This one is again a capture and it 

appears to be dated September 5, 2022, again, from 

the Twitter handle @lamontrachel11, and the first 

one says:  

"A few days ago, my attention 

was drawn to a deeply disturbing 

sign posted at 124 Walnut Street 

South.  I could not stop thinking 

about it.  Thanks @marcie58632320 

for writing this response poem with 

me."

Did you write that tweet?  

A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And @marcie58632320, that's Marcie 33.

McIlveen?  

A. Yes, it is.

Q. She's a friend of yours?34.

A. She's a colleague of mine. 

Q. And you are aware that she's also 35.

-- she was a witness in the injunction motion in 

this proceeding? 
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A. I was not aware of that, no. 

Q. Okay.  So let's scroll down in the 36.

capture of this tweet and I'll zoom in.  So there 

appears to be a tweet by Marcie, @marcie58632320:  

"What is this?  Who put this 

up?  Presently writing a response 

poem with a friend."

And then there's a photograph of a sign 

for 124 Walnut Street South and there's a poem in 

yellow type on a black background there.  Do you 

see that?  

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. And you'd agree that that is the 37.

deeply disturbing sign posted at 124 Walnut Street 

South referenced in your tweet? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. Now, in terms of your response 38.

powem referenced in your tweet, Ms. McIlveen tweets 

in another tweet dated September 3 "Our response", 

and there appears to be a photograph of a word 

processor with a poem typed on it.  Do you see 

that? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Okay.  And did you work with 39.

Ms. McIlveen in creating that poem? 
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A. Yes, I did. 

Q. Now, if we scroll down, there's 40.

another tweet by Marcie, @marcie58632320:

"@lamontrachel11, we shall post 

it, right?"

And then beneath it, it says:

"Replying to @marcie58632320 

and @jennbrasch [spelled J-E-N-N, 

B-R-A-S-C-H] I have the supplies."

And a smiley face emoji.  You wrote 

that tweet?  

A. Yes, I did.  

Q. And then subsequently, there is a 41.

photograph showing the -- what appears to be the 

same sign at 124 Walnut Street South.  You'd agree 

that was the same sign? 

A. It appears to be, yes. 

Q. Okay.  And there's some black 42.

paint over the wording of the yellow type on the 

black background; correct? 

A. There is, yes. 

Q. And there is what appears to be a 43.

handwritten poem pasted -- or I'm sorry, taped 

beneath; correct? 

A. Yes, there is. 
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Q. What appears to be white paper 44.

with some sort of black handwriting? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you'd agree that's the poem 45.

that you and Ms. McIlveen wrote? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. The black paint over the yellow 46.

and -- the yellow type on the black background 

appears to be in the shape of an upside down "A" 

with a circle.  Do you agree? 

A. It's very hard to see, but I can 

appreciate what you're suggesting what the outline 

is. 

Q. That's commonly known as a symbol 47.

for anarchy?

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you have any involvement in 48.

the spray painting or the pasting of the poem on 

this board? 

A. Absolutely not, and I've actually 

not seen a picture with -- I didn't see the sign 

after the -- I knew the sign was being put up, the 

poem sign.  I did not see any sort of picture that 

showed that symbol above. 

Q. So you have no knowledge of this? 49.
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A. I have no knowledge of that. 

Q. But you did partake in writing the 50.

poem? 

A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And you were aware that the poem 51.

was intended to be posted on that sign? 

A. Yes, I was. 

MS. SHORES:  I'm going to mark this 

thread of Twitter posts as Exhibit 2 to Dr. 

Lamont's examination.

EXHIBIT NO. 2:  Thread of Twitter 

posts.

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. You'll agree, Dr. Lamont, that 52.

you're an advocate for people experiencing 

homelessness? 

A. I would agree that on many 

occasions, that in my professional role as a 

physician, it is my obligation to advocate for my 

patients, many of whom are unhoused. 

Q. And your involvement in this case 53.

is part of that work, advocating for people who 

experience homelessness? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. You've attended at least one of 54.
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the meetings of Hamilton City Council; correct? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And at least one of those meetings 55.

was in January 2023? 

A. I can't remember the date.  I know 

I did attend one.  I don't recall the date it was 

specifically. 

Q. And your attendance on that 56.

occasion was with the intention of urging the City 

Council to allow people to remain in encampments?

A. I don't know which meeting you're 

specifying.  So I can't say with certainty what my 

role was there. 

Q. Have you ever attended at Hamilton 57.

City Council for any other reason other than on the 

subject matter of encampments? 

A. I have watched many council 

meetings. 

Q. Okay.  But specifically with 58.

respect to a delegation at the City of Hamilton 

City Council meeting, have you ever attended on any 

subject matter other than encampments? 

A. No, I have not. 

Q. I'm going to turn you to your 59.

affidavits now, and I'll start with your June 7, 
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2024 affidavit which will be the bulk of my 

examination today.  

I'm going to ask you first about the 

first paragraph of this affidavit, which I'll put 

to you and you can take a minute to look at them, 

but it appears to be the same wording as in your 

July 4th affidavits.  So I'll read for the record 

and then I'll let you read for yourself:

"I have personal knowledge with 

respect to the facts and reports set 

out below, except where stated 

otherwise.  Where the information is 

not based on my personal knowledge, 

it is based upon information 

provided by others which I believe 

to be creditable and true." 

So first question is just confirming 

that that's the same in each of your affidavits.  

So this is your July 4, 2023 affidavit appending 

the report of -- the report concerning Kristen 

Heegsma, your July 4, 2023 affidavit which appends 

the report of Dr. Pierre -- or I'm sorry, of 

Ms. Pierre, and then, again, the first paragraph of 

your June 7, 2024 affidavit.  So we agree those are 

all the same text?  
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A. Yes, they are. 

Q. Okay.  And you'll agree that that 60.

paragraph is accurate? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. Now, just with respect to the two 61.

July 4 affidavits, those each append letters dated 

May 11, 2023.  So I'll take you to Exhibit A to 

your first July 4, 2023 affidavit.  This is the 

letter dated May 11, 2023 with respect to 

Ms. Pierre.  

As best I can tell, Dr. Lamont, that 

seems to be the same letter that appears as Exhibit 

G to your July 7 -- I'm sorry, June 7, 2024 

affidavit which I'll take you to now.  Would I be 

correct in that understanding, it's the same 

letter? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  And so I'll ask you the 62.

same question with respect to your letter 

concerning Kristen Heegsma.  

So taking you first to your July 4, 

2023 affidavit, Exhibit A to that affidavit is a 

June 20, 2023 letter regarding Kristen Heegsma, and 

then if we go to your June 7, 2024 affidavit, 

Exhibit A to that affidavit is also a June 20, 2023 
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letter regarding Kristen Heegsma, which again, as 

far as I can tell, is the same letter.  Is that 

also correct? 

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Okay.  All right.  So then for 63.

purposes of this cross-examination, I'm going to 

focus on your June 7, 2024 affidavit.  

So turning back to the body of your 

affidavit, you describe at paragraph 2 of your 

June 7, 2024 affidavit that you're a physician with 

Shelter Health Network and the Hamilton Social 

Medicine Response Team, which goes by HAMSMaRT, and 

then you go on to describe in the last sentence 

that you've worked with SHN, Shelter Health 

Network, since May of 2022 and that you joined 

HAMSMaRT in September 2021.  

Can you just describe what your role is 

first with Shelter Health Network? 

A. Yes, so my role with Shelter 

Health Network is primarily as a consulting 

psychiatrist, so providing comprehensive diagnostic 

assessments and treatment recommendations for 

individuals experiencing homelessness or who are 

precariously housed.  

I often as well act as a point person 
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for some of the family doctors working for Shelter 

Health who may call me for advice about a specific 

patient in relation to mental health diagnosis or 

treatment. 

Q. And around the time that you gave 64.

these affidavits, so 2023 and 2024, how frequently 

were you working at Shelter Health Network? 

A. About once per week. 

Q. Okay.  And on those once per week 65.

occasions, would you be seeing patients the entire 

time? 

A. It depended on the week and the 

number of people that would attend.  But yes, most 

weeks I would be seeing patients for Shelter Health 

Network. 

Q. And how long were the days that 66.

you worked at Shelter Health Network? 

A. A half day, one-half day. 

Q. Okay.  And half days means 67.

different things in different professions.  What 

would a half day be in term of hours, roughly? 

A. Three to four hours. 

Q. And is that still your -- an 68.

accurate description of your role at Shelter Health 

Network these days? 
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A. With Shelter Health Network these 

days, primarily I'm actually only with them about 

one half day per month. 

Q. Okay.  And when did that change? 69.

A. It's about a year, in the last 

year, yeah.  

Q. So we're in October of 2024.  So 70.

about fall of 2023 you would have gone down to 

about once a month at Shelter Health Network?

A. Yes, that is correct.

Q. And with respect to HAMSMaRT, are 71.

you still working with HAMSMaRT?

A. Yes, I am.

Q. And so at the time that you gave 72.

these affidavits, so 2023 and the first half of 

2024, what was your role at HAMSMaRT? 

A. So my role at HAMSMaRT is also 

consulting psychiatrist, though at HAMSMaRT I do 

follow people longitudinally as well.  So I work 

every Tuesday afternoon with HAMSMaRT every week, 

and I often work Tuesday mornings, perhaps one to 

two Tuesday mornings per month.  

And again, I'm available for advice for 

my colleagues, internal medicine colleagues at 

HAMSMaRT if they have questions or require advice 
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about specific patients. 

Q. And the afternoons that you're 73.

there, again, would that be about three to four 

hours? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. And the work that you do for 74.

HAMSMaRT is separate than the work that you do with 

Shelter Health Network?  So in other words, you 

would have one day at Shelter Health Network and a 

separate day at HAMSMaRT seeing separate patients? 

A. Yes, that is correct. 

Q. Are you aware that HAMSMaRT 75.

previously sued the City of Hamilton regarding 

encampments in 2020? 

A. I am aware, yes. 

Q. And you'd agree with me that 76.

HAMSMaRT is, among other things, an advocacy 

organization? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. With respect to your -- sorry, you 77.

indicate at paragraph 2 of your affidavit that the 

Shelter Health Network and HAMSMaRT are 

organizations that provide medical care to 

individuals affected by homelessness or housing 

precarity.  
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I want to ask you some questions about 

homelessness.  You'd agree that people who become 

homeless often have physical and mental health 

problems which worsen over the period that they're 

homeless; correct?  

MS. CROWE:  Ms. Shores, I want to just 

interject for a moment because she's here to speak 

about the individual applicants that she saw and 

assessed. 

MS. SHORES:  Well, but her -- but Dr. 

Lamont's evidence is expressing among other places 

opinions, in our submission, on the effects of 

homelessness on individuals including the 

individuals that she speaks to, and it's perfectly 

in bounds to get a baseline of her understanding 

about what the causes -- or I'm sorry, about what 

the effects of homelessness cause of these 

individuals. 

MS. CROWE:  In these individuals.  Yes, 

so -- okay.  So if we're confining it to the -- her 

patients that she's seeing and assessing, then I 

take no issue with that. 

MS. SHORES:  Well, but I want to be 

absolutely clear.  My question is just about 

homelessness in general. 
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MS. CROWE:  So the difficulty that we 

have, Ms. Shores, is, as you know, we disagree 

on -- so our intention is very clear to have Dr. 

Lamont here and participate as a fact witness, and 

so to give her factual knowledge of the individuals 

that she assessed in completing her affidavits.  So 

I think those are the proper boundaries of her 

examination. 

MS. SHORES:  Well, I maintain my 

position that this is a proper question.  So I will 

ask my questions and you can provide your position.  

With respect to that one, is that a refusal, or 

will Dr. Lamont be answering the question?  

MS. CROWE:  Can you ask it again, 

please?  

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. Would you agree, Dr. Lamont, that 78.

people who become homeless often have physical and 

mental health problems which worsen over the period 

that they're homeless?  

R/F         MS. CROWE:  That's a refusal. 

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. And Dr. Lamont, would you agree 79.

that deaths due to unintentional overdose of drugs 

or alcohol or both are also common in a population 
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of people who experience homelessness? 

R/F         MS. CROWE:  That's a refusal as well. 

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. Dr. Lamont, would you agree that 80.

the prevalence of serious mental illness is high 

among people who experience homelessness? 

R/F         MS. CROWE:  It's a refusal. 

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. And Dr. Lamont, would you agree 81.

that infectious diseases are a common cause of 

health problems in people who experience 

homelessness? 

R/F         MS. CROWE:  It's a refusal on the same 

grounds. 

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. Would you agree, Dr. Lamont, that 82.

homeless people with mental illnesses often receive 

inadequate care for their medical comorbidities?  

R/F         MS. CROWE:  Ms. Shores, that's a 

refusal, and I think -- obviously you can continue 

to ask the questions, but I think you understand 

the nature of my objections. 

MS. SHORES:  And I am asking my 

questions, put them on the record, and you -- 

MS. CROWE:  Okay.
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MS. SHORES:  -- your objection on the 

record.

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. Dr. Lamont, you'd agree that 83.

people can be assaulted in encampments; that's 

correct? 

THE WITNESS:  I'm okay to answer this 

one?  

MS. CROWE:  Yes. 

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  It is possible for 

a person to be assaulted anywhere.  So yes. 

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. And similarly, you'd agree that 84.

people can have things stolen from them in 

encampments; correct?  

A. Things can be stolen from someone 

anywhere.  So yes. 

Q. You'd agree that people can suffer 85.

hypothermia in encampments; correct?

A. It is theoretically possible, yes. 

Q. You'd agree that people can suffer 86.

frostbite in encampments; correct?  

R/F         MS. CROWE:  So I think I'm going to 

interject again because, again, we're just talking 

about generalized statements.  We're really moving 
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away from the individual applicants.

            And the other point, the other basis 

for my refusal on that question is that, as you 

know, Dr. Lamont is here as a psychiatrist. 

MS. SHORES:  Well, we'll get to that. 

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. Now, Dr. Lamont, you'd agree that 87.

in treating a patient it's important to obtain an 

understanding of their medical history? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And that it's important to obtain 88.

an accurate medical history to the extent you can? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And that to the extent you can, 89.

it's also important to obtain a comprehenstive 

medical history in the sense that it doesn't leave 

out anything significant? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you'd agree that an accurate 90.

and comprehensive medical history is also important 

in giving a medical opinion about a patient? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You'd agree that an inaccurate or 91.

incomplete medical history would affect the 

reliability of a medical opinion that's based on 
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that history; correct? 

A. It's possible that it could, yes. 

Q. In a sense that it could be less 92.

reliable if the medical history is inaccurate or 

incomplete, yes? 

A. It's possible, yes. 

Q. And you'd agree that some patients 93.

may not be able to give you an accurate or 

comprehensive medical history; correct?  

A. That is correct in all areas of 

medicine, yes. 

Q. And that some patients may not be 94.

able to accurately or comprehensively report their 

experiences to you; correct? 

A. That does happen, though I would 

say, for the most part, individuals are able to 

relay their own experiences quite well. 

Q. If a patient is unable to 95.

accurately or comprehensively report their medical 

history or experiences to you, you'd agree that 

could compromise the reliability of a medical 

opinion based on that report; correct? 

A. Well, I would place a caveat on 

that, that within psychiatry in particular, a 

special part of our training is ascertaining 
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whether the information an individual is providing 

is reliable or not based on internal consistencies 

within their report as well as consistencies in 

relation to collateral information, and a very 

important piece of any psychiatric and medical 

history is obtaining collateral information. 

Q. And so did you obtain collateral 96.

information with respect to the patients that 

you're speaking to in your June 7, 2024 and July 4, 

2023 affidavits? 

A. Yes, I did wherever possible, and 

I can speak to each applicant as we raise their 

letters, if that's helpful.

Q. Okay.  We will do that.  You'd 97.

agree that opioid and stimulant use disorder are 

conditions that could affect a patient's ability to 

give you an accurate and complete history; correct? 

A. Having the diagnosis itself 

doesn't necessarily make someone unable to provide 

accurate information.  I think at times if someone 

is particularly intoxicated or if they've had long 

cycles of intoxication and withdrawal, it may give 

them some difficulty with memory and recall of 

information, yes. 

Q. And a psychosis could be a 98.
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condition that would affect a patient's ability to 

give you an accurate and complete history; correct? 

A. It can, although typically it only 

impacts a person's ability to provide information 

in relation to whatever the nature of their 

psychosis is.  

For example, if they have delusions 

about a particular person, the information they 

provide about that particular person may not be 

reliable, but they might be quite reliable in 

providing information about other topics that are 

not central to their psychotic symptoms.  

Q. Schizophrenia would be a condition 99.

that could affect a patient's ability to give you 

an accurate and complete history? 

A. I don't -- I mean, certainly it's 

possible, especially if someone's very acutely 

unwell and thought disordered, but most people with 

schizophrenia would actually be able to provide a 

reliable history. 

Q. And fetal alcohol syndrome, the 100.

symptoms of that condition, you'd agree, could 

affect a patient's ability to give you an accurate 

history? 

A. Some of the symptoms, particularly 

110
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the cognitive symptoms of that condition, could 

affect an individual's ability to provide 

information, yes. 

Q. Turning to your letters that are 101.

appended to the affidavits as exhibits, just 

looking at the letterhead, there's two logos that 

appear at the top for each of these letters.  One 

of them is the McMaster Department of Psychiatry 

and Behavioural Sciences and the other appears to 

be HAMSMaRT.  

Are these letters provided under the 

auspices of the McMaster Department of Psychiatry 

and Behavioural Services? 

A. Behavioural Neurosciences?  No, 

they're not.  That's simply one of my credentials 

as an assistant professor with the university, and 

so it's typically on the letterhead that I use. 

Q. Are you still an assistant 102.

professor with McMaster University? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. And you were at the time that you 103.

wrote these letters? 

A. Yes, I was. 

Q. Is the McMaster Department of 104.

Psychiatry and Behavioural Neurosciences affiliated 
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with HAMSMaRT? 

A. Not in any way, no. 

Q. And were you providing these 105.

letters under the auspices of HAMSMaRT? 

A. Not directly, no.  It was my own 

-- I was seeing the patients through HAMSMaRT's 

electronic medical record, but there was no 

direction from the organization of HAMSMaRT for me 

to provide these letters. 

Q. Referring first to Exhibit A to 106.

your June 7, 2024 affidavit, which again for the 

record also appears as Exhibit A to your July 4, 

2023 affidavit regarding Kristen Heegsma, at 

paragraph 2 you state that you've been Ms. 

Heegsma's treating psychiatrist since November 

2021.  I take it, then, you saw her either through 

Shelter Health Network or HAMSMaRT?

A. Yes, she was my patient through 

HAMSMaRT since November 2021.  

Q. Approximately how many times would 107.

you have seen her for treatment before writing this 

letter in June of 2023?

A. [Indiscernible] 15.

Q. You state at paragraph 2 that you 108.

can confirm that she has diagnoses of 
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post-traumatic stress disorder, borderline 

personality disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, 

depression and opioid and stimulant use disorders, 

but you don't say that you diagnosed her with 

these.  Can I take it that someone else diagnosed 

these conditions previously? 

A. Those diagnoses were all 

pre-existing prior to my involvement and already a 

part of her medical record; however, I did confirm 

those diagnoses while I treated her. 

Q. And when you say "medical record", 109.

you're referring to that electronic medical record 

that you described previously? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And in the third paragraph of your 110.

letter, the third sentence you state with respect 

to Ms. Heegsma:

"She had been repeatedly 

evicted from encampments 

previously."

And in the sentence immediately 

preceding that, you say that:  

"She had just been evicted from 

a tent in Corktown neighbourhood by 

the City of Hamilton."
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I take it that's information that Ms. 

Heegsma reported to you?  

A. Yes, it was. 

Q. Okay.  Was that information that 111.

she reported to you, or was that documented in a 

medical record?  Do you know?

A. I believe it was both.  I do  

distinctly remember the first time I met 

Ms. Heegsma because she was highly distressed, and 

Dr. O'Shea was her treating physician at that time.  

I believe he documented the eviction from Corktown 

and then she also reported it to me. 

Q. And so Dr. O'Shea would have been 112.

recording in the records what Dr. -- or I'm sorry, 

what Ms. Heegsma reported to him?  

A. That's correct. 

Q. So you don't have any first 113.

knowledge of how these so-called evictions 

transpired?   You didn't witness them?

A. I did not witness them, no. 

Q. And so in terms of corroborating 114.

information that's relayed to you, that's not 

something that you took independent steps to 

verify? 

A. No, I did not. 

111
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Q. And similarly, if we go to the 115.

middle of the second paragraph, you state:

"Additionally, because her tent 

had been destroyed, she was sleeping 

on a park bench in the days 

following the encampment eviction."

Again, that was reported to you?  

A. By Ms. Heegsma, yes. 

Q. And again, was that reported to 116.

you, or written down in a medical record? 

A. It was reported to me by 

Ms. Heegsma. 

Q. And again, you weren't aware of -- 117.

firsthand of her tent having been destroyed; 

correct? 

A. Not firsthand, but I did see her 

shortly after it did happen. 

Q. And similarly, the sleeping on a 118.

park bench, that's not something that you 

independently viewed yourself?  That's what she 

reported? 

A. That is what she reported, yes. 

Q. In the second -- or I'm sorry, 119.

third to last sentence of the second paragraph of 

this letter you state:
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"A few days after the eviction 

from her tent in Corktown 

neighbourhood and while she was 

sleeping on a park bench, she was 

the victim of a violent sexual 

assault."

Did you treat her for that?

A. In terms of her mental health in 

the immediate aftermath, yes. 

Q. And what is the source of your 120.

information that she was a victim of a violent 

sexual assault? 

A. Ms. Heegsma. 

Q. And in writing this report, the 121.

source of your information is those records that 

you have referred to previously? 

A. In terms of other alternate 

sources of information?  Is that what you are 

asking?  

Q. Yes.  122.

A. Yes.  And I would also note that 

Ms. Heegsma regularly attended the Keeping Six 

Drop-In Centre, and other individuals that attend 

the drop-in expressed a lot of concern about her 

well-being at that time.
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Q. When you say in the second to last 123.

sentence of the second paragraph "This caused 

additional, severe worsening of her mental health 

conditions and substance use", what's your source 

for that?  

A. That was my direct observation of 

worsening in symptoms, both in frequency and 

severity of both her mental health conditions and 

escalations in her substance use.  

Q. I have to put it to you, though, 124.

Dr. Lamont, you indicate that at that time, that 

was when you had just met her.  So wouldn't you 

agree that you didn't have a baseline for her 

substance use prior to that incident? 

A. I did have records from Dr. 

O'Shea, who is my colleague who works in the same 

clinic and who had been following her for a period 

of time before that, who was -- very clearly 

indicated a worsening in the substance use and a 

very clear deterioration in her mental health, 

which was also corroborated by other individuals 

using the space who knew Ms. Heegsma. 

Q. The last sentence of the second 125.

paragraph you state:

"She also had her belongings 
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stolen repeatedly."

Again, what was the source of that 

information?

A. That was reported by Ms. Heegsma, 

and I would often see her coming into clinic asking 

for very basic necessities and refills of her 

prescriptions because everything had been stolen. 

Q. So again, she indicated that 126.

things had been stolen and she was asking for 

refills of her prescriptions? 

A. And other basic necessities like 

clothing and hygiene products. 

Q. Now, with respect to 127.

prescriptions, in particular, Dr. Lamont, I have to 

ask you'd agree that that can sometimes be an 

indicia of drug seeking behaviour; correct?  

A. Not typically, and especially not 

the medications I was prescribing Ms. Heegsma.  I 

was prescribing her anti-depressant medications 

which have absolutely no street value and do not 

provide a high for anyone.  So they're not -- 

asking for a refill of that medication is not a 

sign of drug seeking behaviour. 

Q. In the fourth paragraph of the 128.

letter concerning Ms. Heegsma, you state in the 
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first sentence that:

"Ms. Heegsma has since spent 

brief amounts of time in shelter and 

in YWCA transitional housing, though 

has also been asked to leave those 

spaces due to her complex health 

needs and those services being 

unable to offer the required level 

of support."

Speaking specifically to the reasons 

that she was reportedly asked to leave, what is the 

source for that information?  

A. So I did not call the shelters 

specifically.  I only know that she was asked to 

leave and service restricted and I was not given a 

reason from the shelters.  

I did speak to the YWCA personally 

because I was trying to advocate for her to get a 

spot, and they said that her -- they simply said, 

"Her needs are higher than that which we can 

support."  They have some sort of scoring system 

that they use and they felt that her needs were too 

high. 

Q. When did that occur? 129.

A. Oh, I don't have a specific 
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recollection of the date, I'm sorry. 

Q. And with respect to incidents 130.

other than your consultation with the YWCA, do you 

have any knowledge speaking about your firsthand 

knowledge about whether she was, in fact, asked to 

leave those spaces or the reasons for that? 

A. Just as they were reported to me 

by Ms. Heegsma. 

Q. You say that Ms. Heegsma in the 131.

next sentence "Thus continued to spend most of her 

time living outside."  Again, what is the source 

for that information?  

A. It is both her report as well as 

when I reviewed her medical record because she saw 

Dr. O'Shea more frequently than myself, and he 

would take note during their visits of where she 

was staying and the vast majority of the time she 

was outside. 

Q. When you say "living outside", in 132.

the next sentence you refer to living in a tent.  

And so are those synonymous, she's living outside 

in a tent? 

A. There were times when she was in a 

tent and there were times when she's been 

unsheltered outside. 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Nimigan Mihailovich Reporting Inc. - 905-522-1653

43

Q. And again, based on her report to 133.

you? 

A. That's correct.  I just would like 

to add, because it keeps coming up, that people 

don't generally lie about whether they're sleeping 

in a tent or sleeping rough.  They have no reason 

to do so. 

Q. And your source for this letter in 134.

here again would be your recollection of what 

Ms. Heegsma reported to you and those records that 

you consulted that -- aren't referenced in this 

letter; correct? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. The second to last paragraph of 135.

your letter, so the first paragraph on the second 

page, you state:  

"It is my opinion that that 

repeated encampment evictions and, 

in particular, the encampment 

eviction in November 2021 and 

subsequent sexual assault, have been 

a major contributor to the ongoing 

instability in Ms. Heegsma's mental 

health and worsening of her 

substance use disorders over the 
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past three years."

I take it, Dr. Lamont, that you're 

giving that opinion based primarily on information 

that was relayed to you?  

A. No, I would say I'm basing that 

largely on my clinical assessment of Ms. Heegsma in 

the time that I knew her and the deterioration I 

witnessed throughout that process and the impact 

that each encampment eviction, particularly the 

November 2021 eviction, had on her well-being. 

Q. But again, those encampment 136.

evictions are what she has reported to you; 

correct? 

A. Yes, she reported them to me, and 

would show up in absolute crisis after losing all 

of her belongings and having her tent torn down. 

Q. And speaking of the corroboration 137.

that you described previously when I was asking you 

about patients reporting their histories and 

experience to you, you haven't done any sort of 

independent corroboration of those experiences; 

correct?  

A. I would say that it would be 

uncommon in medicine to seek third party 

information for which something someone -- there's 
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no reason that Ms. Heegsma would lie about having 

her tent torn down.  The way that she was 

presenting was very much in keeping with someone 

who would have had that experience.  

There was no need for me to 

independently verify that.  Just as much as if 

someone came in with, you know, chest pain, I 

wouldn't call their family and verify that they, 

too, had been told this person had chest pain.  It 

doesn't -- it's not necessary. 

Q. With respect to your opinion about 138.

the ongoing instability in Ms. Heegsma's mental 

health and her substance use disorders, you don't 

indicate any other potential causes such as other 

sequela of homelessness or any other conditions or 

factors; correct?  

A. I did not indicate in this 

particular letter, no. 

Q. And you'd agree that if the 139.

information provided to you was incorrect, that may 

change your opinion? 

A. It would depend on the information 

that was provided. 

Q. So let's go to Exhibit B of your 140.

June 7, 2024 affidavit.  This is a letter dated 
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December 14, 2023 concerning Darrin Marchand.  

Now, at the second -- or I'm sorry, 

second paragraph of this letter, you state that 

you've known Mr. Marchand since May 2023.  So first 

off, if I'm doing the math correctly, that would be 

about seven months before writing this letter?  

A. Yes, that is correct.

Q. Okay.  And you say you've known 141.

Mr. Marchand, but was that in a doctor-patient 

relationship, or were you acquainted with him some 

other way? 

A. So he was in a doctor-patient 

relationship with me since May of 2023, though I 

had seen him around and knew that he was someone 

named Darrin.  Before that, I had no personal 

knowledge of him until he became my patient. 

Q. And in that second sentence you 142.

state that you confirm:  

"He has diagnoses of psychosis 

(substance-induced versus 

schizophrenia), and opioid and 

stimulant use disorder (severe)." 

Again, you don't say that you diagnosed 

him with these.  So may I take it that these were 

previous diagnoses?  
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A. They were previous diagnoses that 

I then confirmed with my own assessment, yes. 

Q. Do you know when he was diagnosed 143.

with these conditions? 

A. So again, I don't have specific 

dates, but I know that he was on a long-acting 

injectable anti-psychotic medication for at least 

ten years which is used to treat psychosis.  So he 

would have been diagnosed with that condition many, 

many years before my involvement with him.  

And the opioid and stimulant use 

disorders were also longstanding diagnoses, but I 

cannot comment specifically on the number of years. 

Q. In the third paragraph you start 144.

with the sentence:

"Mr. Marchand has shared his 

story with me dating back prior to 

my involvement with him."

And then in this third paragraph you go 

on to describe incidents that appear to have 

occurred in 2021.  You're welcome to review that 

paragraph if you want.  My question is that is 

everything in that paragraph based on what he 

reported to you?  

A. It is based on what he reported to 
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me.  However, when he was shot in the shoulder, 

that was then -- I independently verified that with 

his medical record, electronic medical record via 

the hospital system, as well as other peer workers 

at HAMSMaRT and Keeping Six who had known him 

during that time.  

Q. When you say he was shot in the 145.

shoulder, you mean his treatment for the gunshot 

wound; correct? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. You didn't witness the gunshot? 146.

A. No, I did not.  

Q. And none of the other providers 147.

that you interacted with witnessed the gunshot? 

A. No. 

Q. Okay.  And so just to put a finer 148.

point on it, you weren't his medical treatment 

provider at the time in 2021; correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. So you describe in the third 149.

sentence of the third paragraph:

"In the summer of 2021, he was 

evicted from an encampment along 

Strachan Street in Hamilton and 

again from an encampment on Rebecca 
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Street during that summer."

Again, you weren't treating him at the 

time that that -- those alleged encampment 

evictions occurred, right?  

A. That is correct. 

Q. And so when you say two sentences 150.

ahead that "He describes feeling a sense of 

hopelessness and despair following these encampment 

evictions and that his substance use escalated 

again", that's based on his reporting?  

A. It is based on his reporting.  Mr. 

Marchand also has a number of outreach workers that 

work with him and, in particular, an outreach 

worker out of the AIDS Network named Tess, and she 

also had observed a significant change in his 

substance use, a worsening in his substance use 

since that time. 

Q. And to put a finer point on it, an 151.

outreach worker is someone who's going out in the 

community and interacting with Mr. Marchand when 

she can find him? 

A. That's correct, and when he comes 

to the drop-in space at the AIDS Network. 

Q. Okay.  So you'd agree with me, 152.

though, that that doesn't provide a very regular 
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set of interactions in order to gauge the extent of 

his substance use?

A. I actually don't agree with that.  

I think an outreach worker that knows an individual 

and sees them, you know, whether it be every week 

or every two weeks or even every three weeks, you 

can notice a pattern over time and an escalation in 

someone's substance use. 

Q. But in any event, this outreach 153.

worker's observations are not appended to or even 

referred to in your letter; correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Now, with respect to your comment 154.

again in the third paragraph of your letter 

concerning Mr. Marchand, the second last sentence 

referencing the gunshot in December of 2021, you 

state that it contributed to additional ongoing 

trauma symptoms.  

Again, you weren't treating him at the 

time.  So that's not your medical opinion; correct? 

A. It is what he reported to me, and 

it's very much consistent with what I would expect 

in someone with his history of mental health 

conditions and repeated traumatic experiences. 

Q. In the last sentence of 155.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Nimigan Mihailovich Reporting Inc. - 905-522-1653

51

paragraph 3 you state that:

"Mr. Marchand said that he felt 

much more secure in a tent with 

community who looked out for each 

other, something that's not possible 

when sleeping outside alone as he 

has resorted to doing because of 

repeated evictions."

So again, just with respect to the 

first part of that sentence, Mr. Marchand's 

reported feeling for security in a tent, you'd 

agree that there still can be violence against 

people who are staying in encampments; correct?  

A. You did mention that earlier and, 

as I said, there can be violence toward anyone in 

any place.  So of course there could be violence 

toward people in encampments.

I would say that for individuals with 

substance use disorders, with histories of trauma, 

a feeling of safety is extremely important and 

foundational for someone to find any sort of 

stability and recovery.  And so when people feel 

unsafe, it is nearly impossible to find recovery.

And so for Mr. Marchand, when he said 

he did not feel safe when alone outside, that to me 
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is kind of a -- it would be a very common time when 

someone's substance use would escalate because 

they're feeling unsafe, and that is a driver of the 

substance use.

Q. But wouldn't you also agree, Dr. 156.

Lamont, that if someone feels safe in a 

circumstance actually not very safe, that could 

also not be a good thing for them because they'll 

remain in that circumstance and, thus, exposed to 

risks for longer? 

A. I think most individuals have 

common sense and will seek the safest -- like I 

don't want to speak too generally here, but in the 

individuals that I've worked with and what has been 

reported to me, people don't want to be outside 

period.  

They want inside -- to be inside in 

dignified, adequate housing, but, in the absence of 

that, people want the next safest option, and for 

individuals like Mr. Marchand and what he described 

to me at that time, he felt safer in a tent than 

exposed to the elements and he did not feel there 

were other options available to him. 

Q. And so when you say at the very 157.

end of the third paragraph that Mr. Marchand had 
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resorted to sleeping alone outside because of 

repeated evictions, again, you don't have any 

firsthand knowledge of these so-called evictions; 

correct?

A. I don't have firsthand knowledge 

beyond which was reported to me by him and by -- 

and corroborated by the outreach worker. 

Q. And so you don't know how long he 158.

would have been able to stay in a tent in between 

these so-called evictions; correct?

A. I don't know how long he was in 

between, that's correct. 

Q. And you don't know whether he 159.

would have been offered shelter at any point in the 

process; correct?

A. I don't know. 

Q. And whether he was offered help 160.

finding somewhere else to go; correct? 

A. I'm assuming I know that Tess, the 

outreach worker, had often offered to try and find 

him help, but they were not able to secure him any 

anywhere. 

Q. And at what point in time are you 161.

talking about?  Is that on the one occasion where 

the -- I'm sorry, was that referring to the 
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evictions in 2021, or some other point in time? 

A. I'm speaking when I knew 

Mr. Marchand.  So beginning in the spring of 2023, 

I know that there were efforts and attempts to look 

for shelter and housing for him. 

Q. And what is that knowledge based 162.

on? 

A. Based on what Mr. Marchand and the 

outreach worker, Tess, reported to me. 

Q. How frequently did the outreach 163.

worker, Tess, provide these reports to you? 

A. There was no formal reporting.  I 

don't know that I could offer you a specific 

timeline.  I just know that when I worked with 

Mr. Marchand -- I have not seen him in sometime 

now, but, when I worked with Mr. Marchand, Tess 

would occasionally pop in and provide me with an 

update perhaps, you know, once every couple of 

weeks. 

Q. Going to the top of the second 164.

page, in the third sentence you state:

"At present, he contemplates 

suicide regularly because he cannot 

stay in shelter, he cannot stay in a 

tent, and staying outside is 
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becoming unbearable."

I want to ask you a few questions about 

that sentence.  The first one is with respect to 

the report that he contemplates suicide regularly, 

there's no indication here that he was referred to 

inpatient treatment.  

            So would you agree with me -- or I take 

it that he wasn't actually expressing suicidal 

ideation, but something different, being 

contemplation?   

A. No, I would disagree with you very 

strongly, actually.  He did have suicidal ideation.  

It's very common for individuals in the community 

to have suicidal ideation, sometimes even with a 

plan to harm themselves.  

Part of my role as a psychiatrist -- as 

a physician in general, but, as a psychiatrist, is 

to have an ability to perform a risk assessment and 

determine whether or not someone requires 

hospitalization or involuntary admission.  

And so if I'm able to speak with 

someone and come up with a plan, whereby even 

though they're having suicidal ideation with a plan 

to harm themselves, they also have other protective 

factors and they're willing to come up with a 
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safety plan, then I do not -- they do not require 

hospitalization or even an ER visit. 

Q. So can we take it, then, in these 165.

circumstances with respect to Mr. Marchand, those 

mechanisms, the safety plan and other resources, 

were sufficient and he didn't require 

hospitalization? 

A. That is true, though I don't want 

to minimize the degree of suffering to which 

someone is experiencing when they are having 

suicidal ideation.  It is a very clear sign of 

deterioration in their health and a strong signal 

that meant suffering. 

Q. In that same sentence where you 166.

say he cannot stay in shelters, is that again based 

on what Mr. Marchand is telling you? 

A. Mr. Marchand and the outreach 

worker, Tess.  Mr. Marchand was service restricted 

from a number of shelters. 

Q. And at what point in time, to your 167.

knowledge, was he service restricted from a number 

of shelters? 

A. Again, I would be guessing, so I 

don't want to provide a specific date and time.  I 

just recall in my involvement with him the shelters 
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were not an option because of service restrictions 

is what I was told. 

Q. So to put a finer point on it, 168.

your understanding was that he was service 

restricted from every shelter and, therefore, could 

not stay in shelter?  

A. That was my understanding, yes. 

Q. For the entire time that you were 169.

treating him?  

A. For those several months, yes. 

Q. You say he cannot stay in a tent.  170.

Again, is this based on what he told you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What was the reason for him not 171.

being able to stay in a tent? 

A. He told me he was just too 

frustrated.  It wasn't worth the effort to set up a 

tent just for it to be torn down again, and it was 

very upsetting to have that done repeatedly. 

Q. So it would be more accurate to 172.

say, then, that he found it frustrating to stay in 

a tent, but not that he was unable to stay in a 

tent? 

A. I think he felt unable to.  

Whether you want to say unable to because of the 
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intense frustration he felt, he just -- he felt it 

was not an option any more, not a viable option. 

Q. And in the second to last 173.

sentences of the first paragraph on page 2, you 

describe sleep depravation and state that it 

further destabilized his mental health condition as 

well as contributed to an escalation in substance 

use.  Again, this is based on Mr. Marchand's 

reports to you?  

A. Yes. 

Q. In the last -- or I'm sorry, 174.

second last paragraph of your letter, you state 

that it is your opinion that:  

"Repeated encampment evictions 

have been a major contributor to the 

deterioration of Mr. Marchand's 

mental health and worsening of his 

substance use disorders over the 

past three years." 

So you're speaking about three years, 

but, again, I think we've just established that you 

had treated him for about seven months; correct?  

A. That is correct, though I did 

receive information from an outreach worker that 

knew him well who also observed that decline. 
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Q. So your opinion, at least in part, 175.

is based on what Mr. Marchand told you and what 

this outreach worker told you? 

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. And so you can't say from your own 176.

personal assessment of Mr. Marchand whether, for 

example, substance use disorders have actually 

worsened over the previous three years to your 

letter?  

A. I find that question particularly 

difficult to answer because, in general, in 

medicine we're not accompanying people through 

their entire life and observing every moment and 

everything that happens to them.  

We take a history and we -- and when I 

take a history first of someone, I ask about their 

substance use and I ask specific questions about 

their use over time, and, from that, that is often 

how we can determine whether someone's substance 

use disorder has gotten worse or gotten better.

And so I do think that there is 

credibility to an assessment done at a point in 

time when a history is obtained from a patient and 

from other people that know the person. 

Q. But in this context, in a legal 177.
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proceeding where you're speaking to your 

observations, I mean you could have just spoken to 

what you observed over the seven months that you 

treated him, right? 

A. I could have -- that is not -- so 

the practice of psychiatry is not -- it's not only 

what I observe when I see a person.  It's based on 

their entire life, really, but, in particular, 

around specific disorders and symptoms of those 

disorders, and we obtain a longitudinal history as 

part of our diagnostic process, and also in terms 

of our -- when we follow folks, we revisit those 

symptoms and their severity to evaluate whether 

things have gotten better or worse over time.  

So I think it important to include the 

fullness of the history as it -- to obtain even in 

a legal proceeding because it does inform my 

opinion of a person at a point in time. 

Q. But that history, the longitudinal 178.

history, to use your term, it's not included in 

this letter.  You've provided your summary of it 

and your opinion that it deteriorated over three 

years, but we don't actually have that history that 

you base it on; correct? 

A. Do you mean in terms of, like, 
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detailing specific symptoms and the amount of 

substance use at one point versus another point 

versus another point?  Is that what you mean?  

Q. Well, I don't actually know what 179.

I'm referring to because I don't have it.  You 

reference a longitudinal history --

A. Right.

Q. -- an explanation for why you felt 180.

confident to give your opinion with respect to 

three years when you've been treating this patient 

for seven months.  So -- but we don't have it; 

correct? 

A. You don't have a copy of his 

clinical records, no, you don't.  But I did include 

information there that I obtained from Mr. Marchand 

and Tess, the outreach worker, in the years 

preceding my involvement with him, and that is 

detailed in the letter. 

Q. With respect to your opinion about 181.

the causative effect of encampment evictions, 

again, you haven't mentioned any other potential 

causes, conditions or factors that may have 

contributed to Mr. Marchand's condition; correct? 

A. I call it a major contributor.  I 

didn't call it a cause.  So I didn't feel a need to 
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-- I didn't say the encampment evictions were the 

sole cause of his deterioration.  I described them 

as a major contributor.  So in that way, I wasn't 

identifying all major contributors.  I was 

identifying a specific contributor for the purposes 

of the letter. 

Q. So there could have been other 182.

major contributors, to use your terminology, to 

Mr. Marchand's condition? 

A. There are always different 

elements contributing to someone's mental health 

and substance use disorder.  They're never one sole 

contributor.  

Part of my job is to ascertain what the 

predisposing, precipitating and perpetuating 

factors are to someone's mental health and 

substance use disorder and always there are several 

things happening, though I think that in this case, 

as I have mentioned, encampment evictions were a 

major component for Mr. Marchand. 

Q. But with respect to Mr. Marchand 183.

in particular, were there other major contributors 

not identified in this report?  

A. I mean, not that I have personal 

knowledge of.  I would say in general -- actually, 
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I'm just going to leave it there.  I'm just going 

to leave it there, yeah. 

Q. So you haven't indicated in this 184.

letter whether you considered other potential major 

contributors; correct?  

A. I did not include them in the 

letter, no. 

Q. And again, here you'd agree that 185.

if the information that was relayed to you either 

by Mr. Marchand, the caseworker or other sources, 

if that information's correct [sic], that could 

change your opinion; correct? 

A. It's possible, yes. 

Q. So let's go to Exhibit C, which is 186.

a letter dated December 21, 2023 concerning Shawn 

Arnold.  I note here in the second paragraph of 

this letter you just go right into describing Mr. 

Arnold's diagnosis and don't describe your history 

with him.  Do I take it you haven't actually 

treated Mr. Arnold?  

A. I met Mr. Arnold for a 

consultation on one occasion, and he did not follow 

up after that with me. 

Q. And was the consultation for the 187.

purpose of generating this letter? 
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A. No, it was actually because there 

was concern for Mr. Arnold's well-being from other 

outreach workers. 

Q. And when was the consultation 188.

relative to your writing of this letter? 

A. I don't -- when I did write the 

letter shortly after consultation and I was 

informed they were someone that was part of this 

application, then I generated a letter quite 

quickly.  

So I don't have the date on the top of 

my head that I assessed him, but it would have been 

within a few weeks of providing the letter. 

Q. Would it have been before, or 189.

after writing this letter? 

A. Absolutely before.  I didn't write 

a letter unless I assessed a patient. 

Q. And in paragraph 2 where you 190.

describe Mr. Arnold has a diagnosis of opioid 

disorder severe, again, you don't say who diagnosed 

him.  I take it someone else did?

A. I mean, that was very much noted 

throughout Mr. Arnold's medical record, and, again, 

in my assessment of him, his presentation was 

consistent with that of a severe opioid use 
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disorder. 

Q. So let me just back up.  So when 191.

you saw Mr. Arnold, recognizing that you don't 

quite remember the date sometime before this letter 

was written, you saw him because someone had 

expressed a concern about his condition needing 

treatment -- 

A. Yes. 

Q. And so you didn't see him again 192.

before writing this letter; correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Okay.  And your assessment of him, 193.

was that for -- to diagnose him of opioid use 

disorder or something related to his opioid use 

disorder? 

A. I mean, with many people with 

substance use disorder, there's a question about 

whether or not there's a comorbid mental health 

condition in addition to the substance use disorder 

which was the purpose of my initial assessment. 

Q. And what was the thing that was 194.

comorbid with his substance use disorder that you 

assessed him for? 

A. Well, there was a question that 

there was something, and I was not able to 
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ascertain an additional disorder for Mr. Arnold.  

So I did not include an additional diagnosis. 

Q. So when you say in the second 195.

sentence of the second paragraph that Mr. Arnold 

has been living outside since January 2023, what's 

your source for that information? 

A. That is Mr. Arnold, as well as he 

sees the Shelter Health Network fairly frequently 

and their notes indicate where he is when they see 

him.  So it was a combination of a report from 

Mr. Arnold and corroboration with his Shelter 

Health Network records. 

Q. And you don't know if any of that 196.

time was in a tent; correct? 

A. The timing since January 2023?  

Q. Well, when you say Mr. Arnold has 197.

been living outside since January 2023, yeah, 

whether he had been in a tent for any of that time? 

A. Well, he reported to me when I saw 

him that he was in a tent.  I don't know how often 

that he was in and out of a tent, but he was in a 

tent when I saw him, I believe. 

Q. And I take it, then, you also 198.

don't have any knowledge of whether he stayed in 

shelter for any periods of time, correct, indoor 
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shelter? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. In the third paragraph of your 199.

letter you state that Mr. Arnold shared with you 

that:  

"He first achieved some 

stability while allowed to remain in 

an encampment at JC Beemer which 

allowed him to access nearby 

supports and, ultimately, find 

housing approximately two and a half 

years ago." 

Again, this was reported to you -- 

sorry, was it reported directly by Mr. Arnold, or 

was this contained in the records?  

A. It was reported to me by 

Mr. Arnold, and it was consistent with what was in 

his Shelter Health Network chart. 

Q. And I take it you don't have 200.

firsthand knowledge of the circumstances of his 

obtaining housing; correct? 

A. I don't, no. 

Q. And to your knowledge, was he 201.

housed, or unhoused when he saw you? 

A. He was unhoused when he saw me, to 
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my knowledge.  He was in a tent. 

Q. As is indicated in the following 202.

paragraph where you say he's staying outside in a 

tent now.  So again, what was the source for that? 

A. That was Mr. Arnold's report, and 

he also presented as someone who was staying in a 

tent, meaning that he appeared to have -- like to 

smell of campfire and to be a bit disheveled. 

Q. And not to belabour the point too 203.

much, but in that sentence, you know, you're 

referring in the third person.  This is what 

Mr. Arnold is either telling you or the people who 

are writing the records that you've reviewed? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. And just with respect to his 204.

connection to supports, in the second sentence you 

state that Mr. Arnold is connected with another 

person there who is also living outside, that he 

trusts to watch over his things from time to time.  

But then in the last sentence you state:

"He's concerned about eviction 

and about leaving his possessions to 

access services and, thus, misses 

many commitments and appointments 

which has been having a deleterious 
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impact on his ability to stay 

connected with supports."

So like those two things seem not to 

line up.  He has someone who watches his things, 

but he's nevertheless concerned about leaving his 

possessions to access services and thus doesn't.   

            Is it fair to say that you're not able 

to speak to what extent his concern about leaving 

his possessions affects his ability to stay 

connected with supports?  

A. When I met with Mr. Arnold, he 

found it very difficult to leave and was quite 

anxious to get back even though this other person 

was looking after his possessions, and it -- I 

mean, I don't know that this person was always 

available whenever Mr. Arnold had a particular 

appointment to then watch over his things.  I can't 

speak to that specifically, but I would be 

surprised if there were someone else available 

whenever he needed to watch his things. 

Q. And if we go to the second last 205.

paragraph of your letter, again, you state it's 

your opinion that:

"The threat of encampment 

eviction at present is a major 
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contributor to Mr. Arnold's 

difficulty in connecting with needed 

supports, including a housing worker 

and medical substance use care, 

thereby increasing his risk of 

serious health harms including 

unintentional overdose." 

So with respect to -- let's break that 

down because there's a few things in that sentence.  

So talking first about unintentional overdose, you 

know, in fairness to you, Dr. Lamont, you're not 

actually treating him.  So you can't actually say 

that he's at risk of overdose; correct?  

A. No, I did a comprehensive 

assessment of Mr. Arnold.  In review of his 

records, he has a severe opioid use disorder.  He 

had numerous overdoses.  He had two that required 

paramedics and emergency department care.  So -- 

and he has ongoing opioid use disorder.  So he's 

very much at high risk of unintentional overdose. 

Q. Are you aware that in Mr. Arnold's 206.

cross-examination, he gave evidence that he has not 

had escalating opioid use and that he disagreed 

that he had had numerous unintentional overdoses?  

A. I mean, I can't speak to what 
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Mr. Arnold said during his cross-examination.  I 

can only speak to what he reported to me and what I 

found in his medical record.  

I found that he had, in fact, had 

unintentional overdoses and was brought to hospital 

for those.

Q. Again, the details of those are 207.

not reproduced anywhere in your letter; correct? 

A. I summarized it by -- but I did 

not include the specific details of his overdoses, 

no.  

Q. Well, when you say "summarize", I 208.

mean you say -- at the very bottom of the first 

page, you refer to numerous unintentional 

overdoses, but we don't have indication about when 

those happened, the circumstances of how they 

happened, what treatment he was provided, none of 

that; correct?  

A. It's not in the letter, that's 

correct. 

Q. And then when you say in the last 209.

sentence of that paragraph "Allowing him to remain 

in place was a major contributor to his finding in 

being housed two and a half years ago", that's not 

something that you can say from your firsthand 
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knowledge; correct?  

A. It's not from my firsthand 

knowledge in terms of knowing him at the time, but 

it is what he reported and what I have observed to 

be a consistent pattern in my practice and which 

was outlined in his Shelter Health Network chart as 

well. 

Q. In that chart that we don't have? 210.

A. Correct. 

Q. Now, with respect to, again, your 211.

comment about the threat of encampment eviction 

being a major contributor to Mr. Arnold's 

difficulty in connecting with needed supports 

thereby increasing his risk of serious self harms, 

just to put a finer point on it, you don't know if 

those actual harms have come to pass; correct? 

A. I don't know if they've come to 

pass, but the increased risk was absolutely there. 

Q. Now, you're talking about the 212.

threat of encampment eviction.  This letter is 

dated December 21st, 2023.  At the time you're 

writing this, the encampment protocol in the City 

of Hamilton had been in place for about four 

months, you'd agree? 

A. I don't recall when the encampment 
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protocol was put into place, but Mr. Arnold 

reported to me the day that I saw him that City 

workers had been repeatedly coming and telling him 

that he had to move.  So he was quite afraid that 

his tent was going to be torn down. 

Q. And did he say anything about any 213.

steps that he would have taken to prevent his tent 

being torn down such as packing it up and moving it 

and engaging with people on a more suitable place 

to place his tent? 

A. He didn't speak to that, but he 

did have someone, a friend watching his things to 

protect them if someone did try and come and tear 

it down. 

Q. But again, Dr. Lamont, because 214.

you're giving the opinion here that the threat of 

encampment eviction was a contributor to Mr. 

Arnold's difficulty and thus his risks, I want to 

narrow down this supposed threat of encampment 

evictions where there was a protocol that I put to 

you allowed encampments in parks in the City of 

Hamilton provided that they met the specified 

criteria; correct?

A. Again, I don't recall when the 

protocol was put in place.  I'll have to trust that 
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you're offering the correct date and that that 

could have been in place, yes. 

Q. So if that was the case, then, you 215.

know, that threat is something that could be 

mitigated, I'll put to you; correct? 

A. Again, I don't know exactly where 

his tent was.  I don't know what it was and wasn't 

in violation of.  I don't feel comfortable or 

confident to comment on that. 

Q. And again, with respect to your 216.

opinion about the major contributor that the threat 

of encampment evictions presented, again, you don't 

indicate any other causes that you would have 

considered as being a major contributor to 

Mr. Arnold's risks or conditions; correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And if the information that was  217.

relayed to you was incorrect or your understanding 

was incorrect, that could change your opinion; 

correct? 

A. It's possible. 

Q. So let's go to Exhibit D to your 218.

affidavit, which is a letter dated April 9, 2024 

concerning Corey Monahan.  And again in this 

letter, you don't describe your history with Mr. 
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Monahan.  So may we conclude that you have not been 

in a treating relationship with Mr. Monahan prior 

to writing this letter?

A. I did meet Mr. Monahan on one 

occasion to conduct a diagnostic assessment. 

Q. And when was that occasion that 219.

you conducted the diagnostic assessment? 

A. Again, I don't have the date in 

front of me, but it would have been in close 

proximity to this letter and before this letter was 

provided. 

Q. Was it for purposes of creating 220.

this letter? 

A. The -- for Mr. Monahan, I was 

connected with him to provide an assessment and to 

see if I could ascertain whether there were any 

impact on encampment evictions on his health. 

MS. SHORES:  Off record.  

-- OFF THE RECORD DISCUSSION -- 

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. So Dr. Lamont, at the second 221.

paragraph you describe again Mr. Monahan's 

diagnoses, and given what you've just told us about 

assessing him shortly before generating this 

letter, may I take it that these diagnoses were 
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made by someone else? 

A. The majority of -- sorry, yes, the 

diagnoses already existed in his medical record.  

But in my assessment on Mr. Monahan, his 

presentation was consistent with those diagnoses. 

Q. And those diagnoses would have 222.

been made sometime before you wrote your letter in 

April of 2024? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you don't know when? 223.

A. It would have been, again, within 

a short number of weeks prior to writing the 

letter, but I don't have a specific date off the 

top of my head, no.  

Q. The third paragraph starts with:  224.

"Mr. Monahan shared his story 

with me prior to my involvement in 

his care."

And then you go on to describe events 

taking place in 2020 going into 2021.  I just want 

to put a finer point on it.  Is this something that 

Mr. Monahan reported to you, or is this something 

that would have been based on the medical records?  

A. The majority is that which was 

reported to me by Mr. Monahan, and then I went and 

121



11/14/2024 07:12:54 AM Page 77 to 80 of 144 20 of 36 sheets 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Nimigan Mihailovich Reporting Inc. - 905-522-1653

77

cross-referenced any clinical records that could 

offer more specific dates or timelines if they were 

available. 

Q. And so it's not indicated in that 225.

paragraph what is reported to you by Mr. Monahan 

versus what you were able to locate in the medical 

records; correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And in any event, you were not 226.

treating him at the time, and so you would have not 

have any firsthand knowledge of the events that are 

described in that third paragraph; correct? 

A. That's correct, yep. 

Q. So in the fifth sentence of 227.

paragraph 3 you state that:  

"Mr. Monahan has since 

experienced numerous encampment 

evictions, firstly when his camp in 

Gage Park was 'bulldozed' as per his 

description in winter 2020."

And then you go on to describe other 

events.  But again, you don't have firsthand 

knowledge of those encampment evictions; correct?  

A. That's correct. 

Q. And you don't have knowledge of 228.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Nimigan Mihailovich Reporting Inc. - 905-522-1653

78

how those so-called evictions transpired; correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And with respect to his camp in 229.

Gage Park being "bulldozed", as you've described, 

you don't know what was involved in that so-called 

bulldozing; correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Are you aware Mr. Monahan gave 230.

evidence in his cross-examination that he wasn't 

even present for that so-called bulldozing? 

A. I'm not aware of what he gave in 

his evidence.  So no. 

Q. So again, you don't know if the 231.

details that are reported in this third paragraph 

are accurate; correct? 

A. I mean, I'm just re-reading that 

because I don't know that it even says that he 

suggested he was present when the camp was 

bulldozed.  He doesn't suggest that he was present. 

Q. But you do go on to state that he 232.

was traumatized by that experience because he lost 

all of his possessions and then felt extremely 

desperate because he had nowhere to go?  

A. Right.  So he might not have 

witnessed the bulldozing, but he might have gone 
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back to see that all of his stuff was gone, which 

is quite traumatic for many individuals. 

Q. You said he might have.  So again, 233.

you're engaging in conjecture based on what you 

were told; correct? 

A. Well, he told me that he had lost 

all his stuff and had nowhere to go, and I don't 

have any reason to doubt that that is true. 

Q. But bulldozed is used in quotes.  234.

So why is that in quotes? 

A. Because those were his words and I 

-- as I indicated there by his description. 

Q. So again, if we go back to what 235.

you told us earlier in your cross-examination about 

corroboration, those are not details that you had 

corroborated; correct? 

A. No, but I'm quite clear there, I 

think, that the -- I put the word bulldozed in 

quotes and indicated that it was by his 

description.  So I think it's clear there that that 

was my source of information. 

Q. And in the last sentence -- or I'm 236.

sorry, the last paragraph of page 2 continuing on 

to -- I'm sorry, I misspoke.  The last sentence of 

the last paragraph on page 1 continuing on to 
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page 2, you describe that:  

"Mr. Monahan has had at least 

four intentional -- unintentional 

overdoses since 2020 and reported to 

having none prior to this time, 

which coincides with an escalation 

in substance use following 

encampment evictions."

Again, if that's starting in 2020, you 

wouldn't have been treating him at the time of 

those overdoses; correct? 

A. That's correct.  

Q. What was the source for indicating 237.

that he had at least four unintentional overdoses 

since 2020? 

A. That was contained in his medical 

record. 

Q. And with respect to the escalation 238.

in substance use following encampment evictions, 

again, that's based on your understanding from his 

report of when and how those evictions -- so-called 

evictions happened; correct? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. And in terms of gauging his 239.

substance use, again, you weren't treating him at 
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the time.  So you can't say based on your 

assessment of Mr. Monahan that his substance use in 

fact escalated during that timeframe; correct? 

A. It's simply based on the history 

provided by Mr. Monahan in terms of the worsening 

of substance use and -- which I mention coincided 

with an increase in unintentional overdoses which 

is consistent with worsening substance use. 

Q. Are you aware that when Mr. 240.

Monahan was cross-examined he gave evidence that 

his most recent overdose was four years ago? 

A. I'm not aware that he gave that 

evidence.  When I reviewed his medical record, 

there were overdoses more recent than that. 

Q. But I thought you said that this 241.

was based on what Mr. Monahan reported to you? 

A. And his medical record. 

Q. Which again we don't have? 242.

A. You're right, you don't have his 

medical record, that's correct. 

Q. Are you aware that Mr. Monahan 243.

also gave evidence on his cross-examination that 

his drug use has actually decreased?  

A. I'm not aware of what evidence he 

gave in his cross-examination.  So no, I was not 
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aware of that. 

Q. If Mr. Monahan's report that his 244.

drug use has decreased is accurate, would that 

alter your opinion? 

A. I would need to understand some of 

the contextual variables, and I would also want to 

have a conversation with Mr. Monahan that was not 

in front of legal counsel and other individuals 

where he felt more comfortable. 

Q. Well, do you have any information 245.

that Mr. Monahan was unable to tell the truth when 

he gave his evidence on cross-examination?

A. No, I do not.  Just in general, I 

know people can feel quite intimidated and ashamed 

about their substance use especially in formal 

settings. 

Q. In the second to last paragraph of 246.

your letter, you state that it's your opinion that:  

"Repeated encampment evictions 

have been a major contributor to the 

profound deterioration in 

Mr. Monahan's mood, as well as 

worsening impulse control 

difficulties, substance use 

disorders, and resultant overdoses."
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So again, these repeated encampment 

evictions, we're talking about a timeframe during 

which you haven't treated Mr. Monahan; correct?  

A. That's correct, yep. 

Q. And you don't say here that you 247.

considered any other causes for the deterioration 

in his mood, worsening impulse control, worsening 

substance use disorders or resultant overdoses; 

correct?  

A. I don't include that there, that's 

correct. 

Q. And you go on in the second 248.

sentence of this paragraph to state:  

"This is due to the profound 

stress caused by the constant threat 

of encampment eviction, the impact 

of eviction itself, including loss 

of beloved possessions, and the 

state of absolute desperation that 

encampment evictions have plummeted 

Mr. Monahan into."  

Again, Dr. Lamont, what is that based 

on?  

A. It's based on the information 

provided to me by Mr. Monahan and his clinical 
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records. 

Q. And if the information that this 249.

is based on is incorrect, that would change your 

opinion; correct?

A. It's possible, yes. 

Q. Now, again, just to orient us to a 250.

point in time, this letter is written April 9, 

2024.  You're referring to repeated encampment 

evictions and, again, I'll put it to you, Dr. 

Lamont, that at that point in time, the encampment 

protocol in the City of Hamilton had been in place 

since August of 2023.  So for several months at 

that point in time; correct? 

A. Again, trusting that those dates 

are accurate, yes. 

Q. So you wouldn't be able to say the 251.

extent to which at this point in time, in April 

of 2024, he was facing a threat of encampment 

evictions; correct? 

A. I cannot speak to that in that 

specific moment, though I would say most people 

remain afraid that their tents are going to be torn 

down even with the protocol in place because of 

what has happened over the years and the lack of 

trust in the City. 
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Q. Do you have any knowledge that 252.

anyone's tent was actually torn down by the City of 

Hamilton, firsthand knowledge? 

A. Like did I watch the tent be torn 

down, do you mean?  

Q. Yes.  Do you have firsthand 253.

knowledge of anyone's tent actually being torn down 

in the manner that you describe? 

A. I have not witnessed that 

personally, no. 

Q. We can go to Exhibit E of your 254.

June 7, 2024 affidavit.  This is an October 5, 2023 

letter regarding Ammy Lewis, and at paragraph 2 you 

describe that you've been Ms. Lewis' treating 

psychiatrist since October of 2021.  

Would you have seen -- or I'm sorry.  

Did you see her through Shelter Health Network or 

HAMSMaRT, or some other form? 

A. I saw her through HAMSMaRT. 

Q. And approximately how many times 255.

would you have seen Ms. Lewis for treatment before 

writing this letter? 

A. I saw Ms. Lewis very frequently.  

The letter is from 2023.  I'd known her for almost 

two years.  So I would say, like, more than 40 
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times, at least. 

Q. And when you say that you confirm 256.

that she has diagnoses of post-traumatic stress 

disorder, borderline personality disorder, 

generalized anxiety disorder, depression and opioid 

and stimulant use disorder severe, did you give 

those diagnoses, or were those previous diagnoses? 

A. I did give her the diagnosis of 

post-traumatic stress disorder and generalized 

anxiety disorder.  She has previously been 

diagnosed with the substance use disorder, as well 

as depression and borderline personality disorder. 

Q. And when did you diagnose her with 257.

post-traumatic stress disorder and generalized 

anxiety disorder?

A. After my initial assessment of 

Ms. Lewis in October of 2021. 

Q. And what was the basis for those 258.

diagnoses? 

A. How I diagnose those in 

individuals?  It's based on the history provided by 

the person.  A psychiatric diagnostic assessment 

includes very specific screening questions related 

to specific disorders, and then very targeted 

questions about symptom clusters within those 
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disorders to then ascertain a diagnosis.

So I completed a diagnostic assessment 

of Ms. Lewis and diagnosed her with those 

conditions, and that has remained consistent in 

terms of the way she continues to present as having 

those diagnoses.  

Q. What were the factors that led you 259.

to give those diagnoses? 

A. Review of her medical records, 

report by Ms. Lewis in terms of her symptoms over 

years.  I also spoke to Ms. Lewis' mother for 

corroborating information, and Dr. O'Shea had been 

her treating physician as well who provided some 

corroborating information. 

Q. And with respect to the 260.

post-traumatic stress disorder specifically, was 

that related to a singular event? 

A. She has numerous traumatic events 

in her life which I don't think -- I think it's 

beyond the scope of this to disclose her personal 

trauma, but it predated -- much of it was in her 

childhood and adolescence, and she's had yeah, many 

unthinkable traumas in her life that have 

contributed to that diagnosis. 

Q. Dr. Lamont, your hesitance to 261.
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disclose Ms. Lewis' trauma is perhaps 

understandable, but I do need to put it to you that 

she is seeking damages in this litigation and 

you're providing a medical report about her medical 

condition.  So her pre-existing conditions, you 

would agree with me, would be informative to her 

present conditions; correct?  

A. I don't disagree that her 

pre-existing conditions are informative, but I 

don't know that it's relevant to the case to know 

which specific traumas she endured in her 

childhood.  

In fact, I think that's unnecessarily 

intrusive.  Knowing the diagnosis and that she had 

predisposing trauma, I think, would be enough 

information.

Q. Well, Dr. Lamont, I put it to you 262.

that it's for the judge hearing this case to decide 

what is relevant.  But in any event, we don't have 

the information here so we can only take your word 

for it.  

You state in the third paragraph of 

your letter Ms. Lewis had been recently -- sorry, 

second sentence of the third paragraph that:  

"Ms. Lewis had been recently 
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released from a Federal penitentiary 

and had returned to Hamilton in late 

2020."

So at that point in time, you hadn't 

treated her; correct?  

A. That's correct.  She had sought 

care from Dr. O'Shea. 

Q. And you go on to describe that:  263.

"She was briefly housed after 

her release, though reports having 

suffered sexual assault from her 

landlord and she left that 

residence."

You didn't treat her for that sexual 

assault; correct?  

A. No, I don't provide -- I mean, I 

provide maybe some mental health support around 

sexual assaults, but I also don't treat people for 

sexual assault. 

Q. So again, that is based on a 264.

secondhand report that you're describing her having 

sustained that sexual assault? 

A. She reported it to me directly and 

had very much symptoms in keeping with someone who 

experienced a sexual assault. 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Nimigan Mihailovich Reporting Inc. - 905-522-1653

90

Q. After it happened, right, because 265.

she wasn't a patient of yours at the time it 

happened? 

A. She was a patient of mine very 

shortly afterward.  Dr. O'Shea referred her to me 

very shortly after that. 

Q. You go on to describe again in the 266.

third paragraph that Ms. Lewis was evicted by the 

City from a tent in November 2021.  Just pausing 

there, again, you don't have any firsthand 

knowledge of that so-called eviction; correct?  

A. I did not witness her being 

evicted from the tent, but I did see her very 

shortly thereafter in crisis because her tent had 

been torn down and her belongings thrown out. 

Q. And again, she's telling you that 267.

her tent was torn down and her belongings were 

thrown out?  That's what she reported to you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You don't actually know if that's 268.

what happened or if something else occurred? 

A. Again, I was not witness to it, 

but that was a very common experience for many 

people living in tents at that time.  So I had no 

reason to and still have no reason to doubt that 
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that is what happened. 

Q. Well, Dr. Lamont, you say it's a 269.

very common experience, but we've talked about 

several of your patients now, and to every single 

one you've indicated that you haven't actually 

witnessed any of these evictions or anyone's tents 

being torn down in the manner that you describe.

So I'll put it to you that it's 

actually a very common thing that's reported to 

you, but you don't know if that's a common 

experience? 

A. It was a very common thing 

reported to me and I have no reason to doubt it.  

Just in the same way that I have no reason to doubt 

if a woman tells me she was sexually assaulted, I 

didn't have to witness the assault to be quite 

convinced that it happened as she described. 

Q. Continuing on with that sentence, 270.

you state that the so-called eviction led Ms. Lewis 

to have to return to an abusive living situation.  

You don't say whether other options for living 

arrangements were discussed with her, do you? 

A. So Ms. Lewis, as noted, she was 

with her dog, which significantly limited her 

option.  We certainly explored other options with 
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her, and I have personally called shelters for Ms. 

Lewis on numerous occasions and other -- and 

explored other options and, at that time, there was 

no option.

There were no foster options for her 

dog.  She was not willing to separate from her dog 

at that time.  She wasn't able to because her dog 

was such an important part of her well-being.  

And so in my working with her and I 

knew her at -- in that moment in time, she 

definitely felt her only option other than sleeping 

outside without a tent was to return to that 

situation. 

Q. You also refer in this third 271.

paragraph about two thirds of the way down that Ms. 

Lewis suffered chronic, severe suicidal ideation 

and go on to describe other symptoms, but the 

suicidal ideation, again, is something I want to 

hone in on.  

Again, you don't describe referring her 

to inpatient treatment.  So again, we've asked a 

similar question with respect to one of your other 

patients.  Can we conclude that there were other 

supports short of emergency inpatient treatment 

that you felt were sufficient to address the 
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suicidal ideation? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. For someone who's experiencing 272.

homelessness, though, wouldn't inpatient treatment 

be helpful for them in terms of providing them, at 

least temporarily, with a roof over their heads and 

potentially connecting them to greater supports? 

A. Having worked in the psychiatric 

emergency department at St. Joe's, if there's any 

whisper that this person is seeking respite from 

being unhoused for the purpose of admission, that 

person will not be admitted.  

The hospital does not admit individuals 

primarily for the purposes of providing shelter.  

They will not admit people, and if I in the 

community conducted a risk assessment and did not 

feel she met criteria for hospitalization, I can 

guarantee you in the hospital they would not have. 

Q. And so the criteria for 273.

hospitalization would be -- can we deduce that 

other supports are insufficient to address the 

suicidal ideation that's being presented? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Similarly with Ms. Lewis to the 274.

other patients that you've written about, you state 
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in the second last paragraph that it's your opinion 

that:  

"Encampment evictions and the 

threat thereof repeated threat have 

been major contributors to the 

ongoing instability in Ms. Lewis' 

mental health and worsening of her 

substance use disorders from 2021 to 

2022."  [As read]

Again, you don't mention any other 

possible major contributors to Ms. Lewis' mental 

health or her condition in 2021 and 2022; correct?  

A. That's correct.  I don't mention 

them. 

Q. Are you aware that Ms. Lewis 275.

described being the subject of repeated assaults 

and threats by her associates of her former 

landlord when she was cross-examined in this 

proceeding? 

A. I'm not aware of that, no. 

Q. And so you don't mention that as a 276.

potential cause of her mental health challenges; 

correct?

A. I don't mention that as part of 

it, no. 
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Q. Are you aware that Ms. Lewis is 277.

currently housed or at least at the time of her 

cross-examination she reported being housed? 

A. Yes, she is.  She has been since 

February 2023. 

Q. You'd agree that she's been doing 278.

better since she became housed? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, returning again to your 279.

opinion, you'd agree again that if the information 

relayed to you is incorrect, then that would change 

your opinion? 

A. It would, but I know Ms. Lewis 

extremely well and have been following her very 

closely for a long time.  So I'd be very surprised 

if there were other information. 

Q. Just taking a look at the clock, 280.

Dr. Lamont, I've got three more letters to ask you 

questions about.  

MS. SHORES:  It's just after 3:00.  

Let's go off record for a moment.

--- Recess commenced at 3:11 p.m.  

--- Upon resuming at 3:16 p.m.  

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. Okay.  So Dr. Lamont, I'll next 281.
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ask you about Exhibit F to your June 7, 2024 

affidavit, which is your February 22, 2024 letter 

regarding Sherri Ogden.  

Again in this letter, you don't 

describe your treating history with Ms. Ogden.  And 

so may I take it that you hadn't treated her prior 

in a treating relationship prior to generating this 

letter? 

A. That is correct.  I did do an 

assessment of Ms. Ogden prior to generating the 

letter, however.  

Q. And in the second paragraph you 282.

state -- or sorry, third sentence you state that:

"She has diagnoses of complex 

post-traumatic stress disorder, 

major depressive disorder, attention 

deficit hyperactivity disorder, 

opioid use disorder and stimulant 

use disorder."

And then you go on to describe that:  

"She's been on medication for 

depression for many years prescribed 

by her family physician."

So you don't indicate who diagnosed her 

with the conditions that you list.  I take it was 
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somebody other than yourself?  

A. The diagnoses pre-dated my 

assessment, and my assessment was consistent with 

those diagnoses. 

Q. And you don't say when she was 283.

diagnosed with any of these conditions.  Do I take 

it you don't know? 

A. I wouldn't be able to give a 

specific date, no.  They are contained throughout 

her medical record, however. 

Q. And when we talk about her medical 284.

record, you had described for us previously the -- 

in general the sort of medical records, but I think 

this is the first of your patients who you've 

described as also having a family physician.  Were 

you provided with her family physician's records to 

review? 

A. I unfortunately was not, but I did 

have her Shelter Health Network chart which was 

also quite fulsome. 

Q. And do you know the timeframe that 285.

the Shelter Health Network chart spanned back to? 

A. I can't give you a specific date, 

but I do recall it being over the course of years. 

Q. And so just with respect to the 286.
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conditions listed in the second paragraph, given 

that you saw Ms. Ogden for an assessment, it's fair 

to say you weren't treating her for any of those 

disorders; correct? 

A. That is correct.  I certainly 

offered her follow-up to be treated for those 

conditions, but she did not follow up. 

Q. In the third paragraph of your 287.

letter you state:  

"Ms. Ogden has been 

experiencing homelessness in the 

Hamilton area for over five years."

What is your source for that?  

A. Ms. Ogden reported that to me.  I 

also spoke with some Good Shepherd outreach 

workers, which were in the vicinity of where Ms. 

Ogden often stayed.  

Not all of them had known her for that 

timeframe, but they did note that she had been 

chronically homeless, and there was -- again, it 

was like a community member that had taken 

compassion toward Ms. Ogden and had been working 

closely with her for at least a couple of years.  

Her name was Anne, this woman, and she 

also indicated to me that Ms. Ogden had been 
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homeless for quite some time, and that was also 

consistent with the Shelter Health Network's 

charts. 

Q. So with respect to this third 288.

paragraph here, would that have been based on what 

either Ms. Ogden told you, what the shelter worker 

told you or what was contained in those Shelter 

Health Network reports? 

A. Yeah, just to be clear, it wasn't 

a shelter worker.  It was an outreach worker for 

Good Shepherd, and then also just a community 

member named Anne.  She wasn't affiliated with any 

particular organization, but was someone that had 

just taken an interest in helping Sherri. 

Q. Now, you do indicate in this 289.

report -- again, we're in the third paragraph -- 

that:

"Because of the chaotic nature 

of her daily life [referring again 

to Ms. Ogden], she has difficulty 

recalling specific dates and 

locations of where she has stayed 

outside." 

So would it be correct to take from 

this that her difficulty with recall is greater 
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than what you would ordinarily see in patients?  

A. It depends which type of patient 

you're referring to. 

Q. Well, I guess I'll say the 290.

ordinary limits of human memory.  

A. She certainly has more significant 

memory difficulties, yes. 

Q. And so did that inform your 291.

history taking with Ms. Ogden? 

A. It did.  She had such difficulty, 

I did not include many of the specific details that 

she seemed much less sure of or that I could not 

corroborate. 

Q. Okay.  And so when you say you 292.

didn't include things that you couldn't 

corroborate, what, if anything, in paragraph 3 of 

your letter was corroborated? 

A. The impact of the forced 

displacement in 2023, and then -- I'm just 

re-reading now.  And then what was observed by this 

community member named Anne in terms of the 

worsening of Ms. Ogden's mood and trauma symptoms 

as well as substance use over time. 

Q. So let's talk about the forced 293.

displacement.  In the third paragraph, again you 
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state:

"She has, however, repeatedly 

experienced forced displacement from 

encampment on numerous occasions 

including being forced to move from 

behind City Hall in 2023."

How did you corroborate that?  

A. This woman named Anne knew Sherri 

at the time and saw her after that forced 

displacement.  I know -- I do recall there being a 

significant displacement of individuals from behind 

City Hall.  So that also corroborated my recall of 

events around that time. 

Q. When you say "forced 294.

displacement", what do you mean? 

A. People were forced to move from 

behind City Hall. 

Q. But what do you mean by "forced"? 295.

A. Well, again, I wasn't there, but 

from what I recall, notices were put on tents for a 

period of time, and then there was a level of 

enforcement by individuals who came and required 

people to move.  I cannot recall if it was by-law 

officers or if there was police presence or both.  

I'm not sure. 
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Q. When you say "a level of 296.

enforcement", again, what are you describing? 

A. Individuals with authority who are 

employed by the City.  I don't know.  Again, I 

wasn't there.  So I can't be more specific than 

that, but I do know that people were told that they 

had to move, that they had no other option.  If 

they didn't move by a certain point, their things 

would be thrown out. 

Q. So that's what you're describing 297.

when you say "forced displacement"? 

A. Yes. 

Q. When you say "Most of her 298.

belongings were thrown out under the City's 

direction", again, that's not something that you 

have firsthand knowledge of; correct? 

A. That's what she reported to me, 

and, again, it was consistent with what many other 

people had reported to me around that time that 

they had experienced. 

Q. In the second to last sentence of 299.

that paragraph you state that:  

"Ms. Ogden used to find safety 

and comfort living in a tent amongst 

others in the community."
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Again, I take it this is based on what 

she reported to you?  

A. It is, yes. 

Q. But again, you'd agree that there 300.

are still risks to a person such as -- and 

particularly a woman such as Ms. Ogden -- staying 

outside in a tent; correct? 

A. I would say that there are risks 

to any human being who is unhoused.  However, I 

think that for Ms. Ogden, and for many individuals 

who are staying in a tent, there is at least 

protection from the elements and there can be other 

individuals they trust in the tent with them.  

There's some barrier towards the 

outside world, and so people do feel a sense of 

safety in a tent that they don't feel otherwise. 

Q. In the last sentence -- or the 301.

last part of the sentence of this paragraph you 

state:  

"Each time she begins to build 

connections, she is forced to move 

and has difficulty re-engaging with 

supports because they have 

difficulty locating her."

Again, what is the source for that 
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statement?  

A. That was, again, Ms. Ogden's 

report, as well as the community member named Anne 

supporting Ms. Ogden. 

Q. But Ms. Ogden in particular, at 302.

least, seems to be able to engage with her family 

physician; correct? 

A. It does not seem that that's 

reliable, a reliable connection.  When I 

interviewed Ms. Ogden, I think that it's largely in 

the form or prescription renewals. 

Q. But again, you haven't reviewed 303.

the family physician's records.  So you can't say 

for certain?  

A. I don't have their records, no. 

Q. In the last paragraph on the first 304.

page of your letter about Ms. Ogden you state:

"Because she is forced to sleep 

outside, Ms. Ogden gets very little 

sleep and uses large amounts of 

stimulants to try to stay awake to 

protect both herself and her 

belongings."

Again, this is based on what she 

reported to you?  
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A. It is based on what she reported 

to me, as well as the observations of the outreach 

workers from Good Shepherd and the community member 

named Anne who knows her. 

Q. But with respect to her stimulant 305.

use in particular, you haven't assessed her for 

stimulant use when she's been outside versus not 

being outside; correct?

A. I have not observed her during 

those times, but I would say that it is extremely 

common for individuals living outside completely 

unsheltered to use stimulants to stay awake so that 

they don't lose their belongings.  

It's not even necessarily -- even if 

they have a stimulant use disorder, their use tends 

to increase because they simply want to stay awake.  

So they have to use essentially continuously in 

order to do so; not even to get high, but simply to 

stay alert so they can protect themselves and their 

belongings. 

Q. There's no indication here that 306.

you suggested or coordinated any treatment for the 

stimulant use? 

A. I did certainly offer.  And in 

fact when I was there, applications were being put 
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together for residential treatment for Ms. Ogden by 

this community member, but I don't -- when I did 

follow up shortly afterwards, it sounds like she 

unfortunately wasn't able to attend residential 

treatment, but there's been a lot of effort to try 

and offer Ms. Ogden support including from myself. 

Q. In the second to last paragraph 307.

you state that it is your opinion that:  

"Encampment evictions and the 

repeated threat thereof have been 

major contributors to the ongoing 

instability in Ms. Ogden's mental 

health and worsening of her 

substance use disorders." 

Again, this opinion is based on the 

information that was relayed to you; correct?  

A. That is correct, information 

relayed to me and the review of her medical record. 

Q. And again, you haven't identified 308.

any other potential major contributors to her 

condition; correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And more particularly, you haven't 309.

indicated here whether any of those have been -- 

whether any possible other major contributors have 
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been considered as linked to her current condition? 

A. They're not mentioned in the 

letter, that's correct. 

Q. And you'd agree that if the 310.

information relayed to you is incorrect, that could 

change your opinion? 

A. It's possible, yes. 

Q. Again, just with respect to the 311.

threat of encampment evictions, this is a letter 

dated February 22, 2024.  So you're not able to 

state to which -- you know, at this point in time 

the threat of encampment evictions was a feature 

for Ms. Ogden given the encampment protocol in 

August of 2023?  

A. Right.  I can't in relation to the 

protocol.  Though again, as I said before, there's 

a general fear amongst individuals that has been 

shared with me that they don't necessarily trust 

that they will be able to stay where it says 

they're able to stay even if that's what the City 

said.  

So there's still a feeling of threat.  

Like if someone is traumatized by something, there 

can be an ongoing feeling of threat.  That's one of 

the core symptoms of PTSD, is an ongoing feeling of 
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threat even if the threat is no longer there. 

Q. But you don't mention that as 312.

specifically being a contributing factor to 

Ms. Ogden's PTSD and, in fact, you were not the 

physician who diagnosed her with the PTSD; correct?

A. That was a pre-existing diagnosis.  

But again, when I assess individuals, I did a 

diagnostic assessment, and her assessment was 

consistent with that of PTSD. 

Q. I'll take you next to Exhibit G to 313.

your June 7, 2024 affidavit.  This is a letter 

dated May 11, 2023 with respect to Jammy Pierre.

You state at the second paragraph of 

this letter that you've known Ms. Pierre since fall 

of 2021.  Just pausing there, did you know her in a 

doctor-patient setting, or some other way?  

A. So my initial interactions with 

Ms. Pierre were actually as -- she was a peer 

worker with Keeping Six.  And so I interacted with 

her in clinic in that way, though she also sought 

medical care from HAMSMaRT physicians, and both Ms. 

Pierre and other physicians suggested that she meet 

with me for mental health support.  She had not 

done so until a month or two preceding my 

generation of this letter. 
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Q. So to be clear, she would have 314.

seen in you in a doctor-patient setting 

approximately a month before this letter was 

written.  So sometime around roughly April of 2023? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. Approximately how many times would 315.

you have seen her in a doctor-patient setting 

before writing this letter? 

A. I only saw her one time in the 

doctor-patient setting before writing this letter. 

Q. And was that for an assessment for 316.

purposes of generating this letter? 

A. It was not.  For Ms. Pierre, it 

was a diagnostic assessment for the purposes of any 

other diagnostic assessment for initiating 

treatment for Ms. Pierre. 

Q. In the second sentence when you 317.

state "And can confirm that she has diagnoses of 

post-traumatic stress disorder, generalized anxiety 

disorder, depression and opioid and stimulant use 

disorders (severe)", those would have been 

diagnoses made by someone else? 

A. She did have a number of 

pre-existing diagnoses, but, again, I did my own 

diagnostic assessment and confirmed those 
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diagnoses. 

Q. And you can't say when she was 318.

first diagnosed with any of those conditions?  

A. I cannot, no. 

Q. In the third paragraph of your 319.

letter you state:

"Ms. Pierre has shared her 

story with me prior to my 

involvement with her."

So again, may I take it that everything 

in that third paragraph references her report to 

you of events that transpired before you started 

treating her?  

A. That is correct. 

Q. And so you don't have any 320.

firsthand knowledge of any of these events 

described in that paragraph; correct?  

A. That is correct. 

Q. In the second last sentence of the 321.

third paragraph you describe Ms. Pierre 

experiencing:  

"...her tent being taken down 

and thrown out as part of a City-led 

encampment eviction while she was 

away at a store.  She had left her 
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dog in the tent and her dog was gone 

when she returned."

Again, that event in particular you 

don't have firsthand knowledge of; correct?

A. No, I do not. 

Q. Okay.  Are you aware that 322.

Ms. Pierre when she was cross-examined confirmed 

that she was actually, in fact, out walking her dog 

at the time that her tent was taken down and that 

her dog had not been left in the tent? 

A. Counsel did inform me that she had 

reported something that was not consistent with 

what she had reported to me when I generated this 

letter. 

Q. Okay.  And so is it possible that 323.

what has -- what's written in your letter is 

incorrect, or are you saying that Ms. Pierre told 

you something different? 

A. She told me something different.  

I cannot verify which version -- in terms of what 

-- the location of the dog during the eviction, I 

cannot comment one way or the other because I don't 

know. 

Q. You don't know what happened? 324.

A. That's right. 
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Q. In the fourth paragraph of your 325.

letter concerning Ms. Pierre you describe that:

"Individuals suffering from 

complex mental health conditions and 

substance use disorders, in 

particular individuals who have 

suffered repeated traumatic events, 

commonly experience a marked decline 

in their mental health and substance 

use following repeated traumatic 

events." 

So that sentence you're describing your 

medical opinion with respect to what happens 

generally in that population?  

A. I would say I'm describing a 

pattern that I commonly observe. 

Q. And you state that -- you go on to 326.

state in that fourth paragraph that:

"Ms. Pierre describes the 

repeated forced movement of her 

belongings, and particularly the 

loss of her dog, is highly 

traumatic.  Following this, she 

suffered worsening PTSD symptoms, 

depressive symptoms and anxiety 
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disorder symptoms."

Again, what is your source for your 

statement that she suffered these worsening 

symptoms?  

A. Ms. Pierre's report of symptoms as 

well as corroborating information from other people 

working for HAMSMaRT and other physicians involved 

in her care. 

Q. And again, with respect to this 327.

so-called repeated forced movement of her 

belongings, Ms. Pierre's belongings, you don't have 

any firsthand knowledge of what happened in those 

circumstances? 

A. I was not present, no. 

Q. Okay.  And those aren't things 328.

that you've been able to corroborate? 

A. No. 

Q. In the last sentence of the fourth 329.

paragraph you describe that Ms. Pierre:  

"...subsequently suffered 

multiple overdoses from the toxic 

street drug supply, which include an 

ICU admission in August 2020 as well 

as ER visit in November 2020."

Again, you wouldn't have treated her 
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for those; correct?

A. No, that's correct.  That was 

based upon review of her medical record. 

Q. And are you aware that Ms. Pierre 330.

when she was cross-examined gave evidence that 

those were unintentional overdoses? 

A. I'm not aware, but that is -- that 

was my understanding, that they were unintentional. 

Q. And specifically -- and again, 331.

this was Ms. Pierre's evidence -- that not only did 

she not intend to overdose, but she didn't intend 

to consume the substance that eventually caused her 

to overdose; is that correct? 

A. Again, I wasn't there when she was 

cross-examined.  So I don't know what information 

she provided to you, but I was able to ascertain 

from her medical record that she had had opioid 

overdoses on those dates as outlined in the letter. 

Q. Okay.  So you can't say based on 332.

your firsthand knowledge what the causes of those 

overdoses were? 

A. Well, it was opioid toxicity.  

That was in the -- that was determined by the 

physicians that were treating her at the hospital, 

and that was the -- in her medical record from the 
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report. 

Q. But with respect to what caused 333.

Ms. Pierre to overdose, you're not able to state to 

those causes? 

A. Are you referring to 

intentionality of substance use or intent to harm 

herself?  Is that what you're referring to?  

Q. Well, you state here the worsening 334.

of her mental health conditions drove increased 

substance use, and then you state in the next 

sentence she subsequently suffered multiple 

overdoses.  

So there's an implication here, 

although in fairness to you it's not explicitly 

stated in your letter, that she had a worsening 

mental health condition and that drove increased 

substance use and that's implied that it led to the 

overdoses, but you can't specifically say that; 

correct?

A. I can simply say what I said 

there, which is that there was an increase in 

substance use and, following that, there were a 

series of overdoses. 

Q. In the last full sentence of the 335.

first page you describe that Ms. Pierre:  
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"...is thus living rough and 

forced to stay awake for prolonged 

periods to protect her personal 

safety."

Are you aware that Ms. Pierre is 

housed?  

A. I am, yes.  She's now in Dorothy 

Day. 

Q. And according to Ms. Pierre, she 336.

became housed on June 1st, 2023? 

A. That sounds accurate, yes. 

Q. So that would have been within a 337.

few weeks after writing this letter which is dated 

May 11, 2023? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So you'd agree that as soon as a 338.

few weeks after you wrote this letter, it was no 

longer accurate to the extent that Ms. Pierre was 

reported to be living rough; correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. In the second to last paragraph of 339.

this letter you state that it's your opinion that:  

"...repeated encampment 

evictions have been a major 

contributor to the profound 
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deterioration in Ms. Pierre's mental 

health and worsening of her 

substance use disorders over the 

past four years."

But again, Dr. Lamont, you haven't 

actually treated Ms. Pierre over the past four 

years; correct?  

A. I have not treated her, no, but 

other physicians had in the organizations that I 

worked for, and she also was present in the 

physical space that I worked in and I was able -- I 

witnessed as someone who worked in the same space 

that deterioration. 

Q. And again, here you don't mention 340.

in giving your opinion any other potential 

contributors to her condition that may have been 

considered or may have been contributory, do you?  

A. No, I do not.

Q. And in any event, your opinion is 341.

informed, at least in part, on the secondhand 

information relayed to you about Ms. Pierre's 

experiences and these so-called evictions; correct? 

A. Yes, I mean in terms of 

psychiatric diagnoses and assessment, it is always 

based on the patient's report and any other 
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collateral sources of information.  There is no 

blood test or other way of, you know, confirmatory 

testing that's done.  So I wanted to highlight 

that, I guess. 

Q. But even if we're talking about 342.

the evictions, again, you've described in your 

letter one eviction in 2019 where you were of the 

understanding that Ms. Pierre had left her dog in 

her tent and her dog was gone when she returned.  

Ms. Pierre's now told us that that's not actually 

what happened.  

So you'd agree that if the evictions 

didn't transpire in the way that you understood, 

that may change your opinion; correct? 

A. I think the piece about the dog, I 

think, is secondary to the eviction itself.  We 

know that many people were evicted from 

encampments.  This happened repeatedly.  

I watched a very clear pattern emerge 

amongst individuals I was seeing that people 

experienced enormous distress and some crisis when 

their belongings were thrown out and their tents 

were thrown out.  

So I don't have any reason to doubt.  

Just as anyone who's been through a trauma, I don't 
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have reason to doubt that the trauma occurred in 

the way that they described. 

Q. Well, Dr. Lamont, you just said 343.

"we know" with respect to encampment evictions, but 

you told us earlier, I think quite clearly, that 

you haven't actually witnessed any of these 

encampment evictions, and so you can't say whether 

they've gone down in the way it was reported to 

you; correct? 

A. I can't say with certainty, but I 

have no reason to doubt what people are describing 

to me. 

Q. But again, that's different than 344.

knowing?  That's being told; correct? 

A. Well, I'm trying to recall what I 

had just said.  I don't know that I said we know 

that encampment evictions occurred exactly in the 

way that people described.  I didn't say that 

specifically.  I said we know that people were 

evicted from encampments.  We know that that 

happened.

Q. All right.  Well, so what are you 345.

describing when you say evictions?  You're talking 

about people's tents being torn down and their 

things being thrown out.  Is it your evidence that 
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every time an eviction happens someone's tent is 

torn down and their things are thrown out? 

A. Not every time because, again, I 

don't know.  Like I'm not there to describe exactly 

what happens, but I know that that is -- that has 

been described repeatedly and I've -- I don't want 

to say anything that isn't -- I'm not confident of.  

So I can't say I've -- I know I've seen 

videos of evictions happening, but I'm not 

confident that they were based out of Hamilton.  So 

I can't say -- I can't speak to that specifically. 

Q. I mean, is it possible that what 346.

is -- that an event that you would describe as an 

eviction is simply a by-law officer telling people 

that they're not allowed to be where they are and 

they have to move along? 

A. It's possible.  I think that 

happens sometimes, but I also -- anyway, I'll stop. 

Q. And again, with respect to your 347.

opinion about Ms. Pierre, if the information that 

was relayed to you or the assumptions that your 

opinion is based on turned out to be incorrect, 

that would change your opinion, could it not?  

A. It's possible that it could, yes. 

Q. And Ms. Pierre in particular, 348.
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would you agree that she has been doing better 

since she became housed? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I'll take you last to Exhibit H of 349.

your June 7, 2024 affidavit, which is a letter 

dated January 30, 2024 with respect to Linsley 

Greaves.  

Again, in your letter about Mr. 

Greaves, you don't state your history with him.  So 

can I take it that you haven't been in a treating 

doctor-patient relationship with him prior to 

writing this letter? 

A. That's correct.  I did complete an 

assessment of Mr. Greaves while he was hospitalized 

at the Hamilton General prior to generating this 

letter.  

Q. In the second sentence of your -- 350.

sorry, second sentence of the second paragraph of 

your letter you state that:  

"Mr. Greaves has diagnoses of 

stimulant use disorder as well as 

stimulant induced psychosis."

These are pre-existing diagnoses? 

A. They are.  And again, diagnoses 

that were confirmed during my assessment. 
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Q. And you don't know who diagnosed 351.

him with these -- who first diagnosed Mr. Greaves 

with these conditions? 

A. I don't know who first made the 

diagnoses, no, but they were both longstanding. 

Q. And so I take it from your 352.

previous answer that you don't know when those 

diagnoses were first made? 

A. No. 

Q. At the second paragraph, you go on 353.

to describe events in Mr. Greaves' life from 2021 

to about 2022, and although you don't say how they 

were reported to you, I take it just given what 

you've told us about your assessment of Mr. Greaves 

and the timing thereof, that the third paragraph is 

all based on what was reported to you secondhand? 

A. It was all based on what was 

reported to me by Mr. Greaves, yes. 

Q. And with respect to Mr. Greaves' 354.

below-knee amputation, in the last sentence in the 

third paragraph you state -- well, actually, this 

won't make sense unless we read the sentence before 

that.  So you state:  

"Mr. Greaves was subsequently 

forced to sleep outside without any 
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protection from the elements in 

early 2022 and suffered frostbite of 

his lower limbs as a result.  This 

went unattended for many months, and 

he ultimately became very ill and 

required a below-knee amputation of 

his left leg and amputation of 

several toes on his right foot in 

December of 2022." 

So again, just with respect to the 

amputation, what is your source for that 

information?  

A. That was upon review of his 

medical record and the information contained 

therein, both in HAMSMaRT medical record as well as 

his hospital records. 

Q. And when you describe that 355.

Mr. Greaves was forced to sleep outside without any 

protection from the elements in early 2022, what 

was your source for that information? 

A. Mr. Greaves mentioned that to me, 

and that was also consistent with what was in his 

medical record. 

Q. And when you say that was 356.

consistent with what was in his medical record, 
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what do you specifically mean there?

A. I believe -- and again, I just 

reviewed a bunch of records in preparation for 

this, but I want to make sure that I'm providing 

you with accurate -- an accurate recall.

I know that in his HAMSMaRT record, 

certainly in the medical record there was 

indication that he had been outside, and that as a 

result of being exposed to the elements he suffered 

frostbite. 

Q. All right.  But specifically 357.

saying "forced to sleep outside", you don't have 

any indication of whether shelter was offered to or 

available to him?  You just are aware that the 

records say he was outside; correct?

A. Sorry, I didn't realize what you 

were referring to there.  In terms of the forced to 

sleep outside piece, that would have been based 

upon Mr. Greaves' report to me, that he felt that 

was his only option at the time. 

Q. With respect to his frostbite 358.

going unattended for many months, are you aware 

that Mr. Greaves reports that he was seen by a Dr. 

Wiwcharuk -- for the record, W-I-W-C-H-A-R-U-K -- 

in June of 2022 for his frostbite? 
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A. I don't recall that. 

Q. Are you aware of any -- receiving 359.

any treatment at that point in time? 

A. I'm not aware of that, no. 

Q. You haven't examined him.  So you 360.

can't say if his leg or toes could have been saved 

if he had prompt treatment; correct?

A. That would be far beyond the scope 

of my knowledge to even offer any sort of comment 

on. 

Q. You're a psychiatrist.  So you 361.

wouldn't be treating frostbite? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. In the fourth paragraph of your 362.

letter concerning Mr. Greaves you state that:  

"Mr. Greaves identifies that 

his stimulant use also escalated 

after the encampment eviction at 

Woodlands in early 2022 because he 

needed to force himself to stay 

awake for prolonged periods while 

living outside unprotected from the 

elements and without the community 

that he had developed at Woodlands."

Again, this is based on what he 
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reported to you?  

A. That's correct. 

Q. And not to belabour the point, but 363.

just with respect to that specific encampment 

eviction at Woodlands in early 2022, you don't have 

any firsthand knowledge of what transpired with 

that so-called eviction; correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And with respect to his reported 364.

stimulant use escalating, again, that's not 

something that you observed in a doctor-patient 

treating relationship because you hadn't been 

treating him at the time; correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. In the third last paragraph of 365.

your letter you describe that:  

"Mr. Greaves described a number 

of other encampment evictions he had 

faced both near Wesley Centre as 

well as on Ferguson Street near the 

train station, though he was less 

sure of the timelines of these 

evictions."  

Again, this sentence would be based on 

Mr. Greaves reporting to you; correct?
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A. That's correct.

Q. Okay.  And so you don't have any 366.

knowledge of these so-called evictions or what 

would have happened when they took place; correct?  

A. That's correct. 

Q. Now, you describe in the second 367.

last sentence -- or I'm sorry, second last 

paragraph of your letter that it's your opinion 

that:  

"...repeated encampment 

evictions and, in particular, the 

encampment eviction in early 2022 

from Woodlands Park and subsequent 

experience of frostbite leading to 

tissue death and amputation have 

been a major contributor to the 

ongoing instability in Mr. Greaves' 

substance use disorder and symptoms 

of psychosis, as well as ongoing 

immense psychological and emotional 

suffering secondary to limb loss and 

resultant isolation from family."

There's a lot there so I just want to 

break that down a bit.  So again, you're giving 

your opinion about the repeated -- so-called 
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repeated encampment evictions and the encampment 

eviction in 2022, but, again, you're not aware of 

the -- firsthand of the particular circumstances of 

those evictions; correct?  

A. That's correct. 

Q. And when we talk about the 368.

frostbite, as you had said previously, that's not 

something within your area of expertise because 

you're a psychiatrist and not a physician who would 

treat something like frostbite; correct?

A. That's correct, which is why I 

just included what was in his medical record and 

didn't offer my own opinion on the matter. 

Q. Okay.  So you're not speaking to 369.

the cause of the frostbite or the tissue death or 

amputation?  That's not your diagnosis?  That's 

just you repeating what was in the medical record 

that you consulted? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. Okay.  And the medical record 370.

isn't appended to your report? 

A. No. 

Q. And when you describe the 371.

instability in Mr. Greaves' substance use disorder, 

symptoms of psychosis and his suffering -- although 
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let me break that down a little bit because 

otherwise it will be a tricky question for you to 

answer.  So strike that.  

With respect to Mr. Greaves' 

instability with his substance use disorder and 

symptoms of psychosis, again, you're describing the 

encampment evictions being a major contributor to 

those.  Again, you're not -- you haven't indicated 

in this letter here whether you've considered any 

other major contributors to those conditions; 

correct? 

A. I haven't indicated that in the 

letter, no, you're correct. 

Q. And with respect to the 372.

psychological and emotional suffering secondary to 

his limb loss and resultant isolation, again, are 

you saying that the limb loss is related to the 

encampment evictions? 

A. Well, limb loss is related to 

frostbite from being exposed to the elements, which 

seemed to be proximally related to him being 

evicted from the encampments. 

Q. Okay.  But when I asked you at the 373.

beginning of this examination about whether people 

could get frostbite in encampments, you know, you 
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said -- and I'm paraphrasing here.  This isn't 

verbatim, but that wasn't something that you were 

able to speak to.  So is that something that you're 

now giving an opinion on? 

A. Based upon I'm pulling together 

what was in his medical record and putting it in a 

timeline and that he is suffering immensely because 

of limb loss which happened when he was sleeping 

outside. 

Q. But again, speaking to whether or 374.

not if he had been in a tent, you can't say whether 

or not he would have still suffered the frostbite 

if he had been in a tent? 

A. I think -- yeah, I'm offering 

opinion here, and I don't know that that's what's 

being asked of me.  So I don't know that I should 

answer. 

Q. Well, I'm not asking for opinion.  375.

I'm just asking for the scope of what you're saying 

here.  You can't say whether or not Mr. Greaves 

would have still suffered frostbite if he had been 

in a tent on that occasion; correct?

A. I think from my understanding of 

what happened from Mr. Greaves, he was outside 

completely exposed to the elements, and when he was 
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in a tent, he had the shelter of the tent as well 

as blankets and sleeping bags.  So it will be much 

less likely to have suffered frostbite when he had 

some protection. 

Q. And you also can't say whether or 376.

not -- or sorry, you can't speak to the 

circumstances that led Mr. Greaves to, as he 

reports, not being covered by blankets or other 

protections from the elements? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. When you say in the last sentence 377.

of the second last paragraph "This has been 

exacerbated by the ongoing lack of available, 

suitable shelter spaces or permanent housing 

options", again, you haven't yourself investigated 

shelter space availability for Mr. Greaves; 

correct?

A. I had not, but it was clear that 

others had, and, in fact, he was in hospital in 

part still because they hadn't been able to secure 

a shelter bed for him. 

Q. Are you aware that Mr. Greaves has 378.

given evidence that he didn't even try to obtain 

shelter at certain points? 

A. I'm not aware of evidence he 
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provided, no. 

Q. And again, if the information that 379.

was relayed to you that forms the basis of your 

opinion turns out to be inaccurate, you'd agree 

that may alter your opinion; correct? 

A. It's possible, yes.

Q. And with respect to this specific 380.

point, if there were shelter spaces available for 

Mr. Greaves, you'd agree that that would not be an 

exacerbating factor; correct?

A. Well, my answer to that would be 

it depends because there are some individuals who 

for very valid reasons are not comfortable staying 

in shelter either.  So even if there's a shelter 

bed available, it does not mean that it's -- that 

that person will access it. 

Q. But you'd agree, Dr. Lamont, if 381.

someone is facing a survival threat by being 

outside and they just might not feel comfortable in 

shelter, surely you'd agree that it's preferable 

for them to be inside in shelter in that 

circumstance, no? 

A. I mean, on the outside looking at 

the situation, I would say that that seems the 

common sense approach.  However, I would say there 
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are individuals who have such complicated histories 

and such significant trauma, many people have 

experienced traumatic events in shelters, and a 

common response to a traumatic event is to avoid 

anything, a profound avoidance to avoid anything 

that could cause that trauma experience to be 

triggered.  

So many people will avoid shelter for 

that reason, but I don't know if that's the case 

for Mr. Greaves.  I didn't speak to that 

specifically with him, but I would say that is a 

common experience. 

MS. SHORES:  Just go off record for a 

brief moment. 

-- OFF THE RECORD DISCUSSION -- 

BY MS. SHORES:

Q. So Dr. Lamont, you've with each of 382.

these patients given an opinion with respect to the 

contributory effective encampment evictions on 

their condition, and we've also discussed that you 

don't actually have firsthand knowledge of what 

happens with these so-called encampment evictions.  

So again, I'd like to put a finer point on that.  

If these encampment evictions are not 

happening in the way that is reporting to you, 
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you'd agree that that may change your opinion with 

respect to these patients; correct? 

A. Well, I guess my answer to that 

would be it depends.  I liken it to if someone 

lives in an apartment and they receive an eviction 

notice, for some people they can deal with it.  

Other people find it extremely upsetting and 

traumatic likely related to predisposing conditions 

for them.  

So regardless of how violent an 

eviction was from an encampment, whether or not it 

was simply a by-law officer saying you have to move 

or whether someone's items were throw out, I think 

in either case that experience can be quite 

traumatic for someone, and if someone's told to 

move by an official, that is experienced by many as 

an enforced eviction, the same as receiving an 

eviction notice in an apartment would. 

Q. Dr. Lamont, you've understood my 383.

questions today? 

A. Yes.  

Q. Do you wish to change any of your 384.

answers? 

A. No, I don't think so.  Thank you. 

Q. Okay.  Those are my questions, and 385.
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thank you again for giving us your time today.  

A. Thank you. 

RE-EXAMINATION BY MS. CROWE:  

Q. Thank you, Dr. Lamont.  I only 386.

have a few questions.  We're almost done.  

So with respect to Ms. Heegsma, you 

indicated that you received some information about 

her accessing drop-in services through Keeping Six.  

What is Keeping Six?  

A. Keeping Six is a harm reduction 

group based out of Hamilton made up of individuals 

with [indiscernible] living experience of substance 

use and people that care about them. 

Q. And how did you have knowledge of 387.

her attendance at these drop-in spaces? 

A. The drop-in spaces are co-located 

with the HAMSMaRT clinic. 

Q. Okay.  Thank you.  With respect to 388.

Ms. Heegsma's report, so you mentioned that you had 

talked to -- so your report is based on 

Ms. Heegsma's report and some records, but then you 

also mention that you had spoken to Dr O'Shea and 

you mentioned a couple other sources.

So I just wanted to clarify.  Do you 

remember exactly what information sources you 
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consulted in preparing your report for Ms. Heegsma? 

A. I know that for Ms. Heegsma I 

consulted her medical record with Shelter Health 

Network, with HAMSMaRT, Dr. O'Shea spoke with me 

directly, and, again, I don't recall which peers at 

Keeping Six, but there were peers at Keeping Six as 

well. 

Q. Thank you.  And when you were 389.

talking about Mr. Marchand, you mentioned an 

outreach worker with the AIDS Network named Tess.  

What is the relationship between the AIDS Network 

and HAMSMaRT or the AIDS Network and the Shelter 

Health Network? 

A. I'm not aware of any direct 

relationship, but, at the time, the AIDS Network 

lent space to HAMSMaRT to have their clinics.  And 

so Tess, who was an outreach worker with the AIDS 

Network, had an office directly across the hall 

from the clinic room I was using. 

Q. Okay.  Thank you.  With respect to 390.

Mr. Arnold, you indicated that his presentation was 

consistent with severe opioid use disorder.  What 

did you mean? 

A. His history of reported amounts of 

the use of opioids, the significant consequences he 
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faced as a result of use of opioids, ongoing use 

despite cravings -- sorry, despite consequences, 

intense cravings, experiences of withdrawal when he 

doesn't use and escalating tolerance. 

Q. Thank you.  And then you said 391.

something similar with respect to Mr. Monahan.  You 

said that his presentation was consistent with a 

diagnosis, and those diagnosis were ADHD, fetal 

alcohol syndrome, opioid and stimulant use 

disorders severe.  

So what did you mean by his 

presentation being consistent with those diagnosis? 

A. So in my assessment of 

Mr. Monahan, again, reviewed -- I reviewed both -- 

I reviewed those substances in detail with him and 

he met criteria for both of those disorders with 

severe severity because of the number of symptoms 

similar to what I just described in the previous 

individual.  

So ongoing use despite many 

consequences, development of tolerance, experience 

of withdrawal, all of which come together to make 

the diagnosis of severe stimulant use disorders.  

Did you want me to go through as well his ADHD and 

fetal alcohol?  
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Q. Yes, please.  392.

A. So Mr. Monahan actually was able 

to recall being diagnosed with both of those 

conditions in childhood.  He reported being put on 

stimulant medications in childhood, what are 

consistent with the diagnosis of ADHD.  

He continued to display significant 

symptoms of inattention, executive dysfunction, 

very poor impulse control and significant 

concentration and comprehension deficits.  

A lot of those symptoms co-occur with 

the fetal alcohol syndrome diagnosis.  So again, 

the high impulse control, learning deficits, 

cognitive deficits, which he displayed during the 

assessment, and provided the history -- 

developmental history that was consistent with 

those diagnoses. 

Q. Thank you.  And then I just want 393.

to bring your attention to a portion of your report 

for Mr. Monahan.  So I'm going to screen share.  

So this is the third last paragraph -- 

sorry, third paragraph down on the first page, and 

it is the third last sentence.  So Mr. Shores had 

asked you about some evictions that you reference 

in 2020 and 2021, and then there's a sentence that 
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begins with:  

"Most recently, he was moved by 

City workers from the opening of 

Cootes Paradise."

So first to clarify, is this after 

2021?  

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you have any knowledge of the 394.

timeframe surrounding that more recent eviction you 

were referencing? 

A. I don't, unfortunately, no. 

Q. Okay.  And then with respect to 395.

Ms. Lewis, you indicated that you had personally 

called shelters on her behalf.  Why were you 

calling shelters? 

A. Yes, to see if they had any 

suggestions, essentially, for anyone with a small 

dog, if there were ever any exceptions if it was an 

emotional support animal, and they said no. 

Q. Do you remember the timeframe? 396.

A. I mean, from the time -- most of 

the time that Ms. Lewis was outside, which I have 

to look at the affidavit because I'm not great with 

dates, but that was much of 2022 I was calling 

shelters.  
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She was -- I called the YWCA.  They 

would not accept her because her needs were too 

high, and so I -- and Ms. Lewis was unwilling to 

separate from her dog even temporarily, though over 

time built enough trust with me to allow me to try 

and find a foster for the dog as long as I could 

promise her that she would get her dog back.

And then myself and Dr. O'Shea started 

looking for a foster for her in -- I think it was 

May of 2023.  It took seven months to find a foster 

for her dog, and that was with significant advocacy 

on our part to find that -- the foster.  There's so 

little available. 

Q. Thank you.  Do you remember 397.

approximately how many times you were calling 

shelters trying to access space? 

A. I can't give a specific number, 

but dozens and dozens.  Like it was, you know, very 

hard. 

Q. So you mentioned that you called 398.

the YWCA on behalf of Ms. Lewis and were told that 

her needs were too high, and you use that same 

expression when you were describing Ms. Heegsma.  

What is your understanding of that response that 

her needs were too high? 
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A. I believe it's based on -- there's 

an acronym that I always mess up that is VI-SPDAT 

or something like that.  People are given a score 

basically about how homeless they are, essentially, 

is what the score is, and, the higher the score, 

the more difficult it is for someone to find 

housing and their scores were above whatever the 

threshold that the YWCA will accept. 

Q. Thank you.  With respect to 399.

Ms. Pierre, did you have any knowledge of her 

medical diagnosis being PTSD, generalized anxiety 

disorder, depression, opioid and stimulant use 

disorder severe prior to seeing her for a medical 

assessment? 

A. Yes, I did. 

Q. What was your knowledge? 400.

A. I knew that she had severe opioid 

-- that she had some substance use disorders 

primarily.  I don't believe, actually, though, I 

had verification of her mental health diagnoses, 

but, when I assessed her, she reported having been 

given those diagnoses in the past, and then I 

completed my own assessment. 

Q. Thank you.  Okay.  And you 401.

mentioned that you knew that encampment evictions 
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were occurring and had a discussion with Ms. Shores 

where you mentioned in addition to patient reports 

that you may have seen a video.  

Did you have any other sources of 

information with respect to encampment evictions in  

Hamilton? 

A. I mean, there's lots of reporting 

in the news about encampment evictions.  I know 

that there were often, like, advocacy efforts made, 

people standing in front of encampments asking that 

they not be torn down on behalf of those in the 

encampments and those encampments were torn down 

anyway, but those were all news stories that I 

either read or heard about. 

Q. You mentioned that when you saw 402.

Mr. Greaves, that you understood that others had 

investigated shelter spaces for him.  Do you know 

what those others were? 

A. I know that when he was involved 

with Shelter Health -- there's mention of it in the 

chart, but I don't know who called or what the 

circumstances were. 

Q. Okay.  So Ms. Shores asked you 403.

repeatedly about the reliability of patient reports 

as the basis for an assessment and diagnosis.  So I 
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want to ask you what is hopefully a simple 

question.  How do you assess if a patient report is 

reliable? 

A. Yeah, I mean there's multiple ways 

to think about that.  To assess if a patient report 

is a reliable one, it is does the information hang 

together that they're describing in a way that is 

coherent and makes sense.  

It also depends on whether that 

information is consistent with collateral or 

corroborating information, either from other 

individuals that know the person or their medical 

record, and, further, it is whether or not what the 

person is saying is in keeping with what I would 

expect to see based on my clinical experience in 

terms of similar presentation, similar patterns of 

symptoms or triggers for symptom exacerbation.  

Q. Thank you, Dr. Lamont.  Those are 404.

my questions.  

-- Whereupon the proceedings adjourned at 4:12 p.m.
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                REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

                I, LORRAINE FEDOSOFF, Chartered 

Shorthand Court Reporter, certify;

                That the foregoing proceedings were 

taken before me at the time and place therein set 

forth, at which time the witness was put under oath 

by me;

                That the testimony of the witness 

and all objections made at the time of the 

examination were recorded stenographically by me 

and were thereafter transcribed;

                That the foregoing is a true and 

correct transcript of my shorthand notes so taken.  

Commissioner of Oath effective to May 1, 2025.  

            Dated this 16th day of October 2024

            

            Lorraine Fedosoff

            ___________________________________

            PER: LORRAINE FEDOSOFF, CSR (Ontario)
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BETWEEN 

ONTARIO 

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

Court File No. 
CV-21-00077187-0000 

ASHLEY POFF, DARRIN MARCHAND, GORD SMYTH, MARIO MUSCATO & 

SHAWN ARNOLD 

-and-

CITY OF HAMIL TON 

AFFIDAVIT OF OLIVIA MANCINI 
(affirmed October 4, 2021) 

I, Olivia Mancini of the City of Hamilton, in the Province of Ontario AFFIRM AND SAY:

Applicants 

Respondent 

1. I have personal knowledge with respect to the facts set out below about the emergency shelter

system. Where information is not based on my personal knowledge, it is based upon information

provided by other professionals, which I believe to be credible and true.

2. I worked at the Salvation Army Booth Centre (an emergency shelter for men) for six years as a

case manager. In this role I supported men experiencing homelessness with reaching their housing

goals, as well as other goals related, but not limited to substance use, mental health, financial

assistance, legal concerns, etc.

3. I also worked at Carol Anne's Place (an overnight drop in space for women) as an Addiction

Attendant. ln this role I supported women experiencing homelessness with getting into detox or

shelter (if that was their goal) and monitored women experiencing withdrawal symptoms.

1 
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4. f am a volunteer with Keeping Six - a community-based organization, founded in 2018 at the height 

of the opioid crisis to defend the rights, dignity and humanity of people who use drugs. I write this 

affidavit on behalf of Keeping Six. 

5. l obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Psychology with a minor in Sociology in 20 14 from Brock 

University, followed by a Concurrent Disorders Diploma from Mohawk College in 2015. I recently 

completed a Bachelor of Social Work in 2020 from McMaster University, and I am currently a 

Master of Social Work Critical Leadership Candidate at McMaster University. 

Carol Anne's Place 

6. Carol Anne's Place is not a shelter, it is an overflow drop in space, and has a capacity for I 5 women, 

but typically see upwards of 25 women a night. During every shift we would call around to the 

women's shelters and they are always at capacity. It is more challenging to find shelter space for a 

single woman without children in her care as most shelters are for women with children fleeing 

domestic violence. Most women accessing Carol Anne's place are service restricted from the 

women's shelters due to complex mental health and substance use. 

7. The women's shelters have a "do not admit list." For example, one woman has not been allowed to 

access shelter since 2018 for being removed by police once. There are significantly less shelter 

beds for women in the city compared to men's shelter. Women's clothing, cellphone, and other 

belongings were often stolen during the night. Carol's Anne's place is considered the «tast stop" 

for women in the city as there is nowhere else to go if they cannot access Carol Anne's place. 

Benefits of Carol Anne's place is that it is low barrier and will only service restrict women for 24-

48 hours maximum. Tl1ey also provide harm reduction supplies, but they encourage women to not 

nse on the property. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Bed Capacity 

8. This has a capacity for 82 men, and 10 emergency overflow spaces. When the first lockdown took 

place, capacity went down to approximately 50 beds. There are dorm style beds that accommodates 

l l-3 men per dorm with a half wall built between them. There are two double rooms split by a 

divider and approximately 40 s ingle rooms. The dorm beds are for everyone, and single rooms are 

reserved for clients who pose the least amount of risk first. ff there are concerns with substance use 
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and possible overdose, clients will be placed into a dorm room. If none are available, client will be 

booked into ideally a double room, if not then a single room with the understanding that they will 

eb moved to a donn bed when available. 

9. When the pandemic hit, all the shelters reduced their bed capacity, and a temporary ad-hoc shelter 

was opened at First Ontario Centre. This did not increase bed capacity, it made up for the decrease 

in beds at the other shelters. Clients were being service restricted for two days for missing curfew 

at First Ontario in the middle of a pandemic. The expectation to return for 1 0pm curfew is difficult 

for people living on the streets that may not have concept oftime, persistent mental health concerns, 

and substance use. During the pandemic Salvation Army had two common rooms available for 

c lients to spend time in during the daytime as other essential services that clients would typically 

use were closed (shopping malls, coffee shops). Two common rooms were not enough for 82 people 

to maintain social distancing, so many people were still left outside during the daytime with 

nowhere to go. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Book in times/curfew 

10. Shelter staff are available to clients 24/7. Clients can book in between the hours of 9am to 4pm 

daily. Curfew is at 10pm and if you are not in your bed then you are discharged, and your bed is 

given to someone else. If clients miss the I 0pm curfew, they can return to book in after midnight 

if a space is available and they can return for their belongings the following day between 6pm­

l 0pm. There are three additional bed checks between the hours of 11 pm-4am. You can miss 1/3 of 

these bed checks and are welcomed back into your bed. lf you miss 2/3 or 3/3 you are welcomed 

back into your bed until 8am, but you are not allowed to have breakfast. You must take your 

belongings and go, and if you need a bed for the following night, you must wait until 6pm. The 

logic is based on a standpoint of"ifyou want a bed, you will be in your bed all night." It does not 

take into consideration substance use and mental health. 

11. The donns are closed evel)' day from 8am-6pm, so there is nowhere to sleep during the daytime. 

This can be particularly challenging for clients who work night shift as they will not be 

accommodated. Also, as an unhoused person you are in crisis and focused on surviving, so it can 

be quite difficult to remember all of the different rules and times. ff the shelter is full, you are not 

allowed to wait for a bed to become available, staff will call the other shelters in the city, and then 

inform client of what is available. (fall shelters are full then you are turned away to the street and 
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provided information on potential places to find food as meals are only for shelter residents. If you 

are service restricted (not allowed to access shelter due to behaviours, such as mental health, 

substance use) from all three men 's shelters, you are turned away to the street, this is a very common 

practice. 

12. The city's narrative that there are shelter beds available for everyone is false . Shelter beds are 

consistently at capacity nightly, and this will continue into the cold winter months. The city's 

narrative that there are no clients who are service restricted shelter wide is also false. I can think of 

several clients who are currently service restricted from all three men's shelters. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Atmosphere 

13. The atmosphere is generally chaotic. The afternoon case managers are required to do many tasks 

outside of the role of case manager. The case managers must cover three breaks for front desk, 

attend one hour dinner to help kitchen staff feel safe with clients, unlock all the dorms (as they are 

locked during the daytime), obtain client belongings from storage after 6pm as requested by cl ients, 

locking the TV room and laundry room, doing hourly rounds throughout the building to ensure 

clients are alive and safe. On top of that there is an expectation to house 20 clients per month with 

an expectation of over lO meaningful engagements with clients, such as helping a client secure 

income, search for housing, call landlords, set up housing views, secure payments for rent, and 

complete housing applications. It is easy to exceed over 10 meaningful engagements a day, but on 

average only 25% of these engagements are about hous ing and the remainder is crisis management. 

Often c lients return to the shelter under the influence of an unknown substance and require 

supervision, clients will engage in altercations, females will present on site and refuse to leave, 

service restricted clients who are not allowed to be in the building will present and refose to leave, 

clients have medical emergencies (mostly overdoses), and mental health crisis (i.e., psychosis -

hearing or seeing things that are not there). 

14. The City of Hamilton still currently pays shelters the same amount per year to run a shelter, but 

since the opioid epidemic began, the demands on staff are far greater and staff are pulled away 

from routine duties regularly. The response from the City is threatening removal of funding if 

housing stats aren't at expectation. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Theft 
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l 5. When new clients present staff make sure they understand that under no circumstance do you leave 

belongings unattended, or they will be stolen. Clients are informed to lock up their belongings in 

the locker provided. Many clients do not bave a lock or money to purchase a lock, in this case we 

encourage clients to keep any valuables in their pockets. Clients fall asleep regularly with their 

phone on their pillow thinking it will be safe, and it will be stolen by morning. This proves difficult 

for those who understand limited English, or seniors, as they tend to fall victim to theft at a higher 

rate. Staff on site cannot review cameras in the moment and by the time management reviews the 

cameras, the belongings are long gone. If the client who stole the belongings can be identified on 

camera, they will be service restricted for a period of time. It is not uncommon for previous c lients 

to sneak into building and search through the donns and steal items. For example, a client who had 

been no trespassed for a year walked into the building and stole a client's laptop out of his single 

room while he was in the washroom. Also, clients are not allowed to bring their bikes into the 

building, but if they lock their bike up outside it will get stolen. Bikes are stolen on a regular basis 

out front of the Salvation Army. Client's belongings are often the only possessions they have, and 

for their belongings to get stolen it can be very upsetting and be a barrier to accessing shelter in the 

future due to fear of theft. For clients who do not return to their shelter bed for the night, their 

belongings are packed and labelled and put into storage. When the client returns for their 

belongings, more often than not clients become upset and state that some of their belongings are 

missing. I have often found c lients missing items because their belongings were not labeled 

properly by housekeeping staff. This was an ongoing issue of mislabelling belongings. Staffs 

response is "we are not responsible for lost or stolen belongings" and there is nothing staff can do 

about the missing items. The shelter also only stores belongings for 48 hours and then the 

belongings are disposed of. Client's medications are also disposed of after 72 hours. This can cause 

a lot of unnecessary issues for clients as they are often unable to get a refill of their medications 

until the next refil1 date. Some clients will opt to keep their medications on them to avoid this issue, 

but then if they are caught with their medications in the shelter, they will be service restricted for a 

period of time. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Safety Concerns 

16. Clients experience safety concerns, verbal threats, and physical violence on a regular basis in the 

shelter. I have personally witnessed a physical altercation where a client's leg was broken. Another 

client was brutally assaulted in the washroom, and as a result l had to attend court with my 
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colleague. There was a 12-person altercation in the parking lot where a belt was used as a weapon. 

One client chased another client with a hammer. One client brutally assaulted someone, to the point 

that he was in a coma and was charged with attempted murder. Staff are also susceptible to safety 

concerns, verbal threats, and physical violence. A client punched the side mirror off my car. 

Another client attempted to get into my vehicle after work and r later found out he was planning to 

murder me by strangulation. A handful of security guards have been physically assaulted by clients. 

A client attempted to punch me in the face, but security was able to intervene. Since the pandemic, 

there has been an increase in violence. For example, a client's face was macheted numerous times 

at Salvation Army and a client was murdered outside of Mission Services. These are just a few 

examples of the violence within the shelter system. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Service Restrictions 

17. Service restriction is the practice of limiting or denying access to emergency shelter for a set period 

of time. Shelter staff may impose service restrictions for using substances, possession of illicit 

drugs or hann reduction supplies, mental health, or violating shelter policies. Service restrictions 

vary in length. A staff member can only service restrict for 24 to 48 hours pending management 

review. Management will then review the service restriction and implement an extension. Service 

restrictions can be from 24 hours to sometimes months and years. Typically, service restrictions 

are extended if it is a repeat behaviour. At times this is inappropriate as clients continue to be 

punished for incidences that may have happened a few years ago that they were already punished 

for, but because it is a repeat behaviour the service restriction gets extended for a longer period of 

time. Service restrictions also depend on the staffs personal values and beliefs, particularly around 

engaging in substance use. For example, a client overdosed in the washroom and was service 

restricted for 6 months. This sends the client a message that they will be punished for using 

substances in the shelter and encourages using substances alone or hiding their substance use due 

to fear of criminalization. Personally, I would rather clients use inside the shelter where there is 

staff to save them than to use in a back alleyway because they were service restricted for overdosing 

in the shelter. Another client attempted suicide by hanging, and he was service restricted for one 

year. The reasoning behind this was he "traumatized" staff. I do not agree with service restrictions 

involving substance use or mental health as people are being punished for having an illness. The 

length of service restrictions is also inconsistent. For example, to demonstrate the inconsistency, 

three c lients were service restricted for smoking in the building - one was for 24 hours, one was 

for l4 days, and one was for 3 months. 
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18. There are no clearly documented policies or procedures for service restrictions in the shelter system 

in Hamilton for a practice that ultimately causes harm and trauma to service users. Many clients 

will end up being service restricted from all three men's shelters for similar behaviours or issues. 

The service restrictions will not be lifted in these situations unless it is a cold alert (-1 6 degrees), 

the she lter with the least severe service restriction would have to take the client, however, there 

have been times where this was not the case. Sometimes when clients are service restricted shelter 

wide, we will refer them to another c ity, but during the pandemic shelters were not accepting c lients 

from other cities, so an additional barrier to accessing shelter was put in place for those who have 

nowhere else to go. 

COVID-19 outbreaks in shelter 

19. When all three men' s shelters were in outbreaks at the same time, there were zero indoor options 

for unhoused men. Numerous people were turned away to the streets. Many clients asked where 

they are supposed to go when all the shelters are in outbreaks, and we had no answer for them. It 

was absolutely gut-wrenching to tum people away to the street with no other options. The city did 

not provide alternative indoor options, despite having a year to prepare for outbreaks within the 

shelter system. Unhoused people were essentially left behind and not included in pandemic 

response plans. [ found myself reaching out to medical professionals in the field to have them 

advocate for clients who had nowhere else to go. Some days we were able to find an indoor option, 

but most day's people were left to sleep on the streets. The hotel programs that were opened were 

only for women and couples. Single men were not allowed to go to the hotel as they were deemed 

"high risk." A few men were able to get into hotels during the outbreaks in a ll the men's shelters, 

but as soon as a shelter was out of outbreak all the men were discharged from hotel to the street. 

Staff did not even secure them beds at the shelters, so when these men attempted to fi nd space, the 

shelter was already at capacity. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre - Substance abuse and the changing landscape with Covid -19 

20. Overdoses within the shelter have rapidly increased. Throughout the pandemic, overdoses have 

been occurring on almost a daily basis. At one point, there was seven overdoses in one day. During 

the outbreak, a temporary safe injection site was implemented at the Salvation Army to encourage 

people to stay indoors and stop the spread of the virus. The safe injection site quickly closed before 
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the outbreak was declared over, and a client who was accessing the space ended up dying of an 

overdose in his donn bed. Many clients were overdosing off property across the street when First 

Ontario was open and around the comer on the stairs at the Philpot church. Clients would come 

into the shelter and ask staff for naloxone (opioid reversal drug) due to an overdose. Staff would 

respond in these situations. Staff were then directed by management to not respond to overdoses 

off property because if they are injured off the property, the shelter would not be liable. Staff were 

even threatened to be fired for leaving property while on shift. The way we responded to overdoses 

also changed during the pandemic. It was recommended to not do CPR because of the risk of 

transmission and staff would need to receive verbal confirmation that other staff were comfortable 

with the staff person doing CPR. 

21. The pandemic has made the opioid epidemic worse due to closure of harm reduction 

services/reduction in hours/online services, social distancing and stay at home guidelines has 

increased the likelihood of people using alone, closure of borders has increased toxic drug supply, 

and the city's drug strategy was put on hold to respond to the pandemic, despite the opioid epidemic 

also being a public health emergency. 

22. The staff to client ratio is not appropriate. Staff are not appropriately trained or equipped to respond 

to complex mental health issues (including violence and crisis) and responding to an insanely high 

number of overdoses. Responding to overdoses on a daily basis should not be normalized in 

shelters, it is traumatic. Safe spaces to use drugs inside the shelter would ultimately save lives, 

improve health and safety, reduce staff burnout, and allow case managers to do the job they were 

hired to do. Staff in shelters are underfunded and under resourced, we are doing the best we can 

with very limited resources. We help clients navigate complex systems and try to remove barriers, 

but we are often unable to meet the complex needs of clients. 

23. Case management has been proven difficult to do amidst a pandemic. There has been an increase 

in violence, we have been managing an increase in overdoses, and increase in crisis intervention. 

Shelter staff have been more focused on keeping people alive and safe, and providing basic 

necessities such as food, hygiene, and a place to sleep. C!osme of services, reduced hours, or 

programs moving online due to COVlD-19 has left very limited indoor options for unhoused 

people. 
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24. Barriers that unhoused people are facing are long waitlists for addiction and mental health supports 

- they need access to immediate interventions. There is also a lack of affordable and supportive 

housing. This is a major gap as people with higher needs, need supports in place in order to 

successfully maintain housing. The vaccine passport is also a challenge for unhoused people as 

many do not have proofofvaccination and do not have photo lD. (Dis often lost or stolen. Again, 

there is very limited indoor options for unhoused people to go to the bathroom or practice public 

health guidelines such as washing their hands. In general, shelters are understaffed, the staff are 

undertrained and underpaid, which leads to a high turnover rate, which leads to an even less stable 

environment for people in shelter. 

AFFIRMED BEFOR ME Q}tthe 
City of Hamilton. this 4lh day of 
October, 20~ l 

) 
) 
) 
) 
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A Commissioner etc. 

AFIRMED at the City of 
Hamilton, in the Province of 
Ontario, this 4th day of 
October, 2021 . 
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Court File No. CV-21-00077817-0000 

 

ONTARIO 

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

 

BETWEEN: 

 

KRISTEN HEEGSMA, DARRIN MARCHAND, GORD SMYTH, MARIO MUSCATO, AND 

SHAWN ARNOLD, ET AL. 

 

   Applicants 

-and- 

 

CITY OF HAMILTON 

           Respondent 

AFFIDAVIT OF Olivia Mancini 

 (Sworn July 18, 2023)  

I, Olivia Mancini, of the City of Hamilton in the Province of Ontario, AFFIRM AND STATE: 

1. I have personal knowledge with respect to the facts set out below about the emergency 

shelter system. Where information is not based on my personal knowledge, it is based 

upon information provided by other professionals, which I believe to be credible and true. 

2. I worked at the Salvation Army Booth Centre (an emergency shelter for men) for six 

years as a case manager from 2015 to 2021. In this role I supported men experiencing 

homelessness with reaching their housing goals, as well as other goals related, but not 

limited to substance use, mental health, financial assistance, legal concerns, etc. I also 

worked at Carol Anne's Place (an overnight drop in space for women) in a contract 

position as an Addiction Attendant from June 2021 to September 2021. In this role I 
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supported women experiencing homelessness with getting into detox or shelter (if that was 

their goal) and monitored women experiencing withdrawal symptoms. 

3. I was an outreach volunteer with Keeping Six from April 2020 to November 2021- a 

community-based organization, founded in 2018 at the height of the opioid crisis to defend 

the rights, dignity and humanity of people who use drugs. I completed qualitative 

interviews with encampment residents about their experiences in encampments and 

developed a report outlining the study, setting and design, participants, research team, 

interview guide, procedure, data analysis, results, discussion and recommendations. 

4. I obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Psychology with a minor in Sociology in 2014 from 

Brock University, followed by a Concurrent Disorders Diploma from Mohawk College in 

2015. I recently completed a Bachelor of Social Work in 2020 from McMaster University, 

and I completed Master of Social Work (MSW) Critical Leadership program from 

McMaster University in August 2022. 

5. I completed my MSW field practicum with the Canadian Drug Policy Coalition (CDPC). 

During field practicum, I completed a project where I planned and organized a public 

health drug dialogue with community partners. I facilitated the public health drug 

dialogue “Integrating bet practices of harm reduction into the shelter system” with 100 

key stakeholders in Hamilton followed by developing a report with recommendations. 

6. I am employed as a Registered Social Worker in an emergency department from January 2022 

to present where I work with various community partners, including shelter providers and 

drop-in spaces for unhoused folks. 

7. I was a Research Assistant with the Community University Policy Alliance (CUPA) at 

McMaster University from September 2020 to January 2022 where I developed policy 

recommendations for permanent low-barrier spaces for women and gender-diverse 

individuals who experience complex homelessness. 

8. I am a co-investigator with the Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team (HAMSMaRT) 

159



from September 2020 to present where I completed qualitative semi-structured interviews 

with unhoused participants who have accessed homeless shelters and experienced service 

restrictions at shelters in Hamilton. 

9. I volunteered for the Hamilton Point in Time Count where I counted and surveyed unhoused 

people in Hamilton in 2016 and 2018. 

 

Carol Anne's Place 

 

10. Carol Anne's Place is not a shelter, it is an overflow drop in space, and has a capacity for 15 

women, but typically see upwards of 25 women a night. During every shift we would call 

around to the women's shelters and they are always at capacity. It is more challenging to 

find shelter space for a single woman without children in her care as most shelters are for 

women with children fleeing domestic violence. Most women accessing Carol Anne's 

Place are service restricted from the women's shelters due to complex mental health and 

substance use. 

11. The women's shelters have a "do not admit list." For example, one woman has not been 

allowed to access shelter since 2018 for being removed by police once. There are 

significantly less shelter beds for women in the city compared to men's shelter. Women's 

clothing, cellphones, and other belongings were often stolen during the night. Carol's 

Anne's place is considered the "last stop" for women in the city as there is nowhere else 

to go if they cannot access Carol Anne's place. The benefits of Carol Anne's place is that 

it is low barrier and will typically service restrict women for 24 to 48 hours maximum, 

unless it is an extreme incident, such as sexual or physical assault of staff or service users. 

Carol Anne's place provides harm reduction supplies, and in April 2022, the YWCA 

Hamilton opened a safer drug use space within Carol Anne’s Place 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Bed Capacity 

 

12. This shelter has a capacity for 82 men, and 10 emergency overflow spaces. When the first 
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lockdown took place, capacity went down to approximately 50 beds. There are dorm style 

beds that accommodates 11-13 men per dorm with a half wall built between them. There 

are two double rooms split by a divider and approximately 40 single rooms. The dorm 

beds are for everyone, and single rooms are reserved for clients who pose the least amount 

of risk first. If there are concerns with substance use and possible overdose, clients will 

be placed into a dorm room. If none are available, client will be booked into ideally a 

double room, if not then a single room with the understanding that they will be moved to 

a dorm bed when available. 

13. When the pandemic hit, all the shelters reduced their bed capacity, and a temporary ad-hoc 

shelter was opened at First Ontario Centre. This did not increase bed capacity, it made up 

for the decrease in beds at the other shelters. Clients were being service restricted for two 

days for missing curfew at First Ontario in the middle of a pandemic. 

14. The expectation to return for 10pm curfew is difficult and unrealistic for people living on 

the streets that may not have concept of time, persistent mental health concerns, and for 

those who use substances, and for those working evening or night shift. During the 

pandemic Salvation Army had two common rooms available for clients to spend time in 

during the daytime as other essential services that clients would typically use were closed 

(shopping malls, coffee shops). Two common rooms were not enough for 82 people to 

maintain social distancing, so many people were still left outside to face the elements 

during the daytime with nowhere to go. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Book in times/curfew 

 

15. Shelter staff are available to clients 24/7. Clients can book in between the hours of 9am to 

4pm daily. Curfew is at 10pm and if you are not in your bed then you are discharged, and 

your bed is given to someone else. If clients miss the 10pm curfew, they can return to book 

in after midnight if a space is available and they can return for their belongings the following 

day between 6pm- 10pm. There are three additional bed checks between the hours of 1lpm-
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4am. You can miss 1/3 of these bed checks and are welcomed back into your bed. If you miss 

2/3 or 3/3 you are welcomed back into your bed until 8am, but you are not allowed to have 

breakfast. You must take your belongings and go, and if you need a bed for the following 

night, you must wait until 6pm. The logic is based on a standpoint of "if you want a bed, 

you will be in your bed all night." It does not take into consideration substance use, mental 

health, trauma, employment or other related factors. 

16. The dorms are closed every day from 8am-6pm, so there is nowhere to sleep during the 

daytime. This can be particularly challenging for clients who work night shift as they will 

not be accommodated. Also, people deprived of housing tend to be in acute crisis and 

focused on surviving, so it can be quite difficult to remember all the different rules and 

times. If the shelter is full, you are not allowed to wait for a bed to become available, staff 

will call the other shelters in the city, and then inform the client of what is available. If all 

shelters are full, you are turned away to the street and provided information on potential 

places to find food as meals are only for shelter residents. If you are service restricted for a 

period of time that can range anywhere from 24 hours to indefinitely due to “non-

compliance” or behaviours related to mental health and substance use from all three men's 

shelters, you are turned away to the street with nowhere to go, and this is a very common 

practice. 

17. The city's narrative that there are shelter beds available for everyone is false. Shelter beds 

are consistently at capacity nightly. Shelter staff are required to input data into the HIFIS 

database, such as recording when they “turn away” people from shelter whether that be 

due to capacity, service restriction, or other reason. However, shelter staff often do not 

have the time to document how many people they turn away in HIFIS due to  a highly 

chaotic work environment. When I was working in the shelter during the pandemic, I can 

confirm I was not recording how many people I turned away in HIFIS for the reasons 

above. 

18. In addition, there are no accountability measures in place to ensure they are recording 
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each incident where someone is turned way into HIFIS. This skews the data that the City 

of Hamilton receives.  

19. For example, a shelter worker recently turned away 35 people in an eight hour shift and 

consistently has anywhere from 10 to 30 people on the “overflow” waitlist nightly, when 

there are only 10 overflow beds available.  

20. The city's narrative that there are no clients who are service restricted shelter wide is also 

false. I can think of several clients who are currently service restricted from all three men's 

shelters. These clients who are service restricted from all of the shelters often present to the 

emergency department for support with housing, however, are almost always discharged 

to the local drop-in centres (if not also service restricted from there, which they often 

are) as their situation is considered a "social problem", not a medical or psychiatric 

emergency. It is outside of staff's scope of practice in the emergency department to 

support unhoused folks with securing housing and this role is meant for case managers 

and outreach workers in the shelters and drop-in spaces. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Atmosphere 

 

21. The atmosphere is generally chaotic. The afternoon case managers are required to do 

many tasks outside of the role of a case manager. The case managers must cover two 

15 minute breaks and 30 minute lunch for front desk, attend one hour dinner to help 

kitchen staff feel safe with clients, unlock all the dorms (as they are locked during the 

daytime), obtain client belongings from storage after 6pm as requested by clients, 

locking the TV room and laundry room, and doing hourly rounds throughout the 

building to ensure clients are alive and safe. On top of that there is an expectation to 

house 20 clients per month with an expectation of over 10 meaningful engagements 

with clients, such as helping a client secure income, search for housing, call landlords, 

set up housing views, secure payments for rent, and complete housing applications. 

It is easy to exceed over 10 meaningful engagements a day, but on average only 25% 
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of these engagements are about housing and the remainder is risk assessments, crisis 

management, and overdose response. Often clients return to the shelter under the 

influence of an unknown substance and require supervision, clients will engage in 

altercations, females will present on site and refuse to leave, service restricted clients 

who are not allowed to be in the building will present and refuse to leave, clients 

experience medical emergencies (mostly overdoses), and mental health crises (i.e., 

psychosis – experiencing visual, auditory, or tactile hallucinations), which frontline 

staff are not adequately trained in overdose prevention and response or risk 

assessments for clients in mental distress.  

22. The City of Hamilton still currently pays shelters the same amount per year to run a 

shelter, but since the drug poisoning crisis escalated in 2015, the demands on staff 

are far greater and staff are pulled away from routine duties regularly. The response 

from the City is threatening removal of funding if housing statistics are not meeting 

their expectations. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Theft 

 

23.  When new clients present staff make sure they understand that under no circumstance do you 

leave belongings unattended, or they will be stolen. Clients are advised to lock up their 

belongings in the locker provided. Many clients do not have a lock or money to purchase 

a lock, so in this case we encourage clients to keep any valuables in their pockets. Clients 

fall asleep regularly with their phone on their pillow thinking it will be safe, and it will be 

stolen by morning. This proves difficult for those who understand limited English, 

vulnerable seniors, and people with developmental/cognitive disabilities as they tend to 

fall victim to theft at a higher rate. Staff on site cannot review cameras in the moment and 

by the time management reviews the cameras, the belongings are long gone. If the client 

who stole the belongings can be identified on camera, they will be service restricted for a 
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period of time. 

24. It is not uncommon for previous clients to sneak into building and search through the 

dorms and steal items. For example, a client who had been no trespassed for a year walked 

into the building and stole a client's laptop out of his single room while he was in the 

washroom. Also, clients are not allowed to bring their bikes into the building, but if they 

lock their bike up outside it will get stolen. Bikes are stolen on a regular basis out front 

of the Salvation Army. 

25. For clients who do not return to their shelter bed for the night, their belongings are packed, 

labelled and put into storage. When the client returns for their belongings, more often 

than not clients become upset and state that some of their belongings are missing. I have 

often found clients missing items because their belongings were not labeled properly by 

housekeeping staff. This is an ongoing issue of mislabeling belongings. Staff’s response 

is “we are not responsible for lost or stolen belongings” and there is nothing staff can do 

about the missing items. The shelter only stores belongings for 48 hours and then the 

belongings are disposed of in the dumpster of the parking lot. Client's medications are 

also disposed of after 72 hours. This can cause a lot of unnecessary issues for clients as 

they are often unable to get a refill of their medications until the next refill date.  

Salvation Army Booth Centre Safety Concerns 

 

26.  Clients experience safety concerns, verbal threats, and physical violence on a regular 

basis in the shelter. There was a 12-person altercation in the parking lot where a belt was 

used as a weapon. One client chased another client with a hammer. One client brutally 

assaulted someone, to the point that he was in a coma and was charged with attempted 

murder. 

27. Staff are also susceptible to safety concerns, verbal threats, and physical violence. A client 

punched the side mirror off my car. Another client attempted to get into my vehicle after 

work and I later found out he was planning to murder me by strangulation. A handful of 
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security guards have been physically assaulted by clients. A client attempted to punch me 

in the face, but security was able to intervene. Since the pandemic, there has been an 

increase in violence. For example, a client's face was macheted numerous times at 

Salvation Army and a client was murdered outside of Mission Services. These are just a 

few examples of the violence within the shelter system. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre Service Restrictions 

 

28.  Service restriction is the practice of limiting or denying access to emergency shelter for a set 

period of time. Shelter staff may impose service restrictions for using substances, 

possession of illicit drugs or harm reduction supplies, mental health crisis or psychosis, 

or violating shelter policies. Service restrictions vary in length. A staff member can only 

service restrict for 24 to 48 hours pending management review. Management will then 

review the service restriction and implement an extension if deemed necessary. Service 

restrictions vary from 24 hours in length to indefinitely. 

29. This means that an individual can continue to be banned for shelter based on an incident 

that happened years earlier that they were already punished for, but because their 

behaviour is repetitive, the service restriction is extended for a longer period of time.  

COVID-19 outbreaks in shelter 

 

30. When all three men's shelters were in outbreaks at the same time, there were zero indoor 

options for unhoused men. Numerous people were turned away to the streets. Many 

clients asked where they are supposed to go when all the shelters are in outbreaks, and we 

had no answer for them. It was absolutely gut-wrenching to tum people away to the street 

with no other options. The city did not provide alternative indoor options, despite having 

a year to prepare for outbreaks within the shelter system. Unhoused people were 

essentially left behind and not included in pandemic response plans. I found myself 

reaching out to medical professionals in the field to have them advocate for clients who 

had nowhere else to go. Some days we were able to find an indoor option, but most day's 
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people were left to sleep on the streets. 

31. The hotel programs that were opened were only for women and couples. Single men were 

not allowed to go to the hotel as they were deemed "high risk." A few men were able to 

access hotels during the outbreaks in all the men's shelters, but as soon as a shelter was 

cleared from an outbreak all the men were discharged from hotel to the street. Staff did 

not secure them beds at the shelters upon discharge from the hotel, so when these men 

attempted to find space, the shelters were all at capacity. 

Salvation Army Booth Centre - Substance use and the changing landscape with Covid -19 

 

32.  Overdoses within the shelter have rapidly increased. Throughout the pandemic, 

overdoses have been occurring on almost a daily basis. At one point, there was seven 

overdoses in one day. During the outbreak, a temporary safe injection site was 

implemented at the Salvation Army to encourage people to stay indoors and stop the spread 

of the virus. The safe injection site quickly closed before the outbreak was declared over, 

and a client who was accessing the space ended up dying of an overdose in his dorm bed. 

Many clients were overdosing off property across the street when First Ontario was open 

and around the corner on the stairs at the Philpot church. Clients would come into the 

shelter and ask staff for naloxone (opioid reversal drug) due to an overdose. Staff would 

respond in these situations. Staff were then directed by management to not respond to 

overdoses off property because if they are injured off the property, the shelter would not 

be liable. Staff were even threatened to be fired for leaving property while on shift. The way 

we responded to overdoses also changed during the pandemic. It was recommended to not 

do CPR because of the risk of transmission and staff would need to receive verbal 

confirmation that other staff were comfortable with the staff person doing CPR. 

Inadequate Support in Shelters 

 

33. Case management has been proven difficult to do amidst a pandemic. Case managers have 

not been able to fully support clients with housing for a number of reasons. There has been an 
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increase in violence, we have been managing an increase in overdoses, and increase in crisis 

intervention. Shelter staff have been more focused on keeping people alive and safe, and 

providing basic necessities such as food, hygiene, and a place to sleep. Closure of services, 

reduced hours, or programs moving online due to COVID-19 has left very limited indoor 

options for unhoused people. 

34. Barriers that unhoused people are facing include long waitlists for addiction and 

mental health supports - they need access to immediate interventions. There is also 

a lack of affordable and supportive housing. This is a major gap in services for  people 

with higher needs who require wrap around supports in place to successfully maintain 

housing. The vaccine passport was also a challenge for unhoused people as many do 

not have proof of vaccination and do not have photo ID. ID is often lost or stolen. 

Again, there is very limited indoor options for unhoused people to go to the bathroom 

or practice public health guidelines such as washing their hands. In general, shelters 

are understaffed and under resourced, the staff are undertrained and underpaid, which 

leads to a high turnover rate, and less stable environment for people in shelter. 

 
 
Emergency Department & Shelter 

 

35. As a social worker in the emergency department, part of my role is to find patient's 

shelter space if needed. I will highlight three examples to demonstrate shelter being 

over capacity, the criminalization of unhoused folks, and the extremely inhumane 

treatment of unhoused folks. 

36. Example 1: I called the Four Points hotel to refer a client. The client was service 

restricted from all shelters except for Four Points. In addition, there were less shelter 

beds available in the city due to Mission Services being closed for a structural fire. 

Four Points had a bed available, however they would not take my patient based on 
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past behaviors at other shelters, stating they did not think he would be an 

"appropriate" fit. I made staff aware my patient is service restricted from all shelters 

except for Four Points and that my patient would be sleeping on the street.. Staff 

still refused to accept him, so I asked for on-call management’s phone number to 

advocate for my patient and they refused to share their information with me. In the 

end my patient was discharged to the streets. 

37. Example 2: A patient presented at the hospital for injuries related to domestic 

violence and was seeking shelter. I called all of the women's shelters, and they were 

all full. I called back the first shelter I was in contact with, and staff are supposed to 

complete a referral to the hotel program as per shelter protocol. However, staff stated the 

hotels for people experiencing domestic violence were also full. I stated that my 

understanding of the shelter's protocol is for them to secure the individual fleeing domestic 

violence a space in a hotel for their safety. Staff stated they would not be able to 

accommodate my patient, despite being at high risk for further violence and abuse. I 

made them aware that my patient would be sleeping on the street or returning to their 

abusive partner, and they still declined to help my patient, despite shelter protocols in 

place to ensure this does not happen to people fleeing domestic violence. 

38. Example 3: An unhoused patient tested positive for COVID-19. The patient was 

asymptomatic, therefore unable to access hospital beds as they are utilized for those who 

are extremely ill from COIVD-19. The patient had no present psychiatric concerns and 

was stable, therefore unable to access psychiatric services. The patient was referred to the 

Wesley Isolation Centre to isolate as he is unhoused and positive for COVID-19. The 

Wesley Isolation Centre declined to support patient as he was currently no trespassed from 

the Wesley Day Centre, which is in the same building as the Wesley Isolation Centre. We 

inquired where to send this patient as he is not eligible to stay in the hospital and 

highlighted that the Wesley Day Centre is a different program and service vs. the Wesley 
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Isolation Centre. Wesley was unable to accommodate the individual. 

39. I make this Affidavit in support of the Application, and for no improper purpose. 

 

 

 

 

Sworn remotely by Olivia Mancini at the City of 

Hamilton, in the Province of Ontario, before me 

on July 18, 2023 by “zoom” videoconference, in 

accordance with O. Reg. 431/20, Administering 

Oath or Declaration Remotely. 

 

  

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits  

Mohamad Bsat 75897L, LSO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

Olivia Mancini 
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the frontline, Olivia works in drug policy and advocates for the decriminalization of 

drugs, safe supply, legal regulation, and the right to housing. Olivia also recently 

completed her Master of Socia l Work at Mc Master University. 
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---Upon commencing at 1:00 p.m. 1 

OLIVIA MANCINI: AFFIRMED 2 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SHORES: 3 

1.   Q.  Good afternoon, Ms. Mancini.  As I 4 

introduced off the record, my name is Bevin Shores.  5 

I am one of the lawyers for the Respondent, The 6 

City of Hamilton.  We are here this afternoon to 7 

conduct a cross-examination of an affidavit that 8 

you've given in this proceeding dated July 18, 9 

2023.  So before we get started, can you just 10 

confirm your full name for the record. 11 

   A.  Yes, my name is Olivia Mancini. 12 

2.   Q.  Where are you participating in this 13 

examination from today? 14 

   A.  I'm just at work right now, so at St. 15 

Joseph's Healthcare.  Just in my office. 16 

3.   Q.  Okay.   And you are alone in the 17 

room? 18 

   A.  Yes.  19 

4.   Q.  And you're aware that you're to have 20 

no assistance in giving your answers? 21 

   A.  Yes.  22 

5.   Q.  And that you're not to refer to any 23 

materials other than your affidavit or any 24 

materials that are presented to you in the course 25 
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of this cross-examination? 1 

   A.  Yes.  2 

6.   Q.  If you don't understand a question 3 

that I'm asking, please let me know and I can 4 

repeat or rephrase it to you.  Is that understood? 5 

   A.  Okay, yes. 6 

7.   Q.  You've just been affirmed to tell the 7 

truth today? 8 

   A.  Yes.  9 

8.   Q.  I'm going to start -- are you 10 

familiar with the website gettingtotomorrow.ca? 11 

   A.  Yes.  12 

9.   Q.  And that's a website of the 13 

regulation project by the Canadian Drug Policy 14 

Coalition? 15 

   A.  Yes, that's correct. 16 

10.   Q.  I'm going to put something on the 17 

screen here.  I understand, based on that website, 18 

that on or about August 2, 2022 you posted or a 19 

presentation was posted prepared by you on 20 

Integrating Best Practices of Harm Reduction.  Is 21 

that correct? 22 

   A.  Yes, that's correct.  23 

11. MS. SHORES:  The document that I've 24 

placed on the screen is a capture of that 25 
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website or of the regulation project and 1 

we'll mark this for identification as 2 

Exhibit A to Ms. Mancini's examination. 3 

EXHIBIT NO. A:  Integrating Best 4 

Practices of Harm Reduction 5 

BY MS. SHORES: 6 

12. Q.  The thing I'd like to ask you about 7 

is there is a biography or a little biographical 8 

paragraph at the bottom of this website capture and 9 

it states, I'll read for the record, "Olivia 10 

Mancini brings her passion, dedication and 11 

expertise across various organizations in Hamilton, 12 

providing mental health and harm reduction support 13 

to folks as a registered social worker and harm 14 

reduction worker.  When she is not on the 15 

frontline, Olivia works in drug policy and 16 

advocates for the decriminalization of drugs, safe 17 

supply, legal regulation and the right to housing. 18 

Olivia also recently completed her Master of Social 19 

Work at McMaster University." 20 

The sentence here I'd like to focus on 21 

is, "Olivia works in drug policy and advocates for 22 

the decriminalization of drugs, safe supply, legal 23 

regulation and right to housing."  You agree with 24 

that statement about you? 25 
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A. I no longer work in that role, but at1 

the time that that was published, I was working in 2 

drug policy as a community engagement coordinator. 3 

13. Q.  And you still advocate for the 4 

decriminalization of drugs? 5 

A. I'm not actively advocating for that6 

in this exact moment, but I would advocate for that 7 

if I needed to, yes. 8 

14. Q.  Do you still advocate for safe 9 

supply? 10 

A. Yes.11 

15. Q.  Do you still advocate for legal 12 

regulation? 13 

A. Yes.14 

16. Q.  And you still advocate for the right 15 

to housing? 16 

A. Yes.17 

17. Q.  You'd agree that your involvement in 18 

this case is part of your advocacy work? 19 

A. Yes, I would say so.20 

18. Q.  Okay.  I want to turn next to your 21 

affidavit and, again, for the record, it's an 22 

affidavit affirmed July 18, 2023.  In paragraph 2 23 

of your affidavit you describe your work at the 24 

Salvation Army Booth Centre and indicate that you 25 
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worked there for six years as a case manager from 1 

2015 to 2021, so you haven't worked at the Booth 2 

Centre since 2021, correct? 3 

A. That's correct.4 

19. Q.  Which month in 2021 did you leave the 5 

Booth Centre? 6 

A. I can't recall the exact month.7 

20. Q. In your role as a case manager at8 

the Booth Centre, that would have primarily 9 

involved helping people who were staying at the 10 

shelter connect with supports? 11 

A. Yes.  So I was a case manager, so I12 

would help with them securing housing and any other 13 

case management goals that they might've had.  So 14 

like it says in my affidavit, it could be related 15 

to substance abuse or mental health, financial 16 

assistance or legal concerns. 17 

21. Q.  You weren't the person who was 18 

admitting people to the shelter? 19 

A. The residential worker would do the20 

admission, but at times, case management would 21 

cover the front desk where the residential worker 22 

does their role.  So I would, at times, be doing 23 

admissions to the shelter, yes. 24 

22. Q.  Okay.  In the course of doing 25 
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admissions to the shelter, was your role involving 1 

communicating shelter policies to residents at the 2 

shelter? 3 

A. Yes.4 

23. Q.  Would your role as a case manager 5 

have involved dealing with discharging people from 6 

the shelter? 7 

A. Yes.8 

24. Q.  What portion or proportion or 9 

percentage, however you're comfortable saying, of 10 

your work would involve admitting or discharging 11 

people from shelter at the Booth Centre? 12 

A. I would say maybe 80 percent.13 

25. Q.  So that would only be about 20 14 

percent of your time spent as a case manager doing 15 

your case manager duties? 16 

A. No, maybe I would say that it's more17 

20 percent of the role -- sorry, I think I 18 

misunderstood the question. 19 

26. Q.  So let's rephrase that so you 20 

understand.  So you indicated that you would 21 

sometimes help out with admitting people to shelter 22 

or discharging people from shelter.  What 23 

proportion of your time at the Booth Centre was 24 

spent admitting or discharging people from shelter 25 
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as opposed to your work as a case manager? 1 

A. In a shift I would say potentially 202 

percent, but it definitely varies depending on what 3 

time of the day it is.  If I was working at 4 

afternoon shift, curfew is at 10 p.m. so we would 5 

be discharging folks at that time, so it could take 6 

up more time in the evening.  If I was working a 7 

dayshift, I might be doing more admission, so it's 8 

hard to give an exact percentage.  But I would say 9 

it takes up a fair amount of time to admit and 10 

discharge folks. 11 

27. Q.  And when you were at the Booth 12 

Centre, were you full time or part time? 13 

A. I was full time, but when I started14 

in 2015, I had started in a casual role.  But the 15 

last three years was full time. 16 

28. Q.  So would that be 35 or 40 hours a 17 

week, something like that? 18 

A. Yes.19 

29. Q.  At paragraph 2 of your affidavit you 20 

also describe working at Carol Anne's Place in a 21 

contract position as an addiction attendant from 22 

June 2021 to September 2021.  Do you remember 23 

whether it was those four months or how -- I'm 24 

trying to ascertain whether you were there for 25 

OLIVIA MANCINI - 8

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.

three months?  Four months? 1 

A. Four months.2 

30. Q.  Were you there full time or part time 3 

during those four months? 4 

A. I was there full time.5 

31. Q.  So, again, 30 to 40 hours per week? 6 

A. Yes.7 

32. Q.  And so you haven't worked at or 8 

volunteered with Carol Anne's Place since 2021? 9 

A. Correct.10 

33. Q.  I'm going to take you to paragraph 5 11 

of your affidavit -- I'm sorry, paragraph 10 of 12 

your affidavit under the heading, "Carol Anne's 13 

Place."  In the second sentence of this paragraph 14 

you state, "During every shift we would call around 15 

to the women's shelters and they are always at 16 

capacity."  So, gain, the time frame that you're 17 

speaking of here is the four months from June 2021 18 

to September 2021, correct? 19 

A. Yes.20 

34. Q.  Okay.  And I want to be clear about 21 

your evidence.  Is your evidence that there was not 22 

a single time between June 2021 and September 2021 23 

when you were working that you ever once found 24 

shelter in the women's system that had capacity? 25 
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A. No, I would say we were sometimes1 

able to secure shelter space. 2 

35. Q.  And at that point, were you calling 3 

around to the hotels or the overflow spaces? 4 

A. So we would just call the emergency5 

shelters, so it depends on what their needs were. 6 

If it was a single woman, there's the three 7 

emergency shelters that you can contact, and then 8 

if it was a woman fleeing domestic violence, then 9 

there's four Violence Against Women shelters that 10 

we can contact.  If there was no space at any of 11 

the shelters, you're supposed to call the first 12 

shelter back for support with potentially arranging 13 

like hotel or overflow access. 14 

36. Q.  Okay.  And on the topic of those 15 

Violence Against Women shelters, the second last 16 

sentence of paragraph 10 it states here, "It is 17 

more challenging to find shelter space for a single 18 

woman without children in her care as most shelters 19 

are for women with children fleeing domestic 20 

violence."  You're referring to the Violence 21 

Against Women shelters, those four shelters? 22 

A. Yes.23 

37. Q.  And those would be the shelters 24 

funded through the Ministry of Community and Social 25 

OLIVIA MANCINI - 10

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.

Services? 1 

A. I'm not sure what the funding source2 

is. 3 

38. Q.  Okay.  Those Violence Against Women 4 

shelters, do you have any knowledge of whether they 5 

are in the City of Hamilton shelter system? 6 

A. Yes, they are.7 

39. Q.  Your belief is that they are? 8 

A. Yes.9 

40. Q.  The City of Hamilton -- sorry, I'm 10 

going to put to you that there are shelters within 11 

the City of Hamilton that are not limited to women 12 

with children fleeing domestic violence.  Do you 13 

agree with that? 14 

A. Yes, there are three shelters.15 

41. Q.  There is Mary's Place, correct? 16 

A. Yes.17 

42. Q.  There is Emma's Place, correct? 18 

A. Yes.19 

43. Q.  There's St. Joseph's Womankind, 20 

correct? 21 

A. Correct.22 

44. Q.  And also at 2021, when you were at 23 

Carol Anne's Place, there would have been hotels 24 

operated by Good Shepherd admission services? 25 
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A. I believe there was overflow space at 1 

the hotels if the shelters were full, yes. 2 

45. Q.  Okay.  And none of those shelters 3 

would have been restricted to women with children 4 

fleeing domestic violence, correct? 5 

A. Sorry, can you say that one more6 

time. 7 

46. Q.  Mary's Place, Emma's Place, St. 8 

Joseph's Womankind and the hotels, none of those 9 

shelters are limited just to women with children 10 

fleeing domestic violence, correct? 11 

A. That's correct.12 

47. Q.  Okay.  And the four Violence Against 13 

Women shelters, those are also not restricted to 14 

women with children, correct? 15 

A. It would be women with children or16 

women fleeing domestic violence. 17 

48. Q.  Right. A woman does not have to have 18 

children with her in order to access those Violence 19 

Against Women shelters, correct? 20 

A. Correct.21 

49. Q.  Also at paragraph 10, in the last 22 

sentence of that paragraph you stated, "Most women 23 

accessing Carol Anne's Place are service restricted 24 

from the women shelters due to complex mental 25 
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health and substance use."  Again, the time frame 1 

here that you're speaking to is your experience 2 

from the four months from June 2021 to September 3 

2021? 4 

A. Yes.5 

50. Q.  And you don't cite any data here, so 6 

can we assume that this is just your recollection? 7 

A. Yes, so I'd say my knowledge is based8 

on my direct experience working with that 9 

population at Carol Anne's Place.  So just 10 

observing the patterns and reasons why women were 11 

denied access to shelter from the women themselves 12 

or from the service providers.  So those insights 13 

are kind of informed by my professional role there 14 

at the time and those specific interactions with 15 

the women. 16 

51. Q.  You don't actually know how many 17 

women were service restricted from all women's 18 

shelters between June 2021 and September 2021? 19 

A. I wouldn't know that offhand, no, but20 

the service restriction data is collected in HIFIS, 21 

the homeless serving database. 22 

52. Q.  Okay.  And you wouldn't actually 23 

know if between June 2021 and September 2021 there 24 

were any women who were service restricted from all 25 
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shelters in the women's system, correct? 1 

A. No, I can't confirm that.2 

53. Q.  Also in this last paragraph -- sorry, 3 

last sentence of paragraph 10, you state, "The 4 

women are service restricted from the shelters due 5 

to complex mental health and substance use."  Can 6 

we take it what you're saying is that women who 7 

have mental health -- complex mental health 8 

concerns or who use substances, exhibit behaviours 9 

that may get them service restricted? 10 

A. Yes.11 

54. Q.  And I want to just be clear about 12 

what your evidence is, you're not saying that the 13 

women shelters service restrict people merely for 14 

the status of having a mental health condition, 15 

correct? 16 

A. No.  However, for the substance use17 

piece, though, they do simply restrict people for 18 

using drugs, so I would say that they tend to 19 

criminalize people that are using drugs in the 20 

shelter system because they're not restricting them 21 

for behaviour attached to that, it's simply for 22 

being caught using substances within the shelter. 23 

55. Q.  I want to unpack a little bit of what 24 

you said.  So, first of all, you said criminalize, 25 
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the shelters are not actually causing criminal 1 

charges to be levied against people, correct? 2 

A. No.3 

56. Q.  They are not incarcerating people? 4 

A. No.5 

57. Q.  When you say substances, it is the 6 

use of substances that may result in a service 7 

restriction, not the status of being a substance 8 

user, correct? 9 

A. Correct.10 

58. Q.  And women can hypothetically -- well, 11 

I won't say hypothetically.  Women are permitted in 12 

the women shelter system to exit the shelter, use 13 

substances outside of the shelter, either at a safe 14 

use site or elsewhere, and then return to the 15 

shelter, correct? 16 

A. Yes.17 

59. Q.  At paragraph 11 of your affidavit you 18 

state, in the first sentence, "The women shelters 19 

have a 'Do not admit list'."  Are you referring 20 

there to a list of women who have service 21 

restrictions? 22 

A. It would be  -- I guess it's not an23 

official list.  It's basically kind of a common and 24 

observed practice among shelter staff where they 25 
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are denying individuals access that might have a 1 

history of problematic behaviour based on personal 2 

discretion rather than a formal policy.  Even if 3 

there were beds available I was witnessing this 4 

happen in the shelter system at the time. 5 

60. Q.  So you're saying that you witnessed, 6 

outside of any formal policy, a list that was kept 7 

by people at Carol Anne's Place of women that would 8 

not be admitted, notwithstanding that this was 9 

separate from a service restriction? 10 

A. I did not witness a specific list.11 

It was a list within the shelter system, not at 12 

Carol Anne's Place.  So when calling around to the 13 

other shelters, like Mary's Place, for example, 14 

they sometimes would not take people despite having 15 

beds based on past behaviours. 16 

61. Q.  What you're describing is a service 17 

restriction, is it not? 18 

A. No.  So sometimes people aren't19 

service restricted and they’re still declined a bed 20 

despite having one based on staff's personal 21 

discretion.  There's no formal policy.  This is 22 

just kind of common practice and knowledge that 23 

happened when I was working in the system. 24 

62. Q.  I want to be clear because it sounds 25 
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like what you're saying is that outside of the 1 

policies of the shelters within the system, that 2 

staff are exercising discretion not to admit women 3 

despite them having spaces and despite those women 4 

not having service restrictions for that shelter, 5 

that's what you're saying? 6 

A. Yes.7 

63. Q.  When did that happen? 8 

A. When I worked at Carol Anne's Place,9 

I have called shelters and they advised me they've 10 

had a bed available and then once speaking to the 11 

women or hearing the person's name, they would 12 

state that they're ineligible for service, that 13 

they're not appropriate for the shelter bed. 14 

64. Q.  I put it to you, Ms. Mancini, that 15 

what you're describing is someone who had a service 16 

restriction at that particular shelter.  Do you 17 

know any different? 18 

A. I would say that that -- in that19 

specific situation that I'm citing, it was not a 20 

service restriction. 21 

65. Q.  What is your source for that? 22 

A. The staff in the shelter advising the23 

individual is not service restricted but not 24 

appropriate for service. 25 

OLIVIA MANCINI - 17

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.

66. Q.  What was the name of the staff member 1 

who informed you that? 2 

A. I'm not sure.3 

67. Q.  Which shelter was it? 4 

A. Mary's Place.5 

68. Q.  When did that occur? 6 

A. I don't know the exact date.  So it7 

would have been sometime when I was working there. 8 

I'm just looking at the date.  From June to 9 

September 2021. 10 

69. Q.  You turned your face away from the 11 

camera and I think it resulted in the microphone 12 

not picking up your answer.  Can you repeat that? 13 

A. When I was working at Carol Anne's14 

Place between June and September of 2021. 15 

70. Q.  So the person that you spoke to said, 16 

"This person is not eligible for service here."? 17 

A. Yes.18 

71. Q.  Were there any other occasion on 19 

which this happened? 20 

A. I can't think of the specific21 

occasion, no. 22 

72. Q.  At paragraph 11 you also state, "For 23 

example, one woman has not been allowed to access 24 

shelter since 2018 for being removed by police 25 
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once."  What is your source for that information? 1 

A. It was another worker at Carol Anne's2 

Place. 3 

73. Q.  Again, is what you're describing a 4 

service restriction? 5 

A. I'm not sure in that situation.6 

74. Q.  Do you know of the circumstances of 7 

the woman not having been allowed to access 8 

shelters since 2018 as you allege? 9 

A. No.10 

75. Q.  Is it possible that there were other 11 

factors at play in the women allegedly not being 12 

allowed to access shelter--- 13 

MS. CROWE:  I'm going to object cause 14 

you're asking her to speculate.  She 15 

doesn’t have the knowledge. 16 

76. MS. SHORES:  I'm allowed to test the 17 

scope of her knowledge and what she is 18 

relying on in making this allegation that 19 

a woman has not been allowed to access 20 

shelter since 2018. 21 

MS. CROWE:  Right, but I think it's been 22 

asked and answered because she doesn't 23 

know any other information other than 24 

what's in her affidavit and what she's 25 
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responded to today. 1 

BY MS. SHORES: 2 

77. Q.  Do you adopt your counsel's answer, 3 

Ms. Mancini? 4 

A. Yes.5 

78. Q.  You don't have any more information 6 

about this? 7 

A. No.8 

79. Q.  At paragraph 11 you also state in the 9 

third sentence of that paragraph, "Carol Anne's 10 

Place is considered the 'last stop' for women in 11 

the City as there's nowhere else to go if they 12 

cannot access Carol Anne's Place."  There's no 13 

requirement to exhaust all other shelter options 14 

before going to Carol Anne's Place, correct? 15 

A. Correct.16 

80. Q.  At paragraph 12 of your affidavit 17 

under the heading, "Salvation Army Booth Centre Bed 18 

Capacity" you state, "The shelter has capacity for 19 

82 men and ten emergency overflow spaces."  Again, 20 

you would be speaking to your knowledge as of 2021 21 

when you last worked at the Booth Centre? 22 

A. Correct.23 

81. Q.  Okay.  So if the capacity has 24 

changed since then, you wouldn't have any knowledge 25 
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of that? 1 

A. My understanding is they still have2 

the same capacity of 82 beds. 3 

82. Q.  Okay.  Is that your knowledge or is 4 

that your understanding? 5 

A. That's my understanding.6 

83. Q.  Based on what? 7 

A. I still have relationships with8 

community partners that I liaise within the housing 9 

and homeless serving sector, so as far as I know, 10 

the capacity hasn't changed. 11 

84. Q.  I'm going to put to you an affidavit 12 

from James Moulton, just bear with me as I pull it 13 

up.  So once this document loads, what will be on 14 

the screen is the affidavit of James Moulton 15 

affirmed July 31, 2024.  Mr. Moulton identifies 16 

himself as the Executive Director of Housing and 17 

Support Services at the Salvation Army Hamilton. 18 

Have you ever encountered Mr. Moulton? 19 

A. Yes.20 

85. Q.  At the Booth Centre? 21 

A. Yes.22 

86. Q.  At paragraph 13 of Mr. Moulton's 23 

affidavit he states that, "The Booth Centre offers 24 

86 beds," and at the end of paragraph 13 he adds, 25 
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"An additional 13 sleeping areas are also available 1 

as emergency overflow is needed."  You don't have 2 

any information to suggest that Mr. Moulton is 3 

incorrect in giving this evidence, correct? 4 

A. Correct.5 

87. Q.  Returning to your July 18, 2023 6 

affidavit, at paragraph 13 you state, "When the 7 

pandemic hit, all the shelters reduced their bed 8 

capacity and a temporary ad hoc shelter was opened 9 

at First Ontario Centre.  This did not increase bed 10 

capacity, it made up for the decrease in beds at 11 

the other shelters."  What's your source for that 12 

information? 13 

A. When I was working at Salvation Army,14 

at the time they reduced their bed capacity from 82 15 

to 50.  I can't comment on the other shelters.  So 16 

then the temporary ad hoc shelter was open to make 17 

up for the decrease in the beds at the other 18 

shelters. 19 

88. Q.  I want to be clear.  What you're not 20 

saying is that the shelter system in the City of 21 

Hamilton had no net increase in bed capacity during 22 

the COVID-19 pandemic, correct? 23 

A. Sorry, can you say that one more24 

time. 25 
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89. Q.  You're only speaking about the 1 

reduction in bed capacity and corresponding 2 

increase in capacity through the First Ontario 3 

Centre shelter, correct, you're not speaking to the 4 

City of Hamilton shelter capacity in total? 5 

A. Correct.6 

90. Q.  And just to put a finer point on it, 7 

Rob Mastrioni has given an affidavit -- so Rob 8 

Mastrioni is the Manager of the Residential Care 9 

Facility Subsidy Program and Emergency Shelter 10 

Services within the Health and Safe Community 11 

Department of the City of Hamilton's Housing 12 

Services Division.  Mr. Mastrioni gave an 13 

affidavit, October 6, 2021, so this could 14 

potentially have overlapped with the time you were 15 

at the Booth Centre or not, depending on when it 16 

was that you left, and at paragraph 57 of his 17 

affidavit, Mr. Mastrioni gives a chart summarizing 18 

the change in shelter bed capacity of the City of 19 

Hamilton both before and after COVID, and at the 20 

very bottom, he summarizes a change with a net 21 

increase of 289 beds as of the time of giving this 22 

affidavit.  You wouldn't have any information to 23 

suggest that Mr. Mastrioni is incorrect, would you? 24 

A. No.25 
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91. Q.  Returning to your July 18, 2023 1 

affidavit, again, at paragraph 13 in the last 2 

sentence you state, "Clients are being service 3 

restricted for two days for missing curfew at First 4 

Ontario in the middle of a pandemic."  Your 5 

evidence is that a client misses curfew once, and 6 

then for no other reason is service restricted for 7 

two days? 8 

A. Yes.9 

92. Q.  How many times do you believe that 10 

this has happened? 11 

A. I don't know an exact number.12 

93. Q.  What is the source for that 13 

information? 14 

A. It was documented in HIFIS and15 

through direct contact with staff at First Ontario 16 

shelter when trying to secure shelter beds. 17 

94. Q.  Did you refer to those HIFIS 18 

affidavits in giving your -- I'm sorry.  Did you 19 

refer to those HIFIS records in giving your 20 

affidavit of July 18, 2023? 21 

A. No.22 

95. Q.  So then how do you have any certainty 23 

that your information is accurate? 24 

A. Because the staff member documented25 
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that the individual was service restricted for two 1 

days for missing curfew. 2 

96. Q.  So you're referring to one incident 3 

when you believe an individual was service 4 

restricted for two days for missing curfew? 5 

A. It had happened to more than one6 

person. 7 

97. Q.  And, again, how did you determine 8 

that that was the case? 9 

A. Just from documentation on HIFIS.10 

98. Q.  Which you observed while you were at 11 

the Booth Centre? 12 

A. Yes.13 

99. Q.  I'm going to again put James 14 

Moulton's evidence to you.  This is an affidavit 15 

given by James Moulton, again, Executive Director 16 

of the Salvation Army Hamilton, this affidavit is 17 

sworn October 6, 2021.  At paragraph 28 of his 18 

affidavit, Mr. Moulton states, "Bed checks are 19 

conducted during the night to ensure our beds are 20 

being used.  First bed check occurs at 10 p.m.. 21 

This is standard across all men's shelters in 22 

Hamilton.  It is sometimes called a curfew. 23 

However, unlike a formal curfew, clients are not 24 

prohibited from leaving the Booth Centre after 10 25 
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p.m..  Often clients will leave during the night1 

for a variety of reasons.  We ask they advise 2 

whether they will be returning.  If they do, their 3 

bed may be held for them.  If, however, a client 4 

has left without advising that they will return, it 5 

is possible that the bed will not be held and will 6 

be reallocated to another client who needs it.  A 7 

client would have to miss two bed checks at a 8 

minimum before the bed could be reassigned." 9 

Ms. Mancini, I put it to you that there's 10 

no policy at the Booth Centre of service 11 

restricting individuals for missing curfew once or 12 

at all? 13 

A. That is correct, but this happened at14 

the First Ontario Centre, so it wasn't the 15 

Salvation Army specific.  Any shelter has varying 16 

policies and practices.  They're all different. 17 

100. Q.  Your evidence is that the First 18 

Ontario Centre had a policy of service restricting 19 

people for two days for missing curfew? 20 

A. I don't know if they had a policy.21 

It was just what I saw in the documentation on 22 

HIFIS. 23 

101. Q.  Which you were speaking to your 24 

recollection of anywhere two years prior to giving 25 
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your affidavit in 2023? 1 

A. Yes.2 

102. Q.  Returning to your 2023 affidavit. 3 

Bear with me one moment.  I'm going to return 4 

actually to Mr. Moulton's affidavit. So, again, 5 

this is Mr. Moulton's affidavit of October 6, 2021. 6 

At paragraph 19, Mr. Moulton attests that, 7 

"Breaches of expectations are dealt with by a 8 

progressive engagement strategy, caseworkers and 9 

other staff always seem to work out an issue before 10 

any warnings are given or sanctions are imposed. 11 

There are typically many conversations before 12 

sanctions are imposed.  We take into account the 13 

work done with the client in the past, the 14 

seriousness of the incident and how to best address 15 

the behaviour in question."  You'll agree that that 16 

was the policy at the Booth Centre in 2021? 17 

A. Is this about service restrictions?18 

103. Q.  This is what Mr. Moulton is saying 19 

the policies were for breaches of expectations. 20 

You worked at the Booth Centre, would you not have 21 

been aware of this policy? 22 

A. I wasn't sure if it was related to23 

service restrictions, but I see now it's breaches 24 

of expectations.  Yes, I would say that that's 25 
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correct. 1 

104. Q.  At paragraph 20, Mr. Moulton states, 2 

"When breaches of expectations result in service 3 

restrictions for clients, the service restrictions 4 

are not intended to be punitive and they are 5 

tailored to be as minimal as possible.  For 6 

example, if a client is found to have shouted 7 

threats at staff or another client, that client may 8 

be asked to take a walk to calm down.  If repeated, 9 

they may be restricted from accessing services for 10 

a specified period of time or they may be 11 

transferred to another shelter."  Do you agree with 12 

that? 13 

A. No, because I think policy and what's14 

actually happening on the ground is very different 15 

and it's often based on the personal discretion of 16 

staff.  I would say lots of staff do not ask 17 

clients to take a walk first and they immediately 18 

go to a service restriction.  I think it's very 19 

subjective based on the staff's experience with 20 

clients.  If the quite has a history of problematic 21 

behaviour, they often do not give the warnings or 22 

time to take a walk or calm down.  I think it's 23 

very dependent on the individual staff working and 24 

on the client. 25 
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105. Q.  You say that you've observed staff 1 

not following the policy for service restrictions, 2 

have you ever complained about or escalated that? 3 

A. No.4 

106. Q.  At paragraph 21 of Mr. Moulton's 5 

affidavit, he -- and, again, this is the October 6, 6 

2021 affidavit.  He states, "The imposition of a 7 

full or permanent 'ban' from our services would 8 

only occur in exceptional circumstances.  There is 9 

an internal appeal process as well which clients 10 

can access."  Do you agree with that? 11 

A. Yes, to the first sentence.  The12 

second sentence about internal appeal process, that 13 

is not provided to clients upon book in and they're 14 

often not made aware of that.  They're made aware 15 

they can appeal it to management, but there's not 16 

an actual process in place from the time when I was 17 

working there. 18 

107. Q.  You're saying, at the time that you 19 

worked at the Booth Centre, there was no appeal 20 

process in place? 21 

A. Not an official process, no.22 

108. Q.  So Mr. Moulton, who gave this 23 

affidavit in October 6 of 2021, was incorrect in 24 

saying that there's an internal appeal process 25 
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which clients can access, that's your evidence? 1 

A. I wouldn't say he's incorrect, but2 

clients are not being made aware of a specific 3 

appeal process. 4 

MS. CROWE:  Let's be careful here because 5 

I think the record is going to show that 6 

her response is actually -- she's 7 

restated the response that she just gave 8 

in response to the question in the first 9 

instance, was that the clients can access 10 

it but they're not provided with it and 11 

often not aware, and she's just repeated 12 

that response.  I don't want that 13 

misconstrued as saying that there's no 14 

policy. 15 

109. MS. SHORES:  I don't think that's what 16 

the evidence was. 17 

BY MS. SHORES: 18 

110. Q.  Ms. Mancini, if you adopt the answer 19 

that's given by your counsel, then--- 20 

A. I do, yes.21 

111. Q.  Paragraph 15 of your July 13 -- or 22 

July 18, 2023 affidavit, the second sentence under 23 

the heading, "Salvation Army Booth Centre Book In 24 

Time/Curfew," you state, "Clients can book in 25 
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between the hours of 9 a.m. and 4 p.m. daily," but 1 

I put it to you, Ms. Mancini, that at the Booth 2 

Centre beds are actually available 24/7, not just 3 

the shelter staff, isn't that correct? 4 

A. You can't book in 24/7, no.5 

112. Q.  Again, I'll refer you to the 6 

affidavit of James Moulton. This is the July 31, 7 

2024 affidavit of James Moulton.  At paragraph 13, 8 

Mr. Moulton states in the second sentence, "These 9 

beds are available 24 hours a day, 365 days per 10 

year."  So your evidence is that Mr. Moulton is 11 

incorrect? 12 

A. We don't book in during mealtimes.13 

We also don't book in overnight if -- if say the 14 

shelter was full and then one person booked out in 15 

the middle of the night, we would not book a new 16 

person into that bed because they don't take that 17 

person off the list until the morning shift.  So I 18 

would say that we are not booking in 24/7, no. 19 

113. Q.  So, again, your evidence is that Mr. 20 

Moulton is incorrect when he says that the beds are 21 

available 24/7? 22 

A. Yes.23 

114. Q.  And your evidence is that of somebody 24 

who worked at the Booth Centre up until 2021 as a 25 
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case manager, you have greater knowledge and 1 

familiarity than Mr. Moulton, who is the Executive 2 

Director--- 3 

MS. CROWE:  Asked and answered. 4 

115. MS. SHORES:  No, that's not asked and 5 

answered. 6 

MS. CROWE:  First of all, it's opinion 7 

evidence.  She doesn't have to speculate 8 

on whether she's in a better position or 9 

has greater knowledge, that's opinion. 10 

She's indicated where she thinks the 11 

discrepancy lies. 12 

116. MS. SHORES:  It's not an opinion.  I'm 13 

entitled to test the scope of her 14 

knowledge, which is what Ms. Mancini is 15 

here to give answers about.  If Ms. 16 

Mancini is claiming that she knows more 17 

than Mr. Moulton, that is relevant and 18 

informs her evidence and how it will be 19 

received in court. 20 

MS. CROWE:  I'm going to object because I 21 

think we are wading to an opinion and I 22 

don't -- I don't see it's relevance 23 

either. 24 

117. MS. SHORES:  It is both relevance and not 25 
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opinion, but I'll move on. 1 

BY MS. SHORES: 2 

118. Q.  Paragraph 16 of your July 18, 2023 3 

affidavit, again, you state, "The dorms are closed 4 

every day from 8 a.m. to 6 p.m.."  So, again, Mr. 5 

Moulton says that the beds are available 24/7, he's 6 

incorrect, is that your evidence? 7 

A. That is correct, you cannot sleep in8 

the shelter during the daytime from 8 a.m. to 6 9 

p.m..  You can only sleep after 6 p.m.10 

119. Q.  At paragraph 16, in the last sentence 11 

of that paragraph you state, "If you are service 12 

restricted for a period of time, that can range 13 

anywhere from 24 hours to indefinitely due to 14 

'noncompliance or behaviours related to mental 15 

health and substance use' from all three men's 16 

shelters, you are turned away to the street with 17 

nowhere to go and this is a very common practice." 18 

So there's quite a few things in that sentence and 19 

I want to break them down. 20 

First of all, with respect to behaviours 21 

related to mental health and substance use, we've 22 

addressed a similar concept when you were speaking 23 

of Carol Anne's Place, so again I want to put it to 24 

you that it's not having mental health conditions 25 
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or the status of being a substance user that 1 

results in someone being service restricted, it is 2 

the behaviours that people like that exhibit that 3 

may get them service restricted, correct? 4 

A. Correct, aside from the piece about5 

using substances.  People do get service restricted 6 

for simply using their substances. 7 

120. Q.  In the Booth Centre? 8 

A. Yes.9 

121. Q.  They don't get service restricted for 10 

having used substances outside of the Booth Centre? 11 

A. No.12 

122. Q.  You also state in this sentence -- 13 

you refer to service restrictions from all three 14 

men's shelters, but I'll put it to you that a 15 

service restriction at the Booth Centre doesn't 16 

automatically apply to the other men's shelters, 17 

correct? 18 

A. Correct.19 

123. Q.  Okay.  So if I understand what 20 

you're describing in this sentence, if someone is 21 

service restricted from all three shelters, they 22 

would not have anywhere else to go, is that what 23 

you're describing? 24 

A. Yes, that's what I was trying to say.25 
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124. Q.  And are you saying that it is a "very 1 

common practice that men are restricted from all 2 

shelters."? 3 

A. I think that was referring to common4 

practice in the sense that folks are often turned 5 

away to the street with nowhere else to go. 6 

125. Q.  I don't think I understand your 7 

answer.  Is it your evidence or is it not that it 8 

is very common practice for men to be service 9 

restricted from all three shelters at the same 10 

time? 11 

A. Yes.12 

126. Q.  What is your source for that? 13 

A. Just direct contact with clients that14 

are service restricted from all shelters and then 15 

trying to secure them shelter space, not being able 16 

to. 17 

127. Q.  When was this direct experience, when 18 

you were working at the Booth Centre? 19 

A. Yes.20 

128. Q.  So you're relying on this experience 21 

at the Booth Centre gained up to 2021 and recalling 22 

it when you're giving your affidavit in 2023? 23 

A. Yes.24 

129. Q.  You weren't referring to any sort of 25 
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HIFIS records when you were giving your affidavit 1 

in  2023? 2 

A. No, I no longer have access to HIFIS.3 

130. Q.  And so you're not able to say how 4 

many men were restricted from three shelters at the 5 

same time? 6 

A. Correct.7 

131. Q.  And you're not able to say how long 8 

those service restrictions would have been in 9 

place? 10 

A. No.11 

132. Q.  At paragraph 17 of your affidavit you 12 

state, "The City's narrative that there are shelter 13 

beds available for everyone is false."  What are 14 

you referring to when you say, "The City's 15 

narrative that there are shelter beds available for 16 

everyone."? 17 

A. I believe during the pandemic there18 

was the assumption that there was bed spaces 19 

available, but the shelters were consistently at 20 

capacity nightly. 21 

133. Q.  Tell me where the City has said that 22 

there are shelter beds available for everyone. 23 

A. I can't recall.24 

134. Q.  But you're alleging in sworn 25 
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affidavit evidence that's going to be given in 1 

court and on the public record that the City of 2 

Hamilton has given a false narrative.  You can't 3 

even point to what you're saying the City is being 4 

false about, is that correct? 5 

A. I can't recall where they stated6 

there were shelter beds available. 7 

135. Q.  At paragraph 19 of your affidavit you 8 

state, "For example, a shelter worker recently 9 

turned away 35 people in an eight hour shift and 10 

consistently has anywhere from 10 to 30 people on 11 

the overflow waitlist nightly when there are only 12 

10 overflow beds available."  When did that happen? 13 

A. It would have happened when I was14 

working at the Salvation Army during the pandemic. 15 

136. Q.  So that would have been sometime in 16 

2021 or earlier? 17 

A. Yes.18 

137. Q.  So that's not really recently when we 19 

talk about your affidavit in 2023, is it? 20 

A. Correct.21 

138. Q.  Which shelter? 22 

A. The Salvation Army.23 

139. Q.  How did you gain that knowledge? 24 

A. From a coworker that was working that25 
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had advised they had turned away 35 people in an 1 

eight hour shift. 2 

140. Q.  You didn't take any steps to 3 

independently verify what they said? 4 

A. No.5 

141. Q.  At paragraph 20 of your affidavit you 6 

state, "The City's narrative that there are no 7 

clients who are service restricted shelter wide is 8 

also false."  What is your source for your claim 9 

that the City has given a narrative that there are 10 

no clients who are service restricted shelter wide? 11 

A. I can't remember where they had12 

stated that. 13 

142. Q.  Again, you're alleging now for the 14 

second time in sworn evidence that's going to be 15 

used in court and put on the public record that the 16 

City of Hamilton is giving a false narrative, and 17 

you're saying you can't even remember where it is 18 

that the City is alleged to have made that 19 

statement. 20 

A. I can't recall, no.21 

143. Q.  Do you recant that statement, that 22 

the City is giving a false narrative? 23 

A. Sure.24 

144. Q.  Also at paragraph 20 you state, "I 25 
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can think of several clients who are currently 1 

service restricted from all three men's shelters." 2 

Again, are you speaking about 2023 at the time you 3 

gave your affidavit or back in 2021? 4 

A. In 2021.5 

145. Q.  You, again, don't say how long these 6 

men were service restricted for, correct? 7 

A. Correct.8 

146. Q.  And I take it you don't know? 9 

A. No.10 

147. Q.  At paragraph 21 of your affidavit at 11 

the last sentence of that paragraph you state, 12 

"Frontline staff are not adequately trained in 13 

overdose prevention and response or risk 14 

assessments for clients in mental distress."  Ms. 15 

Mancini, I put it to you that staff members are 16 

trained in, among other things, mental health 17 

first-aid and administration of Naloxone for opiate 18 

overdoses.  Do you agree with that? 19 

A. I was trained in Naloxone but not --20 

I was not given training for mental health first-21 

aid when I worked in the shelter system, no. 22 

148. Q.  I'm going to put it to you, Mr. 23 

Moulton in his October 6, 2021 affidavit at 24 

paragraph 7, which I'll take you to, states, "All 25 
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of our staff members have various levels of 1 

additional training as well, which includes, at a 2 

minimum, nonviolent crises intervention training, 3 

de-escalation training and first-aid training, 4 

including mental health first-aid and 5 

administration of Naloxone for opiate overdoses," 6 

and then he goes so far as to attach a copy of a 7 

then recent job opportunity posting at Booth Centre 8 

listing the experience and education required for 9 

their staff.  Are you saying that Mr. Moulton is 10 

incorrect in stating that staff at the Booth Centre 11 

receive, among other things, mental health first-12 

aid training? 13 

A. No, I just did not receive mental14 

health first-aid training when I worked there. 15 

149. Q.  Did you already have mental health 16 

first-aid training when you worked there? 17 

A. I can't recall.18 

150. Q.  Returning to your affidavit at 19 

paragraph 22, you state in the last sentence of 20 

that paragraph, "The response from the City is 21 

threatening removal of funding if housing 22 

statistics are not meeting their expectations." 23 

What is your source for that? 24 

A. Management advising if we don't meet25 
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our targets, we could lose our funding from the 1 

City. 2 

151. Q.  Do you know first-hand that the City 3 

has ever threatened to remove funding for shelters 4 

if they do not meet housing statistics? 5 

A. Not from the City directly, but this6 

is what management had communicated at the time. 7 

152. Q.  So, again, the question is, do you 8 

know first-hand, and let's be clear, your affidavit 9 

states at the very beginning, "I have personal 10 

knowledge with respect to the facts set out about 11 

the emergency shelter system," so do you have 12 

personal knowledge that the City has threatened--- 13 

MS. CROWE:  Hold on.  Before you put that 14 

to her, let's read out the second part of 15 

that sentence. 16 

BY MS. SHORES: 17 

153. Q.  "Where information is not based on my 18 

personal knowledge, it is based upon information 19 

provided by other professionals, which I believe to 20 

be credible and true."  And I want to know, where 21 

is that information coming from? 22 

A. So it came from---23 

154. Q.  Most of the information isn't stated, 24 

which is, I'll state for the record, not compliant 25 
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with the Rules, but let's test that out.  So, 1 

again, do you have personal knowledge that the City 2 

of Hamilton has ever threatened to remove funding 3 

if housing statistics are not met? 4 

A. No.5 

155. Q.  At paragraph 30 of your affidavit, 6 

under the heading "COVID Outbreaks In Shelter," you 7 

refer to a circumstance when all three men's 8 

shelters were in outbreak at the same time.  You 9 

state, "There were zero indoor options for unhoused 10 

men."  I put it to you, Ms. Mancini, that shelter 11 

admissions were paused; however, people who were 12 

already in shelter were permitted to remain, isn't 13 

that correct? 14 

A. Correct.15 

156. Q.  So it's not entirely accurate that 16 

there were zero indoor options for unhoused me, the 17 

unhoused men who were already in shelter were 18 

permitted to stay, correct? 19 

A. Correct.20 

157. Q.  At paragraph 31 of your affidavit, 21 

referring to hotel programs, the last sentence of 22 

this paragraph you state, "Staff did not secure 23 

them (referring to people who were formerly staying 24 

in shelters) beds at shelters upon discharge from 25 
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the hotel, so when these men attempted to find 1 

space, the shelters were all at capacity."  What is 2 

your source for this? 3 

A. At that time, the hotel program4 

discharged all men that were in the hotel and they 5 

weren't able to get shelter anywhere because they 6 

didn't attempt to get them shelter upon discharge, 7 

so they ended up coming to -- try to get shelter 8 

space and they were -- and told us they were 9 

discharged from the hotel and we weren't provided 10 

any transfer to another shelter space.  So it was 11 

direct knowledge from the clients themselves. 12 

158. Q.  You said direct knowledge from the 13 

clients themselves, but the clients themselves are 14 

telling you that, so that's not direct knowledge, 15 

is it? 16 

A. It's the knowledge from the client.17 

159. Q.  We might have a misunderstanding 18 

about what knowledge is.  If a client is telling 19 

you something, you don't have first knowledge of 20 

the thing that they're telling you about, correct? 21 

A. Correct.22 

160. Q.  So if clients are telling you that 23 

someone failed to secure a bed for them, as you 24 

allege in this paragraph, that knowledge is 25 
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secondhand, correct? 1 

A. Yes, it's the experience of the2 

client. 3 

161. Q.  That's being reported to you? 4 

A. Yes.5 

162. Q.  Secondhand? 6 

A. Yes.7 

163. Q.  At paragraph 32 of your affidavit you 8 

say, "Overdoses within the shelter have rapidly 9 

increased."  You don't set any source for that, 10 

that's just your impression? 11 

A. From my first-hand experience working12 

in the shelter system and seeing an increase in 13 

overdoses and--- 14 

164. Q.  Sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt 15 

you.  What did you say at the end of your answer. 16 

A. And being the frontline worker17 

responding to the overdoses that are occurring. 18 

165. Q.  So that would be at the Booth Centre? 19 

A. Yes.20 

166. Q.  And so you're speaking about the 21 

timeframe up to 2021 when you were there? 22 

A. Yes.23 

167. Q.  I take it you didn't take any -- 24 

record any data or measure the frequency of 25 
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overdoses within the shelter? 1 

A. No, but the City of Hamilton2 

demonstrates that overdoses have increased year 3 

after year since data started being collected in 4 

2015. 5 

168. Q.  What data are you referring to? 6 

A. On the City of Hamilton opioid7 

recording system. 8 

169. Q.  I'm not familiar with that.  What is 9 

the opioid recording system that you're referring 10 

to? 11 

A. They record the number of overdoses12 

that occur and overdose deaths in the City of 13 

Hamilton. 14 

170. Q.  Are you referring to publicly 15 

available information or something that's kept 16 

within the shelter system such as HIFIS? 17 

A. Publicly available.18 

171. Q.  In making this statement, despite not 19 

saying so in your affidavit, you're referring to a 20 

publicly available overdose information that is 21 

available on the City of Hamilton's website? 22 

A. Yes, and my own personal experience23 

in responding to an increase in overdoses while 24 

working in the shelter system. 25 
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172. Q.  At paragraph 36 of your affidavit you 1 

give an example saying that you called the Four 2 

Points Hotel to refer a client, the client was 3 

service restricted from all shelters except for 4 

Four Points, and in addition, there were less 5 

shelter beds available in the City due to mission 6 

services being closed for a fire.  You state that, 7 

"The Four Points had a bed available, however, they 8 

would not take your patient based on past 9 

behaviours at other shelters, stating that they did 10 

not think it would be an appropriate fit."  I'm 11 

going to pause there.  Your interpretation of that 12 

response is that the patient had been service 13 

restricted from shelters? 14 

A. They were restricted from all the15 

shelters except for the Four Points Hotel.  That's 16 

what staff communicated. 17 

173. Q.  They said that this individual was 18 

service restricted from all shelters? 19 

A. Yes.20 

174. Q.  And, again, you don't say for how 21 

long this patient would have been service 22 

restricted from all shelters. 23 

A. No.24 

175. Q.  When did this happen? 25 
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A. That was in my role in the emergency1 

department as a social worker, so it could have 2 

been anywhere from January 2022 to April 2023. 3 

176. Q.  You don't say what the past 4 

behaviours were, did they say what past behaviours 5 

they were referred to? 6 

A. No, I don't recall.7 

177. Q.  Was it communicated to you at all 8 

whether those behaviours were such that it posed a 9 

safety concern for others in the hotel? 10 

A. Sorry, can you say that one more11 

time. 12 

178. Q.  Did you inquire or did they inform 13 

you whether any of those past behaviours were 14 

behaviours that would pose a safety concern for 15 

others in the hotel? 16 

A. No, they did not.17 

179. Q.  At paragraph 37, again, you give an 18 

example of a patient presenting at hospital for 19 

injuries related to domestic violence who was 20 

seeking shelter.  You state you called all of the 21 

women's shelters and they were all full.  You don't 22 

indicate which shelters you called.  Do you 23 

remember? 24 

A. For domestic violence I would have25 
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called Martha House, Interval House, Inasmuch House 1 

and Native Women's Centre. 2 

180. Q.  Those are the shelters that were all 3 

full to your recollection? 4 

A. Yes.5 

181. Q.  So you didn't call the other 6 

shelters? 7 

A. I did also call the single women's8 

shelter.  I don't think Emma's Place was open at 9 

the time, so it would have been Womankind and 10 

Mary's Place as well. 11 

182. Q.  But that's not what you said just 12 

now.  When I asked you what shelters you called, 13 

you said the Violence Against Women shelter and now 14 

you're changing your answer and saying you also 15 

called the other shelters. 16 

A. I called the Violence Against Women17 

shelters first because she was pleading domestic 18 

violence but then I also attempted to secure a 19 

space in the single women's shelter as well. 20 

183. Q.  Again, you don't say when this 21 

happened.  When did this occur? 22 

A. That also would've been in my role in23 

the emergency department, so it could've been 24 

January 2022 to April 2023. 25 
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184. Q.  But you're not certain? 1 

A. No.2 

185. Q.  In paragraph 38 of your affidavit you 3 

give the example of an unhoused patient who tested 4 

positive for COVID-19 and that they were unable to 5 

access hospital beds, I'm paraphrasing here at the 6 

interest of time, but the patient, you state, was 7 

referred to the Wesley Isolation Centre but was 8 

declined to be supported by the Wesley Isolation 9 

Centre as he was currently "No trespass from the 10 

Wesley Day Centre, which is in the same building as 11 

the Wesley Isolation Centre."  When did this 12 

incident occur? 13 

A. Again, it could have been anywhere14 

from January 2022 to April 2023.  During the 15 

pandemic. 16 

186. Q.  And so you don't know with more 17 

precision than that? 18 

A. No.19 

187. Q.  You don't say where this patient 20 

ended up, you simply state that Wesley was unable 21 

to accommodate the individual. 22 

A. From my recollection, I believe he23 

was discharged to the street? 24 

188. Q.  And you don't know where they end up, 25 
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if this individual was able to find shelter 1 

elsewhere? 2 

A. No, I don't know.3 

189. Q.  You've understood all my questions 4 

today, Ms. Mancini? 5 

A. Yes, I did. Thank you.6 

190. Q.  You don't wish to change -- or do you 7 

wish to change any of your evidence? 8 

A. No, I don't think so.9 

191. Q.  Those are my questions.  Thank you. 10 

MS. CROWE:  Thank you, Ms. Mancini.  I 11 

just have a few re-direct questions for 12 

you, okay? 13 

THE DEPONENT:  Okay. 14 

RE-EXAMINATION BY MS. CROWE: 15 

192. Q.  You refer in your affidavit to Carol 16 

Anne's Place as an overflow drop-in space, what 17 

does that mean? 18 

A. It's not an official shelter, it's19 

just an overnight drop-in, meaning every night they 20 

have to go to try to secure a drop-in space at 10 21 

p.m.22 

193. Q.  What do you mean when you say it's 23 

not an official shelter? 24 

A. You don't get an assigned bed that25 
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would be yours day in and day out. 1 

194. Q.  Okay.  In your experience, who goes 2 

to Carol Anne's Place or when do women decide to 3 

access Carol Anne's Place? 4 

MS. SHORES:  Counsel, hang on.  I'm 5 

objecting to this question. This is 6 

clearly an attempt to expand the 7 

evidence.  This isn't anything that was 8 

elicited on cross-examination and it's 9 

not information that's in the original 10 

affidavit, so this is improper. 11 

195. MS. CROWE:  You did ask her about whether 12 

-- whether you have to -- sorry, there's 13 

just a siren outside my window.  You 14 

asked her about whether women have to 15 

call around and confirm other shelters 16 

are full before going to Carol Anne's 17 

Place.  I'm just trying to ascertain, you 18 

know, the circumstances under which women 19 

go to Carol Anne's Place. 20 

MS. SHORES:  Counsel, she gave a very 21 

clear answer in response to that question 22 

and that question was itself premised on 23 

a sentence that she says in that very 24 

paragraph.  Expanding on the evidence is 25 
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not permissible on re-examination. 1 

196. MS. CROWE:  That's fine. We'll move on. 2 

BY MS. CROWE: 3 

197. Q.  So you mentioned when you were 4 

talking about services for substance use that the 5 

act of using substances inside shelters can trigger 6 

a service restriction, are there any other 7 

behaviours or circumstances where a substance use 8 

could trigger a service restriction in your 9 

experience? 10 

A. Additionally if an individual has11 

harm reduction supplies, like pipes or needles to 12 

use those substances, if they are caught with those 13 

supplies, they can also be service restricted in 14 

that instance. 15 

198. Q.  Thank you.  There was some 16 

discussion about when people can access the 17 

Salvation Army Booth Centre and the language that 18 

was used was booked-in, what does that mean? 19 

A. So booking into the shelter bed, so I20 

guess, kind of, like an admission into the shelter. 21 

199. Q.  Can you reserve it ahead of time or 22 

is it -- help us understand what that means. 23 

A. It would be on a first come, first24 

serve basis.  You can't reserve the bed ahead of 25 
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time, no. 1 

200. Q.  Okay.  When we were talking about 2 

training for shelter staff in mental health and 3 

overdose response, the language that you had used 4 

was that staff are not given adequate training, 5 

what did you mean by that? 6 

MS. SHORES:  Again, Counsel, this is 7 

expanding on the evidence.  Ms. Mancini 8 

gave a clear response.  Re-examination is 9 

not an opportunity to expand on the 10 

evidence in the affidavit. 11 

BY MS. CROWE: 12 

201. Q.  Is there a difference between a 13 

service restriction and just being denied access to 14 

a shelter or being asked to leave a shelter? 15 

A. Yes, so a service restriction is16 

formally documented in HIFIS for a specific length 17 

of time, whereas denying people access to shelter 18 

doesn't necessarily mean you are service 19 

restricted, it could be based on staff's like 20 

personal belief or discretion.  There's been times 21 

where there's beds available, the person is not 22 

service restricted and they are still not given 23 

access to that bed. 24 

202. Q.  Thank you.  Those are my questions. 25 

OLIVIA MANCINI - 53

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.

 ---Whereupon the cross-examination was concluded 1 

at 2:00 p.m. 2 

3 

OLIVIA MANCINI - 54

NIMIGAN MIHAILOVICH REPORTING INC.

I hereby certify the foregoing to be the evidence of 1 

OLIVIA MANCINI, given under oath before me on the 2 

20TH day of August, 2024, recorded verbatim and 3 

later transcribed by me. 4 

5 

CERTIFIED CORRECT: 6 

Helen MatsosHelen MatsosHelen MatsosHelen Matsos    7 

8 

Helen Matsos, CVR 9 

Certified Verbatim Reporter 10 

11 

Commissioner of Oaths (Expires July 18, 2025) 12 

13 

This document must bear the original signature and 14 

certification of the Reporter in Attendance at the 15 

examination of the witness in the above captioned 16 

matter.  Absence of this certification and signature 17 

is indication this document has been reproduced 18 

without the permission of Nimigan Mihailovich 19 

Reporting Inc., and as such, is not an original 20 

document. 21 

22 

23 

24 
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Court File No. CV-21-00077187-0000 

ONT ARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

BETWEEN: 

KRISTEN HEEGSMA, DARRIN MARCHAND, GORD SMYTH, MARIO 
MUSCATO, SHAWN ARNOLD, BRADLEY CALDWELL, CHRISTINE 

DELOREY,GLENN GNATUK, TAYLORGOGO-HORNER,CASSANDRA 
JORDAN, JULIA LAUZON, AMMY LEWIS, ASHLEY MACDONALD, 

COREY MONAHAN, MISTY MARSHALL, SHERRI OGDEN, JAHMAL 
PIERRE, LINSLEY GREAVES and PATRICK WARD 

-and-

CITY OF HAMIL TON 

AFFIDAVIT OF TThlOTHY O'SHEA 

Sworn June 7, 2024 

Applicants 

Respondent 

I, Doctor Timothy O'Shea, of the City of Hamilton in the Province of Ontario, AFFIRM 

AND STATE: 

1. I have personal knowledge with respect to the facts and reports set out below, except 

where stated otherwise. Where the information is not. based on my personal knowledge, 

it is based upon information provided by others which I believe to be credible and true. 
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2. I am a physician with the Shelter Health Network (SHN) and the Hamilton Social 

Medicine Response Team (HAMSMaR 1). These organizations provide medical 

care to individuals affected by homelessness or housing precarity. I have worked 

with SHN since its inception in 2007. I also joined HAMSMaRT at its 

formation in 2016. 

3. I provided a report to the Hamilton Community Legal Clinic dated June 13, 2022 with 

respect to Kristen Heegsma. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit "A" is a copy of this 

medical letter and I endorse the contents therein. 

4. I provided a report to the Hamilton Community Legal Clinic (undated) with respect to 

Ammy Lewis. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit "B" is a copy of this medical letter 

and I endorse the contents therein. 

5. I make this Affidavit for no improper purpose. 

Sworn remotely by Timothy O'Shea in the 

Province of Ontario, before me on June 7, 2024 in 

accordance with 0. Reg. 431/20, Administering 

Oath or Declaration Remotely. 

\ Jt~vvA~ 
Commissioner for Taking Affidavits 

Sharon Crowe LSO 47108R 

Timothy O'Shea 
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This is Exhibit 'A' referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Timothy O'Shea affirmed before me 
this ~h day of June, 2024. 

~~ 

EXHIBIT 'A' 
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McMaster 
University • • 

To Whom It May Concern: 

TIMOTHY O'SHEA, BSc, MD, MPH, FRCPC 
Internal Medicine, Infectious Diseases, Medical 

Microbiology 
Associate Professor, Department of Medicine 

Faculty of Health Sciences 
McMaster University 

Hamilton Community Legal Clinic 
100 Main St. E. Suite 203 
Hamilton ON L8N 3W4 

Attention: Sharon Crowe and Stephanie Cox 

Re: (Kristen Heegsma, DOB 1990/10/20) 

Hamilton Health Sciences 

Phone 905-521-2100 
Ext.42471 

Fax 905-575-7320 
osheat@mcmaster.ca 

June 13, 2022 

I am a physician with the Shelter Health Network (SHN) and the Hamilton Social Medicine Response 
Team (HAMSMaRT), two organizations that provide medical care to individuals affected by 
homelessness or housing precarity. I have worked with the SHN since its inception in 2007, and similarly 
joined HAMSMaRT at its formation in 2016. I first met Ms. Heegsma in July of 2021 and have been 
seeing her on average once every two weeks since then. To the best of my knowledge, Kristen has been 
homeless for at least the past 4 years. 

Kristen has the following medical conditions: 

1) Crohn's disease 
2) Opioid Use Disorder 
3) Stimulant Use Disorder 
4) Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 
5) Post-traumatic stress disorder 

lfis illy opinion that each of Ms. Maigsroa's medical condjtjons bave beet1 t1esatively impa~ 
I3t:R of access t~le bo11si,ag ~t1e te her leek of hou!iflll Kristen has enormous barriers to accessing 
consistent medical care, leading to a pattern of starting and stoppi,ng treatments which has been in 
some cases counterproductive to her goal of improving her overall wellbeing. rttrtheFmQ•e the trauma 
tnatsFielias-ei<peFiORG&d (O'l!!ioed below) as a di~ect resuir of her lack Qf_bQl.lsiRg has fuFthar 
e,cace, bated he, ul'tscrl7i11g 11,e,ilal health coM1t1011s to a !eYa~e e·x $€!flt. Despite her being able to see 
me on a fairly regular basis over the past six months Kristen's overall condition continues to fluctuate, 
at1cl ou, r,regFe6' bas been tac below wbat I wa,,ld expect if sbe weFe s~ael•t l!euseeli 

It is important to note that Ms. Heegsma's health status has fluctuated in concert with the degree to 
which her shelter status has been stabilized or destabilized. There have, for example, been short 
periods of time when Ms. Heegsma has been able to access shelter within the city's hotel shelter 
program, and briefly through a transitional housing program run by the YWCA. Al~hough Iii 115 waVs 
i~These brief sojourns allowed Kristen some space to focus more on her health needs, and 
allowed, 
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for instance, time to more effectively titrate medications for the treatment of opioid use disorder and 
for some of her mental health concerns. However, for the majority of the last year Kristen has lived 
outside. She has stayed both within small formal encampments and when forced to has sought shelter 
elsewhere, including sleeping in stairwells and seeking shelter m-sitwatler19 uohieh p1:1t Rer f:)Rysleal Jefet? 
i~Y- ~eifl, althe1:1gh it h; claartbat sleepiae in ii teRt iR a pa,lt iJ PIOt e eesired o••t,ome,, 
~tee:rt§lth c.as er;imaticallv setter in this situatiot:1 then wRe_n sRe was irt leJJ sefe, less stash~, 
settiAgi;, Kristen described feeling safe in the most recent park wh'ere she sought shelter due to the 
presence of others that looked out for her, and as well secondary to the fact that those involved in 
caring for her, including my clinic, knew where to find her if we needed to. Shortly after this small 
encampment was cleared Kristen began alternating her time sleeping outside on park benches, 
stairwells and abandoned buildings with staying inside with a male acquaintance who assaulted her 
multiple times physically and emotionally. As a result her mental health has significantly deteriorated, 
and her stability with respect to her opioid use disorder has drama.tically worsened. 

Dtre 1:0 the profoorrd impact of IEFisteR's Re1:1&iAg r:tatus ao bee pWsicijl aruw,rElltal lrealHt much of our 
appointments end up focusing on securing a more stable housing·arrangement. Kristen is often 
reluctant to access shelter beds; with the primary reason being that she is fearful of her physical safety 
in a congregate shelter setting, after suffering physical assaults within shelter previously. Kristen has 
also previously been restricted from accessing shelter space due to behaviours related to her underlying 
mental health and substance use disorders, leading to a lack of trust with the shelter system. 
Nevertheless we have attempted on multiple occasions to secure shelter space for Kristen particularly 
through the cold winter months between December 2021 and March 2022. On at least three occasions 
we called multiple shelters for women from my clinic office and o·n each occasion were told that there 
was no shelter space available for Kristen; on each occasion we were asked to check back the following 
day. 

Kristen's health has dearly suffered to a significant extent due to lier homelessness and housing 
precarity. She has several medical conditions which in ideal circumstances could be managed 
effectively, however given her circumstances we have struggled to make consistent progress in terms of 
improving her health. Ptmhert¥1,;re bee healtfil 9tetas has bee1111c3Mii<el¥ jmpacted by policies l'IRielii 
l'ra--te lerl-to1iei"liisfllaGe1X1eot twro senioes lo wbtch sbe ha, rnaoaged !c ilGRieYe se"le d11si::ee af 

~-

I would be happy to answer further questions as required. 

Sincerely 

Timothy O'Shea, BSc, MD, MPH, FRCPC 

Internal Medicine, Infectious Diseases, Medical Microbiology 

Associate Professor, Department of Medicine 

Consultant Physician - Inpatient Addiction Service 

Faculty of Health Sciences 

McMaster University 
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This is Exhibit 'B' referred to in the affidavit of Dr. Timothy O'Shea affirmed before me 
this"1th day of June, 2024. 

~~ 

EXH\B\T 'B' 



195

McMaster 
University ' 

·. ' .TIMOTHY O'SHEA, BSc, MO, MPH, FRCPC 
Internal Medicine, Infectious Diseases, Medical 

Microbiology • 
• , Associate Professor. Department of Me<liclne 

Faculty of Heallh Sciences • 

Hamilton Community Legal Clinic 
100 Main St. E. Suite 203 
Hamilton ON L8N 3W4 

McMaster University 

Attention: Sharon Crowe and Stephanie Cox 

Re:-(Ammy Lewis, D°OB 1978/07/04) 

Hamilton Health Sciences 

Pllolle 905-521-2100 
Ext 42471 

F~ 905-575-7320 
osheal@mcmaster.ca • 

I am a physician with the Shelter Health Network (SHN) and the Hamilton Social 
Medicine Response Team (HAMSMaRT), two organizations that provide medical care to 
individuals affected by homelessness or housing precar.ity. I have worked with the SHN 
since its inception in 2007, and similarly joined HAMSM~RT at its formation in 2016. I • 
first met Ms. Lewis in March of 2021 and have been seeing her on average once every 
two weeks since then. To the best of my knowledge, Kristen has been homeless for at 
least the past 3 years. • 

Kristen has the following medical conditions: 

• HIV infection 
• Opioid Use Disorder 
• Stimulant Use Disorder 

Post-traumatic stress disorder 

lrt,. Ff:11/ opinion that eacb o£ Ms I ewi$' medical coRditieus ltave been ttegativ1ely 
impaoted ey her la~k of acce5S tQ ~taele RO~SiRS-, Q he k O OU • unnm,Lnas 

f~~s-.ba{®r~essii:!9_ con~Al.m@~~.ell.Atnll'.lyls-sear.ch-
rf~ allconsuming forner, me: • g.bel')UiiffiGwlto-aet-uport-
r~~~b.tJ;_a~spe-et-te-i:lef-Chror.tie..medieal-.._ 
eonemons. Rtlr4~gn:s:ioce the trauma that she has expeclecNiri (911t!ioed bole\., a~ 
~ct resJ tit a£ bee lack at bo, Isiog bas fl Irtl:ior 0>meereat<;ld tc\or undQ~lyin! FRQRtal health 
co11ditiv11s to a ~ei.·ere e~Ete,it. Despite her being able to ~ee me on a fairly regular basis 
over the past six months Ammy's overall condition has ov.erall deteriorated, and our 
progress has been far below what I would expect ~be were €~ably l:io• i!ie~. 
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I first met Ammy when she was briefly housed in a rooming house in Hamilton. Am my 
had been released from detention centre and was initially homeless, seeking shelter in 
a local park with her dog in the spring of 2020. She was able to access housing from 
this location, however she was unfortunately assaulted by the landlord at that location 
and evicted shorlty thereafter. Since that time Ammy has been homeless and sleeping 
rough. Ammy was able to find some relateive stability while staying at a park which she 
choose due to its proximity to her pharmacy. Overall she: stayed in this location for about 
two months, during which time she was able to get her medications daily and attend 
clinic visits with me. Furthermore she was able to engage with city housing workers 
during this time, in large part thanks to her being in a reliable place where she could be 
tracked down. Ammy was evicted from this park in late summer of 2021, and has been, 
moving from place to place since. This most recent period of Ammy's life has been • 
characterized by extreme instability. She has lost all of her belongings on multiple 
occasions, been subjected to verbal harrassment and has on at least two occasions·' • 
been physically assaulted at her camping site. Ammy h.as become increasingly . 
desperate to find shelter due to the trauma that she is s\,Jffering on a day to day basis. 
Unfortunately, despite engagement with my clinic and cit;' housing workers, suitable 
inside accomodation has not been found. Barriers to this include shelters being full 
when we have attempted to call, and Ammy's devotion to her dog, who she does not 
want to leave despite the fact that shelters have refused to admit her with her dog. ~ 
.;,II at the aboye GOntribwti~, 4siuny's meFrtal and pAysical beeltb BIV§:St;Jffefcd SA''A@!-Y: 

Ammy's R!ialth has cl r:ed te a sig • • r l:l0m •:me-ss end •. 
-cl:iousiog precaRty. Sb ral • • 
could be managed e v w 
m nsiste ·n term 

• • policies wbich haiJo lea te Aer displacerneot 

I would be happy to answer further questions as required. 

Slncerel%- _..:,,. ""':5,-----

limothy O'Shea, BSc, MD, MPH, FRCPC , 
Internal Medicine, Infectious Diseases, Medical Microbiology •• 
Associate Professor, Department of Medicine • 
Faculty of Health Sciences , •. ,. ,.' , . . 
McMaster University 



Heegsma et al -and-          CITY of HAMILTON 
Applicants  Respondents 

   Court File No. CV-21-00077187-0000 

Ontario  
Superior Court of Justice 

PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT HAMILTON 

Affidavit of Dr. O’Shea dated June 7, 2024 

COMMUNITY LEGAL CLINIC OF YORK REGION 
21 Dunlop Street, Richmond Hill, ON L4C 2M6 
Sharon Crowe (LSO# 47108R)   
sharon.crowe@yr.clcj.ca  

Michelle Sutherland (LSO# 70159T)  
michelle.sutherland@yr.clcj.ca  

Curtis Sell (LSO # 84128A)   
curtis.sell@yr.clcj.ca  

Nonye Okenwa (LSO # 82307U) 
nonye.okenwa@yr.clcj.ca 

HĀKI CHAMBERS  
319 Sunnyside Avenue, Toronto, ON M6R 2R3  
Sujit Choudhry (LSO# 45011E)   
sujit.choudhry@hakichambers.com   

ROSS & MCBRIDE LLP  
1 King Street West, 10th Floor, Hamilton, ON L8P 1A4  
Wade Poziomka (LSO# 59696T)   
wpoziomka@rossmcbride.com   

KASTNER KO LLP  
55 University Avenue, Suite 1800, Toronto, ON M5J 2H7  
Ashley Wilson (LSO# 82988A)   
awilson@kastnerko.com   

     Counsel to the Applicants  

197



TAB 85

198



Court File No. CV-21-00077187-0000 

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

B E T W E E N: 

KRISTEN HEEGSMA, DARRIN MARCHAND, GORD SMYTH, MARIO 
MUSCATO, SHAWN ARNOLD, BRADLEY CALDWELL, CHRISTINE 

DELOREY, GLENN GNATUK, TAYLOR GOGO- HORNER, CASSANDRA 
JORDAN, JULIA LAUZON, AMMY LEWIS, ASHLEY MACDONALD, 

COREY MONAHAN, MISTY MARSHALL, SHERRI OGDEN, JAHMAL 
PIERRE, LINSLEY GREAVES and PATRICK WARD 

Applicants 

-and-

CITY OF HAMILTON 
Respondent 

AFFIDAVIT OF TIMOTHY O’SHEA 

Sworn August 12, 2024 

I, Doctor Timothy O’Shea, of the City of Hamilton in the Province of Ontario, AFFIRM 

AND STATE: 

1. I have personal knowledge with respect to the facts and reports set out below, except

where stated otherwise. Where the information is not based on my personal knowledge,

it is based upon information provided by others which I believe to be credible and true.
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2. I am a physician with the Shelter Health Network (SHN) and the Hamilton Social

Medicine Response Team (HAMSMaRT). These organizations provide medical

care to individuals affected by homelessness or housing precarity. I have worked

with SHN since its inception in 2007. I also joined HAMSMaRT at its

formation in 2016.

3. I have been asked to review the July 31, 2024 Affidavit of Roberto Mastroianni.  I

have reviewed the affidavit and offer the following comments in reply.

4. In paragraph 47, Mr. Mastroianni states that “The Applicant, Ammy Lewis, is

presently housed and has been since October 1, 2021, according to City records”.

5. From my records, Ms. Lewis was briefly in a Residential Care Facility briefly in

the spring of 2021, accessed the shelter system in November of 2022, and was

housed in February of 2023.  Beyond those instances, Ms. Lewis lived unsheltered

during the time that I have known her (since March 2021).  I see Ms.  Lewis

regularly in clinic and we routinely discuss her housing situation.

6. I make this Affidavit for no improper purpose.

Affirmed remotely by Dr. Timothy O'Shea 

stated as being located in the Town of Parry 

Sound, before me at the Town of New 

Tecumseth in the County of Simcoe, on 

August 12, 2024, in accordance with O. Reg 

431/20, Administering Oath or Declaration 

Remotely. 

………………………………………………

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits 

Michelle Sutherland LSO#70159T 

Timothy O’Shea 
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COURT FILE NO. CV-21-77187 

ONTARIO  

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

BETWEEN: 

KRISTEN HEEGSMA, DARRIN MARCHAND, GORD SMYTH, MARIO 

MUSCATO, SHAWN ARNOLD, BRADLEY CALDWELL CHRISTINE DELOREY, 

GLEN GNATUK, TAYLOR GOGO-HORNER, CASSANDRA JORDAN, 

JULIA LAUZON, AMMY LEWIS, ASHLEY MACDONALD, COREY MONAHAN, 

MISTY MARSHALL,  SHERRI OGDEN, JAHMAL PIERRE, LINSLEY 

GREAVES and PATRICK WARD 

Applicants 

-AND- 

 

CITY OF HAMILTON 

Respondent 

The Cross-Examination of Dr. Timothy O'Shea, on an Affidavits 
dated June 7, 2024 and August 12, 2024, taken upon affirmation 
in the above action this, 6th of September, 2024, conducted via 
videoconference hosted by the offices of Nimigan Mihailovich 
Reporting Inc.      

APPEARANCES:

For the Applicants:        

For the Hamilton Community Legal Clinic: 

SHARON CROWE  

For the Community Legal Clinic of York Region: 

MICHELLE SUTHERLAND 

NONYE OKENWA 

BENJAMIN HOGNESTAD 

For the City of Hamilton:            

JORDAN DIACUR 

JOJO JOHNSON 

Gowling WLG (Canada) LLP 
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WITNESS:  DR. TIM O'SHEA 

Cross-Examination by 5 MR. DIACUR ..................................
Re-Examination by 43 MS. CROWE ...................................

_______________________________________________________________ 

EXHIBITS 

_______________________________________________________________ 
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GUIDE TO UNDERTAKINGS, ADVISEMENTS, and REFUSALS: 

This should be regarded as a guide and does not 

necessarily constitute a complete list: 

UNDERTAKINGS: 

(None noted). 

UNDER ADVISEMENTS: 

(None noted). 

REFUSALS: 

[2] 10/4, 10/22.
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--- Commencing at 1:45 p.m.

DR. TIM O'SHEA, 

THE WITNESS HEREINBEFORE NAMED, 

Having been duly sworn by me to testify to the truth, 

testified on their oath as follows, to wit: 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DIACUR:

Q. Thank you.  So, Doctor, I have questions

for you today about your two affidavits provided in this

matter.  They are dated June 7, 2024, and

August 12th, 2024.  

Do you have copies of those affidavits

available to you?

A. I do have them on my computer, yes.

Q. Okay.  My intention would also be to put

copies of them up on the screen when I'm asking about

them.

A. Sure.

Q. So that you can look at either version, but

there will be a copy that's on the screen for you.

A. That's perfect, thank you.

Q. I will put that up and make sure that you

can see it to begin with.

So on the screen now is your first

affidavit, June 7, 2024.  

You can see that, okay?

1

2

3

4
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay.  So to begin with, you have not

provided a copy of your CV or curriculum vitae in this

matter; correct?

A. I don't think so.

Q. And you have not provided any studies or

evidence regarding the capacity or the sufficiency of the

shelter system in the City of Hamilton?

A. As far as I know, I have not.

Q. And you've not signed a document called an

"Acknowledgement of Expert's Duty" or sometimes called a

Form 53 in this matter; right?

A. I don't believe so.

Q. So, Dr. O'Shea, do you consider yourself

independent in this matter?

A. What I consider is I provided my findings

with respect to my patients.  I'm independent as a medical

practitioner in terms of assessing my patients.

Q. By "independent", I mean that you do not

favour one side or the other?

A. My intention isn't to favour one side or

the other, but to provide information about my patients.

Q. Understood.  And you prepared the medical

letters that are attached to your affidavit; is that

right?

5

6

7

8

9

10
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A. Correct.

Q. And you did so at the request of the

lawyers for the Applicants; is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And they are addressed, in fact, to the

Hamilton Community Legal Clinic; correct?

A. I can have a look and see.  I don't -- 

Q. I'm putting the first of them dated

June 13, 2022, on the screen.  

A. Yeah.  

Q. With reference to Kristen Heegsma.  It

says:  

"To whom it may concern[...]"

And the address is the

Hamilton Community Legal Clinic.

A. Yes, I agree.

Q. These letters, they were prepared around

the time that this litigation began.  Were they prepared,

to your knowledge, after this litigation began?

A. I honestly don't know the timeline.

Q. Yes.  You have not included in your

affidavit the request or instructions you received from

the Applicants' lawyers in preparing these medical

letters; correct?

A. Correct.

11

12

13

14

15

16
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Q. And is the any additional correspondence;

emails, letters, notes of calls between you and the

Applicant lawyers regarding the preparation of your

medical letters?

A. From what I recall I was requested to

provide information about my patients' health status as it

relates to their housing status.

Q. Did you prepare these medical letters that

are attached on your own or did you applicants' lawyers

assist you?

A. I prepared these on my own. 

Q. Did you review a draft of the

Notice of Application in this matter prior to preparing

the medical letters?

A. I don't believe I did.  It's been a long

time, but I don't believe I saw such a thing.

Q. Have you seen a Notice of Application in

this matter at all?

A. To my knowledge, I have not.

Q. Did you speak with the applicants who are

referenced in your medical letters prior to preparing your

medical letters?

A. I see the Applicants on a regular basis so

I spoke to them -- I speak to them frequently, multiple

times a month.

17

18

19

20

21
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Q. Okay.  Did you speak with any of the

applicants about the medical letters prior to preparing

them? 

A. I don't believe I did beyond getting their

consent which was provided to me.

Q. Did you review the Applicants' own

affidavits in any form prior to preparing the medical

letters?

A. I did not.

Q. Have you reviewed those affidavits since?

A. I have not.

Q. And are you aware that a Dr. Koivu gave

evidence in this matter?

A. I was given a list of people being

cross-examined and I saw Dr. Koivu on that list so that is

the extent of my knowledge of her involvement.

Q. Okay.  But you would confirm that you've

not provided any reply evidence responding to the

affidavit or evidence of Dr. Koivu; right?

A. Correct.

Q. Would you agree that homelessness itself

causes poor sleep, stress, anxiety, new medical

conditions, worsening of existing medical conditions, and

generally poor health outcomes in those experiencing

homelessness?

22

23

24

25

26

27
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MS. CROWE:  I'm going to object to that.

That is beyond the scope of what he is here to testify

about.  

---REFUSAL 

MR. DIACUR:  Well, again, that is not the

test in terms of what can be asked of these witnesses.

Anything relevant to this matter can be posed to them.

It's not limited to what he states in his affidavit.

MS. CROWE:  Well, he's here is a fact

witness and not here to give opinion evidence about these

issues at large.

MR. DIACUR:  Well, that's also not

something that has been settled.  The's opinion in the

affidavits that we've received so my question stands.  If

it's a refusal then, for the record, I would like for you

to state that.

MS. CROWE:  It's a refusal.

BY MR. DIACUR:  

Q. Would you agree, Doctor, that homelessness

as a general proposition is bad for you?

MS. CROWE:  It's a refusal.

---REFUSAL

BY MR. DIACUR:  

Q. Would you agree that in treating a patient

it's important to obtain an accurate medical history?
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A. Yes, of course.

Q. It is important that the medical history be

comprehensive?

A. Yes.

Q. In the sense that it doesn't leave out

anything significant?

A. I don't understand the question, I'm sorry.

Q. Well, I'm trying to get at what

comprehensive means in terms of a medical history.  A

medical history would not be comprehensive -- 

A. I can give you a bit of an idea.

Q. A medical history wouldn't be comprehensive

if it leaves out something significant; is that fair?

A. Yes.  And I think the test of significance

is dependent on the presentation of a patient.  So I wear

a number of different hats as an infectious disease

physician.  If I'm assessing somebody for HIV, for

instance, then a different set of questions and a set of

things that might be considered significant then if I'm

assessing for an ingrown toenail or something else.

So certainly, a careful medical history

should be taken on every assessment, and depending on what

the purpose of the visit is, that will guide what types of

questions I'm asking and what type of information I'm

gathering.
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Q. Understood.  So the nature of the medical

history that's required is something that the expertise of

a physician allows them to determine?

A. Correct.

Q. Would you agree that getting a baseline for

patient is important in terms of being able to tell

whether they are getting better or worse?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you agree that to say that a

condition has worsened requires a significant level of

investigation?

A. Again, dependent on the condition,

sometimes it's quite obvious.  Sometimes very detailed

investigations are required to determine if something is

worsening or improving.

Q. And, again, that something that's within

the expertise of a physician to determine?

A. Correct.

Q. Would you agree that patient self-reporting

about their condition can be challenging because it's not

clear what parameters the patient is using?

A. I don't know if I agree with that entirely.

I mean, a lot of times I rely on patient self-report

around a lot of their conditions in terms of what's

getting better and what's getting worse.

34

35

36

37

38

205



    13

Really, for me in a lot of cases what is

most important is how the patient perceives their

condition as improving or not improving.  My goal is to

make my patients feel better overall and so the

self-report ends up being quite important in that

instance.

Q. Would you agree that in inaccurate medical

history could affect the reliability of an assessment or

diagnosis?

A. Certainly.  Yes. 

Q. Would you agree that some patients, and

some of your patients in particular, may not be able to

give an accurate or comprehensive medical history for

themselves?

A. I wouldn't qualify it as you did, as "my

patients", in particular.  I think, yes, I mean, patients

have differing degrees of ability to recall, to report,

et cetera.

I don't think it's better, worse, or other

in the patients that I see.  And, again, I see a lot of

patients in different contexts so it's hard to generalize.

Q. Understood.

In taking a medical history from a patient,

do you, as a physician, take any steps to account for the

possibility that they may not be able to give you an
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accurate or comprehensive report of their medical history?

A. Certainly.  I mean, the medical histories

are a very important part of the assessment of my

patients.  And, again, the importance of that changes over

time.

Most of my patients I see extremely

frequently, and regularly, and have long-term

relationships with; and so as I get to know somebody, I

can kind of get a sense of how much trust I can put in the

self-report, if you will, and how much I need to rely on

other sources of information.

I think the question was whether I look for

other sources of information and certainly we do.  We have

a network of other physicians that we consult with.  We

have access to extensive medical charts, including the

hospital charts, that we can review and do review on a

regular basis.  

We get reports from community pharmacists

who are interacting with the patients on a daily basis.

That's a very important point of contact for our patients

and source of information for us in terms of how things

are going overall.

We are in contact with social service

agencies including workers in the shelters, workers with

the Social Navigator Program, and we work very closely

    15

with patient advocacy groups as well who have fairly

intimate knowledge of how people are doing, again, on a

day-to-day basis because they see them on a day-to-day

basis and can report that back to us.

Q. Okay.  Well, thank you.

You wouldn't render a medical opinion

without gathering a comprehensive medical history,

reviewing necessary medical records, and carefully

examining the patient in question; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You would agree that a medical opinion

rendered without taking those steps would not be valid?

A. I mean, again, I think it depends on the

degree to how much investigation is required depends on

the condition that is being looked at.

So if I see someone who comes in with an

abscess on their arm, I'm not necessarily going to review

their entire medical history on their hospital records to

make a diagnosis of an abscess and treat that abscess.

If I'm seeing someone with more long-term

condition that requires like I had mentioned a more

detailed investigation and more detailed information, then

I'm going to seek that information.

Q. No.  I understood.  I'm talking

specifically about a medical opinion, not determining
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whether treatment is appropriate.  Determining, for

example, the cause of an illness, it would require those

steps to be taken in order to be valid?

A. The cause of an illness can be determined

by -- yes.  I mean, it depends again on the illness in

question.  Sometimes it take a lot of time and effort to

figure out what caused a condition and sometimes it takes

much less.

Q. Sure.  And that something like reviewing

the necessary medical records, what's necessary is within

your expertise as a physician?

A. Correct.

Q. Diagnosis of things like PTSD and

Substance Use Disorder would require a full assessment of

the patient; correct?

A. Correct, yes.  

Q. The expected progression of a patient who

is addicted to opiates and who is not getting treatment is

to worsen.  Would you agree with that?

A. I don't know if there's an expected outcome

in that situation.  I would say most people would not

improve if they weren't getting treatment.  I don't know

if -- 

Q. I'm not saying not improve.  I'm saying

worsen.  So not that they would stay static, but that
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their condition would worsen.

Is that not the expected progression?

A. In my opinion, again, it would be hard to

tell you what an individual patient's expected progression

would be without treatment.  It's, again, individual.

If you're asking me about a population

level of what would generally happen, I think that what

the evidence would show is that people would not generally

improve without treatment I think.  They would remain

stable or worsen.  I think those are both possibilities.

Q. Is it an accepted premise of addiction

medicine that the goal is for the patient to stop using

the drug?

A. I think in my practice of addiction

medicine, the goal is to minimize the harms that are

occurring to patients, and then to work with them to set

their goals, and to help them achieve those goals.

Q. Now, opiate addiction can cause changes in

the brain and affect executive function and

decision-making; correct?

A. Opioid use can affect executive functioning

and decision-making.  If people are intoxicated with

opioids, their executive function and decision-making

would be impaired.

Q. And even when they are not using, the use
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over a period of time can affect the brain in a negative

way, affecting executive functioning and decision-making;

correct?

A. I think depending on the situation, if

people are experiencing withdrawal from not using that

would affect their executive function decision-making.

I think if somebody is not using and has

stopped using, I don't know that there is good evidence to

support that their executive function decision-making

wouldn't return to normal.

Q. Okay.  An opiate-addicted patient may not

be able to make decisions in their own medical best

interests.

Would you agree with that?

A. I would object a little bit to the

phrasing.  I think that many different patients may not be

able to make decisions about their own medical care

regardless of whether our they are making substances or

not.  I think that is an individual assessment at the time

of an interaction with a patient.

Q. All right.  So I'd like to turn to your

affidavit dated June 7, 2024, which I put back on the

screen.

You do say at paragraph 2 that you are a

physician with the Shelter Health Network, SHN, and the
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Hamilton Social Medicine Response Team, HAMSMaRT.  You

indicate that you have worked with the SHN since its

inception in 2007 and you also joined HAMSMaRT at its

formation in 2016.

Is it fair to say that you are a founding

member of both the Shelter Health Network and HAMSMaRT?

A. It would be fair to say that I'm a founding

member of HAMSMaRT.  I joined Shelter Health Network about

two or three weeks after the founding members who are

three family physicians started the organization.

Q. Okay.  So essentially you joined a couple

of weeks -- 

-- SIMULTANEOUS SPEAKERS --

BY MR. DIACUR:  

Q. -- after its inception?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay.  You are aware that HAMSMaRT

previously sued the City of Hamilton alongside two of the

current applicants, Mr. Caldwell and Ms. MacDonald,

correct, in 2020?

A. Correct.

Q. Would you consider that HAMSMaRT is, among

other things, an advocacy organization?

A. I think it is self-evident from our
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website, et cetera, that one of the things that we do

participate in is advocacy for patients according to what

their needs and desires are in terms of where they want

advocacy to be directed.

Q. But also by participating in litigation.

A. If needed, yes.

Q. All right.  So I'm going to scroll down to

Exhibit B to your affidavit.  You mentioned it in

paragraph 4 is a report that relates to Ammy Lewis.  You

also indicate that this report is undated and that you

endorse the contents of it.

Do you recall when this report at Exhibit B

was prepared by you?  

And I will scroll down to it.  It's on the

screen now and I will try to make a bigger so that you can

see it there. 

A. Yes, thank you very much.  I don't recall

the exact date.  It would have been around the same time

that I provided the letter for Ms. Heegsma.

Q. Thank you.

And you do state in this letter in the last

sentence of the first paragraph:  

"To the best of my knowledge, Kristen

has been homeless for at least the past

three years."
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Given that you referred to Ammy Lewis as

Kristen here, is it possible that you prepared the letters

at exactly the same time; so the Kristen Heegsma letter

and this Ammy Lewis letter? 

A. It's likely that I -- and apologies for the

typo -- it's likely that I, yes, prepared them around the

same time. I don't know if it was like the same day, but

it would have been a similar timeframe.

Q. Okay.  Thank you.  So you do mention that

Kristen has -- and, again, you say "Kristen" but meaning

Ammy; is that right?

A. Yes, correct.

Q. And you do say that:  

"She has the following medical

conditions, the first being HIV

infection[...]"

Do you know long Ms. Lewis has been

HIV-positive?

A. I do.  And I can get that information, the

exact date if you like, because I was the person who made

the diagnosis.  It would have been I believe, it would

have been late -- well, when did I first meet her?

March of 2021.  So it would have been late 2021.

Q. That's I think close enough for our

purposes.
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Have you provided any treatment to

Ms. Lewis as a result of her HIV infection?

A. I have.

Q. Okay.  And what treatment have you provided

to her for that?

A. Would you like the name of the medication?

Q. Yes.  The name of the medication or any

other treatments that you provided.

A. Yes.  So she's been on antiretroviral

therapy since the time of her diagnosis.  She's been

taking medication called Biktarvy.

Q. The next item in the list is

Opioid Use Disorder.  Also Stimulant Use Disorder.

Did you diagnose those conditions?

A. She came with me -- sorry, to me with those

conditions diagnosed, but I can confirm the --

Q. Okay.  

A.  -- diagnosis of both of them. 

Q. Have you provided treatment for those two

conditions? 

A. I provided treatment for

Opioid Use Disorder and continue to do so.

Q. And what treatment have you provided?

A. She's been on opioid substitution therapy

with Methadone and Kadian and she's been on safer supply
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prescribing with Dilaudid tablets.

Q. Understood.  Thank you.

The last on the list is

Post-traumatic Stress Disorder.  How long has Ms. Lewis

had PTSD to your understanding?

A. To my understanding, it's been

longstanding.  And, again, this would be a diagnosis that

I didn't make myself but one she came to me with and which

has been confirmed through our in-house psychiatry

services.

Q. And have you provided treatment to her for

her PTSD?

A. Only insofar as referring her to our

psychiatrist.

Q. And she has received treatment via that

psychiatrist?

A. Presumably.

Q. You do reference trauma that Ms. Lewis

experienced as a direct result of her lack of housing.

And at the top of page 2 you reference a criminal assault.

Now, I understand from Ms. Lewis that that

criminal assault was perpetrated by a landlord.  Is that

your understanding?

A. That is my understanding, yeah.

Q. Okay.
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A. She's reported to me more than one assault.

The initial assault when I first met her was perpetrated

by a landlord.

Q. Okay.  And that's the one that is

referenced in this letter?

A. Can I just read through?

Q. Yes.  Of course.  It's at the top of

page 2.  You mentioned the rooming house in Hamilton.

A. Correct.

[Reading].

Yes, agreed.

Q. And Ms. Lewis has provided evidence in this

matter.  She was also cross-examined.  She had indicated

that she was homeless for about five months as of

June 2022.  And prior to that she had been renting an

apartment which she left because she felt unsafe.

You don't have any reason to contradict

Ms. Lewis' own evidence; right?

A. No.  I don't.

Q. Under cross-examination, Ms. Lewis

indicated that she first became homeless when released

from a penitentiary in Kitchener.  She can't remember that

when that occurred.  You indicate here in Exhibit B that

it may have been within the spring of 2020, however you

also say that you first met Ms. Lewis in March of 2021.
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That's correct; that you first met her

then?

A. Correct.

Q. So you would agree that you can't be sure

what her housing status was before you met her?

A. Again, that was from her self-report to me.

Q. No.  Understood.  

A. Which I don't have any reason not to -- 

Q. So that's the only reason.  You can tell us

what she told you, but you can't confirm what her housing

status was before you met her?

A. Agreed, correct.

Q. She also indicated under oath that she

became homeless at that time because her mother kicked her

out of the house on the first day she was released from

the penitentiary.

She stated that she tried to access a

shelter but no one would take her on as she had a dog.

She stated that she stayed with her daughter who is also

experiencing homelessness.  She was first at a place

called her -- that she referred to any way as

"The Underground", but was told it was not safe there.

She then indicated she moved to a park or

building at Barnesdale and Barton in Hamilton.  She then

went on to a place behind No Frills or a Fortinos near
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train tracks for a few months. 

You don't have any evidence to contradict

any of Ms. Lewis' evidence on any of those points?

A. I do not.

Q. Ms. Lewis also testified that the apartment

she's living at now, 95 Hess in Hamilton, was obtained for

her while she was staying at Mary's Place and that she

went there after her dog was placed with a foster.  She

also indicated that she has now been living in that same

apartment with her dog for over two years and that she

pays market rent at that apartment.

You don't have any evidence to contradict

that either?

A. I'm just trying to think of the timeline

because I'm fairly clear on the timeline of when she got

into that apartment and that was according to my medical

records.

Q. I'm sorry?  Does that timeline fit with

what you know or not?

A. I don't have the dates in front of me.  If

you'd like, I can check.  I've got my medical record here.

Q. I'm sorry, I can't have you referring to

documents that haven't been produced to us.  

A. Yes, no problem.

Q. So the question is about your recollection.
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So do you have any evidence to contradict Ms. Lewis'

evidence?

A. Can you repeat when she said she was

housed?

Q. Yes, of course.  So and then, in fact, I'm

coming to that because Ms. Lewis was cross-examined on

August 14, 2024.  And at that time -- 

A. Yes.

Q. -- she testified that the apartment she is

living at now, 95 Hess in Hamilton, had been her residence

for over two years.  So -- 

A. I don't believe --

Q. By my calculation -- 

A. -- that's accurate from my record. 

Q. -- that would be at least August 2022.  

A. Yeah.  

Q. Do you have any reason to dispute or

contradict that timeline?

A. That is different than my records.  So yes,

I would dispute that.

Q. I'm sorry, are you referencing your medical

record?

A. No.  I have nothing else on my screen.  But

I know for certain that in the summer -- I know for

certain in the summer -- that she was outside into the
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winter, because I recall the time when we did finally get

her into Mary's Place, the main reason why she finally

agreed to let her dog get fostered was because of the

extreme cold.

Q. Okay.  Well, would you agree that Ms. Lewis

could have sought to place her dog with a foster sooner

than she did?

A. We tried multiple, multiple times to be

honest with you and weren't successful.  So it was only

through the efforts of Dr. Lamont that we were able to get

a foster for her dog.

Q. So it was Dr. Lamont who was successful in

doing that?

A. Correct.

Q. And in terms of your recollection when did

Ms. Lewis obtain housing?

A. My sense, if I had to guess without

consulting my records, would be that it would have been

early in 2023 or late in 2022.  I believe I provided an

affidavit to that effect at some point.

Q. Well, we do have your further affidavit

dated August 12th, 2024.  I understand that you did

prepare a second affidavit after reviewing evidence that

was provided by Rob Mastroianni of the City.

That's accurate?
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A. Correct.

Q. So Mr. Mastroianni's evidence indicated

that city records indicate that Ms. Lewis has been housed

since October of 2021?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that your recollection?

A. Is that my recollection of the affidavit?

Q. Well, yes.  Of the affidavit that you

reviewed and then responded to.

A. That sounds correct.  I don't have the

dates off the top of my head, but if you're telling me

that's what's in the affidavit, I believe you.

Q. Well, understood.  You would agree that

October of 2021 would align with Ms. Lewis' own evidence

that she had been in her present apartment for over two

years?  October 2021 is over two years ago, in other

words.

A. It is over two years ago.  I would agree

with your math.

Q. During the period that Ms. Lewis has been

stably housed, what improvement has her condition seen?

A. So a couple of things I would point to.

The main thing, again, the two main things that I'm

treating her for would be her HIV infection and her

Opioid Use Disorder.
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With regard to her HIV infection, she's

been more consistent in taking her medications; and from

that perspective, we have seen a stabilization of her

infection through her viral load being consistently

suppressed.

The second thing for her

Opioid Use Disorder is us being able to see her on a more

consistent basis has been helpful in adjusting and

titrating her doses; and so we've been able to get to a

more stable dose that has led to her decrease use of

opioids.

And then finally, again, from my

perspective, Ammy suffers from a lot of mental health

issues and so being able to engage consistently with

Dr. Lamont has been a major benefit to her.

And I would say all of those have improved

as her housing status has been more stable, with the

caveat that she's gone through a lot of other social

upheaval even while she's been housed, including the death

of her mother and so there's been periods of time, again,

where she's continued to struggle.

Q. Would you agree that between obtaining

shelter and having a pet, medical priority must be given

to obtaining shelter due to the dangers of remaining

outside without shelter?
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A. I don't think that I am in a position to

say what was best for Ammy in terms of those two choices.

Q. Well, I'm not asking specifically about

Ammy.  I just want to be clear I'm asking about what

should be given medical priority.

So as a general proposition would you agree

that between obtaining shelter and having a dog, medical

priority for any individual must be given to obtaining

shelter due to the dangers of remaining without shelter?

A. I would say in my practice, I rely on my

patients to make decisions about what's best for them.  We

talked to Ammy consistently about the benefits of her

being housed and our concerns about her being unhoused.

She was not willing to part with her dog

because the dog provided her with a lot of emotional

support; and given her mental health issues, she

identified her dog as being extremely important to her

mental health.  I have no reason to doubt that, or

disbelieve it, as it was her -- in my opinion, her

prerogative to make decisions about what's most important

to her.

Q. I understand that.  But as soon as the dog

was put into a foster, she obtained shelter and then

subsequently permanent stable housing; you would agree

with that?
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A. In fact, the only thing that allowed her to

take that step of fostering her dog was the fact that she

would be able to obtain shelter and housing, correct.

Q. All right.  So I would like to turn now to

Exhibit A to your first affidavit.  This is the letter

with reference to Kristen Heegsma, dated June 13, 2022.

I've got it on the screen now.  Can you see

it?

A. Not yet. 

Q. Actually I can make it a bit bigger than

that even.  

A. Okay.  

Q. So this letter has a number of similarities

to the letter regarding Ms. Lewis that we just reviewed.

The first paragraph is very similar in both, save for the

length of time that you have seen the patient and the

patient's name, as well as your understanding of how long

they have experiencing homelessness.

Would you agree with that?

A. I would agree.

Q. The second paragraph is the list of medical

conditions which is tailored to the patient.

You would agree with that?

A. I agree.

Q. The third paragraph, other than the name of
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the individual, is identical for both.  It states:

"It is my opinion that [...]"

-- each of the patients --

[...]Medical conditions have been

negatively impacted by her lack of

access to stable housing."

Is that correct?

A. Agreed, yes.

Q. There are then some sentences tailored to

the patient.  But then, both state, quote:  

"Furthermore, the trauma that she

experienced outlined below as a direct

result of her lack of housing has further

exacerbated her underlying mental health

conditions to a severe extent."

That was stated about both patients; is

that right?

A. Agreed.

Q. And then in the third paragraph, the last

sentence in both letters is very similar.  And I will put

that just in the centre of the screen here.  So the last

sentence here starting, "despite".  They state:

"Despite her being able to see me

on a fairly regular basis over the

past six months[...]"
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Then you identify the patient.  And

you state that:

"Ammy's overall condition has

overall deteriorated but our progress

has been far below what I would expect

if she were stably housed."

With respect to Ms. Heegsma, on this

screen now, you state:

"Kristen's overall condition continues

to fluctuate, and our progress has been far

below what I would expect if she were

stably housed."

Is that correct?

A. I can see the one on the screen and I can

confirm that that's what it says in this letter.  I don't

have the other one in front of me.

Q. Okay.  Well, I can go to the other one.

There might be a little bit of switching back-and-forth

required.  But here.  I will put on the screen now the

letter to do with Ammy Lewis.  And it says:

"Despite her being able to see me

on a fairly regular basis over the

past six months, Ammy's overall

condition has overall deteriorated,

and our progress has been far below
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what I would expect if she were stably

housed."

So that is what was written about Ammy

and Kristen; correct?

A. I'm sorry, it might be my Internet.  I just

got Ms. Lewis' up now; and yes, I agree that that is what

that says.

Q. And then in both letters there's a section

that's tailored to each patient.  So looking at Exhibit B,

being the Ammy Lewis letter, there is a paragraph about

her background and information to do with her.

Scrolling up to Exhibit A, there are two

paragraphs about Ms. Heegsma's status.

Then the last two paragraphs in each letter

are essentially identical, save for the patient's name at

the very beginning.  The one that's on the screen now is

to do with Kristen Heegsma.  And so, for example, it says

here:

"Kristen's health has clearly

suffered to a significant extent due

to her homelessness and housing

precarity."

If we scroll down to Exhibit B, the

Ammy Lewis letter, the second-last

paragraph is:  
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"Ammy's health has clearly suffered to

a significant extent due to her

homelessness and housing precarity."

The rest of the paragraph is identical

in both letters.  I will let you look

at those.  

But this is Exhibit B that is on the

screen now.  Can you let me know when

you are done reading that paragraph?

A. [Reading].

Yep, all good.

Q. And I'm going to scroll up to the Exhibit A

letter to do with Kristen Heegsma.  The second-last

paragraph.  The rest of it is identical.

Could you just confirm that?

A. Correct.

Q. And then the last paragraph in both letters

says:  

"I would be happy to answer further

questions as required."

Can you confirm that too?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay.  Well, this appears to me to be a

form letter with some areas that allow for personal

details for each patient to be added.  
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Would you agree with that?

A. It's not a form letter.  I would disagree

with that.

Q. Well, the letters ultimately reach the

exact same conclusions about the patients.

Would you agree with that?

A. There's a similar conclusion in terms of

how homelessness has affected their health.  I would agree

with that.  But there's differences in terms of their

individual circumstances.

Q. Yes.  And as we've seen, the individual

circumstances are listed.  

But you would agree that the same

conclusions are reached about both of the patients?

A. I think there are conclusions that go

beyond the last paragraph, sir.  So the last paragraph is

similar in terms of the conclusions that are in that.  But

I think that there's differences in terms of the

individual patient circumstances.

Q. Well, I think we've established that the

last paragraph is identical --

A. Agreed.

Q. -- except for the name. 

Would you agree with that. 

A. Agreed, yes.
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Q. And you first?

A. I don't think -- 

Q. Sorry, I didn't mean to cut you off.  

A. Go ahead, please.

Q. Please, go ahead.

A. No, no.  Pardon me.

Q. I didn't mean to cut you off.

A. No.  Go ahead.

Q. Okay.  

A. I'm just establishing that there's nothing

in that last paragraph that says "in conclusion" or says

"this is the end" or that this is the entire opinion.

I think there's reports throughout the

entire letter that talk about facts.

Q. I would certainly agree that there's

opinion throughout the letter.  

You first met Ms. Heegsma in July of 2021;

is that right?

A. I believe that's what it says -- states in

the -- 

Q. Yes.

A. -- in the, yeah.  

Q. I'll scroll up to the top.  It says there

in the first paragraph that you first met her in

July of 2021.
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That's accurate?

A. Correct.  

Q. Do you still provide Kristen Heegsma with

medical treatment today?

A. I do.

Q. And you indicate in your medical letter

that to the best of your knowledge Kristen has been

homeless for at least the past four years.

And that would be as of the date of this

letter in June of 2022?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay.  And Kristen Heegsma gave an

affidavit and was cross-examined in this matter.

She testified that she was living with her

grandparents in 2019, and that after that she stayed in a

City of Hamilton hotel space on-and-off, for roughly one

year total, as well as two other shelters.  One was

identified as Mary's Place in Hamilton, and one she

mentioned was Burlington.

She also indicated she was employed by a

temp agency during this period and that she stayed at the

Ferguson encampment in Hamilton until October of 2020 as

well as encamping at several locations in Hamilton;

including Jackie Washington Park, Beasley Park, and

Woolverton Park.
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You don't have any evidence to dispute

that; correct?

A. Sorry, can I pause for just a quick second

I'm borrowing an office because I don't have an office at

this hospital.  I am just going to grab something for

somebody so that they are not in the room at the same

time.  

Q. Absolutely take care of that it.  We will

go off the record for a moment.

---OFF THE RECORD

BY MR. DIACUR:  

Q. So Kristen Heegsma gave an affidavit and

was cross-examined in this matter.  She testified to

several things.  She indicated she was living with her

grandparents in 2019.  She indicated that after that, she

stayed in a City of Hamilton-funded hotel space on-and-off

for roughly one year total, as well as staying in two

other shelters; one was Mary's Place in Hamilton, and one

other that she mentioned was in Burlington. 

She indicated that she was employed for a

period of time by a temp agency during the period after

2019.  She also testified that she stayed at the Ferguson

encampment in Hamilton until October of 2020, and then

encamped at several locations in Hamilton, including

Jackie Washington Park, Beasley Park, and Woolverton Park.

132

133

212



    41

You don't have any evidence to dispute any

of that that was testified to by Kristen Heegsma?

A. I do not.

Q. Ms. Heegsma also testified that she was

provided with a mental health crisis bed for a period of

time at the Hamilton Barrett Centre; that she was enrolled

in the Hamilton YWCA's transitional living program for

about four months until September of 2021, but was

terminated from that program when she made what she called

"a dumbass decision" involving breaking into the YWCA

staff office.

You don't have any evidence to dispute any

of that testimony of Ms. Heegsma?

A. I do not.

Q. Ms. Heegsma also testified that after being

terminated from the YWCA's transitional housing program,

she obtained housing at 123 Bold Street in Hamilton in

January of 2022.

You don't have any evidence to dispute

that?

A. I do not.

Q. She also indicated that later in 2022,

roughly June, she moved to Oakville for a time and then

spent some time in jail in Milton for breaking into cars.

You don't have any evidence to dispute that
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testimony of Ms. Heegsma?

A. I don't.

Q. Ms. Heegsma also indicated that she spent

some time in Toronto.  And then in December of 2023, she

moved to a residence at 9 Faircourt Drive in Stoney Creek

to live with her father.

I realize that that postdates your medical

letter.  But given that you have continued to treat her,

can you confirm that you have no evidence to dispute that

testimony of Ms. Heegsma?

A. I can confirm that.

Q. Oh, you can confirm that that is actually

the case?

A. No, no. 

Q. That she moved in to an apartment with her

dad? 

A. No.  No, I'm sorry.  I said, "Can I confirm

that?"  I don't have any evidence to dispute that.

Q. Thank you.

I understand that.  Yes, the question has

to be asked in that way.

Ms. Heegsma also testified that she

occasionally travels to and from London, Ontario by bus or

train to stay with her mother and daughter.  You don't

have any evidence to dispute that testimony of
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Ms. Heegsma?

A. Correct.

Q. To the extent that Ms. Heegsma was

truthful, you would agree that she has spent a significant

amount of time over the past six years with various forms

of indoor shelter; some with family, some in various

programs; and some in housing that she, herself, obtained?

A. I agree that she has spent time indoors,

significant time indoors.

Q. No.  But would you agree that some of it

was with family; some of it was in housing programs; and

some of it was in housing that she, herself, obtained?

A. Based off of her testimony, I would agree

with that.

Q. Okay.  All right.  Well, thank you very

much, Doctor.  I appreciate you attending and answering

those are all my questions.

MS. CROWE:  Thank you, Dr. O'Shea.  I think

I just have one redirect question actually if you will

give me a moment to screenshare.

RE-EXAMINATION BY MS. CROWE:

Q. Dr. O'Shea, you should be seeing the

August 12, 2024, affidavit.  Can you see that on your

screen?

A. Yes, I can.
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Q. Okay.  I want to scroll down to

paragraph 5.  Mr. Diacur had asked you about your

knowledge of the timing for Ms. Lewis' housing.  And in

this paragraph you indicate that based on your records she

was housed as of February 2023.  

Can you just clarify what records and how

did you come to that conclusion?

A. Yes.  Sorry, that was based off of my

medical records.  So, again, in our medical records, and

at each visit, we document the patient's housing status;

and so I reviewed those records back to the time that I

wrote the letter, and before, and obtained those dates

from that.

Beyond that, as well, both Dr. Lamont and I

were fairly closely involved in her placement at

Mary's Place initially and onwards from there.  And so I

would say the notes were more detailed than the typical in

Ammy's case because of our direct involvement in her

obtaining the space at Mary's Place initially.

Q. Okay.  So to the best of your knowledge is

February 2023 the date that Ms. Lewis was, in fact,

housed?

A. Correct.

Q. Thank you.  Those are my questions.

--- The examination concluded at 2:30 p.m.
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dated [6]  1/20 5/9 7/8 18/22 28/22 32/6
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did [18]  7/2 8/8 8/9 8/12 8/15 8/20 9/1
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form [4]  6/12 9/7 36/24 37/2
Form 53 [1]  6/12
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forms [1]  43/5
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foster [4]  26/8 28/6 28/11 31/23
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 14/13 14/15 15/1 19/2 20/18 21/8
 21/21 21/22 21/23 22/1 22/3 22/4
 22/19 22/23 23/11 24/17 24/24 25/8
 26/2 26/12 26/20 26/22 27/1 27/17
 27/23 28/6 28/18 28/21 29/10 30/3
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having [3]  5/4 30/23 31/7
he [2]  10/2 10/8
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head [1]  29/11
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 32/6 34/7 35/17 36/13 38/17 39/3
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 25/5 25/5 25/6 25/10 25/11 25/14
 25/14 25/18 25/19 25/21 26/7 26/8
 26/10 27/10 28/2 28/3 28/6 28/11
 29/15 29/21 29/24 29/24 29/24 30/1
 30/2 30/3 30/4 30/6 30/7 30/9 30/10
 30/15 30/17 30/20 31/12 31/13 31/14
 31/15 31/16 31/17 31/17 31/19 31/19
 31/21 32/1 32/2 33/5 33/13 33/14
 33/23 34/21 35/11 35/11 35/21 36/2
 38/24 39/14 40/14 42/6 42/8 42/15
 42/24 43/13 44/15 44/18
here [10]  10/2 10/9 10/10 21/2 24/23
 26/21 33/21 33/22 34/19 35/18
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herself [2]  43/7 43/12
Hess [2]  26/6 27/10
his [1]  10/8
histories [1]  14/2
history [13]  10/25 11/2 11/9 11/10
 11/12 11/21 12/2 13/8 13/13 13/23
 14/1 15/7 15/18
HIV [6]  11/17 21/15 21/18 22/2 29/24
 30/1
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homeless [5]  20/24 24/14 24/21 25/14
 39/8
homelessness [8]  9/21 9/25 10/19
 25/20 32/18 35/21 36/3 37/8
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hospital [3]  14/16 15/18 40/5
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hotel [2]  39/16 40/16
house [3]  23/9 24/8 25/15
housed [10]  27/4 29/3 29/21 30/19
 31/13 34/6 34/12 35/2 44/5 44/22
housing [19]  8/7 23/19 25/5 25/10
 28/16 30/17 31/24 32/3 33/6 33/13
 35/21 36/3 41/16 41/17 43/7 43/11
 43/12 44/3 44/10
how [10]  13/2 14/9 14/10 14/21 15/2
 15/14 23/4 32/17 37/8 44/6
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I'll [1]  38/23
I'm [32]  5/15 6/17 7/8 10/1 11/7 11/8
 11/17 11/19 11/24 11/24 15/17 15/20
 15/23 15/24 16/24 16/24 19/7 20/7
 26/14 26/15 26/18 26/22 27/5 27/21
 29/23 31/3 31/4 35/5 36/12 38/10 40/4
 42/17
I've [2]  26/21 32/7
idea [1]  11/11
identical [5]  33/1 35/15 36/4 36/14
 37/21
identified [2]  31/17 39/18
identify [1]  34/1
if [27]  10/14 11/13 11/17 11/19 12/14
 12/22 14/10 15/16 15/20 16/20 16/22
 16/23 17/6 17/22 18/4 18/7 20/6 21/7
 21/20 26/20 28/17 29/11 34/6 34/11
 35/1 35/23 43/19
illness [3]  16/2 16/4 16/5
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impaired [1]  17/24
importance [1]  14/4
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 14/3 14/20 31/17 31/20
improve [3]  16/22 16/24 17/9
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in [146]  1/21 5/8 6/3 6/8 6/12 6/15 6/18
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 9/24 10/6 10/8 10/13 10/24 11/5 11/9
 12/6 12/24 13/1 13/5 13/7 13/12 13/16
 13/20 13/21 13/23 14/9 14/21 14/23
 14/24 15/9 15/16 16/3 16/5 16/21 17/3
 17/14 17/18 18/1 18/12 19/3 19/4
 19/21 20/2 20/3 20/5 20/8 20/21 20/21
 22/12 23/9 24/5 24/8 24/12 24/22
 24/23 24/25 25/24 26/6 26/9 26/20
 27/5 27/10 27/24 27/25 28/12 28/15
 28/19 28/19 29/12 29/15 29/16 30/2
 30/8 31/1 31/2 31/10 31/19 32/1 32/15
 33/19 33/20 33/21 34/15 34/16 35/8
 35/14 36/5 36/17 37/7 37/9 37/17
 37/17 37/18 38/11 38/11 38/17 38/19
 38/22 38/24 38/24 39/6 39/10 39/13
 39/15 39/15 39/18 39/22 39/23 40/6
 40/13 40/15 40/16 40/17 40/18 40/19
 40/23 40/24 41/7 41/17 41/17 41/22
 41/24 41/24 42/4 42/4 42/5 42/15
 42/21 43/6 43/7 43/11 43/12 44/3 44/9
 44/15 44/17 44/18 44/21 45/16
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inaccurate [1]  13/7
Inc [2]  1/22 45/21
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including [5]  14/15 14/24 30/19 39/24
 40/24
independent [3]  6/15 6/17 6/19
indicate [6]  19/2 20/10 24/23 29/3 39/6
 44/4
indicated [12]  24/13 24/21 25/13 25/23
 26/9 29/2 39/20 40/14 40/15 40/20
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 25/19 26/25 27/9 27/19 29/6 29/7
 29/16 29/18 30/7 32/5 32/15 32/21
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 32/8 32/10 33/1 33/2 34/15 34/20 35/5
 35/17 36/14 38/19 38/23 40/8 43/10
 43/11 43/12
it's [17]  8/15 10/8 10/15 10/17 10/21
 10/25 12/13 12/20 13/19 13/21 17/5
 20/14 21/5 21/6 23/6 24/7 37/2
item [1]  22/12
its [3]  19/2 19/3 19/16
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SPEAKERS [1]  19/13
specifically [2]  15/25 31/3
spent [4]  41/24 42/3 43/4 43/8
spoke [1]  8/24
spring [1]  24/24
stabilization [1]  30/3
stable [5]  17/10 30/10 30/17 31/24
 33/6
stably [4]  29/21 34/6 34/12 35/1
staff [1]  41/11
stands [1]  10/14
started [1]  19/10
starting [1]  33/22
state [6]  10/16 20/21 33/10 33/22 34/2
 34/8
stated [3]  25/17 25/19 33/16
states [3]  10/8 33/1 38/19
static [1]  16/25
status [7]  8/6 8/7 25/5 25/11 30/17
 35/13 44/10
stay [2]  16/25 42/24
stayed [5]  25/19 39/15 39/21 40/16
 40/22
staying [2]  26/7 40/17
stenographic [1]  45/2
step [1]  32/2
steps [3]  13/24 15/12 16/3
still [1]  39/3
Stimulant [1]  22/13
Stimulant Use Disorder [1]  22/13
Stoney [1]  42/5
Stoney Creek [1]  42/5
stop [1]  17/12
stopped [1]  18/8
Street [1]  41/17
stress [2]  9/22 23/4
struggle [1]  30/21
studies [1]  6/6
subsequently [1]  31/24
Substance [1]  16/14
Substance Use Disorder [1]  16/14
substances [1]  18/18
substitution [1]  22/24
successful [2]  28/9 28/12
such [2]  8/16 45/22
sued [1]  19/19
suffered [2]  35/20 36/1
suffers [1]  30/13
sufficiency [1]  6/7
summer [2]  27/24 27/25
SUPERIOR [1]  1/3
supply [1]  22/25
support [2]  18/9 31/16
suppressed [1]  30/5
sure [4]  5/17 5/21 16/9 25/4
SUTHERLAND [1]  2/8
switching [1]  34/18
sworn [1]  5/4
system [1]  6/8

T
tablets [1]  23/1
tailored [3]  32/22 33/9 35/9
take [5]  13/24 16/6 25/18 32/2 40/8
taken [4]  1/20 11/22 16/3 45/3
takes [1]  16/7
taking [4]  13/23 15/12 22/11 30/2
talk [1]  38/14

talked [1]  31/12
talking [1]  15/24
TAYLOR [1]  1/8
Team [1]  19/1
tell [3]  12/6 17/4 25/9
telling [1]  29/11
temp [2]  39/21 40/21
term [2]  14/7 15/20
terminated [2]  41/9 41/16
terms [13]  6/18 10/6 11/9 12/6 12/24
 14/21 20/3 28/15 31/2 37/7 37/9 37/17
 37/18
test [2]  10/6 11/14
testified [10]  5/5 26/5 27/9 39/14 40/13
 40/22 41/2 41/4 41/15 42/22
testify [2]  5/4 10/2
testimony [5]  41/13 42/1 42/10 42/25
 43/13
than [6]  24/1 27/19 28/7 32/10 32/25
 44/17
thank [11]  5/7 5/20 15/5 20/17 20/20
 21/9 23/2 42/19 43/15 43/18 44/24
that [257]  5/18 5/21 5/21 5/25 6/19
 6/24 6/24 7/3 7/18 8/8 9/12 9/15 9/15
 9/17 9/21 10/1 10/2 10/5 10/13 10/14
 10/16 10/19 10/24 11/2 11/5 11/13
 11/19 11/23 12/2 12/5 12/9 12/9 12/16
 12/19 12/22 13/5 13/7 13/11 13/20
 13/25 14/4 14/14 14/16 15/4 15/11
 15/15 15/19 15/21 15/23 16/9 16/19
 16/21 16/25 16/25 17/2 17/7 17/8
 17/12 17/15 18/5 18/8 18/9 18/14
 18/16 18/19 18/24 19/2 19/5 19/7
 19/18 19/23 20/1 20/1 20/9 20/10
 20/10 20/15 20/19 21/1 21/2 21/5 21/6
 21/9 21/11 21/13 21/19 22/5 22/8 23/7
 23/15 23/18 23/21 23/21 23/22 23/24
 24/4 24/14 24/15 24/21 24/22 24/23
 24/23 24/25 25/1 25/4 25/6 25/13
 25/14 25/17 25/19 25/21 26/5 26/7
 26/9 26/9 26/10 26/11 26/13 26/16
 26/16 26/18 26/23 27/6 27/7 27/9
 27/15 27/18 27/19 27/20 27/24 27/25
 28/5 28/10 28/13 28/18 28/20 28/22
 28/23 29/3 29/3 29/6 29/7 29/8 29/10
 29/13 29/15 29/20 29/23 30/3 30/10
 30/18 30/22 31/1 31/7 31/18 31/22
 31/25 32/1 32/2 32/2 32/11 32/14
 32/16 32/19 32/23 33/2 33/7 33/11
 33/16 33/17 33/21 34/2 34/13 34/15
 35/3 35/6 35/6 35/7 36/7 36/9 36/15
 36/21 36/24 37/1 37/3 37/6 37/9 37/13
 37/15 37/17 37/17 37/18 37/20 37/24
 38/10 38/11 38/11 38/12 38/14 38/15
 38/18 38/24 39/7 39/9 39/14 39/15
 39/15 39/21 40/2 40/6 40/8 40/15
 40/15 40/19 40/20 40/22 41/2 41/2
 41/4 41/6 41/9 41/13 41/15 41/20
 41/22 41/25 42/3 42/7 42/7 42/8 42/9
 42/9 42/11 42/12 42/12 42/15 42/18
 42/18 42/20 42/21 42/22 42/25 43/3
 43/4 43/7 43/8 43/10 43/12 43/14
 43/23 44/4 44/7 44/8 44/11 44/13
 44/14 44/21
that's [18]  5/19 5/20 10/12 12/2 12/16
 14/20 21/24 24/4 25/1 25/9 27/14
 28/25 29/12 34/15 35/9 35/16 38/19
 39/1
The's [1]  10/13
their [20]  5/5 8/7 9/4 12/20 12/24 13/2
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T
their... [14]  14/1 15/17 15/18 15/18
 17/1 17/17 17/23 18/6 18/9 18/12
 18/17 20/3 37/8 37/9
them [15]  5/13 5/15 5/16 7/8 8/24 8/24
 9/3 10/7 12/3 15/3 17/16 17/17 21/6
 22/18 31/11
themselves [1]  13/14
then [22]  10/15 11/18 11/19 15/22
 17/16 25/2 25/23 25/24 27/5 29/9
 30/12 31/23 33/9 33/10 33/19 34/1
 35/8 35/14 36/17 40/23 41/23 42/4
therapy [2]  22/10 22/24
there [12]  5/19 18/8 20/16 25/22 26/8
 33/9 34/18 35/10 35/12 37/15 38/23
 44/16
there's [9]  16/20 30/20 35/8 37/7 37/9
 37/18 38/10 38/13 38/15
these [6]  7/17 7/23 8/8 8/11 10/6 10/10
they [16]  5/9 7/5 7/17 7/18 12/7 13/25
 15/3 16/22 16/25 17/9 17/25 18/18
 20/3 32/18 33/22 40/6
thing [4]  8/16 29/23 30/6 32/1
things [8]  11/19 14/21 16/13 19/24
 20/1 29/22 29/23 40/14
think [24]  6/5 11/14 13/16 13/19 14/12
 15/13 17/7 17/9 17/10 17/14 18/4 18/7
 18/16 18/19 19/25 21/24 26/14 31/1
 37/15 37/18 37/20 38/2 38/13 43/18
third [2]  32/25 33/19
this [37]  1/21 4/2 5/8 6/3 6/12 6/15 7/18
 7/19 8/13 8/18 9/13 10/7 20/10 20/12
 20/21 21/4 23/7 24/5 24/12 32/5 32/13
 34/7 34/15 36/7 36/23 38/12 38/12
 39/9 39/13 39/21 40/5 40/13 44/4
 45/14 45/16 45/19 45/20
those [18]  5/11 9/10 9/24 15/12 16/2
 17/10 17/17 22/14 22/15 22/19 26/3
 30/16 31/2 36/6 43/17 44/11 44/12
 44/24
three [3]  19/9 19/10 20/25
three years [1]  20/25
through [5]  23/9 24/6 28/10 30/4 30/18
throughout [2]  38/13 38/16
TIM [3]  3/3 5/2 45/4
time [25]  7/18 8/16 14/5 16/6 18/1
 18/19 20/18 21/3 21/7 22/10 25/14
 27/7 28/1 30/20 32/16 40/7 40/21 41/6
 41/23 41/24 42/4 43/5 43/8 43/9 44/11
timeframe [1]  21/8
timeline [5]  7/20 26/14 26/15 26/18
 27/18
times [3]  8/25 12/23 28/8
timing [1]  44/3
Timothy [1]  1/20
titrating [1]  30/9
today [2]  5/8 39/4
toenail [1]  11/20
told [2]  25/10 25/22
too [1]  36/21
top [4]  23/20 24/7 29/11 38/23
Toronto [1]  42/4
total [2]  39/17 40/17
tracks [1]  26/1
train [2]  26/1 42/24
transcript [1]  45/16
transcription [1]  45/2
transitional [2]  41/7 41/16
trauma [2]  23/18 33/11
traumatic [1]  23/4

travels [1]  42/23
treat [2]  15/19 42/8
treating [2]  10/24 29/24
treatment [13]  16/1 16/18 16/22 17/5
 17/9 22/1 22/4 22/19 22/21 22/23
 23/11 23/15 39/4
treatments [1]  22/8
tried [2]  25/17 28/8
true [1]  45/1
trust [1]  14/9
truth [1]  5/4
truthful [1]  43/4
try [1]  20/15
trying [2]  11/8 26/14
turn [2]  18/21 32/4
two [15]  5/8 19/9 19/19 22/19 26/10
 27/11 29/15 29/16 29/18 29/23 31/2
 35/12 35/14 39/17 40/17
two years [4]  26/10 27/11 29/16 29/18
type [1]  11/24
types [1]  11/23
typical [1]  44/17
typo [1]  21/6

U
ultimately [1]  37/4
undated [1]  20/10
under [4]  4/8 24/20 25/13 45/4
Underground [1]  25/22
underlying [1]  33/14
understand [5]  11/7 23/21 28/22 31/22
 42/20
understanding [5]  23/5 23/6 23/23
 23/24 32/17
understood [7]  6/23 12/1 13/22 15/24
 23/2 25/7 29/13
UNDERTAKINGS [2]  4/1 4/5
unhoused [1]  31/13
unsafe [1]  24/16
until [3]  39/22 40/23 41/8
up [7]  5/15 5/21 13/5 35/6 35/12 36/12
 38/23
upheaval [1]  30/19
upon [1]  1/20
us [5]  14/21 15/4 25/9 26/23 30/7
use [9]  16/14 17/21 17/25 22/13 22/13
 22/22 29/25 30/7 30/10
using [6]  12/21 17/12 17/25 18/5 18/7
 18/8

V
valid [2]  15/12 16/3
various [2]  43/5 43/6
Verbatim [1]  45/12
version [1]  5/18
very [9]  12/13 14/3 14/20 14/25 20/17
 32/15 33/20 35/16 43/15
via [2]  1/21 23/15
videoconference [1]  1/21
violation [1]  45/16
viral [1]  30/4
visit [2]  11/23 44/10
vitae [1]  6/3

W
want [3]  20/3 31/4 44/1
WARD [1]  1/11
was [58]  8/5 9/5 9/14 14/12 20/13 21/7
 21/20 23/22 24/2 24/13 24/14 25/5
 25/6 25/11 25/15 25/20 25/22 25/22

 26/6 26/7 26/8 26/16 27/3 27/6 27/25
28/3 28/9 28/12 28/12 28/24 31/2
 31/14 31/19 31/23 32/2 33/16 35/3
 39/13 39/14 39/17 39/19 39/20 40/13
 40/14 40/18 40/19 40/20 41/2 41/4
 41/6 41/8 43/3 43/11 43/11 43/12 44/5
 44/8 44/21
Washington [2]  39/24 40/25
way [3]  18/2 25/21 42/21
we [19]  14/13 14/13 14/14 14/14 14/16
 14/18 14/23 14/25 20/1 28/1 28/8
 28/10 28/21 30/3 31/11 32/14 35/23
 40/8 44/10
we've [4]  10/14 30/9 37/11 37/20
wear [1]  11/15
website [1]  20/1
weeks [2]  19/9 19/12
well [22]  10/5 10/9 10/12 11/8 15/1
 15/5 21/22 28/5 28/21 29/8 29/13 31/3
 32/17 34/17 36/23 37/4 37/20 39/17
 39/23 40/17 43/15 44/14
went [2]  25/25 26/8
were [8]  7/17 7/18 28/10 34/6 34/11
 35/1 44/15 44/17
weren't [2]  16/22 28/9
what [34]  6/16 8/5 10/2 10/6 10/8 11/8
 11/22 11/23 11/24 12/21 13/1 16/7
 17/4 17/7 17/7 20/2 22/4 22/23 25/5
 25/10 25/10 26/19 29/21 31/2 31/4
 34/5 34/11 34/15 35/1 35/3 35/6 38/19
 41/9 44/6
what's [6]  12/24 12/25 16/10 29/12
 31/11 31/20
when [13]  5/15 17/25 20/12 21/22 24/2
 24/21 24/23 26/15 27/3 28/1 28/15
 36/8 41/9
where [2]  20/3 30/21
whether [4]  12/7 14/12 16/1 18/18
which [6]  9/5 18/22 23/8 24/16 25/8
 32/22
while [2]  26/7 30/19
who [10]  8/20 14/19 15/1 15/16 16/17
 16/18 19/9 21/20 25/19 28/12
whom [1]  7/13
why [1]  28/2
will [11]  5/19 5/21 11/23 14/10 20/14
 20/15 33/20 34/19 36/5 40/8 43/19
willing [1]  31/14
winter [1]  28/1
wit [1]  5/5
withdrawal [1]  18/5
within [3]  12/16 16/10 24/24
without [9]  15/7 15/12 17/5 17/9 28/17
 30/25 31/9 45/18 45/21
witness [3]  3/3 5/3 10/10
witnesses [1]  10/6
WLG [1]  2/15
Woolverton [2]  39/25 40/25
Woolverton Park [2]  39/25 40/25
words [1]  29/17
work [2]  14/25 17/16
worked [1]  19/2
workers [2]  14/24 14/24
worse [3]  12/7 12/25 13/19
worsen [4]  16/19 16/25 17/1 17/10
worsened [1]  12/10
worsening [2]  9/23 12/15
would [78]  5/14 9/17 9/21 10/15 10/19
 10/24 11/10 12/5 12/9 12/19 13/7
 13/11 15/11 15/12 16/2 16/14 16/19
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W
would... [61]  16/21 16/21 16/25 17/1
 17/3 17/5 17/7 17/8 17/8 17/9 17/24
 18/6 18/14 18/15 19/7 19/23 20/18
 21/8 21/21 21/21 21/23 22/6 23/7 25/4
 25/18 27/15 27/20 28/5 28/18 28/18
 29/13 29/14 29/18 29/22 29/24 30/16
 30/22 31/6 31/10 31/24 32/3 32/4
 32/19 32/20 32/23 34/5 34/11 35/1
 36/19 37/1 37/2 37/6 37/8 37/13 37/24
 38/15 39/9 43/4 43/10 43/13 44/17
wouldn't [4]  11/12 13/15 15/6 18/10
written [1]  35/3
wrote [1]  44/12

Y
yeah [4]  7/10 23/24 27/16 38/22
year [2]  39/17 40/17
years [8]  20/25 26/10 27/11 29/16
 29/16 29/18 39/8 43/5
Yep [1]  36/11
yes [35]  5/13 6/1 7/16 7/21 11/1 11/4
 11/14 12/8 13/10 13/16 16/5 16/16
 20/6 20/17 21/6 21/12 22/7 22/9 24/7
 24/11 26/24 27/5 27/8 27/19 29/5 29/8
 33/8 35/6 36/22 37/11 37/25 38/21
 42/20 43/25 44/8
yet [1]  32/9
York [1]  2/7
you [164]  5/7 5/8 5/11 5/12 5/18 5/19
 5/20 5/21 5/25 6/2 6/6 6/14 6/19 6/23
 7/2 7/21 7/22 8/2 8/8 8/9 8/10 8/12
 8/17 8/20 9/1 9/6 9/10 9/12 9/17 9/21
 10/15 10/19 10/20 10/24 11/11 12/5
 12/9 12/19 13/7 13/11 13/15 13/24
 13/25 14/10 15/5 15/6 15/11 16/19
 17/4 18/14 18/24 18/24 19/1 19/2 19/3
 19/5 19/11 19/18 19/23 20/8 20/9
 20/10 20/12 20/13 20/15 20/17 20/20
 20/21 21/1 21/2 21/9 21/9 21/10 21/13
 21/17 21/20 22/1 22/4 22/6 22/8 22/14
 22/19 22/23 23/2 23/11 23/18 23/20
 24/8 24/17 24/23 24/24 24/25 25/1
 25/4 25/4 25/5 25/9 25/10 25/10 25/11
 26/2 26/12 26/19 26/22 27/1 27/3
 27/17 27/21 28/5 28/9 28/22 29/8
 29/12 29/13 30/22 31/6 31/24 32/7
 32/16 32/19 32/23 34/1 34/2 34/8 36/5
 36/8 36/9 36/15 36/21 37/1 37/6 37/13
 37/24 38/1 38/3 38/7 38/17 38/24 39/3
 39/6 40/1 41/1 41/12 41/19 41/25 42/8
 42/9 42/9 42/12 42/19 42/24 43/4
 43/10 43/15 43/16 43/18 43/19 43/22
 43/23 44/2 44/4 44/6 44/7 44/24
you'd [1]  26/21
you're [2]  17/6 29/11
you've [2]  6/10 9/17
your [31]  5/8 5/23 6/3 6/24 7/19 7/21
 8/3 8/9 8/21 8/21 13/12 16/11 18/21
 20/8 23/5 23/23 26/25 27/21 28/15
 28/21 29/6 29/19 32/5 32/17 39/6 39/7
 42/7 43/23 44/2 44/4 44/20
yourself [1]  6/14
YWCA [1]  41/10
YWCA's [2]  41/7 41/16
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